Overcoming resistance to targeted and non-targeted therapies with combi-molecules designed to target PARP

Zhor Senhaji Mouhri

Division of Experimental Medicine Faculty of Medicine McGill University Montreal, Canada

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Copyright © Zhor Senhaji Mouhri, April 18th, 2017

#### ABSTRACT

Targeting cancer cells at multiple signaling pathways has become the most common approach to sensitize them to chemotherapy. It is in this context that our laboratory developed the combitargeting concept, that seeks to design molecules to modulate different targets. Here, to overcome resistance to both targeted and non-target therapies, we investigated two major strategies: a) enhancing the potency of a chemotherapeutic agent by combining a DNA damaging agent with a DNA repair inhibitor in a single agent, and b) targeting the DNA repair inhibitor to a receptor overexpressed in cancer cells. In the context of these strategies, we demonstrated the feasibility of two classes of molecules: one designed to target PARP and DNA, with EG22 and ZSM02 as lead molecules, and one engineered to target PARP and EGFR, with ZSMR06 as a lead. Our first prototype PARP-DNA combi-molecule, EG22, showed similar inhibition of PARP as its corresponding naked PARP inhibitor, 4-amino-1,8-naphthalimide (ANI), in a PARP assay. It showed anomalously high levels of DNA damage when compared with temozolomide alone or temozolomide + ANI. It showed selectivity towards BRCA2 mutant cells and greater potency against MGMT positive cells, which are resistant to temozolomide. EG22 was more potent than temozolomide alone and its corresponding combination with ANI. Confocal microscopy analysis showed that it was primarily localized in the nucleus, which may explain its strong DNA damaging potential and growth inhibitory potency. While EG22 was a good prototype to demonstrate the feasibility of PARP-DNA combi-molecules, it was too unstable to be considered for further development. We therefore designed ZSM02 as a stabilized prodrug of EG22 and demonstrated that it has the same growth inhibition profile as the latter. In light of clinical trials demonstrating the toxicities of combinations of PARP inhibitors and DNA damaging agents, we decided to expand this work to the targeting of PARP inhibitors to EGFR, a validated cancer target. The first

EGFR-PARP combi-molecule, ZSMR02, was a strong PARP but a poor EGFR inhibitor. We then optimized this type of combi-molecule to finally produce a balanced EGFR-PARP combimolecule, ZSMR06. The results showed that: (a) it is capable of inducing a dose-dependent inhibition of PARP in isolated enzyme assay, (b) it induced a dose-dependent inhibition of EGFR in an isolated kinase assay, (c) it showed a dose-dependent inhibition of EGFR phosphorylation and downstream signaling in whole cell assay, (d) it was selectively potent towards BRCA2 mutant and EGFR-overexpressing cell lines, (e) it was extremely potent, with activities superior to that of olaparib or gefitinib alone and their corresponding equimolar combinations in a panel of solid tumour cell lines. The significantly superior activity of ZSMR06 compared with the equimolar combination of olaparib + gefitinib indicated that perhaps the combi-molecule was acting through a unique mechanism of action. Indeed, it has proven highly effective in downregulating BRCA1 levels, which perhaps suggests that it is able to promote DNA repair deficiency in the cells. These results in toto suggest that this new combi-molecule could be developed as a single drug modality emulating the combination of PARP and EGFR inhibitors with the added benefit of being targeted to EGFR-expressing tumour cells. Further pre-clinical work is required to advance this new type of molecule to clinical trials.

## RÉSUMÉ

Cibler les cellules cancéreuses par leurs multiples voies de signalisation est devenu l'approche la plus commune pour sensibiliser les tumeurs à la chimiothérapie. C'est dans ce contexte que notre laboratoire a mis au point le concept de fusion moléculaire multiciblée, nommé "combi-ciblage". Ce concept se définit par la conception de molécules capables de moduler différentes cibles. Dans le cadre de cette thèse, pour surmonter la résistance aux thérapies ciblées et non ciblées, nous avons étudié deux stratégies : a) l'amélioration de l'activité d'un antinéoplasique, par la combinaison d'un agent endommageant de l'ADN avec un inhibiteur de réparation de l'ADN en une seule entité, et b) le ciblage du même inhibiteur de réparation d'ADN à un récepteur surexprimé dans les cellules cancéreuses. Dans le cadre de ces stratégies, nous avons démontré la faisabilité de deux classes de molécules : l'une visant à cibler le PARP et l'ADN, avec EG22 et ZSM02 en tant que molécules phares, et l'autre conçue pour cibler le PARP et l'EGFR, avec ZSMR06 comme molécule phare. Notre premier prototype de molécule PARP-ADN, EG22, a induit une inhibition de PARP aussi forte que 4-amino-1,8-naphthalimide (ANI), un inhibiteur de PARP déjà connu. Nous avons découvert que cette molécule peut infliger des niveaux anormalement élevés de lésions dans l'ADN par rapport à temozolomide, un médicament clinique connu pour sa capacité d'endommager l'ADN, et par rapport à sa combinaison avec ANI. EG22 a montré une sélectivité envers les cellules BRCA2 mutantes et une plus grande efficacité contre les cellules exprimant la protéine de réparation de l'ADN, MGMT, qui est responsable de la résistance liée au traitement du cancer avec le temozolomide. Nous avons démontré que EG22 est plus puissant que temozolomide luimême ainsi que sa combinaison avec ANI. L'analyse par microscopie confocale montre que la molécule est principalement localisée dans le noyau, ce qui peut expliquer sa puissante capacité à endommager l'ADN et celle d'inhiber la croissance cellulaire. Malgré que nous ayons confirmé

que EG22 soit un excellent prototype pour démontrer la faisabilité des molécules PARP-ADN, son instabilité dans le milieu physiologique à compromis sa progression vers des étapes ultérieures de développement. Par conséquent, nous avons envisagé une stratégie de stabilisation qui consistait à acétyler son azote N3, donnant ainsi lieu à la formation de ZSM02. Par la suite, nous avons démontré que ZSM02 a le même profil d'inhibition de croissance que EG22, ce qui suggère qu'elle pourrait être sa prodrogue. Dans le contexte des résultats clinique rapportant la toxicité des combinaisons des inhibiteurs de PARP avec la chimiothérapie, nous avons redéfini notre stratégie vers le développent d'inhibiteur de PARP ciblé contre un biomarqueur exprimé dans plusieurs types de cancer : l'EGFR. La première molécule PARP-EGFR, ZSMR02, était un excellent inhibiteur de PARP mais un médiocre inhibiteur de l'EGFR. Nous avons donc dû l'optimiser pour finalement produire une molécule PARP-EGFR de ciblage équilibré ZSMR06. Nos résultats nous ont permis de démontrer que: (a) ZSMR06 est capable d'induire une inhibition de manière dosedépendante de PARP dans un test enzymatique et cellulaire, (b) elle a induit une inhibition de manière dose-dépendante de l'EGFR dans un test de kinase et de phosphorylation cellulaire, (c) cette inhibition s'est traduite en celle des voix de signalisation associées à l'activation de l'EGFR (ERK, AKT), (d) plus important encore, ces mécanismes moléculaires se sont traduits en un ciblage sélectif des cellules BRCA2 mutées et de celles surexprimant l'EGFR. La capacité d'inhibition de croissance cellulaire était nettement supérieure à celle de la combinaison de deux antinéoplasiques cliniques l'olaparib et le gefitinib, démontrant ainsi que la molécule seule est supérieure à la combinaison de deux agents cliniques et que peut-être elle agit selon un mécanisme d'action unique. En effet, on a découvert que ZSMR06 est capable d'induire une très forte réduction de BRCA1, ce qui suggère qu'elle est peut-être capable de générer une déficience en réparation de l'ADN dans les cellules. Ces résultats suggèrent que cette nouvelle molécule pourrait être développée comme un agent capable de mimer la combinaison d'inhibiteurs de PARP et d'EGFR avec l'avantage d'être ciblées aux cellules tumorales surexprimant l'EGFR. Nos résultats suggèrent que des études précliniques plus avancées pourraient faire progresser cette molécule vers la clinique.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Since my youngest age, I have always been curious about the inner mysteries of the human body. I never had a doubt that research would one day be an integral part of my life. My PhD was an interesting journey and was not at all what I expected to be. It taught me way more than critical thinking and producing results. I had the chance to evolve as a person by becoming stronger, more confident and extremely independent. I owe all these wonderful changes mainly to my supervisor, Dr. Jean-Claude, but also to our collaborators, my thesis committee members, colleagues and family.

Dr. Jean-Claude not only gave me the opportunity to instigate my first steps in the biomedical research field, but also provided me with tremendous amount of great opportunities. I started my journey as a volunteer in his lab over a year before the beginning of my PhD. He taught me that the most important part of research, is knowledge. Since then, reading was the primary source of my research progression. Dr. Jean-Claude also allowed me to explore different research areas and patiently initiated me to the world of medicinal chemistry, which allowed me to complement my pharmacology background. Furthermore, he allowed me to broaden my scientific knowledge and refine my skills by giving me the opportunity to go abroad and learn new methods. What I am the most grateful of, is his belief in me. Dr. Jean-Claude allowed me to become completely independent and develop my own ideas.

I would like to thank my thesis committee members and collaborators for always encouraging me for my progress and helping me evolve. My meetings and discussion with them were contributed in interesting ideas to be explored.

Of course, no work in complete without team work! I was extremely lucky to have the best

colleagues, some of them became true friends. Along with my family, they provided me with the support and strength to overcome all the challenges encountered during my doctoral studies. Without them, I would definitely not be completing one of my biggest achievements so far.

Although this journey has come to an end, this was only the first chapter of a series. I will forever be grateful for all your love, patience and support!

Thank you!

#### **CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS**

This manuscript-based thesis is composed of three manuscripts and the contributions of each author are stated below.

# CHAPTER 2: <sup>15</sup>N-, <sup>13</sup>C- AND <sup>1</sup>H-NMR SPECTROSCOPY CHARACTERIZATION AND GROWTH INHIBITORY POTENCY OF A COMBI-MOLECULE SYNTHESIZED BY ACETYLATION OF AN UNSTABLE MONOALKYLTRIAZENE

This paper was published in Molecules in July 19<sup>th</sup>, 2017. 22.7: 1183.

I synthesized the stable form of this combi-molecule to yield ZSM02 and crystallized it. I also synthesized the labelled compounds and performed the NMRs, and mass spectrometry of the labeled compounds. I interpreted the data with the help of Elliot Goodfellow. I carried out the biological assay and helped with the preparation of the manuscript. Elliot Goodfellow synthesized the prototype combi-molecule, EG22, and helped with the preparation of the manuscript. Dr. Robin Stein performed the HMBC and HSQC NMR of the non-labelled compound. Dr. Robin Rogers and Dr. Steven P. Kelley performed the crystallography of ZSMR02. Dr. Bertrand Jean-Claude overlooked the proceedings of the experimental work and revised the manuscript.

# CHAPTER 3: A TYPE I COMBI-TARGETING APPROACH FOR THE DESIGN OF MOLECULES WITH ENHANCED POTENCY AGAINST BRCA1/2 MUTANT- AND O6-METHYLGUANINE-DNA METHYLTRANSFERASE (MGMT)- EXPRESSING TUMOUR CELLS

This paper was published in BMC Cancer in August 11th, 2017. 17.1: 540.

I have participated in the design, execution and the interpretation of the experiments in this paper. I have significantly contributed to the writing of the manuscript and handled all the refereerequested revisions. Elliot Goodfellow synthesized one of the combi-molecules, EG22. Dr. Bertrand Jean-Claude overlooked the proceedings of the experimental work and revised the manuscript.

# CHAPTER 4: A NOVEL COMBI-MOLECULE ENGINEERED TO TARGET THE PUTATIVE SYNTHETIC LETHAL INTERACTIONS BETWEEN THE EPIDERMAL GROWTH FACTOR RECEPTOR (EGFR) AND POLY(ADP-RIBOSE)POLYMERASE (PARP)

This manuscript is currently being finalized for submission.

Martin Rupp and I designed and synthesized ZSMR02, 03, 04 and 06 molecules. I designed all the experiments involving, growth inhibition, and the study of EGFR and PARP inhibitory arms of the molecules. I am grateful for having the opportunity to fully lead the decision process involving the progression of this work. I have significantly contributed to the writing of the manuscript. Martin Rupp significantly contributed in the design and synthesis of the molecules and he also trained me in western blots. Dr. Stochaj performed all the western blots and immunofluorescence experiments for the evaluation of homologous recombination deficiency and also significantly contributed in the decision process regarding these experiments. Dr. Junko Murai and Dr. Pommier evaluated the PARP trapping potential of the lead compound, ZSMR06. Dr. Bertrand Jean-Claude made all the necessary comments and revised the manuscript.

ABSTRACT	
RÉSUMÉ	4
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	7
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	9
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Preface	
1.2 DNA repair pathways	
1.2.1 Overview	
1.2.2 BER pathway	
1.2.3 NER pathway	
1.2.4 HR pathway	
1.2.5 NHEJ pathway	
1.2.6 MMR	
1.2.7 Direct repair by MGMT	
1.3 Targeting DNA repair proteins	
1.3 BRCA1 and BRCA2 discovery, structure and function	
1.3.1 BRCA1/2 discovery and structure	
1.3.2 Role in DNA repair	
1.3.3 Role in transcription regulation	
1.3.4 Role in cell cycle	
1.3.5 Role in ubiquitination	
1.3.6 Role in apoptosis	
1.4 BRCA1/2 levels and cancer	
1.5 Poly(ADP-ribose)polymerase	
1.5.1 Overview	
1.5.2 PARP structure and function	
1.5.3 PARP inhibitors mechanism of action	
1.5.4 PARP inhibitors in the clinic	
1.5.5 PARP inhibitor resistance	····· ) /
1.6 Synthetic lethality	
1.7 ECED involvement in concer	
1.7 LOreview	03 62
1.7.2 ECED atmosture	
1.7.2 EOFK structure	03 66
1.7.5 EOFK signaling	
1.7.5 EGER inhibitors in the clinic	
1.7.6 Synthetic lethal interactions between PARP and the FGFR nathway	
1.8 Temozolomide and its resistance mechanism	
1.8.2 Temozolomide resistance and attempts to overcome resistance	
1.9 Cancer drug development: from monotherany to polypharmacology	
1.10 The combi-targeting concept	

# **Table of Contents**

1.10.1 Type I combi-molecules	
1.10.2 Type II combi-molecules	89
1.10.3 Type III combi-molecules	
RESEARCH OBJECTIVES	
1.12 References	
CHAPTER 2: CHARACTERIZATION AND GROWTH INHIBIBITORY A COMBI-MOLECULE SYNTHESIZED FROM THE ACETYLATION OUNSTABLE MONOALKYLTRIAZENE USING <sup>15</sup> N, <sup>13</sup> C AND <sup>1</sup> H NMR	POTENCY OF OF AN
SPECTROSCOPY	
2.1 Abstract	
2.2 Introduction	
2.3 Results and Discussion	
2.3.1 Stability of EG22 in DMSO	
2.3.2 Isotopic labelling and NMR spectroscopy	
2.3.3 HMBC and HMQC analysis	
2.3.4 Determination of the 3D structure	
2.3.5 Biological activity	
2.4 Material and Methods	
2.4.1 Chemical Synthesis	
2.4.2 NMR Acquisition	
2.4.3 X-ray crystallography	
2.4.4 Cell Culture	
2.4.5 Growth Inhibition Assay	
2.5 Conclusion	
2.6 References	
Connecting Text 1	
CHAPTER 3: A TYPE I COMBI-TARGETING APPROACH FOR THE I MOLECULES WITH ENHANCED POTENCY AGAINST BRCA1/2 MU' O6-METHYLGUANINE-DNA METHYLTRANSFERASE (MGMT)- EXI TUMOUR CELLS	DESIGN OF TANT- AND PRESSING 158
3.1 Abstract	
3.2 Background	
2.2 Material and methods	164
3.2.1 Chamicals and reagants	
3.3.2 Chemistry	
3.3.2 Cell culture	
2.2.4 In Vitro Growth Inhibition Assay	
2 2 5 In Vitro DADD accov	
3.3.5 III VIIIO I AIXI assay for DNA damage quantification	100 160
3.3.7 Live Cell Confocal Microscopy	100 160 160
3.3.8 Kinetics of the hydrolysis of EG22 and 7SM02	
3 3 9 Statistical analysis	
3.4 Results	
3.4.1 Chemistry	

3.4.2 Dual PARP-DNA targeting properties of EG22	172
3.4.3 BRCA1/2 response profile	174
3.4.4 Relationship with MGMT status	176
3.4.5 Potency of the combi-molecular approach in comparison with 2-drug combination	ons
	177
3.4.6 Subcellular localization and mechanism of action	178
3.4.7 Stabilization of EG22 and growth inhibitory profile of the resulting combi-mole	cule
	179
3.5 Discussion	179
3.6 Conclusion	180
3.7 References	186
Connecting text 2	190
CHARTER 4. NUAL TARGETING OF EGER AND BARR. A NOVEL CINCLE	
CHAPTER 4: DUAL TARGETING OF EGFR AND PARP: A NOVEL SINGLE MOLECHLE STRATEGY TO EXDAND THE SELECTIVE POTENCY OF PADD	
MULEUULE SIKATEGY TO EAPAND THE SELECTIVE POTENCY OF PARP	103
INHIBITION BEYOND BRCA1/2 MUTATION	192
4.2 Introduction	195
4.5 Methous.	100
4.5.1 Chemisu y	199
4.5.2 Cell culture	208
4.3.4 In Vitro PARP enzyme assay	208
4.3.5 PARP tranning	200
4.3.6 In Vitro FGFR enzyme assay	209
4 3 7 Western blotting	210
4.3.8 Indirect immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy	210
4.3.9 Confocal microscopy imaging	212
4.3.10 Molecular modelling	212
4.3.11 Statistical analysis	212
4.4 RESULTS	212
4.4.1 Chemistry	212
4.4.2 PARP inhibitory potency	214
4.4.3 EGFR inhibitory potency	217
4.4.4 Growth inhibitory profiles	218
4.4.5 Fluorescence imaging and modulation of nuclear protein expression	223
4.5 Discussion	226
4.6 References	231
4.7 Supplementary material	234
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONTRIBUTIONS TO KNOWLEDGE	236
References	245

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- yH2AX Phosphorylated Histone 2AX
- 3AB 3-aminobenzamide
- $5\text{-}FU-5\text{-}fluorouracil}$
- 53BP1 p53-Binding Protein 1
- APE1 Apurinic/apyrimidinic (AP) endonuclease
- ART ADP-ribosyltransferases
- ATM Ataxia-Telangiectasia Mutated
- ATR Ataxia-Telangiectasia Mutated-Related
- ATP Adenosine Triphosphate
- BAP1 BRCA1 associated protein-1
- BARD1 BRCA1-Associated Ring Domain Protein 1
- BER Base Excision Repair
- BRCA1/2 Breast Cancer gene 1/2
- BRCT BRCA1 C-Terminal domain
- CDK Cyclin-Dependent Kinase
- CML Chronic Myelogenous Leukemia
- COX-Cyclooxygenase
- CPD Cyclobutane Pyrimidine Dimers
- CSA, CSB Cockayne syndrome A and B
- CtIP CtBP-interacting protein
- DAG 1,2-diacylglycerol
- DNA Deoxyribonucleic Acid

- DSB Double Strand Break
- DSS1 Deleted in Split-hand/split-foot Syndrome
- EGF Epidermal Growth Factor
- EGFR Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor
- ER Endoplasmic Reticulum
- ERK Extracellular signal-Regulated Kinase
- FEN1 Flap Endonuclease 1
- FDA Food and Drug Administration
- HER2 Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor-2
- HMBC Heteronuclear Multiple Bond Correlation spectroscopy
- HR Homologous Repair
- HSQC Heteronuclear Single Bond Coherence spectroscopy
- IC<sub>50</sub> Inhibition Concentration (Inhibit Cellular Proliferation by 50%)
- IFN-γ Interferon gamma
- IP3 1,3,5-triphosphate
- IP-3R 1,4,5-Triphosphate Receptor
- JAK Janus Kinase
- MAPK Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase
- MEK MAPK/Extracellular signal-regulated Kinase
- Met-Hepatocyte growth factor receptor
- MGMT O<sup>6</sup>-Methylguanine DNA Methyltransferase
- MMR Mismatch repair
- MRN Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1 complex

- mTOR Mammalian Target of Rapamycin
- NAD+ Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
- NER Nucleotide Excision Repair
- NHEJ Non-homologous End-Joining
- NFκ-B Nuclear Factor Kappa B
- NLS Nuclear Localization Sequence
- NSCLC Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer
- OB Oligonucleotide-Binding domains
- PA Phosphatidic Acid
- PALB2 Partner and localizer of BRCA2
- PAR poly (ADP-ribose) chain
- PARP Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase
- PCNA Proliferating cell nuclear antigen
- Pgp-P-glycoprotein
- PKB Protein Kinase B (commonly referred to as Akt)
- PI3K Phosphotidylinositol-3-Kinase
- PIP3 Phosphotidylinositol-3,4,5-triphosphate
- PLCy Phospholipase C
- PTB Phosphotyrosine Binding
- PTEN Phosphatase and Tensin Homolog
- RAP80 Receptor-Associated Protein 80
- RFC Replication Factor C
- RNA Ribonucleic Acid

- RPA Replication Protein A
- RTK Receptor Tyrosine Kinases
- SCD SQ/TQ Cluster Domain
- SH1/2/3/4 Src Homology
- SRB Sulforhodamine B
- STAT Signal Transducers and Activators of Transcription
- TDP1 Tyrosyl-DNA-phosphodiesterase I
- TGF- $\alpha$  Transforming growth factor alpha
- TKI Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors
- TMZ Temozolomide
- TNBC Triple Negative Breast Cancer
- VEGFR Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptors
- XPG Xeroderma Pigmentosum Complementation Group G
- XRCC1 X-ray repair cross-complementing protein 1

# **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 Preface**

Cancer drug development has greatly evolved since world war II. During that time, scientists observed a great depletion of bone marrow and lymph node cells after exposure to mustard gas. Replacing the sulfur atom by a nitrogen led to a new compound termed nitrogen mustard, which was shown to be active on transplanted lymphoid cells in a mouse model. After observing regression of the cancer, they tested the compound on one patient with non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and saw great results [1-3]. About two years later, the next anti-cancer agent, a folic acid antagonist, was developed. The folic acid analogs, such as methotrexate, showed undeniable remission in children with leukemia [4, 5]. The antifolates inspired further development of drugs that inhibited adenine metabolism. These agents are known as thiopurines and were then used in the treatment of acute leukemia [6, 7]. In the same decade, the first drug for solid tumours was developed. Heidelberger and colleagues synthesized a molecule with a fluorine atom in the 5position of uracil base, known as 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) [8], which is now the main treatment for colorectal, breast and head and neck cancers [9]. Later, in the 1950s and 1960s, some antibiotics were found to have antitumour effects. The first antibiotic used in the treatment of cancer was actinomycin D that showed remarkable results in pediatric tumours [10]. These results then stimulated interest in the development of other antitumour antibiotics that are commonly used today, such as doxorubicin, epirubicin, daunorubicin, etc [11].

In the early 1960s and after many observations that single agent therapies did not lead to full remission, the first drug combination was used in the treatment of testicular cancer. They used different combinations of alkylating agents, antimetabolites and antitumours antibiotics, that showed significantly improved results [12]. Since then, several combinations have been tested and many are still used in the clinical management of numerous tumours. In 1963 vinca alkaloids, used

as antimitotic agents, were isolated and tested in Hodgkin's disease. Mouse models of Hodgkin's lymphoma injected with vinca alkaloids showed significant tumour regression. Similar results were observed in clinical studies [13]. Later in the 60s, another promising drug, ibenzmethyzin or procarbazine, was developed for the treatment of Hodgkin's lymphoma and showed favorable results [14, 15]. The chronology of all major development in cancer treatment is depicted in figure 1.1. All the anticancer agents developed prior to the 1990s were not designed to block cancer specific targets and thus caused wide variety of side effects. This has initiated the search for oncogenic targets and eventually the development of targeted therapies. The first successful targeted therapy, gleevec (imatinib mesylate), was first reported in 1996. This report described an extraordinary decrease in cellular proliferation in tumour chronic myelogenous leukemia (CML) cells carrying the Philadelphia chromosome that encodes a fusion protein, bcr-abl [16]. Gleevec then received the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval in 2001 for the treatment of treatment of chronic myelogenous leukemia [17]. Since then, major discoveries regarding deregulated oncogenic targets in different cancers have emerged and led to the design and development of many tyrosine kinase inhibitors. These small molecule inhibitors targeting various cancers include: gefitinib [18] and erlotinib [19] for epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), crizotinib for ALK and hepatocyte growth factor receptor (Met) [20], Sorafenib for Raf family kinases [21], vemurafenib for BRAF [22], etc.



**Figure 1.1.** Historical overview of key dates in cancer drug development from the first nontargeted chemotherapy, through the first combination therapy, to finally the first approved targeted therapy.

Unfortunately, the development of these targeted therapies did not translate into significant clinical outcomes. Diminished efficacy in the clinic is mostly due to acquired resistance mechanisms. From the beginning of cancer drug development, the adaptive character of cancer cells made cancer treatment with a single agent quite challenging. For this reason, the idea of combination therapy or polypharmacology has emerged. Targeting cancer cells from multiple angles is then key. It is therefore crucial to direct cancer drug research towards the development of multitargeted drugs that are able to target cancer cells from multiple angles. With this idea in mind, our laboratory developed the combi-targeting concept, which involved single molecules (**I-Tz**) composed of two distinct targeting arms (e.g. **I** targeting EGFR and **Tz** targeting DNA). The two arms are connected by either a stable linker or a hydrolysable linker. Both arms can influence two cellular targets: inhibition of a kinase and damage DNA [23, 24]. This thesis focuses on the design, synthesis, and

elucidation of the mechanism of action of combi-molecules inhibiting a DNA repair with or without classical cytotoxic lesion.

The scope of the work presented herein is multidisciplinary and covers multiple aspects of drug discovery and development that converge into the discovery of a novel class of drugs. Prior to discussing the results obtain from this work, it is important to review some key aspects of cancer treatment considered to be relevant to this work. Our work being related to synthetic lethality, we will cover the principles of DNA repair, the key biomarker BRCA1/2, the role of poly(ADP-ribose)polymerase (PARP) and corresponding inhibitors. Our novel targeting approach being directed at the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), we will review herein its structure and function and previous strategy developed in our laboratory to targeted the latter receptor.

#### **1.2 DNA repair pathways**

#### 1.2.1 Overview

As depicted in figure 1.2, there are five basic DNA repair pathways and each of them repairs specific DNA damage [25, 26]. The base excision pathway (BER) repairs single strand breaks involving non-bulky base lesions caused by reactive oxygen species and alkylating agents [26]. Nucleotide excision repair (NER) engages in the recognition and elimination of bulky helix disturbing DNA lesions caused by UV irradiation and chemotherapeutic cross-linking agents [27]. As for double strand breaks, they are repaired by the homologous recombination repair (HR) or the non-homologous end-joining (NHEJ). HR is an error-free repair, which uses the homologous non-damaged sister chromatid as a template. In contrast, NHEJ joins the ends of the damaged DNA without using a homologous template, which makes the pathway error-prone. Double strand breaks are the most lethal type of DNA damage as a single unrepaired DSB can be sufficient to lead to cell death [28]. Thus, double strand break repair is critical for cell survival. Another DNA

repair pathway is the direct repair. It involves the direct reversal the damaged base without the excision or replacement of the base. This repair is performed by a single enzyme known as O<sup>6</sup>-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase (MGMT) [29]. The last DNA repair pathway is the mismatch repair (MMR). It eliminates errors such as mismatched bases, deletions and insertions [30].



**Figure 1.2. The six DNA repair pathways.** Six different DNA repair pathways are triggered specific lesions caused by DNA damaging agents. Those pathways resolve the DNA damage by recruiting key DNA repair proteins.

#### 1.2.2 BER pathway

The BER pathway is the main mechanism of DNA repair involving damaged bases [31]. Here we will only summarize the major step involved in the BER mechanism. More details will be given,

where the role of PARP, which is the main topic of this thesis, will be extensively covered. As outlined in figure 1.3, the pathway starts with lesion specific glycosylases that remove the damaged base. These enzymes mainly cleave the bond between the base and its deoxyribose, leading to a AP site [32]. Subsequently, AP sites are repaired by apurinic/apyrmidinic endonuclease 1 (APE1), which hydrolyzes the phosphodiester backbone at the 5'-position, thereby creating a single strand break [33]. The DNA single strand break is then detected by poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP1), which acts as a molecular sensor of DNA strand breaks. PARP then binds to DNA and catalyzes the formation of a poly(ADP-ribose) (PAR) chain and transfers it to itself and many other protein substrates. The transfer of the PAR chain allows for recruitment of key repair proteins, such as X-ray repair cross-complementing protein 1 (XRCC1). The transfer of the negatively charged PAR chain onto PARP1 itself is also important for the dissociation of PARP1 from DNA to allow the recruited repair proteins to have access to the DNA damage site [34]. XRCC1 is a molecular scaffold protein whose main function is the assembly of key enzymes involved in the DNA single strand break repair. The recruited enzymes include: DNA glycosylases, DNA polymerase β, APE1, ligase III, PNKP, Tdp1, and APTX [35]. The nucleotide synthesis and ligation can follow two different sub-pathways: short-patch and long patch (41). The short patch BER involves the replacement of a single nucleotide by DNA polymerase  $\beta$  and is then ligated by DNA ligase III and XRCC1. The long patch BER involves the replacement of several nucleotides and required many proteins for the process such as: DNA polymerase  $\delta$  or  $\varepsilon$  for DNA synthesis, PCNA (proliferating cell nuclear antigen) for elongation, RFC (replication factor-C) for PCNA loading, FEN1 (flap endonuclease-1) for overhang cleavage, and DNA ligase I for ligation [36].



**Figure 1.3.** The base excision repair (BER) pathway. The single DNA strand break repair pathway, BER, involves the repair of damaged bases by either simply replacing a nucleotide, or by replacing several nucleotides.

### 1.2.3 NER pathway

The NER pathway is the main mechanism of DNA repair involving the repair of bulky adducts, such as cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers (CPD) caused by UV exposure, and interstrand cross links after platinum- and mustard-based treatments [37]. As depicted in figure 1.4, the NER pathway is composed of two subpathways: the global genome NER (GG-NER), which is involved in repairing DNA damage through the genome and the transcription-coupled NER (TC-NER), which is specifically involved in repairing DNA damage in actively transcribed genes. Both pathways contain the same steps leading to DNA repair but differ in their DNA damage recognition steps, where the damage recognition protein complex for GG-NER is XP complementation group C/Rad23homolog B/Centrin-2 (XPC/HR23B/CEN2) [38], and for TC-NER is simply RNA polymerase II followed by Cockayne syndrome A (CSA) and B (CSB) proteins [39, 40]. After DNA damage recognition, a multi-subunit protein complex and the multi-functional transcription factor TFIIH is recruited on site, which allow ATP-dependent helicases, XPB and XPD, to unwind

the DNA helix to form a ~30 nucleotide bubble flanking the lesion. The unwinding of DNA allows the protein XPA to recruit many replication protein A (RPA), which serves as DNA single strand stabilization. Subsequently, two structure-specific endonucleases XPG (3' specific) and XPF/ERCC1 (5' specific) are recruited to cleave the damaged nucleotides and neighboring sites. This then signals DNA polymerase  $\delta$  or  $\varepsilon$  to add the missing nucleotides using the other strand as a template, and the gaps are closed by DNA ligase [37].



**Figure 1.4. The nucleotide excision repair (NER) pathway.** The single DNA strand break repair pathway, NER, involves the repair of bulky adducts due to UV or polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons exposure. The global genome NER (GG-NER) repairs DNA damage through the genome, and the transcription-coupled NER (TC-NER) repairs DNA damage in actively transcribed genes.

#### 1.2.4 HR pathway

HR is one to two mechanisms for DNA double strand break (DSB). This repair mechanism is error-free as it uses the sister chromatid as a template to repair the damaged strand [41]. Only the major steps will be described in this section as more details will be given in section 1.3.2. As outlined in figure 1.5, following DNA double strand break, the heterotrimeric MRN complex (Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1) acts as a double-strand break sensor, which then recruits ataxiatelangiectasia mutated (ATM) on site [42]. ATM then phosphorylates and activates BRCA1, which will allow the formation of the Ctip-MRN-BRCA1 complex [43]. This protein complex is involved in the resection of 5'-ends on both sides of the DSB, leaving 3'-overhangs of single-strand DNA [44]. The 3'-overhangs are then stabilized by replication protein A (RPA), which will later be replaced by RAD51 [45]. Subsequently, BRCA1 will form a complex with PALB2 and BRCA2, the latter mediates the RAD51 filament formation on 3'-overhangs coated with RPA [46]. The newly RAD51-coated overhangs search for a DNA sequence homologous to the damaged sequence. Once the right DNA sequence is located, RAD51 invades the sister chromatid and DNA replication is initiated by DNA polymerase n and followed by ligation by DNA ligase I. These last steps lead to a four-way junction structure termed Holliday junction [47]. The Holliday junction can be finished resolved in three ways: by 'dissolution', symmetrical cleavage, or asymmetric cleavage [48].



**Figure 1.5. Homologous recombination (HR).** The high-fidelity DNA double strand break repair pathway (HR) involves many steps leading to the use of a DNA template from the sister chromatid to insure and error-free DNA repair.

## 1.2.5 NHEJ pathway

NHEJ is the other repair mechanism for DNA DSB. As opposed to HR which is error-free, this repair mechanism is error-prone as it directly ligates the broken ends and does not use any template [49]. NHEJ is composed of two sub groups: classical or canonical and alternative NHEJ. Classical NHEJ, which is shown in figure 1.6, begins with DNA DSB recognition and binding of both Ku70 and Ku80 to the broken ends of DNA. This Ku heterodimer forms a circular shape to allow a stable complex with DNA [50]. Following the formation of the Ku-DNA complex, DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PKcs) is recruited on site and displaces Ku inwards to allow DNA-PKcs to

access DNA DSB ends. Once DNA-PKcs is in contact with DNA, it activates its catalytic kinase activity [51, 52]. Depending on the type of break, DNA may require some processing before being ligated. One of the processing enzymes is Artemis. Artemis is recruited and phosphorylated by DNA-PKcs, which then resects DNA from 5' to 3' [51]. The DNA gaps left after resection are then re-synthesized by DNA polymerases, Pol  $\mu$  and Pol  $\lambda$  (77). Finally, the DNA ends are ligated by DNA ligase IV in complex with XRCC4 (82). The alternative NHEJ (a-NHEJ) takes over when cells are deficient in XRCC4 or DNA ligase IV [53]. A-NHEJ is mostly dependent on PARP1 for detecting the strand breaks and recruiting DNA repair proteins and the MRN-CtIP complex for DNA resection. The gap are filled by DNA polymerase  $\theta$  and ligated by DNA ligase III [54].



**Figure 1.6.** Non-homologous end joining (NHEJ). The error-prone DNA double strand break repair pathway (NHEJ) simply involves the joining of the two broken stands without the use of a template.

#### 1.2.6 MMR

The MMR pathway is key in the repair of base-base mismatches and insertion/deletion mispairs occurring during replication, recombination, or DNA repair. The main MMR steps are shown in figure 1.7. There are two major protein complexes involved in MMR: MutS, which recognizes the mismatched bases, and MutL, which initiates the repair [30, 55]. MutS is further subdivised into MutS $\alpha$ , which is a heterodimer of MSH2 and MSH6, and MutS $\beta$ , which is a heterodimer of MSH2 and MSH6, and MutS $\beta$ , which is a heterodimer of MSH2 and MSH6, and MutS $\beta$ , which is a heterodimer of MSH2 and MSH3. MutS $\alpha$  is involved in the recognition of 1 or 2 mismatched nucleotides, whereas MutS $\beta$  recognizes longer patches of mismatched bases. MutL exists as several structural variants: MutL $\alpha$ , MutL $\beta$ , or MutL $\gamma$ . MutL $\alpha$  is composed of a heterodimer of MLH1 and PMS2, MutL $\beta$  of MLH1 and PMS1, and MutL $\gamma$  of MLH1 and MLH3 [30, 55]. MutS, MutL and DNA then form a complex which initiates the exonuclease-mediated degradation of damaged DNA [56]. It has been shown that MutL $\alpha$  has a PCNA/replication factor C (RFC)-dependent endonuclease activity [57]. This allows for the 5<sup>'</sup> to 3<sup>'</sup> strand excision followed by strand stabilization by RPA, clamping by PCNA, replication by DNA polymerase  $\delta$ , and ligation by DNA ligase I [30, 55].



**Figure 1.7. Mismatch repair (MMR) pathway.** This repair pathway involves the recognition of mismatched bases during replication. MutH is essential in recognizing the parental strand and direct the MutS-MutL complex, bound to the mismatched bases, to resect nucleotide of the newly synthesized strand only.

## 1.2.7 Direct repair by MGMT

Direct repair by MGMT, as opposed to other DNA repair pathways, involves only one single enzyme. As illustrated in figure 1.8, MGMT simply removes the methyl group from the O<sup>6</sup> position of guanine. The removal of the methyl group from guanine is irreversible. The transfer occurs

when the alkyl group is positioned in such a way that allows the histidine and glutamic-acid residues to form a hydrogen bond with the  $O^6$  and the alkyl group, leading to the transfer of the methyl group onto the cysteine residue. The now methylated MGMT is then then ubiquitinated and targeted for degradation, hence is named a ''suicide enzyme'' [29, 58].



**Figure 1.8.** Methylguanine methyltransferase (MGMT) enzyme mechanism of DNA repair. MGMT is known as a suicide enzyme. Once the enzyme displaces the methyl group from the methylated base to its cysteine residue, it is ubiquitinated and targeted for proteasome degradation.

#### **1.3 Targeting DNA repair proteins**

It has been shown that deficiencies in any DNA repair pathways lead to genetic instability and tumor formation [59]. Furthermore, since DNA repair pathways also repair DNA damage due to chemotherapeutic drug and radiotherapeutic treatments, it can lead to resistance [60-62]. Thus, one way to target cancer and/or overcome chemoresistance is to target DNA repair proteins. Certain tumours harbor mutation in one or more DNA repair genes leading to DNA repair deficiency. For example, mutations in the MLH1, MSH2, MSH6 or PMS2 are deficient in the MMR pathway [63]. Likewise, mutations in the BRCA1 or BRCA2 genes lead to a deficiency in HR pathway [64]. These DNA repair deficiencies and others can be pharmacologically exploited to specifically target cancer cells.

#### 1.3 BRCA1 and BRCA2 discovery, structure and function

#### 1.3.1 BRCA1/2 discovery and structure

Germline mutations in BRCA1and BRCA2 (BRCA1/2) are associated with an increased risk of developing breast, ovarian, prostate and pancreatic cancer [65-67]. A long road in genetic studies led to the discovery of these mutations. The first insight into susceptibility genes in familial breast cancer were reported in 1990, where chromosome q17 was shown to be the common denominator. It is characterized by autosomal dominant inheritance with incomplete penetrance [68]. BRCA1/2 is autosomal dominant as this gene is located in a non-sex-chromosome and only one of the two genes is necessary to increase the lifetime risk of developing cancer. Incomplete penetrance of this gene refers to the fact that some individuals will not develop cancer even though they carry the mutated gene on one of the allele. In most familial breast and ovarian tumours, loss of heterozygosity was often observed, which lead to labelling BRCA genes as a tumor suppressors [69, 70]. Four years later, the gene on chromosome q17 was identified as BRCA1 [71]. Since then, many different germline mutations, few sporadic mutation and epigenetic silencing have been discovered linking them to cancer susceptibility [72-74].

As illustrated in figure 1.9, BRCA1 is a protein composed of four major domains: a zinc-finger domain, a BRCA1 serine domain, and two BRCA1 carboxy-terminal repeat motif (BRCT) domains. The BRCA1 protein also comprises a nuclear localization signal as well as a nuclear export signal [75, 76]. It was shown that the zinc finger is essential in interacting with associated proteins such as BRCA1-associated RING Domain protein 1 (BRAD1). Such complex was found to be critical in BRCA1 tumour suppression [77]. This domain is also part of the catalysis of protein ubiquitination in conjunction with ubiquitin E3 ligases [78]. The BRCA serine domain is the region of the protein where the phosphorylation occurs. ATM and ATR are kinases, which upon DNA damage, are activated and in turn phosphorylates BRCA1. Importantly, this domain is the main

site for high rates of mutation [43, 75]. The two BRCT regions are located at the C-terminus of the BRCA1 protein. This domain is involved in DNA repair, transcription regulation and tumor suppressor functions [79]. In short, upon DNA damage, the BRCT domain interacts with various proteins to control the cell cycle. The most common mutation in this domain is a missense mutation, which leads to a loss of control of the cell cycle [80].

Since BRCA1 mutation was only found in 45% of hereditary breast cancers, it was suggested that there might be another breast cancer susceptibility gene. In 1995, the BRCA2 gene was identified at chromosome 13q12.3 [81, 82]. As depicted in figure 1.9, BRCA2 protein is composed of three major domains: a BRC repeat, three oligonucleotide-binding (OB) domains, and a tower domain [83]. The BRC repeat is in the middle of the BRCA2 protein. This domain is essential for binding to RAD51, a protein involved in DNA recombination [84-87]. OB domains are known to be essential for BRCA2 binding to DNA. More specifically, OB1 binds single strand of DNA and the DSS1 protein, which is involved in the stabilization of BRCA2. OB2, which has a tower shaped domain, and OB3 are key to a crucial DNA binding [83, 88].



**Figure 1.9. BRCA1 and BRCA1 gene structure and some of their interacting partners. A)** The BRCA1 N terminus includes a RING domain. This domain allows the association of BRCA1 with BRCA1-associated RING domain protein 1 (BARD1) and a nuclear localization through the nuclear localization sequence (NLS). The domain neighboring the RING domain is a CHK2 phosphorylation site. The coiled-coil domain is the binding region for the partner and localizer of BRCA2 (PALB2). The SQ/TQ cluster domain (SCD) is the ataxia-telangiectasia mutated (ATM) phosphorylation site. Finally, the BRCT domain serves as a binding site for ATM-phosphorylated abraxas, CtBP-interacting protein (CtIP) and BRCA1-interacting protein C-terminal helicase 1 (BRIP1). **B)** The BRCA2 N terminus is the region where PALB2 binds. BRCA2 also contains eight BRCT repeats which allow RAD51 to bind. The BRCA2 DNA-binding domain contains a helical domain (H), three oligonucleotide binding (OB) folds and a tower domain (T). This region allows BRCA2 to bind single- and double-stranded DNA and complexes with deleted in splithand/split-foot syndrome (DSS1) for protein stability. Finally, the BRCA2 C terminus is composed of an NLS and a cyclin-dependent kinase (CDK) phosphorylation site.

#### 1.3.2 Role in DNA repair

One of the early events after a DNA DSB is the phosphorylation of the H2AX histone. Some studies have shown that BRCA1 co-localized with phosphorylated H2AX (γH2AX), which cause chromatin remodeling [89]. BRCA1 is thought to recruit kinase to phosphorylate histone H2AX, which in turn will mediate further DNA damage signaling [90].

BRCA1/2 involvement in HR is shown in figure 1.10. Upon DNA damage, BRCA1 is hyperphosphorylated and moves to the site of the replication fork [91, 92]. BRCA1 can be phosphorylated at different locations by different kinases. For example, DSBs caused by ionizing radiation recruits and activates ataxia-telangiectasia mutated (ATM) that binds to BRCA1 and phosphorylates it [93, 94] at the Ser1387 [95]. On the other hand, upon UV exposure, ATM-related kinase (ATR) mainly phosphorylates BRCA at the Ser1457 residue [95]. CHK2, a kinase involved in cell cycle control, also phosphorylates BRCA1 at Ser988 after ionizing radiation exposure [96, 97]. Other sites of BRCA1 have been shown to be phosphorylated upon DNA damage, but little is known about their role in BRCA1 function [93, 94].

Some studies show the co-localization and co-immunoprecipitation of BRCA1 with the Rad50-Mre11-NBS1 (MRN) complex [98, 99]. The Mre11 acts as a nuclease that resects the 5' ends of the DSB to produce single stranded DNA tracks [100]. In short, BRCA1 acts as a regulator of the complex [101] by binding to DNA and inhibiting Mre11 activity when necessary [102]. Other studies show the involvement of BRCA1 and BRCA2 in the homologous recombination process by forming a complex with RAD51 and other proteins [103, 104]. RAD51 is involved in the recombination during the DSB repair [105]. By coating single-stranded DNA, it forms a nucleoprotein filaments, which then invades a homologous DNA in the sister chromatid for an error-free repair [106, 107]. BRCA1 also plays an indirect role in DNA damage. It has been shown
that BRCA1 forms a complex with c-Abl, which is disrupted by ATM upon radiation-induced DNA DSB. Once the BRCA1-c-Abl complex is disrupted, c-Abl is activated and is involved in transcription regulation and DNA repair [108].



**Figure 1.10 BRCA1 and BRCA2 functions in HR.** Following DNA DSB, BRCA1 is rapidly phosphorylated by ATM/ATR, which allows the recruitment of the MRN complex through interaction with CtIP proteins. This protein complex initiates resection of the ends in the 5' to 3'

direction. RPA then binds the 3' ssDNA overhangs to stabilize them. BRCA1 recruits BRCA2 through PALB2 interaction, which allows BRCA2 to interacts with RAD51 proteins. Subsequently, RAD51 binds and displace RPA to initiate the RAD51-dependent strand exchange.

### 1.3.3 Role in transcription regulation

BRCA1 has been shown to regulate many genes involved in DNA damage response. MacLachlan *et al.* [109] showed that BRCA1 stabilizes p53 and together, they coactivate the transcription of genes that involved in both direct DNA repair and cell cycle arrest. Their study also shows that although p53 is involved in the transcription of genes triggering apoptosis, BRCA1 is not. Some studies show that BRCA1 acts as a co-repressor with ZBRK1. ZBRK1 is a transcription factor that specifically binds to the DNA sequence GGGXXXCAGXXXTTT. This sequence is present in the promoter region of many genes, such as p21, GADD45, and EGR1. Together, BRCA1 and ZBRK1 were shown to repress the transcription of those genes [110, 111]. Ouchi *et al.* [112] studied the role of BRCA1 as a transcription activator of IFN- $\gamma$  target genes. They showed that BRCA1 and STAT1 interact and that together they co-activate the transcription of the p21WAF1 gene, a cyclindependent kinase inhibitor, to ultimately modulate cell growth.

### 1.3.4 Role in cell cycle

Upon DNA damage, BRCA1 is shown to be involved in cell cycle regulation by activating all cell cycle checkpoints: G1/S, S-phase and G2/M checkpoints. Indeed, Fabro *et al.* [113] showed that after ionizing radiation or UV exposure, G1/S checkpoint is triggered when BRCA1 is phosphorylated by ATM or ATR, which then allows BRCA1 to associate with BARD1 to ultimately regulate p53 phosphorylation on serine-15 position. Phosphorylation of p53 then acts as a key component in the transcription of the cyclin dependent kinase (CDK) inhibitor p21, which is directly involved in G1/S arrest. BRCA1 has also been shown to be involved in the S-phase and

G2/M checkpoints, but the precise mechanism of action is still not clear [114]. The BRCA1-BRAD1 complex is also able to interact with DNA topoisomerase 2-binding protein 1 (TOPBP1), which is essential in the S phase checkpoint regulation [115, 116]. Similarly, BRCA1 interacts with receptor-associated protein 80 (RAP80) [117] and a coiled-coil domain–containing protein (CCDC98) [118] to act as a G2/M checkpoint control.

### 1.3.5 Role in ubiquitination

In the RING finger domain of BRCA1, there are helices at the main portion involved in the BRCA1-BARD1 complex. This complex is now well studied and its main function is for its E3-ubiquitin ligase activity [119]. The heterodimerization of the two proteins is essential for the proper function of the ubiquitin ligase activity [120]. The mechanism of action of the E3-ubiquitin ligase is done via the essential interaction with E2 ubiquitin-conjugate enzyme [121]. The BRCA1 and BARD1 complex also impacts their cellular localization. Indeed, upon dimerization, the nuclear export sequence (NES) of both BRCA1 and BARD1 become hidden, which leads to the nuclear retention of the two proteins [122, 123]. Some of the targets ubiquitinated by the BRCA1 E3 ligase include histone protein H2A, CtIP, estrogen receptor-alpha, and progesterone receptor [124-127].

On the other side of the spectrum, there is a deubiquitinase, BRCA1 associated protein 1 (BAP1), involved in chromatin remodeling by deubiquitinating histone H2A [128] and modulation of the E3-ubiquitine ligase activity of the BRCA1-BARD1 complex by deubiquitinating BARD1 [129]. BAP1 has been shown to be involved in DNA damage response of double strand breaks [128] and in cell cycle [130, 131]. In fact, BAP1 has been shown to have a role in tumour growth suppression and is now known as a tumour suppressor gene [132].

# 1.3.6 Role in apoptosis

The role of BRCA1 in apoptosis is not clear. Wang et al. [133] studied the function of BRCA1 as a function of its cellular localization. Indeed, many groups studied the BRCA1 shuttling between the nuclear and cytoplasmic region [134-136]. As mentioned earlier, the BRCA1 gene contains two nuclear localization signals, which influences its nuclear localization [137]. The BRCA1 gene is also composed of two nuclear export sequences (NES), which allows the transport of BRCA1 from the nucleus to the cytoplasm [138]. The signal of these sequences can be compromised when BRCA1 interacts with certain proteins. As mentioned in the previous section, the BRCA1-BARD1 complex leads to the hiding of the NES of BRCA1, which prevents BRCA1 from leaving the nuclear compartment [135, 136]. Other studies show that BRCA1 is able to bind to p53, which in this case leads to BRCA1 export to the cytoplasm [134]. Wang et al. [133], in 2010, showed that not only BRCA1 export out of the nucleus prevents BRCA1 from functioning in its DNA repair roles, but they also show that BRCA1 cytosolic localization might be involved in apoptosis following DNA damage [133]. A few years later, Hedgepeth et al. [139] showed that BRCA1 binds to the inositol 1,4,5,-triphosphate receptor (IP3R) and enhances the binding of the latter to its substrate, leading to apoptosis. IP3R is a calcium channel in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membranes and is known to be involved in gene expression, metabolism, apoptosis, etc [139].

# 1.4 BRCA1/2 levels and cancer

Worldwide, breast cancer is the most commonly diagnosed cancer and the leading cause of death in women [140]. In the developed world, ovarian cancer is the fourth leading cause of cancer [141]. Among the multiple risk factors, a BRCA1/2 mutation represents an increase risk in developing breast and/or ovarian cancer. Statistics show that on average 12% of women will develop breast cancer at some point [142]. However, having a BRCA1 mutation increases the chances of developing cancer up to 55 to 65% and 45% for BRCA2 mutations by age of 70 [143, 144]. About 1.3% of women will develop ovarian cancer [142], with up to 39% risk for women with BRCA1 mutation and 11 to 17% for women with BRCA2 mutations [143, 144]. Mutations in BRCA1/2 also increases the risks of other cancer in women such as, fallopian tube and peritoneal cancers [66, 145]. These mutations can also increase the risk for male breast cancer to 1.2% for BRCA1 mutation and 6.8% for BRCA2 mutation [146]. Similar risks are reported for the development of prostate cancer with mutations in these genes [147]. In both men and women, BRCA1/2 mutations increase the risk of developing pancreatic cancer [148].

Individuals who inherit a BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation are usually heterozygous, where only one of the two alleles is defective. Overtime, these people can acquire a mutation in the second allele, which leads to genomic instability and eventually cancer [149]. BRCA-associated cancers are about 90% hereditary, where the other 10% are due to rare sporadic, promoter methylation, etc [150]. Familial BRCA deficiency is largely cause by frameshift mutations leading to a truncated and non-functional BRCA protein [151]. The population genetics of BRCA1 and BRCA2 varies largely on geography, showing a loss of genetic variation known as the founder effect [152]. Indeed, most BRCA1/2 mutation are specific to certain countries (e.g. Israel) and are also found in populations/communities outside of their country of origin (e.g. Ashkenazi jews) [153].

Although very rare, non-functional BRCA1 or BRCA2 proteins can also be due to a somatic mutation [72, 150, 154, 155]. A study done at university of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Centre showed that out of all the patients with BRCA1/2 mutations, 42.9% had a somatic mutation in the BRCA1 gene and 28.6% in the BRCA2 gene. They also showed a strong positive association between BRCA1 mutation and TP53 mutation [74]. Similarly, other studies reported rare somatic mutations in the BRCA1 gene in unselected breast and ovarian cancer patients [156-158].

Decreased BRCA1 expression is also seen in promoter hypermethylation. Many studies have shown methylation of this gene [150, 159]. In short, BRCA1 transcription is partially regulated by the methylation of the promoter gene, which leads to gene silencing [160]. The silencing of BRCA1 leads to tumours that are deficient in homologous recombination and are as sensitive to DNA damaging agents and PARP inhibitors as BRCA1/2 mutant tumours [74]. Another type of silencing involves the overexpression of miR-182, a key player in the downregulation of BRCA1 [161]. In the case of BRCA2 silencing, Hughes-Davies *et al.* [162] showed that the EMSY gene, which is amplified exclusively in some sporadic breast cancer and high-grade ovarian cancer, binds in a region within BRCA2 protein and downregulates its activity.

### 1.5 Poly(ADP-ribose)polymerase

# 1.5.1 Overview

The history of Poly(ADP-ribore)polymerase (PARP) started in 1963, when Chambon *et. al.* [163] first discovered the poly(ADP-ribose) polymer. After many years working on the determination of the molecular structure of poly(ADP-ribose) and its associated enzymes, they synthesized PARP inhibitors to study the function of the enzyme. Knowing that nicotinamide is a by-product of the enzyme, the first inhibitors synthesized were based on the benzamide system due to it close structural resemblance to nicotinamide [164, 165]. In 1980, Durkacz *et al.* [166] reported for the first time that the PARP inhibitor 3-aminobenzamide (3AB) enhanced the cell killing effect of dimethyl sulfate *in vitro*. This work led to the first hypothesized function of PARP, which is its involvement in DNA damage response [167-169]. Similar results were observed in an *in vivo* experiment conducted by Sakamoto *et al.* [170] where they showed that benzamide increased the cytotoxicity of bleomycin, and therefore increased its antitumour activity. Thereafter, PARP inhibitors were presented as novels molecules to be used to enhance the effect of chemotherapy

and radiotherapy [167, 171]. This is in line with the fact that chemo- and radio-therapy damage DNA and that PARP inhibitors inhibit the base excision repair and probably other DNA repair pathways involved in the repair of such damage.

Later in the mid-1990s, more potent PARP inhibitors were developed, NU1025 and NU1064, that were more soluble and over 200 times more potent than 3AB [172]. Next in line with PARP discoveries was the first crystal structure of the active site of chicken PARP-1 [173]. This work led to a better understanding of the inhibitor binding to the active site and allowed the development of a new generation of PARP inhibitors [174, 175]. This initiated a whole new era for PARP inhibitors with very successful pre-clinical testing, leading to the very first clinical trial, which was performed in combination with temozolomide [176].

The next major discovery was the use of these successful PARP inhibitor in the context of synthetic lethality. Studies showed the exceptional synergistic potency of PARP inhibitor in BRCA1/2 deficient tumours. Their working theory was around the fact that, in dividing, unrepaired single-strand breaks, due to PARP inhibition, accumulate to become double-strand breaks. These double strand breaks which are normally repaired by the HR pathway, are left unrepaired due to BRCA1/2 deficiency. Consequently, unrepaired double-strand DNA breaks lead to apoptosis and cell death [59, 177].

The next sections will describe in more details the structure and function of PARP-1 and PARP2, and briefly mention the other members of the superfamily. Then, a full description of the two mechanism of action of PARP inhibitors will be discussed before introducing the various PARP inhibitors in the clinic, and finally discuss the acquired mechanism of resistance to this new therapy.

# 1.5.2 PARP structure and function

ADP-ribosyltransferases (ARTs), or PARP superfamily, gathers 17 or more known members with an ability to transfer the ADP ribose group from nicotine adenine dinucleotide (NAD+) onto specific proteins, which leads to proteins modulation [178-180]. It has been shown that only 6 of these have poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) activity allowing them to form polymers of ADP-ribose [181]. From these, only three PARPs (PARP1, PARP2 and PARP3) have terminal DNA binding domains allowing them to make contact with damaged DNA [182] For the purpose of this thesis, I will focus on PARP1 and briefly describe the other members of the PARP superfamily.

PARP1 is localized in the nucleus. As depicted in figure 1.11, it structure is essentially composed of fours domains: the DNA binding domain, the automodification domain, the WRG domain/catalytic domain. The DNA binding domain is at the N-terminus of the protein and contains three zing fingers. This domain is involved in detecting and binding DNA strand breaks [183, 184]. The automodification domain is responsible for transferring the poly(ADP-ribose) chain onto itself [185]. Within this domain, a BRCT domain, which is also found on other DNA repair proteins, allows the recruitment of downstream partners [186]. Although PARP-1 has been shown to interact and activate effectors involved in chromatin remodeling, transcription and telomere maintenance, it main role is to detect DNA strand breaks and initiate the DNA repair cascade [187]. Upon DNA strand break, PARP1 act as a sensor and its DNA binding domain binds to the broken DNA [188]. DNA binding initiates the synthesis of the poly(ADP-ribose) chains by increasing its catalytic activity 10- to 500-fold and transfers it to proteins from the DNA repair machinery [189, 190]. In order to amplify the signal at the site of DNA break, it has been shown that the PARylation is also able to recruit more PARP1 (see figure 1.12) [191]. However, in order for DNA repair proteins to access the site of DNA break, PARP has to dissociate from the DNA.

This is done by the auto-ribosylation, which makes PARP1 negatively charged; since DNA is negatively charged, PARP1 is repelled by the DNA [192].



**Figure 1.11. Structure of PARP1, PARP2 and PARP3.** PARP-1 contains DNA binding domain, an automodification domain and a catalytic domain. Zinc finger motifs (ZnF) is the sensor part of the protein and allow binding to the damaged DNA. This leads to the activation of the catalytic domain, which synthesizes poly(ADP-ribose) (PAR) chains. PARP-2 has a similar structure but is lacking zinc finger and an automodification domain. Its function is overlapping with those of PARP1, as both play a role in the base excision repair, nucleotide excision repair, homologous recombination and non-homologous end joining. PARP3 is composed of the same domains than PARP2, but its functions differ as it has been shown to be strictly involved in non-homologous end joining. NLS, nuclear localization sequence; BRCT, BRCA1 carboxy-terminal repeat motif; WGR, WGR motif.

The role of PARP1 was difficult to assess at first. Although cell-based assay showed an increased sensitivity to ionizing radiation and alkylating agents when the cells were PARP1 deficient, PARP1 knockdown mice were viable [193]. Further studies showed a double knockdown of both PARP1 and PARP2 being lethal. This led to the discovery of a redundant pathway with PARP2,

which takes over when PARP1 is absent [194]. Although PARP1 is not essential for DNA repair, it is known to increase the rate of DNA repair by recruiting DNA repair proteins on site. Most DNA repair proteins interact with PARP through the PAR chain. However, some proteins such as tyrosyl-DNA phosphodiesterase 1 (TDP1) and XRCC1 interact directly with PARP 1 and 2 [195-197]. TDP1 is a DNA repair protein involved in the repair of DNA damage triggered by topoisomerases I and II [198]. TPD1 interacts with PARP1 regardless of the PAR formation [195]. XRCC1, a DNA repair protein, which role is to increase and improve the recruitment and activity of other DNA repair proteins involved in the single strand break repair [35]. Although XRCC1 directly interacts with PARP1/2 and therefore does not need PAR formation, the rate of its recruitment is increased when PAR is formed [196, 197]. The role of PARP in base excision repair is depicted in figure 1.12. Once PARP1 sensed the DNA break, produced its PAR, and recruited DNA repair players, PAR is quickly degraded by poly(ADP-ribose) glycohydrolase (PARG) [199] to allow DNA repair protein complexes to disassemble after DNA repair [200].

Although its main role remains in the BER pathway, PARP-1 also plays a role in double strand break repair, in both HR and NHEJ. In HR, PARP1 has been shown to increase the DNA repair activity by recruiting key players such as BRCA1, which heterodimerizes with BARD1. The heterodimer then interacts with PARP1 through the C-terminal BRCT domain of BARD1 and PAR [201]. PARP1 also recruits RNA-binding motif protein, X-linked (RBMX), which is tought to regulate BRCA2 expression at the mRNA level. As mentioned earlier, BRCA2 is a key player in HR [202]. PARP1 is also thought to be involved in the NHEJ pathway. As mentioned in the DNA repair pathways section, NHEJ is composed of two subpathways: the canonical NHEJ (C-NHEJ) and the alternaternative NHEJ (A-NHEJ). There is very little evidence that PARP1 is involved in or stimulates C-NHEJ [203]. There is more evidence of the involvement of PARP1 in the A-NHEJ, where PARP1 has been shown to recruit the XRCC1-DNA ligase III complex [53, 204, 205]. PARP1 is also shown to be involved in the NER pathway, where PARP1 binds to lesions formed by UV exposure [206]. In short, PARP1 interacts, recruits or stabilizes some key players in this pathway such as the Cockayne's syndrome complementation group proteins CSB [207], the Xeroderma pigmentosum complementation group proteins XPC and XPE/ DDB2, and the chromatin remodeler ALC1 [208].



**Figure 1.12**. **The role of PARP-1 in base excision repair (BER) pathway.** BER is the DNA repair mechanism, which is involved in the repair of single strand breaks caused by oxidation or alkylation. BER is initiated when a lesion specific DNA glycosylase removes the damaged base. PARP senses the strand break and recruits other DNA repair proteins. BER can be processed by two sub-pathways: the short-patch where a single nucleotide is replaced, and the long-patch where 2-13 nucleotides are replaced.

As depicted in figure 1.11, PARP2 structure is very similar to that of PARP-1 but is lacking the zinc fingers and automodification domain [209]. As mentioned earlier, the discovery of PARP2 was revealed after  $PARP1^{-/-}$  mouse cells were exposed to DNA damaging agents and produced PAR chains in the absence of PARP1 [209]. Although the produced PAR chain was similar that of PARP1, PARP2 is only involved in 10-25% of PARP1 activity and is shown to interact with the same protein targets as PARP1 [210]. These findings *in toto* suggest that PARP2 acts as a redundant protein in DNA repair when PARP1 is absent. Furthermore, since studies on  $PARP2^{-/-}$  mice showed different phenotypes than  $PARP1^{-/-}$ , PARP2 may have other functions than the ones overlapping with PARP1 [211].

PARP3 is similar in structure as PARP1/2 with some differences in the DNA binding domain [212]. PARP3 is preferably activated by double strand break and results in monomeric ADPribosylation or short PAR chains as opposed to longer and more complex one produced by PARP1 and PARP2 [213]. Rouleau *et al.* [214] showed that PARP3 forms a complex with DNA-PKcs, PARP-1, DNA ligase III, DNA ligase IV, Ku70, and Ku80, suggesting that this PARP is involved in DNA repair pathway. Other studies showed that PARP3 depletion led to a compromised NHEJ double strand break repair after radiation, bleomycin and etoposide treatment [215, 216].

The other PARP members are not involved in the DNA damage response and are described in Table 1.

HVall-BARP (YARP)Cyopiasn. YucleusPolis in multidurg resistance, under-cyopiasmic transport, formution of ribonucloparticules, signal transfortBAIndyraelNucleus, cyopiasmFoliame responseFoliame responseBAIndyraelNucleus, cyopiasmFoliame responseFoliame responseBAIndyraelNucleus, cyopiasmFoliame responseFoliame responseBAIndyraelNucleus, cyopiasmFoliame responseFoliame responseBAIndyraelNucleus, cyopiasmFoliame responseFoliame responseBANucleusNucleusSelective transcriptional repressor of any hydrocarbon receptor (AIB)PBNuSelective transcriptional repressor of any hydrocarbon receptor (AIB)PDNuSelective transcriptional repressor of any hydrocarbon receptor (AIB)PBNuSelective transcriptional repressor of any hydrocarbon receptor (AIB)PDNuSelective transcriptional repressor of any hydrocarbon receptor (AIB)PDNuSelective transcriptional repressor of any hydrocarbon receptor (AIB)PDNuSelective transcriptional repressor of any hydrocarbon receptor (AIB)PDNuNuSelective transcriptiona
---

cti
fun
q
ı an
ution
aliz
loc
ar
n
ell
õ
lus
Ľ.
he
, t
lin
fan
L.
anpe
L
IR
$\mathbf{P}_{i}$
e
th
of
LS
pe
m
me
17
e
Тh
Ι.
le
ab
Ξ

# 1.5.3 PARP inhibitors mechanism of action

During the development of PARP inhibitors, it has always been thought that the only mechanism of action of the small molecules inhibiting PARP was through the inhibition of the formation of the poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase chain. As mentioned previously, upon DNA damage, PARP detects the lesion and activates its catalytic domain to hydrolyze NAD+ to produce PAR. AutoPARylation of PARP1 or PARP2 and the transfer of PAR to chromatin protein recruits essential DNA repair proteins.

There are many PARP inhibitors currently tested in clinical trials with olaparib approved for the treatment of germline BRCA mutated advanced ovarian cancer and BRCA or ATM mutated metastatic castration resistant prostate cancer [217, 218]. Although all these small molecule inhibitors are great PARP catalytic inhibitors with IC50 values in the low nanomolar range, they have a different effect on PARP1 deleted cell. It has been shown that they sensitize Parp1<sup>+/+</sup> cells more when combined with alkylating agents than Parp1<sup>-/-</sup> cells [219]. These findings *in toto* suggest that PARP inhibitors may have another mechanism of action distinct from the inhibition of the catalytic domain, depicted in figure 1.13.



**Figure 1.13.** Poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation. The formation of the poly(ADP-ribose) chain from binding of NAD+ in the nicotinamide pocket by PARP-1 and the subsequent transfer of the chain onto target protein, such as XRCC1.

A new mechanism of action of PARP inhibitors was first proposed by Strom *et al.* in 2011 [220], which states that upon PARP binding of the small molecule inhibitor, PARP1 is trapped on DNA. In 2012, Murai *et al.* [219] gave the first evidence of this new function of PARP inhibitors. Through fluorescence anisotropy DNA-binding assay, they showed that different PARP inhibitors can have a similar inhibition of catalytic activity but their ability to stabilize PARP-DNA complex can significantly vary. In short, in this assay, the DNA single strand break is labeled with AlexaFluor488. The broken strand rotates fast giving a low fluorescence anisotropy reading. Once PARP binds to the DNA lesion, the rotation slows down to give a higher fluorescence anisotropy reading. In untreated cells, the presence of NAD+ will lead to autoPARylation, which will cause the dissociation of PARP and DNA complex. In cells treated with PARP inhibitors, the PARylation is inhibited and the PARP-DNA complex is stabilized. Furthermore, PARP inhibitor binding to the NAD+ pocket can also allosterically change PARP conformation and thus augment PARP binding to DNA [219]. They also showed that the bulkier the PARP inhibitor, the stronger the

PARP-DNA complex. These studies concluded by showing that, at equal catalytic inhibition potency, a strong PARP-DNA trapping is the primary cytotoxic mechanism of action.

Along with the discovery of this new function of PARP inhibitors, the same group studied in 2014 [221] the combination potency of PARP inhibitor with different DNA targeted agents based on their PARP trapping or catalytic inhibition. They showed that catalytic PARP inhibitors are highly synergistic in combination with camptothecin, a topoisomerase I inhibitor, whereas PARP inhibitors with strong DNA trapping are more potent in combination with alkylating agents such as temozolomide [221]. Although these findings could be helpful to rationalize PARP inhibitors combinations in the clinic, *in vivo* tolerability of these treatments should be considered. In 2015, Hopkins *et al.* [222] showed that PARP inhibitors with high DNA-trapping activity are more toxic in combination with alkylating agents, the reduced therapeutic index emerged as an important drawback.

### 1.5.4 PARP inhibitors in the clinic

In 2008, the first phase I clinical study of a PARP inhibitor, rucaparib, was done in combination with temozolomide in patient with advanced solid tumours. The results showed that the combination was well tolerated and there was evidence of increased DNA damage in the combination when compared to temozolomide alone [176]. Although PARP has been studied for decades, it was not until 2005 that two different groups showed the selective potency of PARP inhibitor as a single agent in HR defective cells [59, 177]. This new discovery initiated over 200 clinical trials involving PARP inhibitors as a single agent or in combination with chemo- or radiotherapy. A repository of these trials can be found in the following website: www.clinicaltrials.gov. In fact, nine PARP inhibitors are currently studied in early and late phases

of clinical trials. In 2014, olaparib received an accelerated FDA approval as a monotherapy for the treatment of patients with germline BRCA-mutated advanced ovarian cancer previously treated with three or more lines of chemotherapy [217]. This approval was based on the encouraging results obtained in a phase II trial. The patients treated with olaparib twice daily showed an objective response rate (ORR) of 21.7 to 50% in all cancer types harboring BRCA1/2 mutations (breast, ovarian, pancreatic, and prostate), with little side effects [223].

In January 2016, olaparib was granted the Breakthrough Therapy Designation (BTD) for the treatment of metastatic castration-resistant prostate cancer with BRCA1/2 or ataxia telangiectasia mutated (ATM) mutations [218]. This approval was again a result of spectacular outcome in the TOPARP trial (phase II). The response rate was as high as 33%, which included patients with mutation in BRCA1/2, ATM, Fanconi's anemia genes, and Chk2. These patients experienced very little side effects [224, 225]. In December 2016, another PARP inhibitor, rucaparib, received accelerated FDA approval for the treatment of germline or somatic BRCA-mutated advanced ovarian cancer previously treated with three or more lines of chemotherapy. Clinical trial with rucaparib showed an overall response of 54% [226]. Very recently, the FDA approved for the first time a PARP inhibitor, Niraparib, in the treatment of non-BRCA1/2 mutated tumours. Niraparib was granted Fast Track, Priority Review and Breakthrough Therapy designation, as well as Orphan Drug designation specifically for treating recurrent epithelial ovarian cancer after the groundbreaking result of the NOVA trial [227]. In this study, the primary outcome, the progression-free survival (PFS), was shown to be significantly higher in the niraparib-treated cohort regardless of the BRCA1/2 status [228]. It is now approved as a maintenance treatment for patients with recurrent epithelial ovarian, fallopian tube, or primary peritoneal cancer who are in complete or partial response to platinum treatment [227]. The crystal structure of olaparib bound to PARP-1 protein is depicted in figure 1.14.



**Figure 1.14.** Crystal structure of olaparib bound to the nicotinamide pocket in the ribbon structure of PARP-1 protein. Downloaded from Protein Data Bank (PDB code: 5DS3 Crystal structure of constitutively active PARP-1) [229].

Although the first clinical trial combining rucaparib and temozolomide showed very little toxicity, other studies showed myelosuppression. In 2013, a phase II study showed that rucaparib in combination with temozolomide in metastatic melanoma caused myelosuppression in 54% of the patients [230]. Other studies showed similar results when using other PARP inhibitors, veliparib [231] and INO101 [232], in combination with temozolomide. Combinations with other chemotherapeutic agents were also explored. Olaparib was also combined with cisplatin and gemcitabine [233] and veliparib with topotecan, which once again, showed dose-limiting toxicity of myelosuppression [234]. For all these cases, the doses were de-escalated to reach the maximum

tolerated dose (MTD) for the combination. Likewise, increased toxicity was also described in studies combining olaparib with dacarbazine and paclitaxel [235, 236]. These results are similar to those obtained with another DNA repair protein inhibitor (i.e. methylguanine methyltransferase (MGMT) inhibitor),  $O^6$ -benzyl guanine and lomaguatrib [237-239]. More combinations of PARP inhibitor with chemotherapy are currently ongoing and can be found on www.clinicaltrials.gov. In conclusion, although PARP inhibitors show little toxicity as single agents, their combination with chemotherapy leads to increased myelosuppression.

PARP inhibitors are also combined with other therapeutic agents such as vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR) inhibitors. It has been previously shown that, in hypoxia, the HR pathway is impaired, where both BRCA1 and RAD51 are downregulated [240-242]. Similarly, inhibition of VEGFR results in downregulation of both BRCA1 and BRCA2 involved in HR, leading to a contextual synthetic lethality with PARP inhibition [243]. Phase I and II clinical trials combining olaparib and cediranib (VEGFR inhibitor) showed dose-limiting hematologic toxicities and evidence of encouraging preliminary efficacy results in ovarian cancer patients [244-246].

As mentioned earlier, PARP inhibitors have also shown great potential as radiosensitizers *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Only two phase I clinical trials have been completed so far involving the combination of the PARP inhibitor veliparib and radiation. Both studies show the same low toxicity profile as veliparib alone and encouraging efficacy results in brain metastasis and in advanced solids tumours [247, 248]. There are several other clinical trials currently ongoing evaluating the combination of veliparib and olaparib with either radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy.

## 1.5.5 PARP inhibitor resistance

There are currently four known mechanisms of resistance to PARP inhibitors. As depicted in figure 1.15, the main one is the development of BRCA1/2 secondary mutations, which leads to a functional protein and therefore restoration of homologous recombination. Another one is the upregulation of multidrug efflux transporter P-glycoprotein (Pgp), which is a common cause of resistance to many therapeutics. Two more mechanisms have been recently revealed. One such mechanism is the loss of p53-binding protein 1 (53BP1) in BRCA1 mutant, leading to a partial restoration of HR, and loss of PARP-1 expression. In vitro and in vivo data have accumulated to show BRCA1/2 restoration as a mechanism of resistance. In 2008, the two first published studies were performed in cell lines in which PARP inhibitor resistance has been induced with continuous stepwise exposure to increasing concentration of PARP inhibitors [249, 250]. Interestingly, some of these secondary mutations led to an almost full-length BRCA2 protein, and RAD51 foci formation, which is a hallmark of HR competence. This was the first proof of PARP resistance mechanism through the restoration of full length protein and HR [249]. Moreover, the other group also found that, after ionizing radiation exposure, the PARP inhibitor-resistant clones were able to form RAD51 foci. Another interesting finding by the same group is that PARP inhibitor-resistant clones also became resistant to cisplatin [250]. Restoration of BRCA1 was also seen in ovarian cancer cell lines and conferred resistance to platinum compounds treatment [251]. In vivo data also showed restoration of BRCA2 due to secondary mutation. This study looked at cells derived from a patient with a BRCA2 mutation and sensitivity to cisplatin. After two rounds of cisplatin, 5fluorouracil and chlorambucil therapy, the patient relapsed and was no longer responding to cisplatin treatment. After relapse, cells were derived from the ascites, and showed a secondary mutation in the BRCA2 gene, leading to its restoration [252]. There are also few clinical cases that show PARP inhibitor resistance due secondary mutation leading to restoration of BRCA1/2.

Norquist *et al.* [253] showed that patients responding to the PARP inhibitor olaparib have an inherited mutation and the patients not responding to olaparib had a secondary mutation on BRCA1/2 that restored its function. Another study published by Barber *et al.* [254] showed secondary mutations of BRCA2 leading to its restoration and resistance to PARP inhibitors. This study described patients with BRCA2 mutations, who were treated first with radiotherapy and/or chemotherapy and then treated with olaparib. After an initial response to the PARP inhibitor, their tumour relapsed and stopped responding to the treatment. Exome sequencing revealed secondary mutation in the BRCA2 gene leading to a fully functional BRCA2 protein [254]. Unfortunately, in all these studies, whether they were clinical or pre-clinical, the cells, animals or patients were first treated with rounds of chemotherapy before being treated with PARP inhibitors. To our knowledge, there are no studies looking at PARP inhibitor resistance with only PARP inhibitor treatment as the only treatment modality.



**Figure 1.15. Molecular routes of PARP inhibitor sensitivity and resistance.** Knowing the mechanism of PARP sensitivity in the context of homologous recombination (HR) deficiency, various mechanisms of resistance have been studied. One of the best studied mechanism of resistance to PARP inhibitors is the restoration of BRCA1/2 due to secondary mutations. HR is

also controlled by another protein, 53BP1, which promotes NHEJ rather than HR. A loss of 53BP1 will then favor HR. A familiar mechanism of drug resistance is the upregulation of the efflux pump, P glycoprotein, which pumps the PARP inhibitor out of the cell preventing it to reach its target. The last mechanism of resistance is the loss of the drug target, PARP1.

The second mechanism of resistance is the loss of 53BP1, a protein involved in DNA double strand break repair and cell cycle checkpoints. In a normal cell overcoming double strand breaks, the balance between the error-free repair, HR, and the error-prone repair, NHEJ, rely on two proteins: BRCA1 and 53BP1. As mentioned in previous sections, BRCA1 promotes HR. Conversely, 53BP1 is responsible for the initiation of the error-prone pathway. In the case of BRCA1 mutant tumours, 53BP1 takes over and promotes NHEJ [255]. The loss of 53BP1 leads to an increase in HR even in BRCA1 mutant cells, promotes RPA phosphorylation and rescues BRCA1-deficient cells from dying, thereby leading to resistance to both PARP inhibitors and DNA damaging agents [255-257]. It has also been shown that loss of 53BP1 is seen in some triple negative breast cancer and BRCA1/2-mutant tumours, which leads to a decreased metastasis-free survival [256].

Another mechanism of resistance to PARP inhibitors is the upregulation of multidrug efflux transporter P-glycoprotein (Pgp), which pumps the drug out of the cells. An *in vivo* study showed that long term exposure to olaparib led to an increase in Abcb1a or Abc1b genes expression that encode P-glycoproteins. The same study showed that sensitivity to olaparib is restored when combined with the P-glycoprotein inhibitor tariquidar [258].

The last mechanism of PARP inhibitor resistance is the cellular levels of the target, PARP1. Pettitt *et al.* [259] studied the identification of determinants involved in cancer drug toxicity and resistance. They showed that PARP1 is essential for olaparib activity and that toxicities arising

59

from this treatment is specific to its target. They also discuss the correlation between PARP inhibitor response and PARP1 levels, where low PARP1 levels lead to PARP inhibitor resistance [259]. Loss or lower levels of PARP1 as a mechanism of PARP inhibitor resistance has not been observed yet in the clinic and should be explored further.

### **1.6 Synthetic lethality**

Loss of BRCA1/2 is highlighted in triple-negative breast, high grade serous ovarian, pancreatic and prostate cancers. As an attempt to find a treatment for these advanced disease, research led to the concept of synthetic lethality. Synthetic lethality arises when the mutation of gene A or B alone do not affect the viability of the cell but when both are mutated, it leads to cell death (summarized in figure 1.16). An obvious case of synthetic lethality is that of cells expressing the mutant forms of BRCA1 and BRCA2 [59, 177]. Loss of BRCA1/2 functionality impairs the DSB repair process. On the other hand, the base excision repair protein (PARP) takes over and compensates for this deficiency. Thus, concomitant loss of function in the BRCA1 or 2 genes and the inhibition of PARP induces significant genomic instability that ultimately leads to cell death. This situation is produced by using PARP inhibitors to block its function in the context of BRCA1/2 deficiency [59, 177].

SSBs are the most common DNA aberrations and are repaired by BER, NER, and MMR by using the undamaged complementary strand as a template for the repair. The BER pathway is the main pathway for SSBs and involves PARP. As mentioned in the previous sections, PARP is the SSB sensor, which upon DNA break detection, binds to DNA and catalyzes the formation of a poly (ADP-ribose) chain of varying length and complexity. PARP will transfer this chain to itself and other acceptor proteins, such histones, to allow chromatin relaxation and leave the access to repair proteins. Other ADP-ribose chain acceptors include other DNA repair proteins such as DNA ligase III, DNA polymerase  $\beta$ , and XRCC1 [260]. Once the DNA strand break is repaired, the poly (ADP-ribose) chains are degraded by poly(ADP-ribose) glycohydrolase (PARG) [200].

SSBs that are not repaired lead to replication-associated DNA lesions that are normally repaired by HR. BRCA1 and BRCA2 play an important role in repair of DSBs by HR. Normal cells can repair DSBs by sister chromatid exchange, which is error free. However, loss of BRCA function guides cells towards another option, non-homologous end-joining (NHEJ), which is error prone and leads to genomic instability. BRCA deficient cells lead to two possible outcomes: either die due to accumulative DNA damage, or survive with DNA mutations, the latter leading to an increase risk of cancer [260].



**Figure 1.16. The synthetic lethality concept.** Synthetic lethality arises when the mutation or inhibition of target 1 alone does not affect the viability of the cell because target 2 is able to take over. Same end point is reached when target 2 is mutated of inhibited. However, when both targets

1 and 2 are unable to keep homeostasis due to a mutation or pharmacological inhibition, the cells are unable to compensate and leads to cell death.

# 1.6.1 Other PARP- induced synthetic lethality targets

PARP inhibition is not only synthetically lethal with BRCA1/2 mutation, but also with HR deficiencies. Other synthetic lethal targets includes genes directly involved in the HR pathway or DNA damage signaling [261]. Proteins and enzymes that are essential for HR and can be synthetically lethal with PARP inhibition include, RAD54 [262], RAD51, DSS1 [263], RPA1 [264], ATR [265], ATM [266], NBS1 (part of the MRE11/RAD50/NBS1 complex) [267], CHK1 [268] and CHK2 [269]. Also, it has been shown that even genes deletions involved in the Fanconi Anaemia pathway such as, FANCD2, FANCA and FANCC, lead to HR deficiency and therefore PARP inhibition sensitivity [270].

Other possible targets for PARP inhibitor are genes that indirectly regulate HR. For example, the gene EMSY is a negative regulator of BRCA2 that prevents its activation. Accordingly, its overexpression represses HR [271]. Another indirect player of HR is the phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN), a negative regulator of the phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PI3K) pathway, and one of the most mutated gene in cancer. PTEN has been previously shown to control RAD51 expression [272] and cell cycle checkpoints [273]. Its indirect involvement in HR and cell cycle regulation is probably the reason behind its synthetic lethality with PARP inhibition [274]. Another indirect regulator of HR is PI3K, whose inhibition has been shown to not only downregulate HR by decreasing BRCA1/2 levels, but also increase PARP activity. The downregulations of BRCA1/2 is thought to be due to ERK phosphorylation, which activates the transcription factor ETS1 [275].

As mentioned in section 1.7.4, PARP inhibition is synthetically lethal in combination with vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR) inhibitors. As a result of hypoxia, key DNA repair proteins are repressed [276, 277]. Some of the proteins downregulated during hypoxia include NBS1, part of the MRN (MRE11–RAD50–NBS1) complex [278], RAD51 and BRCA1 [242, 279], RAD52 [280], RAD54 [281], BRCA2 [241], etc. Similar to hypoxia, VEGFR inhibitors inhibit blood vessel formation and therefore deprive tumours cells from nutrients and oxygen, creating a hypoxic environment [282]. Inhibition of VEGFR leads to HR deficiency by downregulating BRCA1 and BRCA2, leading to a contextual synthetic lethality with PARP inhibition [243]. There are other synthetic lethality interactions that are shown to be induced between the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) itself or its downstream signaling cascade and PARP inhibitors. This contextual synthetic sickness will be discussed in section 1.7.6.

# 1.7 EGFR involvement in cancer

#### 1.7.1 Overview

EGFR is a glycosylated transmembrane receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) composed of an extracellular binding a receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK), a transmembrane and a cytoplasmic domain [283, 284]. The EGFR superfamily includes EGFR (also known as Her1 or ErbB1), Her2 (ErbB2), Her3 (ErbB3) and Her4 (ErbB4). Upon ligand binding, EGFR is activated and stimulates various downstream signaling pathways leading to cell growth, proliferation, differentiation, migration, invasion, metastasis and survival [285].

As depicted in figure 1.17, solid tumors are characterized by overexpression and/or mutation of growth factor receptors, such as EGFR. Implicated in the signaling pathway of EGFR are Ras/Raf/MEK/MAPK, PI3K/Akt, STAT, and PLCγ. It has been shown that inhibition of EGFR leads to a decrease in the activation of Erk1/2, which reduces proliferation. Also, the inhibition of

this tyrosine kinase receptor increases the signaling molecule p27 and/or p21, which causes a decrease in angiogenesis and cell cycle arrest. Attenuation of Akt, and reduced Bcl-2 or Bad activation due to this same EGFR inhibition induced increased cell death. Small molecules designed to inhibit EGFR (e.g. gefitinib/iressa and tarceva) are the two drugs now clinically used for this purpose. A significant body of evidence accumulated to show that overexpression of the ligand and ligand-independent receptor activation are implicated in gliomas, melanoma, breast, head and neck, lung, ovarian, prostate, colon carcinomas [286].



**Figure 1.17. EGFR deregulation in different human cancers.** The EGFR deregulation, which include its overexpression or mutation, is implicated in many solid tumours such as: gliomas, breast, ovarian, and colon carcinomas.

# 1.7.2 EGFR structure

The extracellular portion of EGFR is composed of four domains: L1, CR-1, L2 and CR-2 domains. Domains L1 and L2 form the ligand binding region, while the CR-1 and CR-2 domains are involved in the dimerization of the receptor. Upon ligand binding, EGFR has been shown to either homodimerize or heterodimerize with other members of the EGFR superfamily [287, 288]. As a transmembrane receptor, EGFR is also composed of a transmembrane domain, which is mainly  $\alpha$ helical. This domain is mainly for anchorage to the cellular membrane. The juxtamembrane region has important functions involved in the regulation of the receptor, such as: downregulation, liganddependent internalization, association with proteins, etc [289]. Following the juxtamembrane is the kinase domain. As for other kinases, ATP-binding region lies between the N-terminal and Cterminal lobes [290]. The last EGFR domain is the carboxy-terminal tail, which comprises of tyrosine residues involved in phosphorylation-EGFR-mediated signal transduction. When phosphorylated, this region serves as a docking site of various signaling proteins involved in that signal transduction. Other residues within this domain are known to be involved in downregulation processes and endocytosis [291].

There are seven ligands that are known to bind to EGFR: the epidermal growth factor (EGF), transforming growth factor (TGF)- $\alpha$ , heparin binding epidermal growth factor (HB-EGF), amphiregulin, betacellulin, epiregulin and epigen [292-296]. The activation of the receptor begins with the bonding of a ligand between domains L1 and L2 in one single monomeric receptor [297-299]. This event will then lead to a conformational change in the extracellular region, where the CR-1 from the ligand-activated EGFR monomers interact with each other, dimerize and ultimately activate the kinase domain [300]. Once the kinase domain is activated, ATP binds between the C-lobe and the N-lobe. Only the C-lobe is involved in protein substrate interaction [301]. ATP binding triggers autophosphorylation of tyrosine residues in the C-terminal tail of EGFR, which

leads to protein docking. A signaling cascade is then initiated [302].

EGFR associates with signaling proteins in three different ways. The first physical association is an indirect one and is done at the C-terminus of EGFR, where it recruits SH2 (Src homology region 2) or PTB (phosphotyrosine-binding) domains. These domains are small protein segments that facilitate protein-protein interactions involved in the signal transduction pathways [303]. The second mode of recruitment is a direct one, where signaling proteins associate directly with the Cterminus of EGFR [304-307]. The third association is done through a heterodimer partners from other EGFR superfamily members, where the recruitment of some signaling proteins is preferentially done by an EGFR heterodimer as opposed to an EGFR homodimer [308].

# 1.7.3 EGFR signaling

EGFR stimulation leads to the activation of a diverse array of signaling pathways, leading to different functions (illustrated in figure 1.18). Although these pathways are regulated by other redundant signaling pathways, here they are described as EGFR pathways. One of the pathways activated by EGFR is the Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase (MAPK) pathway. The key players of this cascade are Ras, Raf, MEK, and ERK1/2 [309, 310]. When EGFR is activated, it recruits the adaptor protein Grb2, which is bound to the Ras exchange factor Sos, leading to the activation of Ras [311]. Grb2 can bind to the active EGFR either directly (via Y1068 and Y1096)[312] or indirectly, through the tyrosine phosphorylated Shc [313]. When activated, Ras then phosphorylates the serine/threonine kinase Raf-1 [314], which activates MEK and a series of intermediate kinases. This pathway ultimately leads to the phosphorylation, activation, and nuclear translocation of Erk-1 and Erk-2 to regulate transcription factors [315] involved in cellular growth, proliferation, differentiation, migration and apoptosis [309, 312].

Another key player in EGFR signaling pathway is c-Src. c-Src plays a dual role, where it can either be activated by EGFR [316], or it can phosphorylate EGFR in an EGF-independent manner [317, 318]. The most studied roles are the ones involving c-Src phosphorylating and activating EGFR. When c-Src phosphorylates EGFR on Y845, EGFR then activates the STAT5b pathways, which is involved in cell proliferation [319], or activate a key player in cell survival, cyclooxygenase-II (COX-II) [320]. c-Src is also required for EGFR activation, which then induces Zn2+-mediated Ras activation [321]. Another role of c-Src is the phosphorylation of EGFR at Y920, which recruits p85, a PI3K regulatory subunit [304]. It is also involved in the MAPK pathway by phosphorylating Shc, required for Grb2-SOS binding and activation. c-Src can also prevent the degradation of EGFR by phosphorylating Cbl, which is involved in EGFR endocytosis and proteasomal degradation [322].

EGFR also activates the JAK/STAT pathway, that regulates cell cycle progression, differentiation and survival [323]. Signal transducer and activators of transcription (STATs) are signal transducer protein that were first discovered in the context of cytokine receptor signaling pathways [324, 325]. There are seven STAT genes in total: STAT1, 2, 3, 4, 5s, 5b, and 6, with STAT1, 3 and 5 implicated in the EGFR signaling [326-328]. Their structure comprises an oligomerization domain, a DNA binding domain, and a SH2 domain [329]. Typically, downstream of cytokine receptor, STAT protein activation is mediated by JAK kinases. Upon ligand binding and activation of the cytokine receptor, JAK is recruited to the receptor. Since JAK lack a SH2 or SH3 domain, it binds to the proline-rich region of the cytokine receptor through its homology domain. This interaction between the receptor and JAK allows for phosphorylation of the receptor and the recruitment of STAT proteins [328]. To be functional, STAT proteins require not only phosphorylation, but also dimerization with other activated STAT proteins prior to translocation to the nucleus and binding to DNA [330, 331]. The activation of STAT downstream of EGFR is slightly different than that of cytokine receptor. JAK is not implicated in the activation of STAT proteins downstream of EGFR. Also, it appears that not only STAT proteins do not bind to the C-terminal phosphotyrosine residues of EGFR, but they have also been shown to be constitutively associated with EGFR [332, 333]. Since JAK is not required for STATs activation, STAT activity exclusively depends of EGFR stimulation [327]. Another possible path for STAT activation downstream of EGFR is through c-Src. As mentioned above, EGFR can activate c-Scr, which then can activate STAT proteins [299].

EGFR is also involved in phospholipid metabolism, and can activate three enzymes involved in these pathways: phospholipase C (PLC), phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K), and phospholipase D (PLD). PLD is the enzyme responsible for the production of choline and phosphatidic acid (PA) from the hydrolysis of phophatidylcholine [334]. PA is not only one of the main components in lipid metabolism [335], but it is also involved in mitogenesis by positively regulating the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) [336]. The second enzyme activated by EGFR, PLC, catalyzes the hydrolysis of PtdIns(4,5)-P2 (PIP2) to produce 1,2-diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol 1,3,5-trisphosphate (IP3). The former is involved in the activation of the serine/threonine kinase PKC (role in the MAPK and JNK pathways) [337, 338], and the latter in the regulation of intracellular calcium stores [339]. The third enzyme, PI3K, is involved in many cellular processes including proliferation, survival, adhesion, and migration [340]. PI3Ks are organized into three classes but only class Ia is activated by EGFR. The activation of PI3K is mediated by phosphorylated EGFR and the p85 subunit of PI3K via the SH2 domain [341]. As mentioned above, p85 binds preferentially to ErbB3 rather than EGFR. However, EGFR/ErbB3 heterodimer is essential. c-Src can also activate indirectly PI3K by phosphorylating EGFR [304]. Activation of PI3K leads to the phosphorylation of phosphatidylinositol-4,5-phosphate (PIP2) to phosphatidylinositol-3,4,5-phosphate (PIP3). This step of the pathway is tightly regulated by the phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN), which dephosphorylates PIP3 to generate back PIP2 and shuts off the signal. The activation of the pathway leads to translocation of Akt to the plasma membrane, which is further activated by the protein kinase PDK-1 [342]. mTORC2 then phosphorylates Akt at a second site, which is required for the complete activation of Akt [343]. In turn, Akt phosphorylates numerous downstream players, which leads to cellular growth, proliferation, metabolism, survival and apoptosis [342] [344].



Figure 1.18. The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) activation and inhibition. Upon ligand binding, EGFR dimerizes and autophosphorylates itself, leading to the activation of many downstream signaling pathways resulting in proliferation, migration, survival, etc. Small molecules inhibitors of EGFR bind to the ATP binding pocket preventing autophosphorylation and activation of EGFR and downstream signaling.

# 1.7.4 EGFR mutations and overexpression

Because of all the functions of EGFR mentioned above, such as growth, proliferation, invasion and survival, it is easy to see how deregulation of this RTK can be involved in cancer progression and poor prognosis [345, 346]. EGFR deregulations can be classified into many groups including, mutations, gene amplification, transcriptional hyperactivation, etc [286]. Most solid tumors are characterized by EGFR gene amplification typically leading to EGFR protein overexpression, which is the most common EGFR deregulation in cancer [347, 348]. Solid tumours that are recognized for EGFR overexpression include breast, lung, head and neck, pancreatic, brain, prostate, gastric and ovarian, bladder, etc [286]. Importantly, EGFR overexpression has also been seen in the absence of gene amplification [347, 348]. High EGFR activity can also be the result of the upregulation of ligands (e.g. TGF- $\alpha$ ) production by the stroma or the tumour itself, leading to the activation of EGFR [286]. EGFR has also been shown to dimerize with other receptors (e.g. EGFR vIII and HER2) to potentiate cancer progression. The cooperation of EGFR with EGFRvIII leads to the phosphorylation of STAT proteins and potentiate malignant transformation in GBM [349]. EGFR and HER2 heterodimers result in synergistic activity in bladder cancer cells proliferation [350]. Similar results were seen in breast and pancreatic cancer progression [351]. Another form of EGFR deregulation is mutation in the receptor. The EGFRvIII variant exhibits a deletion in exons 2-6 in the extracellular domain. This variant does not need a ligand for activation as the receptor is constitutively active [352]. This mutation is found in more than 50% of GBM with EGFR alterations [353], and is also seen in other solid tumours such as breast, ovarian and lung cancer [354]. The EGFRvIII receptor produces only a weak signal, but this signal lasts longer since there is no ligand-dependent receptor internalization. As mentioned previously, EGFRvIII

also forms homodimers with the wild-type receptor and heterodimers with other receptor of the same family, which results in constitutive activation of theses receptors too [355].

Other EGFR mutations are found in a subtype of lung cancer, non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), which represents about 75-80% of all lung cancer cases [356]. Since 2004, few groups have reported new EGFR mutations in NSCLC patients [357-359]. These mutations involved the deletion of amino acids 746–750 in exon 19 (d746-750), and a point mutation in exon 21 (L858R), which are in the tyrosine kinase domain of EGFR. These "gain-of-function" mutations lead to a constitutively active receptor, which is associated with tumor cell dependence on the mutated kinase for proliferation [360, 361]. Activating EGFR mutations have also been reported in few other tumour types such as: colon, esophagus, pancreas and the salivary gland cancers [362-364].

# 1.7.5 EGFR inhibitors in the clinic

In the 1980s, many groups reported that EGFR overexpression is observed in a large fraction of solid tumours. For this reason, dysregulated EGFR expression and signaling has been hypothesized to be key in cancer progression [365-370]. Furthermore, the idea of ''oncogene addiction'', first proposed by Bernard Weinstein, described that tumour growth may be dependent on a single oncogene, which when blocked, can lead to tumour growth inhibition and cell death [371]. For these reasons, investigators worked on the development of antibodies targeting the extracellular domain of EGFR, thus preventing ligand binding and activation of the receptor [372]. Mendelsohn and colleagues [372, 373] developed the first anti-EGFR monoclonal antibody mAb225 (C225), now known as cetuximab, which showed promising antitumor activity *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Following its promising activity, cetuximab was approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 2004 for the treatment of colorectal cancer and in 2011 for the treatment of head and neck cancer.

Small-molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors against EGFR were also developed and investigated. EGFR inhibitors can be regrouped into three classes: first, second and third generation. The first generation of selective EGFR inhibitors include gefitinib and erlotinib, which are reversible binders to the ATP binding domain [374]. Gefitinib was first approved by the FDA in 2003 for the treatment of locally advanced or metastatic NSCLC after failure of both platinum-based and docetaxel chemotherapies [18]. Unfortunately, only a subset of patients with NSCLC responded to the treatment. Later on, it was shown that NSCLC tumours harboring specific activating mutation (i.e. deletions in exon 19 (EGFRdel19) and exon 21 L858R mutation (EGFRL858R)) were responding very well to small-molecule EGFR inhibitors [357-359]. These led to many successful phases II and III clinical trials [375-383], to finally result in erlotinib and gefitinib FDA approval in 2013 and 2015 respectively as first line monotherapy of NSCLC harboring EGFRdel19 and/or EGFRL858R [384, 385].

Although the first generation of EGFR inhibitors came as a breakthrough for a subtype of NSCLC, acquired resistance to these treatments emerged quite rapidly. Disease progression occurs on average 12 to 16 months after the initiation of the treatment [379, 380, 386]. The main mechanism of acquired resistance is the secondary EGFR mutation, EGFR T790M, which is observed in over 60% of patients who developed resistance to these agents. This mutation occurs at a different site in exon 20, and involves an increased affinity for ATP [387, 388]. This suggests that ATP binding is favored over EGFR inhibitors, that lost binding affinity to the ATP site. Other resistance mechanism to first generation EGFR inhibitors include amplification of Met [389, 390], histologic transformation [391], HER2 amplification [392], BRAF mutations [393], KRAS mutations [394], and PTEN mutations [395]. These mechanisms of resistance stimulated forward the development of the second generation of EGFR inhibitors, afatinib, neratinib and dacomatinib. These inhibitors
bind irreversibly to the ATP-binding pocket, leading to a longer inhibition of EGFR, and they are therefore more potent than the first-generation inhibitors [396]. Although it has been shown that afatinib can inhibit EGFR T790M *in vitro*, the dose required to inhibits it in humans cause high skin and gastrointestinal toxicities [397]. In 2014, a trial showed great efficacy of the combination of afatinib and cetuximab in lung cancer tumours with or without T790M mutation [398].

Because of the lack of available treatment against EGFR T790M mutants and the dose-limiting toxicities of the second-generation of EGFR inhibitors, a third generation of EGFR inhibitors, AZD9291 and rociletinib, was developed [399, 400]. Not only these drugs are potent on both the common EGFR mutation and the resistant mutation T790M, they also have significantly less side effects than the second-generation of EGFR inhibitors [401, 402]. Although there is a significant decrease in skin and gastrointestinal toxicities, grade 3 hyperglycemia was observed in few patients treated with rociletinib, which can be overcome easily with metformin treatment. Unfortunately, over time, acquired resistance to AZD9291 soon developed [403, 404]. The resistance is due to the C797 mutation, which is thought to prevent drug binding to the ATP-binding pocket [404, 405]. This mutation can also occur in the absence of the T790M mutation, which leaves them sensitive to the first- and second-generation of EGFR inhibitors [403].

# 1.7.6 Synthetic lethal interactions between PARP and the EGFR pathway

Recent studies showed that EGFR and PI3K are also involved in the regulation of BRCA1. Nowsheen and colleagues [407] showed that EGFR regulates HR-mediated repair. Indeed, they showed through immunoprecipitation experiments in triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) cell lines (estrogen, progesterone and HER2 receptor negative) that EGFR and BRCA1 form a complex in the cytosol and by inhibiting EGFR, this complex is disrupted. They also show that the cytosolic interaction between EGFR and BRCA1 is essential for the transport of both proteins into the nucleus. Figure 1.19 summarizes the contextual synthetic lethality described by Nowsheen *et al.*, which shows that entrapping BRCA1 in the cytosol not only prevents it from playing its role in HR, but it is also able to trigger the intrisic apoptotic pathway [407]. Another study shows similar results, where inhibition of EGFR leads to an increase in  $\gamma$ H2AX levels (marker for DNA DSB), decrease in RAD51 levels and BRCA1 cytoplasmic retention leading to HR deficiency [408]. In 2011, Burga *et al.* [409] showed a strong negative correlation between EGFR and BRCA1 in TNBC. Certainly, they showed that by downregulating BRCA1, EGFR was upregulated. In 2015, Kumaraswamy *et al.* [410] studied the functional role of BRCA1 in EGFR regulation. Their proposed mechanism of action is that BRCA1 binds to MIR147A promoter to activate the transtription of PARP and EGFR inhibitors resulted in promising tumour growth inhibition both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.



**Fugure 1.19.** Contextual synthetic lethality between EGFR, BRCA1, and PARP1. BRCA1 and EGFR form a complex allowing them to go to the nucleus. Inhibition of EGFR disrupts the EGFR-BRCA1 complex preventing both proteins from going inside the nucleus. BRCA1 being trapped into the cytoplasm, leads to deficiency in homologous recombination (HR) and activates the intrisic apoptotic pathway. Deficiency in HR sensitizes the cell to PARP inhibition.

Another EGFR family member has been shown to be involved in a synthetic lethality context with PARP inhibitors. Nowsheen *et al.* [411] showed that HER2 overexpression led to PARP inhibitor sensitivity in a DNA repair-independent fashion. In this study, PARP inhibition led to a decrease in the transcription faction, NF-kB, only in HER2-dependent manner. Downsteam of EGFR, PI3K and PTEN are also implicated in the synthetic lethality with PARP inhibitors and were described in section 1.6.

#### 1.8 Temozolomide and its resistance mechanism

#### 1.8.1 Temozolomide mechanism of action

DNA alkylating agents such as temozolomide and mitozolomide have showed, with clear evidence, high potency in both melanoma and glioma. They damage DNA by adding alkyl groups to DNA [412]. Unable to be repaired, this damage induces apoptosis, thereby killing the tumour cells. Although these alkylating agents may modify DNA at different sites, they preferably target the N<sup>7</sup> position of guanine and adenine, the O<sup>6</sup> position of guanine, or the N<sup>3</sup> of adenine. While these chemotherapeutic agents are efficient in damaging DNA, the base excision repair pathway readily repairs their adducts. Thus, this repair mechanism decreases the cytotoxic potential of the alkylating agent. It has been estimated that only 5 to 10% of the methylation caused by the DNA-damaging agent yield O<sup>6</sup>-methylguanine methylation. If this adduct is not removed before cell division, the DNA mismatch repair (MMR) will be triggered, leading to futile attempts to repair the damage and ultimately apoptosis [413].

 $O^6$ -Methylguanine-methyltransferase (MGMT) is an enzyme that acts at the  $O^6$  position of guanine. It repairs the damage that is caused by alkylating agent capable of inducing  $O^6$  alkylation. Although MGMT is expressed ubiquitously in healthy human tissues, resistance to alkylating agents arises in tumour cells expressing MGMT. This repair enzyme specifically removes the methyl group from the  $O^6$  position of guanine by transferring it to an internal cystein residue [412, 413]. This transfer inactivates the enzyme. A *de novo* synthesis is therefore required to replenish the cell. By targeting the tumour with alkylating agents, the activity of this enzyme will eventually saturate leading DNA damage unrepaired. In the following replication of the DNA, the modified guanine residue will preferably couple thymine; this will recruit the MMR pathway Since the MMR pathway only corrects the DNA damage in the newly synthesized daughter strand, the

template will remain impaired. In some study, it has been hypothesized that the previously stated pathway will go through an extra cycle to try repair the mismatch vainly. This repair attempt will leave the DNA with a double-strand break, which leads to cell death through the apoptotic pathway [413]. In order for alkylating agent to achieve a high therapeutic activity, ideally the tumour cells should contain low levels of MGMT and a functional MMR system [413].

#### 1.8.2 Temozolomide resistance and attempts to overcome resistance

MGMT, with its ability to directly remove O<sup>6</sup>-methylguanine adducts caused by temozolomide (TMZ), represents the major mechanism of resistance to the latter drug [414]. To enhance response to TMZ treatments, few MGMT inhibitors such as, O<sup>6</sup>-benzyl guanine (O<sup>6</sup>-BG) and O<sup>6</sup>-(4bromothenyl)guanine (lomeguatrib), have been developed. These molecules act as a substrate for MGMT and are used to deplete MGMT in the cell prior to TMZ treatment [415-417]. Specifically, O<sup>6</sup>-BG transfers the benzyl moiety to the cysteine residue 145 in the active site of MGMT, causing it to be ubiquitinated and degraded [417]. Pretreatment with O<sup>6</sup>-BG leads to the enhancement of TMZ activity in vitro and in vivo [418]. As for lomeguatrib, it acts in a similar way. It transfers the bromoethenyl group to the active site cysteine, and leads to MGMT ubiquitination and degradation [419, 420]. Promising preclinical data let to the initiation and completion of a Phase I clinical trial combining lomeguatrib and TMZ [239]. A randomized Phase II clinical trial of 100 patients with metastatic melanoma showed no difference between the efficacy of lomeguatrib + TMZ and TMZ treatment alone in terms of response rates and median time to disease progression due to the lack of a lasting MGMT depletion [421]. Other clinical trials used a different treatment schedule and doses for lomeguatrib and showed effective MGMT depletion in melanoma, CNS, prostate and colorectal tumours [422, 423]. Unfortunately, although these results translated into effective antitumour activity, deleterious side effects (e.g. myelosuppression) are a major deterrent in the

use of this type of agents. Unfortunately, in these approaches MGMT depletion is not tumour selective and is concomitant with bone marrow cell killing, thereby leading to acute myelototoxicity [424].



**Figure 1.20.** The two DNA repair pathways involved in repairing lesions caused by the alkylating agent temozolomide. The clinical alkylating agent temozolomide induces three types of lesions, including: O<sup>6</sup>-methylguanine, N<sup>7</sup>-methylguanine and N<sup>3</sup>-methyladenine. Cytotoxicity only arises from unrepaired O<sup>6</sup>-methylguanine lesions, which is usually repaired by the enzyme methylguanine methylatransferase (MGMT). The other two types of lesions are repaired by the base excision repair (BER) pathway. To overcome resistance to TMZ, inhibitors of both repair pathways were developed, MGMT inhibitors and PARP inhibitors.

Although the O<sup>6</sup>-methylguanine is the main cytotoxic adduct and the N<sup>7</sup>-methylguanine and N<sup>3</sup>methyladenine are rapidly repaired by the BER pathway, inhibiting the latter pathways enhances TMZ cytotoxicity (illustrated in figure 1.20) [425, 426]. The mechanism by which PARP inhibitors potentiate TMZ is due to the accumulation of single strand breaks. Indeed, by inhibiting PARP, the N<sup>7</sup>-methylguanine and N<sup>3</sup>-methyladenine lesions are cleaved, forming single strand breaks. The inhibited PARP can no longer synthesize the PAR chain and therefore the BER pathways is not initiated. Over few DNA replications, single strand breaks are accumulated and are converted into doubles strand breaks [427]. The combination of different PARP inhibitors with TMZ were tested in the clinic and showed promising potentiation of TMZ in a wide range of cancers [230, 231, 428]. It is important to note that the combination of PARP inhibitors with TMZ was well tolerated after a dose adjustment [176, 232].

## 1.9 Cancer drug development: from monotherapy to polypharmacology

Drug discovery has been governed by the design and development of very selective compounds targeting a single component of the disease [429]. In the early 1960s and after many observations that single agent therapies did not lead to full remission, the first drug combination was used in the treatment of the testicular cancer. They used different combinations of alkylating agents, antimetabolites and antitumour antibiotics, that showed significantly improved results [12]. Since then, the use of chemotherapeutic cocktails for many cancer types has been the standard therapy (described in table 2).

Cancer is an extremely heterogenous group of diseases and each organ-specific cancer comprises of various subgroups with distinctive molecular signatures. There have been many groundbreaking discoveries regarding molecular signatures in cancers, which allowed the development of targeted therapies. However, single drug therapies are rarely successful due to the complexity of redundant mechanisms in cancer cells. Today, cancer treatment involves a multi-targeting approach, which can employ three possible strategies: (a) the combination of multiple individual drugs, (b) single pill formulations with multiple drugs, and (c) single drugs with multi-targeted properties [429]. The challenge in using chemotherapeutic cocktails is the increase in toxicities due to drug interactions. Similarly, combining different inhibitors into a single pill may be challenging as the different drugs in the pill may have a different pharmacology, which can impact their efficacy [429]. For these reasons, the best way to approach polypharmacology is the development of single drugs able to target two or more pathways in the cell, which would reduce pharmacological and toxicity concerns [429]. Current multitargeted therapies include small molecule kinase inhibitors, such as sorafenib and sunitinib that were initially developed as single kinase inhibitors and were later found to be multi-targeted [430, 431].

The rational development of multi-targeted therapies relies on the discovery of synthetically lethal targets, redundancy or compensatory signaling pathways and mechanisms of resistance [429]. Using this principle, we chose to develop rationally designed multitargeted molecules that are able to exploit the concept of synthetic lethality, mechanisms of resistance, and the overexpression of EGFR. The next section reviews such an approach termed "combi-targeted concept" developed in our laboratory.

Cancer type	Drug cocktail	Acronym	Reference
Breast Cancer	Cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, 5-fluorouracil	CMF	[432]
	Doxorubicin, cyclophosphamide	AC	[433]
Hodgkin's	Mustine, vincristine, procarbazine, prednisolone	MOPP	[434, 435]
disease	Doxorubicin, bleomycin, vinblastine, dacarbazine	ABVD	[434, 435]
Non-Hodgkin's	Cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine,	СНОР	[436]
lymphoma	prednisolone		
Germ cell	Bleomycin, etoposide, cisplatin	BEP	[437]
tumour			
Stomach cancer	Epirubicin, cisplatin, 5-fluorouracil	ECF	[438, 439]
	Epirubicin, cisplatin, capecitabine	ECX	[439]
Bladder cancer	Methotrexate, vincristine, doxorubicin, cisplatin	MVAC	[440]
Lung cancer	Cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine	CAV	[441]
Colorectal	5-fluorouracil, folinic acid, oxaliplatin	FOLFOX	[442]
cancer	5-fluorouracil, folinic acid, irinotecan	FOLFIRI	[442]

 Table 2. Drug combination cocktails currently used in the clinic.

# 1.10 The combi-targeting concept

As described earlier, anti-cancer drug therapies have been developed to target various tyrosine kinases, DNA repair proteins, etc. This search for specific inhibitor was intended to avoid the multiple side effects caused by unselective DNA-damaging agents. Despite this effort to develop a targeted therapy, tumour cells grow with alternative compensatory mechanisms to survive the effect of drugs, or otherwise the ability to modulate the downstream signaling to compensate for the inhibition of some pathways. These inconveniences such as toxicities and resistance have

directed researchers towards the development of a novel strategy that targets divergent cellular components. This strategy not only targets structurally unrelated targets of a synergetic effect, but also reduces adverse effects due to redundancy [443]. The combi-targeting concept is described as a strategy that seeks to make molecules with a specific receptor affinity, which is also capable of further degrading into to two molecular species: one of which acts as an inhibitor of the target receptor, and the other is capable of damaging DNA of the same cells. This dual acting molecule is therefore able to induce significantly persistent antiproliferative activity in cells expressing these receptors. Since DNA targeting agents usually lack selectivity and therefore cause severe toxicity, combining an EGFR blocker and a DNA alkylating agent would not only have a dual effect on the tumor but has also the potential to induce selective targeting, thereby reducing toxicity [444].



**Figure 1.21. The combi-targeting concept.** I' represent the EGFR inhibitor and TZ the DNA damaging portion of the molecule. From the extracellular compartment, the molecule diffuses through the membrane into the cytosol to inhibit EGFR with its intact form. It will then be hydrolyzed into its two separate moieties I' and TZ. I' inhibits EGFR and TZ damages DNA.

Our Laboratory was the first to develop this novel class of compounds termed "combi-molecules" (recently reviewed by Sun et al.)[445], depicted in figure 1.21. A combi-molecule is a single entity (I-Tz) composed of two distinct targeting arms (e.g. I' targeting EGFR and Tz targeting DNA). The two arms are connected by either a stable or a hydrolysable linker. Both arms can influence two cellular targets: inhibition of a kinase and damage of DNA. Combi-molecules are categorized as type I, type II, or type III, as illustrated in figure 1.22 [446-448]. Type I combi-molecules have a labile linker, which under physiological condition, release their two active arms in the cell (I + Tz). I' is designed to inhibit biological targets (e.g. EGFR) and Tz to damage DNA. As for type-II combi-molecules, they carry a stable non-hydrolazable linker. They exert their binary inhibitory properties as an intact structure (I-Tz) within the cell [23, 446, 448-455]. More recently, our laboratory has developed type III combi-molecules that merge the concept of both type I and type II. Type III combi-molecules are not only able to target and inhibit two different kinases with its intact form, but also to be hydrolyzed to the two kinase inhibitors. The rationale behind this new type of combi-molecules is that in case the hydrolysis is slow inside the tumour cell, the intact structure can still inhibit both kinases [456].



**Figure 1.22.** The different types of combi-molecules. Type I combi-molecules hydrolyze under physiological conditions to release two active moieties targeting two independent biological entities. Type II combi-molecules are very stable, do not hydrolyze under physiological conditions and are able to interact with two different targets. Type III combi-molecules are able to act as both type I and type II combi-molecules. Not only each moiety is able to inhibit their respective targets while the molecule keeps its intact form, it is also able to hydrolyze and release the two active species to allow them to act independently.

## 1.10.1 Type I combi-molecules

The first combi-molecule ever synthesized was a type I combi-molecule. This molecule SMA41 published in 2001, was designed to hydrolyze under physiological conditions to release an active EGFR inhibitors and a DNA damaging agent. The first DNA damaging warhead used in combi-molecules, the methyldiazonium ion, is the same as the one released by the clinically approved alkylating agent temozolomide (Scheme 1.1). As mentioned previously, these new molecules are

designed to have all the benefit of targeted therapy and non-targeted therapy (i.e. spare healthy cells and being aggressive respectively), while overcoming their weaknesses (i.e. resistance and toxicity respectively). Solid tumors are characterized by overexpression and/or mutation of growth factor receptors, such as EGFR. This receptor is involved in many tumorigenic pathways, such as: apoptosis, proliferation, invasion and migration. Based on this rationale, our laboratory specialized in combining a non-targeted therapy to a targeted therapy to enhance potency and reduce toxicities. Mechanistic studies of such compounds showed inhibition of all downstream signaling pathways and induction of DNA damage. Most importantly, these combi-molecules were selectively potent in EGFR-expressing cells and abrogated chemoresistance.



Scheme 1.1. Temozolomide hydrolysis. The clinical alkylating agent, temozolomide, under physiological conditions, is able to hydrolyze to release its active species, the methyl diazonium ion.

Combi-molecules are based on a rational design using structure-activity relationships (SAR) to optimize the binding of the molecule to its target. SAR studies have shown that the aniline moiety of the inhibitor is essential in binding to the hydrophobic region of the ATP-binding pocket of EGFR [457]. In the quinazoline backbone, a H<sub>2</sub>O-mediated hydrogen bond between N3 has been shown and Thr-766 and the N1 atom acts as a hydrogen bond acceptor from Met-769. Further molecular modeling studies showed that the 6- and 7-positions of that backbone allows structural changes without major loss of affinity to EGFR [458]. Our laboratory then designed the first

prototype of EGFR-DNA combi-molecule, SMA41, based on the quinazoline system and a triazene moiety at the 6-position (Scheme 1.2). The combi-molecule not only showed promising inhibition of EGFR in an *in vitro* kinase assay and its phosphorylation in a whole cell assay, but it also induced DNA damage. SMA41 showed superior potency when compared to SMA52, the naked EGFR inhibitor, or TEM, the DNA damaging agent [23].



**Scheme 1.2.** The type I combi-molecule SMA41 targeting EGFR with its intact form, which can hydrolyze to release the EGFR inhibitor (SMA52) and the DNA-damaging agent (methyldiazonium)

Although the design and development of SMA41 showed that a DNA-damaging species could be grafted on to the quinazoline backbone without losing the inhibitory property of either moiety, a few questions remained unanswered. SMA41 being a type I combi-molecule and therefore is hydrolysable, we were unsure as to whether the molecule hydrolyzed outside or inside the cell. The methyl diazonium part of molecule was then labelled with <sup>14</sup>C, while the EGFR inhibitory portion is fluorescent. While the <sup>14</sup>C-labelled DNA damaging agent was found to be distributed everywhere in the cell and alkylated DNA, RNA and proteins, the EGFR inhibitory arm was preferentially located in the perinuclear region. This led to a better understanding as to how combi-molecules cause higher levels of DNA damage than temozolomide. It was suggested that since the

EGFR targeted combi-molecule locates in the perinuclear region, it therefore localizes the DNA damaging arm in closer proximity to the nucleus [459]. The subcellular localization of these molecules was also studied in a different way by Todorova *et al.* who [460] synthesized this molecule with a green fluorescent tag on the DNA damaging portion, taking into account that the EGFR inhibitor is already blue fluorescent. This study clearly showed that both moieties are inside the cell in the perinuclear region. Other published type I combi-molecules are listed in Table 1.3.

Reference	[23]	[446]	[444]	[458]
Arm 2	Nă damace	n≡n <sup>®</sup> ch,	DNA damage ™_™	DNA damage
Arm 1	FGFR inhibition		EGFR inhibition	EGFR inhibition
Structure				
Combi-molecule type	EGFR-DNA	EGFR-DNA	EGFR-DNA	BcrAhl-DNA
Type I Combi- molecules name	SMA-41	RB24	ZRS1	ZRCM5

Table 1.3. Type I combi-molecules designed and synthesized in our laboratory

## 1.10.2 Type II combi-molecules

The first type II combi-molecule, JDD35, was composed of an EGFR inhibitor and a DNA damaging agent with a stable linker between them. It was the first balanced type II combimolecules, with strong inhibition of EGFR and strong DNA damaging potential [24]. These results lead to the development of many other type II combi-molecules. ZR2003, another EGFR-DNA combi-molecule, was the first type II combi-molecule to be tested *in vivo*. Despite its extraordinary potency in multiple *in vitro* assays, its potency in two *in vivo* models showed very little response. Further studies showed that its tumour penetration was consistently lower than gefitinib, a clinical EGFR inhibitor [461].

The same type II concept was used to design the first BcrAbl-DNA combi-molecule, AK04. This molecule combined the structure of gleevec, a clinical Bcr-Abl inhibitor used in the treatment of leukemia, and chlorambucil, a clinical alkylating agent used in the treatment of lymphomas. AK04 was not only a good inhibitor of Bcr-Abl phosphorylation and a great alkylator, but it was also very selective towards Brc-Abl positive cells [454].

A different kind of type II combi-molecules were synthesized 2009, where for the first time, a combi-molecule, SB163, is composed of two kinase inhibitors, EGFR-c-Src. SB163 was developed based on a rational design using molecular modeling studies of known X-ray structures of EGFR and c-Src inhibitors. SB163 was developed to induce tandem blockade of both EGFR and c-Src due to their redundant signaling pathways involved in invasion and metastasis. For the c-Src inhibitor backbone, a 7-phenyl-pyrazolopyrimidine moiety was selected and, for the EGFR inhibitory arm, a quinazoline moiety was used. SB163 showed a dose dependent inhibition of both kinases in *in vitro* kinase assay, but showed imbalanced targeting [462]. All type II combimolecules mentioned in this section are listed in Table 1.4.

Table 1.4. Type II combi-molecules designed and synthesized in our laboratory

Reference	[24]	[459]	[451]	[460]	[461]
Structure					
<u>Combi-</u> molecule type	EGFR-DNA	EGFR-DNA	BcrAbl-DNA	EGFR-e-Su	PARP-DNA
Type II <u>Combi-</u> molecules name	JDD36	ZR2003	AK04	SB163	EG40

# 1.10.3 Type III combi-molecules

Type III combi-molecules have been designed to have both the ability to act as a type I and a type II combi-molecule. The first and only type III, AL776, was designed to target EGFR and c-Src (Table 1.5). In its intact structure, AL776 is able to modulate both targets and also hydrolyze and release two active kinase inhibitors. The idea underlying the design of a combi-molecule targeting two kinases was based on the signaling redundancy between multiple kinases found in refractory tumours. This is known to cause resistance to targeted therapy. Although AL776 was able to inhibit both c-Src and EGFR *in vitro* and *in vivo*, for unknown reason, this new strategy did not translate into tumour shrinkage *in vivo* [456].

Type III <u>Combi</u> - molecules name	Combi- molecule type	Structur	e	Reference
AL776	EGFR-c-Stc.			[453]
		Arm 1	Arm 2	
			and the state of t	
		EGFR inhibition	c-Src inhibition	

Table 1.5. Type III combi-molecules designed and synthesized in our laboratory

#### **RESEARCH OBJECTIVES**

We have now entered the genomic era. In contrast to the traditional one-size-fit-all approach to therapy of cancer, we are moving towards more targeted and personalized treatment modalities. In this context, the investigation of specific biomarkers for treatment indication for advanced cancer has taken the center stage. It is in this context that the work in this thesis was oriented. We primarily considered to develop molecules that can enhance the potency of agents designed to be specific for BRCA1/2 mutations, which is now a clinical biomarker in ovarian cancer and now in prostate cancer. Furthermore, work in this context was directed at enhancing potency in tumours expressing MGMT, a specific biomarker associated with resistance to temozolomide. Discoveries from the latter work inspired us to pursue a daunting challenge of targeting inhibitors in the context of BRCA1/2 to a more boarder biomarker of EGFR, which is overexpressed in most solid tumours.

In this thesis, we sought to overcome resistance to PARP inhibitors in BRCA1/2 mutant tumours and overcome resistance associated to the drug temozolomide due to MGMT expression through: (a) a unimolecular approach to the design and development of PARP-DNA combi-molecules, (b) the optimization of the stability of molecules obtained towards objective (a) under physiological conditions, (c) expansion of the use of PARP inhibitors beyond BRCAness by targeting them to EGFR-expressing cells.

The thesis focuses on the development of new strategies using PARP inhibition going from nontargeted to more targeted PARP inhibitors. The new non-targeted PARP inhibitors were designed to anchor a DNA damaging agent into the nucleus in order to enhance DNA damage in temozolomide resistant cells. The novel targeted PARP inhibitor uses an EGFR inhibitor as the targeted warhead to selectively inhibit the growth of EGFR expressing cells. Work under the aims of this thesis involved the development of synthetic strategies to achieve the isolation of the complex dual targeted molecules, optimized their stability, and molecular modeling was used to simulate their binding to their cognate target. Molecular analyses were performed to investigate their mechanisms of action in murine and human tumour cell carrying specific biomarkers to the resulting molecules. The complex mechanism of action of these molecules on cells was investigated by dissecting signaling response to the effect of each arm of these combi-molecules, namely, DNA damage and PARP inhibition, as well as EGFR targeting and PARP inhibition. The pursuit of these objectives led to the unpredicted discoveries described in this thesis. The very specific objective of this thesis are described below.

Objective 1: To optimize the stability of the first successful prototype PARP-DNA combimolecules (Chapter 2).

Objective 2: To elucidate the mechanism of action of the first stable PARP-DNA combi-molecule in the context of BRCAness and MGMT-mediated resistance to temozolomide (Chapters 3).

Objective 3: To design and optimize a series of PARP-EGFR combi-molecules, elucidate their mechanism of action and study their potency in a panel of EGFR-expressing cells (Chapter 4).

The achievement of these objectives reported in this thesis have given original contributions to knowledge which are discussed in Chapter 5.

# 1.12 References

- 1. Goodman LS, Wintrobe MM, Dameshek W, Goodman MJ, Gilman A, McLennan MT: Nitrogen mustard therapy: Use of methyl-bis (beta-chloroethyl) amine hydrochloride and tris (beta-chloroethyl) amine hydrochloride for Hodgkin's disease, lymphosarcoma, leukemia and certain allied and miscellaneous disorders. Journal of the American Medical Association 1946, 132(3):126-132.
- 2. Gilman A, Philips FS: The biological actions and therapeutic applications of the Bchloroethyl amines and sulfides. *Science* 1946, **103**(2675):409-436.
- 3. Rhoads CP: Nitrogen mustards in the treatment of neoplastic disease: Official statement. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 1946, **131**(8):656-658.
- 4. Farber S, Diamond LK, Mercer RD, Sylvester Jr RF, Wolff JA: **Temporary remissions** in acute leukemia in children produced by folic acid antagonist, 4-aminopteroylglutamic acid (aminopterin). *New England Journal of Medicine* 1948, **238**(23):787-793.
- 5. Pollack M, Taylor A, Williams R: Folic Acid Antagonists in Acute Leukaemia. *Science* 1946, **104**:436.
- Elion GB, Singer S, Hitchings GH: Antagonists of nucleic acid derivatives VIII. Synergism in combinations of biochemically related antimetabolites. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1954, 208(2):477-488.
- 7. Hitchings GH, Elion GB: **The chemistry and biochemistry of purine analogs**. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1954, **60**(2):195-199.
- 8. Heidelberger C, Chaudhuri N, Danneberg P, Mooren D, Griesbach L, DUSCHINSKY R, Schnitzer R, Pleven E, Scheiner J: Fluorinated pyrimidines, a new class of tumourinhibitory compounds. *Nature* 1957, **179**(4561):663-666.
- 9. Longley DB, Harkin DP, Johnston PG: **5-fluorouracil: mechanisms of action and clinical strategies**. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 2003, **3**(5):330-338.
- 10. Pinkel D: Actinomycin D in childhood cancer. *Pediatrics* 1959, **23**(2):342-347.
- 11. Hortobagyi G: Anthracyclines in the treatment of cancer. Drugs 1997, 54(4):1-7.
- 12. Li MC, Whitmore WF, Golbey R, Grabstald H: Effects of combined drug therapy on metastatic cancer of the testis. *Jama* 1960, **174**(10):1291-1299.
- 13. Johnson IS, Armstrong JG, Gorman M, Burnett JP: The vinca alkaloids: a new class of oncolytic agents. In.: AACR; 1963.
- 14. Brunner KW, Young CW: A methylhydrazine derivative in Hodgkin's disease and other malignant neoplasms: therapeutic and toxic effects studied in 51 patients. *Annals of internal medicine* 1965, **63**(1):69-86.
- 15. DeVita VT, Serpick A, Carbone PP: **Preliminary clinical studies with ibenzmethyzin**. *Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeutics* 1966, **7**(4):542-546.
- Druker BJ, Tamura S, Buchdunger E, Ohno S, Segal GM, Fanning S, Zimmermann J, Lydon NB: Effects of a selective inhibitor of the Abl tyrosine kinase on the growth of Bcr-Abl positive cells. *Nature medicine* 1996, 2(5):561-566.
- 17. Cohen MH, Moses ML, Pazdur R: Gleevec<sup>™</sup> for the treatment of chronic myelogenous leukemia: US Food and Drug Administration regulatory mechanisms, accelerated approval, and orphan drug status. *The oncologist* 2002, 7(5):390-392.
- Cohen MH, Williams GA, Sridhara R, Chen G, Pazdur R: FDA drug approval summary: gefitinib (ZD1839)(Iressa®) tablets. *The oncologist* 2003, 8(4):303-306.

- 19. Cohen MH, Johnson JR, Chen Y-F, Sridhara R, Pazdur R: **FDA drug approval** summary: erlotinib (Tarceva®) tablets. *The oncologist* 2005, **10**(7):461-466.
- Kazandjian D, Blumenthal GM, Chen H-Y, He K, Patel M, Justice R, Keegan P, Pazdur R: FDA approval summary: crizotinib for the treatment of metastatic non-small cell lung cancer with anaplastic lymphoma kinase rearrangements. *The oncologist* 2014, 19(10):e5-e11.
- 21. Lang L: **FDA approves sorafenib for patients with inoperable liver cancer**. *Gastroenterology* 2008, **134**(2):379.
- 22. Kim G, McKee AE, Ning Y-M, Hazarika M, Theoret M, Johnson JR, Xu QC, Tang S, Sridhara R, Jiang X: **FDA approval summary: vemurafenib for treatment of unresectable or metastatic melanoma with the BRAFV600E mutation**. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2014, **20**(19):4994-5000.
- 23. Matheson SL, McNamee J, Jean-Claude BJ: **Design of a chimeric 3-methyl-1, 2, 3triazene with mixed receptor tyrosine kinase and DNA damaging properties: a novel tumor targeting strategy**. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 2001, **296**(3):832-840.
- 24. Qiu Q, Domarkas J, Banerjee R, Katsoulas A, McNamee JP, Jean-Claude BJ: **Type II** combi-molecules: design and binary targeting properties of the novel triazolinium-containing molecules JDD36 and JDE05. *Anti-cancer drugs* 2007, **18**(2):171-177.
- 25. Hoeijmakers JH: Genome maintenance mechanisms for preventing cancer. *nature* 2001, **411**(6835):366-374.
- 26. Robertson A, Klungland A, Rognes T, Leiros I: **DNA repair in mammalian cells**. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 2009, **66**(6):981-993.
- 27. Muniandy PA, Liu J, Majumdar A, Liu S-t, Seidman MM: **DNA interstrand crosslink** repair in mammalian cells: step by step. *Critical Reviews in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* 2010, **45**(1):23-49.
- 28. Shrivastav M, De Haro LP, Nickoloff JA: **Regulation of DNA double-strand break** repair pathway choice. *Cell research* 2008, **18**(1):134-147.
- 29. Mishina Y, Duguid EM, He C: Direct reversal of DNA alkylation damage. *Chemical reviews* 2006, **106**(2):215-232.
- 30. Li G-M: Mechanisms and functions of DNA mismatch repair. *Cell research* 2008, **18**(1):85-98.
- 31. Zharkov D: Base excision DNA repair. *Cellular and molecular life sciences* 2008, **65**(10):1544-1565.
- 32. Jacobs AL, Schär P: DNA glycosylases: in DNA repair and beyond. *Chromosoma* 2012, **121**(1):1-20.
- 33. Abbotts R, Madhusudan S: Human AP endonuclease 1 (APE1): from mechanistic insights to druggable target in cancer. *Cancer treatment reviews* 2010, **36**(5):425-435.
- 34. Malanga M, Althaus FR: **The role of poly (ADP-ribose) in the DNA damage signaling network**. *Biochemistry and cell biology* 2005, **83**(3):354-364.
- 35. Caldecott KW: **XRCC1 and DNA strand break repair**. *DNA repair* 2003, **2**(9):955-969.
- 36. Fortini P, Dogliotti E: **Base damage and single-strand break repair: mechanisms and functional significance of short-and long-patch repair subpathways**. *DNA repair* 2007, **6**(4):398-409.

- 37. Shuck SC, Short EA, Turchi JJ: Eukaryotic nucleotide excision repair: from understanding mechanisms to influencing biology. *Cell research* 2008, **18**(1):64-72.
- Sugasawa K, Ng JM, Masutani C, Iwai S, van der Spek PJ, Eker AP, Hanaoka F, Bootsma D, Hoeijmakers JH: Xeroderma pigmentosum group C protein complex is the initiator of global genome nucleotide excision repair. *Molecular cell* 1998, 2(2):223-232.
- 39. Fousteri M, Mullenders LH: Transcription-coupled nucleotide excision repair in mammalian cells: molecular mechanisms and biological effects. *Cell research* 2008, 18(1):73-84.
- 40. Hanawalt PC, Spivak G: **Transcription-coupled DNA repair: two decades of progress and surprises**. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology* 2008, **9**(12):958-970.
- 41. Li X, Heyer W-D: Homologous recombination in DNA repair and DNA damage tolerance. *Cell research* 2008, **18**(1):99-113.
- 42. Lee J-H, Paull TT: **ATM activation by DNA double-strand breaks through the Mre11-Rad50-Nbs1 complex**. *Science* 2005, **308**(5721):551-554.
- 43. Beckta JM, Dever SM, Gnawali N, Khalil A, Sule A, Golding SE, Rosenberg E, Narayanan A, Kehn-Hall K, Xu B: **Mutation of the BRCA1 SQ-cluster results in aberrant mitosis, reduced homologous recombination, and a compensatory increase in non-homologous end joining**. *Oncotarget* 2015, **6**(29):27674.
- 44. Sartori AA, Lukas C, Coates J, Mistrik M, Fu S, Bartek J, Baer R, Lukas J, Jackson SP: **Human CtIP promotes DNA end resection**. *Nature* 2007, **450**(7169):509-514.
- 45. Forget AL, Kowalczykowski SC: **Single-molecule imaging brings Rad51 nucleoprotein filaments into focus**. *Trends in cell biology* 2010, **20**(5):269-276.
- 46. Liu J, Doty T, Gibson B, Heyer W-D: Human BRCA2 protein promotes RAD51 filament formation on RPA-covered single-stranded DNA. *Nature structural & molecular biology* 2010, **17**(10):1260-1262.
- 47. McIlwraith MJ, Vaisman A, Liu Y, Fanning E, Woodgate R, West SC: Human DNA polymerase η promotes DNA synthesis from strand invasion intermediates of homologous recombination. *Molecular cell* 2005, **20**(5):783-792.
- 48. Ip SC, Rass U, Blanco MG, Flynn HR, Skehel JM, West SC: Identification of Holliday junction resolvases from humans and yeast. *Nature* 2008, **456**(7220):357-361.
- 49. Lieber MR: The mechanism of double-strand DNA break repair by the nonhomologous DNA end-joining pathway. Annual review of biochemistry 2010, 79:181-211.
- 50. Walker JR, Corpina RA, Goldberg J: Structure of the Ku heterodimer bound to DNA and its implications for double-strand break repair. *Nature* 2001, **412**(6847):607-614.
- 51. Mahaney BL, Meek K, Lees-Miller SP: **Repair of ionizing radiation-induced DNA double-strand breaks by non-homologous end-joining**. *Biochemical Journal* 2009, **417**(3):639-650.
- 52. Yoo S, Dynan WS: Geometry of a complex formed by double strand break repair proteins at a single DNA end: recruitment of DNA-PKcs induces inward translocation of Ku protein. *Nucleic acids research* 1999, **27**(24):4679-4686.
- 53. Boboila C, Oksenych V, Gostissa M, Wang JH, Zha S, Zhang Y, Chai H, Lee C-S, Jankovic M, Saez L-MA: **Robust chromosomal DNA repair via alternative endjoining in the absence of X-ray repair cross-complementing protein 1 (XRCC1)**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2012, **109**(7):2473-2478.

- 54. Lazzerini-Denchi E, Sfeir A: **Stop pulling my strings [mdash] what telomeres taught us about the DNA damage response**. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology* 2016, **17**(6):364-378.
- 55. Fukui K: **DNA mismatch repair in eukaryotes and bacteria**. *Journal of nucleic acids* 2010, **2010**.
- 56. Galio L, Bouquet C, Brooks P: **ATP hydrolysis-dependent formation of a dynamic** ternary nucleoprotein complex with MutS and MutL. *Nucleic acids research* 1999, 27(11):2325-2331.
- 57. Kadyrov FA, Holmes SF, Arana ME, Lukianova OA, O'Donnell M, Kunkel TA, Modrich P: Saccharomyces cerevisiae MutLα is a mismatch repair endonuclease. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2007, **282**(51):37181-37190.
- 58. Gerson SL: MGMT: its role in cancer aetiology and cancer therapeutics. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 2004, **4**(4):296-307.
- 59. Farmer H, McCabe N, Lord CJ, Tutt AN, Johnson DA, Richardson TB, Santarosa M, Dillon KJ, Hickson I, Knights C: **Targeting the DNA repair defect in BRCA mutant cells as a therapeutic strategy**. *Nature* 2005, **434**(7035):917-921.
- 60. Helleday T, Petermann E, Lundin C, Hodgson B, Sharma RA: **DNA repair pathways as** targets for cancer therapy. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 2008, **8**(3):193-204.
- 61. Frosina G: **DNA repair and resistance of gliomas to chemotherapy and radiotherapy**. *Molecular Cancer Research* 2009, **7**(7):989-999.
- 62. Beskow C, Skikuniene J, Holgersson Å, Nilsson B, Lewensohn R, Kanter L, Viktorsson K: Radioresistant cervical cancer shows upregulation of the NHEJ proteins DNA-PKcs, Ku70 and Ku86. *British journal of cancer* 2009, **101**(5):816-821.
- 63. Wimmer K, Kratz CP: Constitutional mismatch repair-deficiency syndrome. *Haematologica* 2010, **95**(5):699-701.
- 64. O'Donovan PJ, Livingston DM: **BRCA1 and BRCA2: breast/ovarian cancer** susceptibility gene products and participants in DNA double-strand break repair. *Carcinogenesis* 2010, **31**(6):961-967.
- 65. Thorlacius S, Olafsdottir G, Tryggvadottir L, Neuhausen S, Jonasson JG, Tavtigian SV, Tulinius H, Ögmundsdottir HM, Eyfjörd JE: A single BRCA2 mutation in male and female breast cancer families from Iceland with varied cancer phenotypes. *Nature genetics* 1996, **13**(1):117-119.
- 66. Brose MS, Rebbeck TR, Calzone KA, Stopfer JE, Nathanson KL, Weber BL: Cancer risk estimates for BRCA1 mutation carriers identified in a risk evaluation program. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2002, **94**(18):1365-1372.
- 67. Van Asperen C, Brohet R, Meijers-Heijboer E, Hoogerbrugge N, Verhoef S, Vasen H, Ausems M, Menko F, Garcia EG, Klijn J: **Cancer risks in BRCA2 families: estimates** for sites other than breast and ovary. *Journal of medical genetics* 2005, **42**(9):711-719.
- Hall JM LM, Newman B, Morrow JE, Anderson LA, Huey B, King MC: Linkage of early-onset familial breast cancer to chromosome 17 q21. Science 1990, 250:1684 – 1689.
- 69. Smith S, Easton D, Evans D, Ponder B: Allele losses in the region 17q12–21 in familial breast and ovarian cancer involve the wild-type chromosome. *Nature genetics* 1992, 2(2):128-131.
- 70. Neuhausen SL, Marshall CJ: Loss of heterozygosity in familial tumors from three BRCA1-linked kindreds. *Cancer research* 1994, **54**(23):6069-6072.

- 71. Skolnick MH: A strong candidate for the breast and ovarian cancer susceptibility gene BRCA1. *Science* 1994, 266(5172):66-71.
- 72. Birgisdottir V, Stefansson OA, Bodvarsdottir SK, Hilmarsdottir H, Jonasson JG, Eyfjord JE: Epigenetic silencing and deletion of the BRCA1 gene in sporadic breast cancer. Breast Cancer Research 2006, 8(4):1.
- 73. Moschetta M, George A, Kaye S, Banerjee S: **BRCA somatic mutations and epigenetic BRCA modifications in serous ovarian cancer**. *Annals of Oncology* 2016:mdw142.
- 74. Hennessy BT, Timms KM, Carey MS, Gutin A, Meyer LA, Flake DD, Abkevich V, Potter J, Pruss D, Glenn P: Somatic mutations in BRCA1 and BRCA2 could expand the number of patients that benefit from poly (ADP ribose) polymerase inhibitors in ovarian cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2010, 28(22):3570-3576.
- 75. Clark SL, Rodriguez AM, Snyder RR, Hankins GD, Boehning D: **Structure-function of the tumor suppressor BRCA1**. *Computational and structural biotechnology journal* 2012, **1**(1):1-8.
- 76. Paterson JW: Brcal: A Review of Structure and Putative Functions. *Disease markers* 1998, **13**(4):261-274.
- 77. Brzovic PS, Rajagopal P, Hoyt DW, King M-C, Klevit RE: Structure of a BRCA1– BARD1 heterodimeric RING–RING complex. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology* 2001, 8(10):833-837.
- 78. Baer R: With the ends in sight: images from the BRCA1 tumor suppressor. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology* 2001, **8**(10):822-824.
- 79. Joo WS, Jeffrey PD, Cantor SB, Finnin MS, Livingston DM, Pavletich NP: Structure of the 53BP1 BRCT region bound to p53 and its comparison to the Brca1 BRCT structure. *Genes & development* 2002, 16(5):583-593.
- 80. Williams RS, Green R, Glover JM: Crystal structure of the BRCT repeat region from the breast cancer-associated protein BRCA1. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology* 2001, **8**(10):838-842.
- 81. Wooster R, Neuhausen SL, Mangion J, Quirk Y, Ford D, Collins N, Nguyen K, Seal S, Tran T, Averill D: Localization of a breast cancer susceptibility gene, BRCA2, to chromosome 13q12-13. *Science* 1994, 265(5181):2088-2090.
- 82. Wooster R, Bignell G, Lancaster J, Swift S, Seal S, Mangion J, Collins N, Gregory S, Gumbs C, Micklem G: Identification of the breast cancer susceptibility gene BRCA2. *Nature* 1995, **378**(6559):789-792.
- 83. Holloman WK: Unraveling the mechanism of BRCA2 in homologous recombination. *Nature structural & molecular biology* 2011, **18**(7):748-754.
- 84. Marmorstein LY, Ouchi T, Aaronson SA: **The BRCA2 gene product functionally** interacts with p53 and RAD51. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 1998, 95(23):13869-13874.
- 85. Chen P-L, Chen C-F, Chen Y, Xiao J, Sharp ZD, Lee W-H: **The BRC repeats in BRCA2 are critical for RAD51 binding and resistance to methyl methanesulfonate treatment**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 1998, **95**(9):5287-5292.
- 86. Wong AK, Pero R, Ormonde PA, Tavtigian SV, Bartel PL: **RAD51 interacts with the** evolutionarily conserved BRC motifs in the human breast cancer susceptibility gene brca2. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1997, **272**(51):31941-31944.

- 87. Katagiri T, Saito H, Shinohara A, Ogawa H, Kamada N, Nakamura Y, Miki Y: **Multiple possible sites of BRCA2 interacting with DNA repair protein RAD51**. *Genes, chromosomes & cancer* 1998, **21**(3):217-222.
- 88. Yang H, Jeffrey PD, Miller J, Kinnucan E, Sun Y, Thomä NH, Zheng N, Chen P-L, Lee W-H, Pavletich NP: BRCA2 function in DNA binding and recombination from a BRCA2-DSS1-ssDNA structure. *Science* 2002, 297(5588):1837-1848.
- 89. Paull TT, Rogakou EP, Yamazaki V, Kirchgessner CU, Gellert M, Bonner WM: A critical role for histone H2AX in recruitment of repair factors to nuclear foci after DNA damage. *Current Biology* 2000, **10**(15):886-895.
- 90. Ye Q, Hu Y-F, Zhong H, Nye AC, Belmont AS, Li R: **BRCA1-induced large-scale chromatin unfolding and allele-specific effects of cancer-predisposing mutations**. *The Journal of cell biology* 2001, **155**(6):911-922.
- 91. Scully R, Chen J, Ochs RL, Keegan K, Hoekstra M, Feunteun J, Livingston DM: Dynamic changes of BRCA1 subnuclear location and phosphorylation state are initiated by DNA damage. *Cell* 1997, **90**(3):425-435.
- 92. Thomas JE, Smith M, Tonkinson JL, Rubinfeld B, Polakis P: Induction of phosphorylation on BRCA1 during the cell cycle and after DNA damage. Cell growth & differentiation: the molecular biology journal of the American Association for Cancer Research 1997, 8(7):801-809.
- 93. Cortez D, Wang Y, Qin J, Elledge SJ: **Requirement of ATM-dependent** phosphorylation of brca1 in the DNA damage response to double-strand breaks. *Science* 1999, **286**(5442):1162-1166.
- 94. Gatei M, Scott SP, Filippovitch I, Soronika N, Lavin MF, Weber B, Khanna KK: Role for ATM in DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of BRCA1. *Cancer research* 2000, **60**(12):3299-3304.
- 95. Gatei M, Zhou B-B, Hobson K, Scott S, Young D, Khanna KK: Ataxia Telangiectasia Mutated (ATM) Kinase and ATM and Rad3 Related Kinase Mediate Phosphorylation of Brca1 at Distinct and Overlapping Sites IN VIVO ASSESSMENT USING PHOSPHO-SPECIFIC ANTIBODIES. Journal of Biological Chemistry 2001, 276(20):17276-17280.
- 96. Chaturvedi P, Eng WK, Zhu Y, Mattern MR, Mishra R, Hurle MR, Zhang X, Annan RS, Lu Q, Faucette LF: Mammalian Chk2 is a downstream effector of the ATMdependent DNA damage checkpoint pathway. *Oncogene* 1999, **18**(28):4047-4054.
- 97. Bell DW, Varley JM, Szydlo TE, Kang DH, Wahrer DC, Shannon KE, Lubratovich M, Verselis SJ, Isselbacher KJ, Fraumeni JF: **Heterozygous germ line hCHK2 mutations** in Li-Fraumeni syndrome. *Science* 1999, **286**(5449):2528-2531.
- 98. Zhong Q, Chen C-F, Li S, Chen Y, Wang C-C, Xiao J, Chen P-L, Sharp ZD, Lee W-H: Association of BRCA1 with the hRad50-hMre11-p95 complex and the DNA damage response. *Science* 1999, 285(5428):747-750.
- 99. Wang Y, Cortez D, Yazdi P, Neff N, Elledge SJ, Qin J: **BASC**, a super complex of **BRCA1-associated proteins involved in the recognition and repair of aberrant DNA** structures. *Genes & development* 2000, **14**(8):927-939.
- 100. Haber JE: The many interfaces of Mre11. Cell 1998, 95(5):583-586.
- 101. Wu X, Petrini JH, Heine WF, Weaver DT, Livingston DM, Chen J: Independence of R/M/N focus formation and the presence of intact BRCA1. Science 2000, 289(5476):11-11.

- 102. Paull TT, Cortez D, Bowers B, Elledge SJ, Gellert M: **Direct DNA binding by Brca1**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2001, **98**(11):6086-6091.
- Scully R, Chen J, Plug A, Xiao Y, Weaver D, Feunteun J, Ashley T, Livingston DM: Association of BRCA1 with Rad51 in mitotic and meiotic cells. *Cell* 1997, 88(2):265-275.
- 104. Chen J, Silver DP, Walpita D, Cantor SB, Gazdar AF, Tomlinson G, Couch FJ, Weber BL, Ashley T, Livingston DM: Stable interaction between the products of the BRCA1 and BRCA2 tumor suppressor genes in mitotic and meiotic cells. *Molecular cell* 1998, 2(3):317-328.
- 105. Shinohara A, Ogawa H, Ogawa T: **Rad51 protein involved in repair and** recombination in S. cerevisiae is a RecA-like protein. *Cell* 1992, **69**(3):457-470.
- 106. Sung P: Catalysis of ATP-dependent homologous DNA pairing and strand exchange by yeast RAD51 protein. *Science* 1994, **265**(5176):1241-1243.
- 107. Baumann P, Benson FE, West SC: Human Rad51 protein promotes ATP-dependent homologous pairing and strand transfer reactions in vitro. *Cell* 1996, 87(4):757-766.
- 108. Foray N, Marot D, Randrianarison V, Dalla Venezia N, Picard D, Perricaudet M, Favaudon V, Jeggo P: Constitutive association of BRCA1 and c-Abl and its ATMdependent disruption after irradiation. *Molecular and cellular biology* 2002, 22(12):4020-4032.
- 109. MacLachlan TK, Takimoto R, El-Deiry WS: **BRCA1 directs a selective p53-dependent** transcriptional response towards growth arrest and DNA repair targets. *Molecular* and cellular biology 2002, **22**(12):4280-4292.
- 110. Li S, Ting NS, Zheng L, Chen P-L, Ziv Y, Shiloh Y, Eva Y-HL, Lee W-H: Functional link of BRCA1 and ataxia telangiectasia gene product in DNA damage response. *Nature* 2000, 406(6792):210-215.
- 111. Zheng L, Pan H, Li S, Flesken-Nikitin A, Chen P-L, Boyer TG, Lee W-H: Sequencespecific transcriptional corepressor function for BRCA1 through a novel zinc finger protein, ZBRK1. *Molecular cell* 2000, 6(4):757-768.
- 112. Ouchi T, Lee SW, Ouchi M, Aaronson SA, Horvath CM: Collaboration of signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1) and BRCA1 in differential regulation of IFN-γ target genes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2000, 97(10):5208-5213.
- 113. Fabbro M, Savage K, Hobson K, Deans AJ, Powell SN, McArthur GA, Khanna KK: BRCA1-BARD1 complexes are required for p53Ser-15 phosphorylation and a G1/S arrest following ionizing radiation-induced DNA damage. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2004, 279(30):31251-31258.
- 114. Xu B, Kim S-t, Kastan MB: **Involvement of Brca1 in S-phase and G2-phase checkpoints after ionizing irradiation**. *Molecular and cellular biology* 2001, **21**(10):3445-3450.
- 115. Kim J-E, McAvoy SA, Smith DI, Chen J: **Human TopBP1 ensures genome integrity during normal S phase**. *Molecular and cellular biology* 2005, **25**(24):10907-10915.
- 116. Greenberg RA, Sobhian B, Pathania S, Cantor SB, Nakatani Y, Livingston DM: Multifactorial contributions to an acute DNA damage response by BRCA1/BARD1containing complexes. *Genes & development* 2006, 20(1):34-46.
- 117. Kim H, Chen J, Yu X: Ubiquitin-binding protein RAP80 mediates BRCA1dependent DNA damage response. *Science* 2007, **316**(5828):1202-1205.

- 118. Kim H, Huang J, Chen J: CCDC98 is a BRCA1-BRCT domain-binding protein involved in the DNA damage response. Nature structural & molecular biology 2007, 14(8):710-715.
- 119. Wu LC, Wang ZW, Tsan JT, Spillman MA, Phung A, Xu XL, Yang M-CW, Hwang L-Y, Bowcock AM, Baer R: Identification of a RING protein that can interact in vivo with the BRCA1 gene product. *Nature genetics* 1996, 14(4):430-440.
- 120. Hashizume R, Fukuda M, Maeda I, Nishikawa H, Oyake D, Yabuki Y, Ogata H, Ohta T: **The RING heterodimer BRCA1-BARD1 is a ubiquitin ligase inactivated by a breast cancer-derived mutation**. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2001, **276**(18):14537-14540.
- 121. Brzovic PS, Keeffe JR, Nishikawa H, Miyamoto K, Fox D, Fukuda M, Ohta T, Klevit R: Binding and recognition in the assembly of an active BRCA1/BARD1 ubiquitinligase complex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2003, 100(10):5646-5651.
- 122. Rodríguez JA, Henderson BR: Identification of a functional nuclear export sequence in BRCA1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2000, **275**(49):38589-38596.
- 123. Henderson BR: Regulation of BRCA1, BRCA2 and BARD1 intracellular trafficking. *Bioessays* 2005, 27(9):884-893.
- 124. Zhu Q, Pao GM, Huynh AM, Suh H, Tonnu N, Nederlof PM, Gage FH, Verma IM: BRCA1 tumour suppression occurs via heterochromatin-mediated silencing. *Nature* 2011, 477(7363):179-184.
- 125. Yu X, Fu S, Lai M, Baer R, Chen J: **BRCA1 ubiquitinates its phosphorylation**dependent binding partner CtIP. *Genes & development* 2006, **20**(13):1721-1726.
- 126. Ma Y, Fan S, Hu C, Meng Q, Fuqua SA, Pestell RG, Tomita YA, Rosen EM: BRCA1 regulates acetylation and ubiquitination of estrogen receptor-α. Molecular endocrinology 2010, 24(1):76-90.
- 127. Calvo V, Beato M: **BRCA1 counteracts progesterone action by ubiquitination** leading to progesterone receptor degradation and epigenetic silencing of target promoters. *Cancer research* 2011, **71**(9):3422-3431.
- 128. Yu H, Pak H, Hammond-Martel I, Ghram M, Rodrigue A, Daou S, Barbour H, Corbeil L, Hébert J, Drobetsky E: Tumor suppressor and deubiquitinase BAP1 promotes DNA double-strand break repair. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 2014, 111(1):285-290.
- 129. Nishikawa H, Wu W, Koike A, Kojima R, Gomi H, Fukuda M, Ohta T: **BRCA1**associated protein 1 interferes with **BRCA1/BARD1 RING** heterodimer activity. *Cancer research* 2009, **69**(1):111-119.
- 130. Misaghi S, Ottosen S, Izrael-Tomasevic A, Arnott D, Lamkanfi M, Lee J, Liu J, O'Rourke K, Dixit VM, Wilson AC: Association of C-terminal ubiquitin hydrolase BRCA1-associated protein 1 with cell cycle regulator host cell factor 1. Molecular and cellular biology 2009, 29(8):2181-2192.
- 131. Eletr ZM, Wilkinson KD: An emerging model for BAP1's role in regulating cell cycle progression. *Cell biochemistry and biophysics* 2011, **60**(1-2):3.
- 132. Ventii KH, Devi NS, Friedrich KL, Chernova TA, Tighiouart M, Van Meir EG, Wilkinson KD: BRCA1-associated protein-1 is a tumor suppressor that requires deubiquitinating activity and nuclear localization. Cancer research 2008, 68(17):6953-6962.

- 133. Wang H, Yang ES, Jiang J, Nowsheen S, Xia F: **DNA Damage–Induced Cytotoxicity Is Dissociated from BRCA1's DNA Repair Function but Is Dependent on Its Cytosolic Accumulation**. *Cancer research* 2010, **70**(15):6258-6267.
- 134. Feng Z, Kachnic L, Zhang J, Powell SN, Xia F: **DNA damage induces p53-dependent BRCA1 nuclear export**. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2004, **279**(27):28574-28584.
- 135. Fabbro M, Rodriguez JA, Baer R, Henderson BR: BARD1 induces BRCA1 intranuclear foci formation by increasing RING-dependent BRCA1 nuclear import and inhibiting BRCA1 nuclear export. Journal of Biological Chemistry 2002, 277(24):21315-21324.
- 136. Fabbro M, Schuechner S, Au WW, Henderson BR: **BARD1 regulates BRCA1 apoptotic function by a mechanism involving nuclear retention**. *Experimental cell research* 2004, **298**(2):661-673.
- 137. Chen C-F, Li S, Chen Y, Chen P-L, Sharp ZD, Lee W-H: The nuclear localization sequences of the BRCA1 protein interact with the importin-α subunit of the nuclear transport signal receptor. Journal of Biological Chemistry 1996, 271(51):32863-32868.
- Thompson ME, Robinson-Benion CL, Holt JT: An amino-terminal motif functions as a second nuclear export sequence in BRCA1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2005, 280(23):21854-21857.
- 139. Hedgepeth SC, Garcia MI, Wagner LE, Rodriguez AM, Chintapalli SV, Snyder RR, Hankins GD, Henderson BR, Brodie KM, Yule DI: **The BRCA1 tumor suppressor binds to inositol 1, 4, 5-trisphosphate receptors to stimulate apoptotic calcium release**. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2015, **290**(11):7304-7313.
- 140. Jemal A, Bray F, Center MM, Ferlay J, Ward E, Forman D: Global cancer statistics. *CA: a cancer journal for clinicians* 2011, **61**(2):69-90.
- 141. Jayson GC, Kohn EC, Kitchener HC, Ledermann JA: **Ovarian cancer**. *The Lancet* 2014, **384**(9951):1376-1388.
- 142. Howlader N, Noone A, Krapcho M, Garshell J, Miller D, Altekruse S, Kosary C, Yu M, Ruhl J, Tatalovich Z: SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975–2011. National Cancer Institute; Bethesda, MD: 2014. In.; 2015.
- 143. Antoniou A, Pharoah P, Narod S, Risch HA, Eyfjord JE, Hopper J, Loman N, Olsson H, Johannsson O, Borg Å: Average risks of breast and ovarian cancer associated with BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations detected in case series unselected for family history: a combined analysis of 22 studies. The American Journal of Human Genetics 2003, 72(5):1117-1130.
- 144. Chen S, Parmigiani G: Meta-analysis of BRCA1 and BRCA2 penetrance. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2007, **25**(11):1329-1333.
- 145. Finch A, Beiner M, Lubinski J, Lynch HT, Moller P, Rosen B, Murphy J, Ghadirian P, Friedman E, Foulkes WD: Salpingo-oophorectomy and the risk of ovarian, fallopian tube, and peritoneal cancers in women with a BRCA1 or BRCA2 Mutation. *Jama* 2006, **296**(2):185-192.
- 146. Tai YC, Domchek S, Parmigiani G, Chen S: Breast cancer risk among male BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2007, 99(23):1811-1814.
- 147. Levy-Lahad E, Friedman E: Cancer risks among BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers. *British journal of cancer* 2007, **96**(1):11-15.

- 148. Ferrone CR, Levine DA, Tang LH, Allen PJ, Jarnagin W, Brennan MF, Offit K, Robson ME: **BRCA germline mutations in Jewish patients with pancreatic adenocarcinoma**. *Journal of clinical oncology* 2009, **27**(3):433-438.
- 149. Shen S-X, Weaver Z, Xu X, Li C, Weinstein M, Chen L, Guan X-Y, Ried T, Deng C-X: A targeted disruption of the murine Brca1 gene causes -irradiation hypersensitivity and genetic instability. *Oncogene* 1998, **17**(24):3115-3124.
- 150. Catteau A, Harris WH, Xu C-F, Solomon E: Methylation of the BRCA1 promoter region in sporadic breast and ovarian cancer: correlation with disease characteristics. *Oncogene* 1999, **18**(11):1957-1965.
- 151. Wang F, Fang Q, Ge Z, Yu N, Xu S, Fan X: Common BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations in breast cancer families: a meta-analysis from systematic review. *Molecular biology* reports 2012, **39**(3):2109-2118.
- 152. Templeton AR: The theory of speciation via the founder principle. *Genetics* 1980, **94**(4):1011-1038.
- 153. Szabo CI, King M-C: **Population genetics of BRCA1 and BRCA2**. American journal of human genetics 1997, **60**(5):1013.
- 154. Tapia T, Smalley SV, Kohen P, Muñoz A, Solis LM, Corvalan A, Faundez P, Devoto L, Camus M, Alvarez M: **Promoter hypermethylation of BRCA1 correlates with absence of expression in hereditary breast cancer tumors**. *Epigenetics* 2008, **3**(3):157-163.
- Chan KY, Ozçelik H, Cheung AN, Ngan HY, Khoo U-S: Epigenetic factors controlling the BRCA1 and BRCA2 genes in sporadic ovarian cancer. *Cancer research* 2002, 62(14):4151-4156.
- 156. Khoo U-S, Ozcelik H, Cheung AN, Chow LW, Ngan HY, Done SJ, Liang A, Chan VW, Au GK, Ng W-F: Somatic mutations in the BRCA1 gene in Chinese sporadic breast and ovarian cancer. *Oncogene* 1999, **18**(32):4643-4646.
- 157. Merajverl SD, Phaml TM, CadufP RF, Chenl M, Poyz EL, Cooneyl KA, Weber BL, Collins FS: **Somatic mutations in the BRCA1 gene in sporadic ovarian**. *Nature genetics* 1995, **9**.
- 158. Berchuck A, Heron K-A, Carney ME, Lancaster JM, Fraser EG, Vinson VL, Deffenbaugh AM, Miron A, Marks JR, Futreal PA: Frequency of germline and somatic BRCA1 mutations in ovarian cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research* 1998, 4(10):2433-2437.
- 159. Esteller M, Silva JM, Dominguez G, Bonilla F, Matias-Guiu X, Lerma E, Bussaglia E, Prat J, Harkes IC, Repasky EA: Promoter hypermethylation and BRCA1 inactivation in sporadic breast and ovarian tumors. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2000, 92(7):564-569.
- 160. MAGDINIER F, BILLARD L-M, WITTMANN G, FRAPPART L, BENCHAÏB M, LENOIR GM, GUÉRIN JF, DANTE R: **Regional methylation of the 5' end CpG island of BRCA1 is associated with reduced gene expression in human somatic cells**. *The FASEB Journal* 2000, **14**(11):1585-1594.
- 161. Moskwa P, Buffa FM, Pan Y, Panchakshari R, Gottipati P, Muschel RJ, Beech J, Kulshrestha R, Abdelmohsen K, Weinstock DM: miR-182-Mediated Downregulation of BRCA1 Impacts DNA Repair and Sensitivity to PARP Inhibitors. *Molecular Cell* 2014, 53(1):162-163.

- 162. Hughes-Davies L, Huntsman D, Ruas M, Fuks F, Bye J, Chin S-F, Milner J, Brown LA, Hsu F, Gilks B: EMSY links the BRCA2 pathway to sporadic breast and ovarian cancer. *Cell* 2003, 115(5):523-535.
- 163. Chambon P, Weill J, Mandel P: Nicotinamide mononucleotide activation of a new **DNA-dependent polyadenylic acid synthesizing nuclear enzyme**. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 1963, **11**(1):39-43.
- 164. Brightwell M, Shall S: Poly (adenosine diphosphate ribose) polymerase in Physarum polycephalum nuclei. *Biochemical Journal* 1971, **125**(3):67P.
- 165. Purnell MR, Whish W: Novel inhibitors of poly (ADP-ribose) synthetase. *Biochemical Journal* 1980, **185**(3):775-777.
- 166. Rapp F, Reed C, Flannery V, Courtney R, Schaffer P: in DNA excision repair. *Nature* 1980, **283**:593.
- 167. SKIDMORE CJ, DAVIES MI, GOODWIN PM, HALLDORSSON H, LEWIS PJ, SHALL S, ZIA'EE AA: The Involvement of Poly (ADP-ribose) Polymerase in the Degradation of NAD Caused by γ-Radiation and N-Methyl-N-Nitrosourea. *The FEBS Journal* 1979, **101**(1):135-142.
- 168. Shall S: **ADP-ribose in DNA repair: a new component of DNA excision repair**. *Advances in radiation biology* 1984, **11**:2-69.
- 169. Shall S: Inhibition of DNA repair by inhibitors of nuclear ADP-ribosyl transferase. In: *Nucleic acids symposium series: 1984*; 1984: 143.
- 170. Sakamoto H, KAWAMITSU H, MIWA M, TERADA M, SUGIMURA T: Enhancement of antitumor activity of bleomycin by benzamide in vitro and in vivo. *The Journal of antibiotics* 1983, **36**(3):296-300.
- 171. Sugimura T, Shall S: **History of the Discovery of Poly (ADP-ribose)**. In: *PARP Inhibitors for Cancer Therapy*. edn.: Springer; 2015: 3-13.
- 172. Bowman K, White A, Golding B, Griffin R, Curtin N: Potentiation of anti-cancer agent cytotoxicity by the potent poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitors NU1025 and NU1064. *British journal of cancer* 1998, **78**(10):1269.
- 173. Ruf A, de Murcia G, Schulz GE: Inhibitor and NAD+ Binding to Poly (ADP-ribose) Polymerase As Derived from Crystal Structures and Homology Modeling<sup>†</sup>. *Biochemistry* 1998, **37**(11):3893-3900.
- 174. Canan Koch SS, Thoresen LH, Tikhe JG, Maegley KA, Almassy RJ, Li J, Yu X-H, Zook SE, Kumpf RA, Zhang C: Novel tricyclic poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 inhibitors with potent anticancer chemopotentiating activity: design, synthesis, and X-ray cocrystal structure. *Journal of medicinal chemistry* 2002, **45**(23):4961-4974.
- 175. White AW, Curtin NJ, Eastman BW, Golding BT, Hostomsky Z, Kyle S, Li J, Maegley KA, Skalitzky DJ, Webber SE: **Potentiation of cytotoxic drug activity in human tumour cell lines, by amine-substituted 2-arylbenzimidazole-4-carboxamide PARP-1 inhibitors**. *Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters* 2004, **14**(10):2433-2437.
- 176. Plummer R, Jones C, Middleton M, Wilson R, Evans J, Olsen A, Curtin N, Boddy A, McHugh P, Newell D: Phase I study of the poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitor, AG014699, in combination with temozolomide in patients with advanced solid tumors. Clinical Cancer Research 2008, 14(23):7917-7923.
- 177. Bryant HE, Schultz N, Thomas HD, Parker KM, Flower D, Lopez E, Kyle S, Meuth M, Curtin NJ, Helleday T: Specific killing of BRCA2-deficient tumours with inhibitors of poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase. *Nature* 2005, 434(7035):913-917.

- 178. Hottiger MO, Hassa PO, Lüscher B, Schüler H, Koch-Nolte F: **Toward a unified nomenclature for mammalian ADP-ribosyltransferases**. *Trends in biochemical sciences* 2010, **35**(4):208-219.
- 179. Amé JC, Spenlehauer C, de Murcia G: The PARP superfamily. *Bioessays* 2004, **26**(8):882-893.
- 180. Hakmé A, Wong HK, Dantzer F, Schreiber V: **The expanding field of poly (ADPribosyl) ation reactions**. *EMBO reports* 2008, **9**(11):1094-1100.
- 181. Kleine H, Poreba E, Lesniewicz K, Hassa PO, Hottiger MO, Litchfield DW, Shilton BH, Lüscher B: Substrate-assisted catalysis by PARP10 limits its activity to mono-ADP-ribosylation. *Molecular cell* 2008, **32**(1):57-69.
- 182. Langelier M-F, Planck JL, Roy S, Pascal JM: Structural basis for DNA damagedependent poly (ADP-ribosyl) ation by human PARP-1. Science 2012, 336(6082):728-732.
- 183. Gradwohl G, de Murcia JM, Molinete M, Simonin F, Koken M, Hoeijmakers J, de Murcia G: **The second zinc-finger domain of poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase determines specificity for single-stranded breaks in DNA**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 1990, **87**(8):2990-2994.
- 184. Langelier M-F, Servent KM, Rogers EE, Pascal JM: A third zinc-binding domain of human poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 coordinates DNA-dependent enzyme activation. *Journal of biological chemistry* 2008, **283**(7):4105-4114.
- 185. Tao Z, Gao P, Liu H-w: Identification of the ADP-ribosylation sites in the PARP-1 automodification domain: analysis and implications. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 2009, **131**(40):14258-14260.
- 186. Kameshita I, Matsuda Z, Taniguchi T, Shizuta Y: Poly (ADP-Ribose) synthetase. Separation and identification of three proteolytic fragments as the substrate-binding domain, the DNA-binding domain, and the automodification domain. Journal of biological chemistry 1984, 259(8):4770-4776.
- 187. Sanderson RJ, Lindahl T: Down-regulation of DNA repair synthesis at DNA singlestrand interruptions in poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 deficient murine cell extracts. *DNA repair* 2002, 1(7):547-558.
- 188. Ali AA, Timinszky G, Arribas-Bosacoma R, Kozlowski M, Hassa PO, Hassler M, Ladurner AG, Pearl LH, Oliver AW: The zinc-finger domains of PARP1 cooperate to recognize DNA strand breaks. *Nature structural & molecular biology* 2012, 19(7):685-692.
- 189. Langelier M-F, Pascal JM: PARP-1 mechanism for coupling DNA damage detection to poly (ADP-ribose) synthesis. Current opinion in structural biology 2013, 23(1):134-143.
- 190. Hassler M, Ladurner AG: Towards a structural understanding of PARP1 activation and related signalling ADP-ribosyl-transferases. *Current opinion in structural biology* 2012, **22**(6):721-729.
- 191. Mortusewicz O, Ame J-C, Schreiber V, Leonhardt H: Feedback-regulated poly (ADPribosyl) ation by PARP-1 is required for rapid response to DNA damage in living cells. *Nucleic acids research* 2007, **35**(22):7665-7675.
- 192. ZAHRADKA P, EBISUZAKI K: A Shuttle Mechanism for DNA-Protein Interactions. European Journal of Biochemistry 1982, 127(3):579-585.

- 193. De Murcia JM, Niedergang C, Trucco C, Ricoul M, Dutrillaux B, Mark M, Oliver FJ, Masson M, Dierich A, LeMeur M: **Requirement of poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase in** recovery from DNA damage in mice and in cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 1997, **94**(14):7303-7307.
- 194. de Murcia JM, Ricoul M, Tartier L, Niedergang C, Huber A, Dantzer F, Schreiber V, Amé JC, Dierich A, LeMeur M: Functional interaction between PARP-1 and PARP-2 in chromosome stability and embryonic development in mouse. *The EMBO journal* 2003, 22(9):2255-2263.
- 195. Das BB, Shar-yin NH, Murai J, Rehman I, Amé J-C, Sengupta S, Das SK, Majumdar P, Zhang H, Biard D: **PARP1–TDP1 coupling for the repair of topoisomerase I–induced DNA damage**. *Nucleic acids research* 2014:gku088.
- 196. Schreiber V, Amé J-C, Dollé P, Schultz I, Rinaldi B, Fraulob V, Ménissier-de Murcia J, de Murcia G: Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase-2 (PARP-2) is required for efficient base excision DNA repair in association with PARP-1 and XRCC1. Journal of Biological Chemistry 2002, 277(25):23028-23036.
- 197. Caldecott KW, Aoufouchi S, Johnson P, Shall S: XRCC1 polypeptide interacts with DNA polymerase β and possibly poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase, and DNA ligase III is a novel molecular 'nick-sensor'in vitro. Nucleic acids research 1996, 24(22):4387-4394.
- 198. Murai J, Shar-yin NH, Das BB, Dexheimer TS, Takeda S, Pommier Y: Tyrosyl-DNA phosphodiesterase 1 (TDP1) repairs DNA damage induced by topoisomerases I and II and base alkylation in vertebrate cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2012, 287(16):12848-12857.
- 199. Ueda K, Oka J, Narumiya S, Miyakawa N, Hayaishi O: **Poly ADP-ribose** glycohydrolase from rat liver nuclei, a novel enzyme degrading the polymer. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 1972, **46**(2):516-523.
- 200. Davidovic L, Vodenicharov M, Affar EB, Poirier GG: Importance of poly (ADPribose) glycohydrolase in the control of poly (ADP-ribose) metabolism. *Experimental cell research* 2001, **268**(1):7-13.
- 201. Li M, Yu X: Function of BRCA1 in the DNA damage response is mediated by ADPribosylation. *Cancer cell* 2013, **23**(5):693-704.
- 202. Adamson B, Smogorzewska A, Sigoillot FD, King RW, Elledge SJ: A genome-wide homologous recombination screen identifies the RNA-binding protein RBMX as a component of the DNA-damage response. *Nature cell biology* 2012, 14(3):318-328.
- 203. Spagnolo L, Barbeau J, Curtin NJ, Morris EP, Pearl LH: Visualization of a DNA-PK/PARP1 complex. *Nucleic acids research* 2012, **40**(9):4168-4177.
- 204. Audebert M, Salles B, Calsou P: **Involvement of poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 and XRCC1/DNA ligase III in an alternative route for DNA double-strand breaks rejoining**. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2004, **279**(53):55117-55126.
- 205. Mansour WY, Rhein T, Dahm-Daphi J: The alternative end-joining pathway for repair of DNA double-strand breaks requires PARP1 but is not dependent upon microhomologies. *Nucleic acids research* 2010, **38**(18):6065-6077.
- 206. Vodenicharov MD, Ghodgaonkar MM, Halappanavar SS, Shah RG, Shah GM: Mechanism of early biphasic activation of poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 in response to ultraviolet B radiation. *Journal of cell science* 2005, 118(3):589-599.

- 207. Sakai A, Sakasai R, Kakeji Y, Kitao H, Maehara Y: **PARP and CSB modulate the processing of transcription-mediated DNA strand breaks**. *Genes & genetic systems* 2012, **87**(4):265-272.
- 208. Pines A, Vrouwe MG, Marteijn JA, Typas D, Luijsterburg MS, Cansoy M, Hensbergen P, Deelder A, de Groot A, Matsumoto S: **PARP1 promotes nucleotide excision repair through DDB2 stabilization and recruitment of ALC1**. *J Cell Biol* 2012:jcb. 201112132.
- 209. Amé J-C, Rolli V, Schreiber V, Niedergang C, Apiou F, Decker P, Muller S, Höger T, Ménissier-de Murcia J, de Murcia G: PARP-2, A novel mammalian DNA damagedependent poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase. Journal of Biological Chemistry 1999, 274(25):17860-17868.
- 210. Isabelle M, Moreel X, Gagné J-P, Rouleau M, Ethier C, Gagné P, Hendzel MJ, Poirier GG: Investigation of PARP-1, PARP-2, and PARG interactomes by affinitypurification mass spectrometry. *Proteome science* 2010, **8**(1):22.
- 211. Yélamos J, Schreiber V, Dantzer F: Toward specific functions of poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase-2. *Trends in molecular medicine* 2008, **14**(4):169-178.
- 212. Johansson M: A human poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase gene family (ADPRTL): cDNA cloning of two novel poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase homologues. *Genomics* 1999, **57**(3):442-445.
- 213. Loseva O, Jemth A-S, Bryant HE, Schüler H, Lehtiö L, Karlberg T, Helleday T: **PARP-3** is a mono-ADP-ribosylase that activates PARP-1 in the absence of DNA. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2010, **285**(11):8054-8060.
- 214. Rouleau M, McDonald D, Gagne P, Ouellet ME, Droit A, Hunter J, Dutertre S, Prigent C, Hendzel M, Poirier G: **PARP-3 associates with polycomb group bodies and with components of the DNA damage repair machinery**. *Journal of cellular biochemistry* 2007, **100**(2):385-401.
- 215. Beck C, Boehler C, Barbat JG, Bonnet M-E, Illuzzi G, Ronde P, Gauthier LR, Magroun N, Rajendran A, Lopez BS: **PARP3 affects the relative contribution of homologous recombination and nonhomologous end-joining pathways**. *Nucleic acids research* 2014:gku174.
- 216. Rulten SL, Fisher AE, Robert I, Zuma MC, Rouleau M, Ju L, Poirier G, Reina-San-Martin B, Caldecott KW: **PARP-3 and APLF function together to accelerate nonhomologous end-joining**. *Molecular cell* 2011, **41**(1):33-45.
- 217. Kim G, Ison G, McKee AE, Zhang H, Tang S, Gwise T, Sridhara R, Lee E, Tzou A, Philip R: **FDA approval summary: olaparib monotherapy in patients with deleterious germline BRCA-mutated advanced ovarian cancer treated with three or more lines of chemotherapy**. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2015, **21**(19):4257-4261.
- 218. Wang Y-Q, Wang P-Y, Wang Y-T, Yang G-F, Zhang A, Miao Z-H: **An update on poly** (ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 (PARP-1) inhibitors: opportunities and challenges in cancer therapy. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry* 2016, **59**(21):9575-9598.
- 219. Murai J, Shar-yin NH, Das BB, Renaud A, Zhang Y, Doroshow JH, Ji J, Takeda S, Pommier Y: **Trapping of PARP1 and PARP2 by clinical PARP inhibitors**. *Cancer research* 2012, **72**(21):5588-5599.
- 220. Ström CE, Johansson F, Uhlen M, Szigyarto CA-K, Erixon K, Helleday T: Poly (ADPribose) polymerase (PARP) is not involved in base excision repair but PARP

inhibition traps a single-strand intermediate. *Nucleic acids research* 2011, **39**(8):3166-3175.

- 221. Murai J, Zhang Y, Morris J, Ji J, Takeda S, Doroshow J, Pommier Y: **Rationale for PARP inhibitors in combination therapy with camptothecins or temozolomide based on PARP trapping versus catalytic inhibition**. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 2014, **349**:408-416.
- 222. Hopkins TA, Shi Y, Rodriguez LE, Solomon LR, Donawho CK, DiGiammarino EL, Panchal SC, Wilsbacher JL, Gao W, Olson AM: **Mechanistic dissection of PARP1 trapping and the impact on in vivo tolerability and efficacy of PARP inhibitors**. *Molecular Cancer Research* 2015, **13**(11):1465-1477.
- 223. Kaufman B, Shapira-Frommer R, Schmutzler RK, Audeh MW, Friedlander M, Balmaña J, Mitchell G, Fried G, Stemmer SM, Hubert A: **Olaparib monotherapy in patients** with advanced cancer and a germline BRCA1/2 mutation. *Journal of clinical oncology* 2014, **33**(3):244-250.
- 224. Mateo J, Carreira S, Sandhu S, Miranda S, Mossop H, Perez-Lopez R, Nava Rodrigues D, Robinson D, Omlin A, Tunariu N: **DNA-repair defects and olaparib in metastatic prostate cancer**. *N Engl J Med* 2015, **2015**(373):1697-1708.
- 225. Mateo J, Sandhu S, Miranda S, Carreira S, Jain S, Ralph C, Protheroe A, Hussain S, Jones R, Elliot T: Abstract CT322: DNA repair defects and antitumor activity with PARP inhibition: TOPARP, a phase II trial of olaparib in metastatic castration resistant prostate cancer. In.: AACR; 2015.
- 226. Savage P: Approvals in 2016: cost-benefit challenges of new anticancer agents. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology* 2017, 14(3):133-134.
- 227. Nalley C: FDA Accepts Niraparib NDA for Review, Grants Priority Review. Oncology Times 2016.
- 228. Mirza MR, Monk BJ, Herrstedt J, Oza AM, Mahner S, Redondo A, Fabbro M, Ledermann JA, Lorusso D, Vergote I: Niraparib maintenance therapy in platinumsensitive, recurrent ovarian cancer. New England Journal of Medicine 2016, 375(22):2154-2164.
- 229. Dawicki-McKenna JM, Langelier M-F, DeNizio JE, Riccio AA, Cao CD, Karch KR, McCauley M, Steffen JD, Black BE, Pascal JM: **PARP-1 activation requires local unfolding of an autoinhibitory domain**. *Molecular cell* 2015, **60**(5):755-768.
- 230. Plummer R, Lorigan P, Steven N, Scott L, Middleton MR, Wilson RH, Mulligan E, Curtin N, Wang D, Dewji R: A phase II study of the potent PARP inhibitor, Rucaparib (PF-01367338, AG014699), with temozolomide in patients with metastatic melanoma demonstrating evidence of chemopotentiation. Cancer chemotherapy and pharmacology 2013, 71(5):1191-1199.
- 231. Isakoff S, Overmoyer B, Tung N, Gelman R, Giranda V, Bernhard K, Habin K, Ellisen L, Winer E, Goss P: A phase II trial of the PARP inhibitor veliparib (ABT888) and temozolomide for metastatic breast cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2010, 28(15\_suppl):1019-1019.
- 232. Bedikian AY, Papadopoulos NE, Kim KB, Hwu W-J, Homsi J, Glass MR, Cain S, Rudewicz P, Vernillet L, Hwu P: A phase IB trial of intravenous INO-1001 plus oral temozolomide in subjects with unresectable stage-III or IV melanoma. *Cancer investigation* 2009, 27(7):756-763.
- 233. Rajan A, Carter CA, Kelly RJ, Gutierrez M, Kummar S, Szabo E, Yancey MA, Ji J, Mannargudi B, Woo S: A phase I combination study of olaparib with cisplatin and gemcitabine in adults with solid tumors. *Clinical cancer research* 2012, 18(8):2344-2351.
- 234. Kummar S, Chen A, Ji J, Zhang Y, Reid JM, Ames M, Jia L, Weil M, Speranza G, Murgo AJ: Phase I study of PARP inhibitor ABT-888 in combination with topotecan in adults with refractory solid tumors and lymphomas. *Cancer research* 2011, 71(17):5626-5634.
- 235. Khan O, Gore M, Lorigan P, Stone J, Greystoke A, Burke W, Carmichael J, Watson AJ, McGown G, Thorncroft M: A phase I study of the safety and tolerability of olaparib (AZD2281, KU0059436) and dacarbazine in patients with advanced solid tumours. British journal of cancer 2011, 104(5):750-755.
- 236. Dent R, Lindeman G, Clemons M, Wildiers H, Chan A, McCarthy N, Singer C, Lowe E, Kemsley K, Carmichael J: Safety and efficacy of the oral PARP inhibitor olaparib (AZD2281) in combination with paclitaxel for the first-or second-line treatment of patients with metastatic triple-negative breast cancer: Results from the safety cohort of a phase I/II multicenter trial. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2010, 28(15\_suppl):1018-1018.
- 237. Quinn JA, Pluda J, Dolan ME, Delaney S, Kaplan R, Rich JN, Friedman AH, Reardon DA, Sampson JH, Colvin OM: **Phase II trial of carmustine plus O6-benzylguanine for patients with nitrosourea-resistant recurrent or progressive malignant glioma**. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2002, **20**(9):2277-2283.
- 238. Quinn JA, Desjardins A, Weingart J, Brem H, Dolan ME, Delaney SM, Vredenburgh J, Rich J, Friedman AH, Reardon DA: **Phase I trial of temozolomide plus O 6benzylguanine for patients with recurrent or progressive malignant glioma**. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2005, **23**(28):7178-7187.
- 239. Ranson M, Middleton MR, Bridgewater J, Lee SM, Dawson M, Jowle D, Halbert G, Waller S, McGrath H, Gumbrell L: Lomeguatrib, a potent inhibitor of O6alkylguanine-DNA-alkyltransferase: phase I safety, pharmacodynamic, and pharmacokinetic trial and evaluation in combination with temozolomide in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2006, **12**(5):1577-1584.
- 240. Bindra RS, Gibson SL, Meng A, Westermark U, Jasin M, Pierce AJ, Bristow RG, Classon MK, Glazer PM: **Hypoxia-induced down-regulation of BRCA1 expression by E2Fs**. *Cancer research* 2005, **65**(24):11597-11604.
- 241. Chan N, Koritzinsky M, Zhao H, Bindra R, Glazer PM, Powell S, Belmaaza A, Wouters B, Bristow RG: Chronic hypoxia decreases synthesis of homologous recombination proteins to offset chemoresistance and radioresistance. *Cancer research* 2008, 68(2):605-614.
- 242. Bindra RS, Schaffer PJ, Meng A, Woo J, Måseide K, Roth ME, Lizardi P, Hedley DW, Bristow RG, Glazer PM: Down-regulation of Rad51 and decreased homologous recombination in hypoxic cancer cells. *Molecular and cellular biology* 2004, 24(19):8504-8518.
- 243. Lim J, Yang K, Taylor-Harding B, Wiedemeyer WR, Buckanovich RJ: **VEGFR3** inhibition chemosensitizes ovarian cancer stemlike cells through down-regulation of BRCA1 and BRCA2. *Neoplasia* 2014, 16(4):343-353. e342.

- 244. Liu JF, Barry WT, Birrer M, Lee J-M, Buckanovich RJ, Fleming GF, Rimel B, Buss MK, Nattam S, Hurteau J: Combination cediranib and olaparib versus olaparib alone for women with recurrent platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer: a randomised phase 2 study. *The Lancet Oncology* 2014, **15**(11):1207-1214.
- 245. Liu J, Fleming G, Tolaney S, Birrer M, Penson R, Berlin S, Whalen C, Tyburski K, Matijevich K, Kasparian E: A phase I trial of the PARP inhibitor olaparib (AZD2281) in combination with the antiangiogenic cediranib (AZD2171) in recurrent ovarian or triple-negative breast cancer. Journal of Clinical Oncology 2011, 29(15 suppl):5028-5028.
- 246. Liu J, Barry WT, Birrer MJ, Lee J-m, Buckanovich RJ, Fleming GF, Rimel B, Buss MK, Nattam SR, Hurteau J: A randomized phase 2 trial comparing efficacy of the combination of the PARP inhibitor olaparib and the antiangiogenic cediranib against olaparib alone in recurrent platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer. In.: American Society of Clinical Oncology; 2014.
- 247. Reiss KA, Herman JM, Zahurak M, Brade A, Dawson LA, Scardina A, Joffe C, Petito E, Hacker-Prietz A, Kinders RJ: A Phase I study of veliparib (ABT-888) in combination with low-dose fractionated whole abdominal radiation therapy in patients with advanced solid malignancies and peritoneal carcinomatosis. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2015, 21(1):68-76.
- 248. Mehta MP, Wang D, Wang F, Kleinberg L, Brade A, Robins HI, Turaka A, Leahy T, Medina D, Xiong H: Veliparib in combination with whole brain radiation therapy in patients with brain metastases: results of a phase 1 study. *Journal of neuro-oncology* 2015, 122(2):409-417.
- 249. Sakai W, Swisher EM, Karlan BY, Agarwal MK, Higgins J, Friedman C, Villegas E, Jacquemont C, Farrugia DJ, Couch FJ: Secondary mutations as a mechanism of cisplatin resistance in BRCA2-mutated cancers. *Nature* 2008, **451**(7182):1116-1120.
- 250. Edwards SL, Brough R, Lord CJ, Natrajan R, Vatcheva R, Levine DA, Boyd J, Reis-Filho JS, Ashworth A: **Resistance to therapy caused by intragenic deletion in BRCA2**. *Nature* 2008, **451**(7182):1111-1115.
- 251. Swisher EM, Sakai W, Karlan BY, Wurz K, Urban N, Taniguchi T: Secondary BRCA1 mutations in BRCA1-mutated ovarian carcinomas with platinum resistance. *Cancer research* 2008, **68**(8):2581-2586.
- 252. Sakai W, Swisher EM, Jacquemont C, Chandramohan KV, Couch FJ, Langdon SP, Wurz K, Higgins J, Villegas E, Taniguchi T: Functional restoration of BRCA2 protein by secondary BRCA2 mutations in BRCA2-mutated ovarian carcinoma. *Cancer research* 2009, **69**(16):6381-6386.
- 253. Norquist B, Wurz KA, Pennil CC, Garcia R, Gross J, Sakai W, Karlan BY, Taniguchi T, Swisher EM: Secondary somatic mutations restoring BRCA1/2 predict chemotherapy resistance in hereditary ovarian carcinomas. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2011, **29**(22):3008-3015.
- 254. Barber LJ, Sandhu S, Chen L, Campbell J, Kozarewa I, Fenwick K, Assiotis I, Rodrigues DN, Reis-Filho JS, Moreno V: Secondary mutations in BRCA2 associated with clinical resistance to a PARP inhibitor. *The Journal of pathology* 2013, 229(3):422-429.

- 255. Bunting SF, Callén E, Wong N, Chen H-T, Polato F, Gunn A, Bothmer A, Feldhahn N, Fernandez-Capetillo O, Cao L: **53BP1 inhibits homologous recombination in Brca1-deficient cells by blocking resection of DNA breaks**. *Cell* 2010, **141**(2):243-254.
- 256. Bouwman P, Aly A, Escandell JM, Pieterse M, Bartkova J, van der Gulden H, Hiddingh S, Thanasoula M, Kulkarni A, Yang Q: **53BP1 loss rescues BRCA1 deficiency and is** associated with triple-negative and BRCA-mutated breast cancers. *Nature structural & molecular biology* 2010, **17**(6):688-695.
- 257. Jaspers JE, Kersbergen A, Boon U, Sol W, van Deemter L, Zander SA, Drost R, Wientjens E, Ji J, Aly A: Loss of 53BP1 causes PARP inhibitor resistance in Brca1mutated mouse mammary tumors. *Cancer discovery* 2013, 3(1):68-81.
- 258. Rottenberg S, Jaspers JE, Kersbergen A, van der Burg E, Nygren AO, Zander SA, Derksen PW, de Bruin M, Zevenhoven J, Lau A: **High sensitivity of BRCA1-deficient mammary tumors to the PARP inhibitor AZD2281 alone and in combination with platinum drugs**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2008, **105**(44):17079-17084.
- 259. Pettitt SJ, Rehman FL, Bajrami I, Brough R, Wallberg F, Kozarewa I, Fenwick K, Assiotis I, Chen L, Campbell J: A genetic screen using the PiggyBac transposon in haploid cells identifies Parp1 as a mediator of olaparib toxicity. *PloS one* 2013, 8(4):e61520.
- 260. Underhill C, Toulmonde M, Bonnefoi H: A review of PARP inhibitors: from bench to bedside. *Annals of Oncology* 2011, **22**(2):268-279.
- 261. McCabe N, Turner NC, Lord CJ, Kluzek K, Białkowska A, Swift S, Giavara S, O'Connor MJ, Tutt AN, Zdzienicka MZ: **Deficiency in the repair of DNA damage by homologous recombination and sensitivity to poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibition**. *Cancer research* 2006, **66**(16):8109-8115.
- 262. Essers J, Hendriks RW, Swagemakers SM, Troelstra C, de Wit J, Bootsma D, Hoeijmakers JH, Kanaar R: **Disruption of mouse RAD54 reduces ionizing radiation** resistance and homologous recombination. *Cell* 1997, **89**(2):195-204.
- 263. Gudmundsdottir K, Lord CJ, Witt E, Tutt AN, Ashworth A: DSS1 is required for RAD51 focus formation and genomic stability in mammalian cells. *EMBO reports* 2004, 5(10):989-993.
- 264. Wang Y, Putnam CD, Kane MF, Zhang W, Edelmann L, Russell R, Carrión DV, Chin L, Kucherlapati R, Kolodner RD: Mutation in Rpa1 results in defective DNA doublestrand break repair, chromosomal instability and cancer in mice. *Nature genetics* 2005, **37**(7):750-755.
- 265. Wang H, Wang H, Powell SN, Iliakis G, Wang Y: **ATR affecting cell radiosensitivity is dependent on homologous recombination repair but independent of nonhomologous end joining**. *Cancer Research* 2004, **64**(19):7139-7143.
- 266. Morrison C, Sonoda E, Takao N, Shinohara A, Yamamoto Ki, Takeda S: The controlling role of ATM in homologous recombinational repair of DNA damage. *The EMBO journal* 2000, **19**(3):463-471.
- 267. Tauchi H, Kobayashi J, Morishima K-i, van Gent DC, Shiraishi T, Verkaik NS, Ito E, Nakamura A, Sonoda E, Takata M: **Nbs1 is essential for DNA repair by homologous recombination in higher vertebrate cells**. *Nature* 2002, **420**(6911):93-98.

- 268. Sørensen CS, Hansen LT, Dziegielewski J, Syljuåsen RG, Lundin C, Bartek J, Helleday T: **The cell-cycle checkpoint kinase Chk1 is required for mammalian homologous recombination repair**. *Nature cell biology* 2005, **7**(2):195-201.
- 269. Zhang J, Willers H, Feng Z, Ghosh JC, Kim S, Weaver DT, Chung JH, Powell SN, Xia F: Chk2 phosphorylation of BRCA1 regulates DNA double-strand break repair. Molecular and cellular biology 2004, 24(2):708-718.
- 270. Nakanishi K, Yang Y-G, Pierce AJ, Taniguchi T, Digweed M, D'Andrea AD, Wang Z-Q, Jasin M: Human Fanconi anemia monoubiquitination pathway promotes homologous DNA repair. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2005, 102(4):1110-1115.
- 271. Cousineau I, Belmaaza A: EMSY overexpression disrupts the BRCA2/RAD51 pathway in the DNA-damage response: implications for chromosomal instability/recombination syndromes as checkpoint diseases. *Molecular Genetics and Genomics* 2011, 285(4):325-340.
- 272. Shen WH, Balajee AS, Wang J, Wu H, Eng C, Pandolfi PP, Yin Y: Essential role for nuclear PTEN in maintaining chromosomal integrity. *Cell* 2007, **128**(1):157-170.
- 273. Gupta A, Yang Q, Pandita RK, Hunt CR, Xiang T, Misri S, Zeng S, Pagan J, Jeffery J, Puc J: Cell cycle checkpoint defects contribute to genomic instability in PTEN deficient cells independent of DNA DSB repair. Cell Cycle 2009, 8(14):2198-2210.
- 274. Mendes-Pereira AM, Martin SA, Brough R, McCarthy A, Taylor JR, Kim JS, Waldman T, Lord CJ, Ashworth A: **Synthetic lethal targeting of PTEN mutant cells with PARP** inhibitors. *EMBO molecular medicine* 2009, 1(6-7):315-322.
- 275. Ibrahim YH, García-García C, Serra V, He L, Torres-Lockhart K, Prat A, Anton P, Cozar P, Guzmán M, Grueso J: PI3K inhibition impairs BRCA1/2 expression and sensitizes BRCA-proficient triple-negative breast cancer to PARP inhibition. *Cancer discovery* 2012, 2(11):1036-1047.
- 276. Bristow RG, Hill RP: **Hypoxia and metabolism: hypoxia, DNA repair and genetic instability**. *Nature Reviews Cancer* 2008, **8**(3):180-192.
- 277. Bindra RS, Crosby ME, Glazer PM: **Regulation of DNA repair in hypoxic cancer cells**. *Cancer and Metastasis Reviews* 2007, **26**(2):249-260.
- 278. To KKW, Sedelnikova OA, Samons M, Bonner WM, Huang LE: The phosphorylation status of PAS-B distinguishes HIF-1α from HIF-2α in NBS1 repression. *The EMBO journal* 2006, **25**(20):4784-4794.
- 279. Chan N, Pires IM, Bencokova Z, Coackley C, Luoto KR, Bhogal N, Lakshman M, Gottipati P, Oliver FJ, Helleday T: **Contextual synthetic lethality of cancer cell kill based on the tumor microenvironment**. *Cancer research* 2010, **70**(20):8045-8054.
- 280. Crosby ME, Kulshreshtha R, Ivan M, Glazer PM: MicroRNA regulation of DNA repair gene expression in hypoxic stress. *Cancer research* 2009, **69**(3):1221-1229.
- 281. Meng AX, Jalali F, Cuddihy A, Chan N, Bindra RS, Glazer PM, Bristow RG: **Hypoxia** down-regulates DNA double strand break repair gene expression in prostate cancer cells. *Radiotherapy and Oncology* 2005, **76**(2):168-176.
- 282. Ellis LM, Hicklin DJ: **VEGF-targeted therapy: mechanisms of anti-tumour activity**. *Nature reviews cancer* 2008, **8**(8):579-591.
- 283. Hunter T: The Croonian Lecture 1997. The phosphorylation of proteins on tyrosine: its role in cell growth and disease. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences* 1998, **353**(1368):583-605.

- 284. Hubbard SR, Mohammadi M, Schlessinger J: Autoregulatory mechanisms in proteintyrosine kinases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1998, **273**(20):11987-11990.
- 285. Fisher E, Charbonneau H, Tonks N: Signal transduction by receptors with tyrosine kinase activity. *Science* 1991, **253**:401-406.
- 286. Yarden Y, Sliwkowski MX: Untangling the ErbB signalling network. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology* 2001, **2**(2):127-137.
- 287. Garrett TP, McKern NM, Lou M, Elleman TC, Adams TE, Lovrecz GO, Zhu H-J, Walker F, Frenkel MJ, Hoyne PA: Crystal structure of a truncated epidermal growth factor receptor extracellular domain bound to transforming growth factor α. Cell 2002, 110(6):763-773.
- 288. Ogiso H, Ishitani R, Nureki O, Fukai S, Yamanaka M, Kim J-H, Saito K, Sakamoto A, Inoue M, Shirouzu M: Crystal structure of the complex of human epidermal growth factor and receptor extracellular domains. *Cell* 2002, **110**(6):775-787.
- 289. Kil SJ, Carlin C: EGF receptor residues Leu679, Leu680 mediate selective sorting of ligand-receptor complexes in early endosomal compartments. *Journal of cellular physiology* 2000, **185**(1):47-60.
- 290. Hubbard SR: Crystal structure of the activated insulin receptor tyrosine kinase in complex with peptide substrate and ATP analog. *The EMBO journal* 1997, 16(18):5572-5581.
- 291. Den Hartigh JC, Van Bergen en Henegouwen P, Verkleij AJ, Boonstra J: **The EGF** receptor is an actin-binding protein. *Journal of Cell Biology* 1992, **119**:349-349.
- 292. Harris RC, Chung E, Coffey RJ: **EGF receptor ligands**. *The EGF receptor family biologic mechanisms and role in cancer Elsevier, California* 2004:3-14.
- 293. Massague J: Transforming growth factor-alpha. A model for membrane-anchored growth factors. *J Biol Chem* 1990, **265**(35):21393-21396.
- 294. Shoyab M, McDonald VL, Bradley JG, Todaro GJ: **Amphiregulin: a bifunctional** growth-modulating glycoprotein produced by the phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetatetreated human breast adenocarcinoma cell line MCF-7. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 1988, **85**(17):6528-6532.
- 295. Toyoda H, Komurasaki T, Uchida D, Takayama Y, Isobe T, Okuyama T, Hanada K: Epiregulin a novel epidermal growth factor with mitogenic activity for rat primary hepatocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1995, **270**(13):7495-7500.
- 296. Strachan L, Murison JG, Prestidge RL, Sleeman MA, Watson JD, Kumble KD: Cloning and biological activity of epigen, a novel member of the epidermal growth factor superfamily. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2001, **276**(21):18265-18271.
- 297. Domagala T, Konstantopoulos N, Smyth F, Jorissen RN, Fabri L, Geleick D, Lax I, Schlessinger J, Sawyer W, Howlett GJ: **Stoichiometry, kinetic and binding analysis of the interaction between epidermal growth factor (EGF) and the extracellular domain of the EGF receptor**. *Growth Factors* 2000, **18**(1):11-29.
- 298. Lemmon MA, Bu Z, Ladbury JE, Zhou M, Pinchasi D, Lax I, Engelman DM, Schlessinger J: **Two EGF molecules contribute additively to stabilization of the EGFR dimer**. *The EMBO journal* 1997, **16**(2):281-294.
- 299. Jorissen RN, Walker F, Pouliot N, Garrett TP, Ward CW, Burgess AW: **Epidermal** growth factor receptor: mechanisms of activation and signalling. *Experimental cell* research 2003, **284**(1):31-53.

- 300. Burgess AW, Cho H-S, Eigenbrot C, Ferguson KM, Garrett TP, Leahy DJ, Lemmon MA, Sliwkowski MX, Ward CW, Yokoyama S: **An open-and-shut case? Recent insights** into the activation of EGF/ErbB receptors. *Molecular cell* 2003, **12**(3):541-552.
- 301. Hubbard SR: Protein tyrosine kinases: autoregulation and small-molecule inhibition. *Current opinion in structural biology* 2002, **12**(6):735-741.
- 302. Abe M, Kuroda Y, Hirose M, Watanabe Y, Nakano M, Handa T: Inhibition of autophosphorylation of epidermal growth factor receptor by small peptides in vitro. *British journal of pharmacology* 2006, 147(4):402-411.
- 303. Csiszár Á: Structural and functional diversity of adaptor proteins involved in tyrosine kinase signalling. *Bioessays* 2006, **28**(5):465-479.
- 304. Stover DR, Becker M, Liebetanz J, Lydon NB: Src phosphorylation of the epidermal growth factor receptor at novel sites mediates receptor interaction with Src and P85α. Journal of Biological Chemistry 1995, 270(26):15591-15597.
- 305. Milarski KL, Zhu G, Pearl CG, McNamara DJ, Dobrusin EM, MacLean D, Thieme-Sefler A, Zhang Z-Y, Sawyer T, Decker SJ: Sequence specificity in recognition of the epidermal growth factor receptor by protein tyrosine phosphatase 1B. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1993, 268(31):23634-23639.
- 306. Keilhack H, Tenev T, Nyakatura E, Godovac-Zimmermann J, Nielsen L, Seedorf K, Böhmer F-D: **Phosphotyrosine 1173 mediates binding of the protein-tyrosine phosphatase SHP-1 to the epidermal growth factor receptor and attenuation of receptor signaling**. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1998, **273**(38):24839-24846.
- 307. Zhu G, Decker SJ, Maclean D, McNamara DJ, Singh J, Sawyer TK, Saltiel AR: Sequence specificity in the recognition of the epidermal growth factor receptor by the abl Src homology 2 domain. *Oncogene* 1994, **9**(5):1379-1385.
- 308. HELLYER NJ, CHENG K, KOLAND JG: ErbB3 (HER3) interaction with the p85 regulatory subunit of phosphoinositide 3-kinase. *Biochemical Journal* 1998, 333(3):757-763.
- 309. Dhillon AS, Hagan S, Rath O, Kolch W: MAP kinase signalling pathways in cancer. Oncogene 2007, 26(22):3279-3290.
- 310. Roberts PJ, Der CJ: Targeting the Raf-MEK-ERK mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade for the treatment of cancer. *Oncogene* 2007, **26**(22):3291-3310.
- 311. Lowenstein E, Daly R, Batzer A, Li W, Margolis B, Lammers R, Ullrich A, Skolnik E, Bar-Sagi D, Schlessinger J: **The SH2 and SH3 domain-containing protein GRB2 links** receptor tyrosine kinases to ras signaling. *Cell* 1992, **70**(3):431-442.
- 312. Batzer A, Rotin D, Urena J, Skolnik E, Schlessinger J: **Hierarchy of binding sites for Grb2 and Shc on the epidermal growth factor receptor**. *Molecular and cellular biology* 1994, **14**(8):5192-5201.
- 313. Sasaoka T, Langlois WJ, Leitner JW, Draznin B, Olefsky JM: **The signaling pathway** coupling epidermal growth factor receptors to activation of p21ras. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1994, **269**(51):32621-32625.
- Hallberg B, Rayter SI, Downward J: Interaction of Ras and Raf in intact mammalian cells upon extracellular stimulation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1994, 269(6):3913-3916.
- 315. Johnson GL, Vaillancourt RR: Sequential protein kinase reactions controlling cell growth and differentiation. *Current opinion in cell biology* 1994, 6(2):230-238.

- 316. Parsons JT, Parsons SJ: Src family protein tyrosine kinases: cooperating with growth factor and adhesion signaling pathways. *Current opinion in cell biology* 1997, 9(2):187-192.
- 317. Biscardi JS, Maa M-C, Tice DA, Cox ME, Leu T-H, Parsons SJ: **c-Src-mediated phosphorylation of the epidermal growth factor receptor on Tyr845 and Tyr1101 is associated with modulation of receptor function**. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1999, **274**(12):8335-8343.
- 318. Sato K-I, Sato A, Aoto M, Fukami Y: c-Src phosphorylates epidermal growth factor receptor on tyrosine 845. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 1995, 215(3):1078-1087.
- 319. Kloth MT, Laughlin KK, Biscardi JS, Boerner JL, Parsons SJ, Silva CM: **STAT5b**, a mediator of synergism between c-Src and the epidermal growth factor receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2003, **278**(3):1671-1679.
- 320. Ishizawar R, Parsons SJ: **c-Src and cooperating partners in human cancer**. *Cancer cell* 2004, **6**(3):209-214.
- 321. Wu W, Graves LM, Gill GN, Parsons SJ, Samet JM: **Src-dependent phosphorylation of the epidermal growth factor receptor on tyrosine 845 is required for zinc-induced Ras activation**. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2002, **277**(27):24252-24257.
- 322. Bao J, Gur G, Yarden Y: Src promotes destruction of c-Cbl: implications for oncogenic synergy between Src and growth factor receptors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2003, **100**(5):2438-2443.
- 323. Bromberg JF: Activation of STAT proteins and growth control. *Bioessays* 2001, 23(2):161-169.
- 324. Darnell JE: STATs and gene regulation. Science 1997, 277(5332):1630-1635.
- 325. Ihle JN, Nosaka T, Thierfelder W, Quelle FW, Shimoda K: Jaks and Stats in cytokine signaling. *Stem Cells* 1997, **15**(S2):105-112.
- 326. Park OK, Schaefer TS, Nathans D: In vitro activation of Stat3 by epidermal growth factor receptor kinase. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 1996, 93(24):13704-13708.
- 327. David M, Wong L, Flavell R, Thompson SA, Wells A, Larner AC, Johnson GR: **STAT** activation by epidermal growth factor (EGF) and amphiregulin Requirement for the EGF receptor kinase but not for tyrosine phosphorylation sites or JAK1. *Journal* of Biological Chemistry 1996, **271**(16):9185-9188.
- 328. Leaman DW, Pisharody S, Flickinger TW, Commane MA, Schlessinger J, Kerr IM, Levy DE, Stark GR: Roles of JAKs in activation of STATs and stimulation of c-fos gene expression by epidermal growth factor. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 1996, 16(1):369-375.
- 329. Pensa S, Regis G, Boselli D, Novelli F, Poli V: **STAT1 and STAT3 in tumorigenesis:** two sides of the same coin? 2013.
- 330. Quesnelle KM, Boehm AL, Grandis JR: **STAT-mediated EGFR signaling in cancer**. *Journal of cellular biochemistry* 2007, **102**(2):311-319.
- 331. Levy DE, Darnell J: Stats: transcriptional control and biological impact. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology* 2002, **3**(9):651-662.
- 332. Xia L, Wang L, Chung AS, Ivanov SS, Ling MY, Dragoi AM, Platt A, Gilmer TM, Fu X-Y, Chin YE: Identification of both positive and negative domains within the epidermal growth factor receptor COOH-terminal region for signal transducer and

activator of transcription (STAT) activation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2002, **277**(34):30716-30723.

- 333. Olayioye MA, Beuvink I, Horsch K, Daly JM, Hynes NE: ErbB receptor-induced activation of stat transcription factors is mediated by Src tyrosine kinases. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 1999, **274**(24):17209-17218.
- 334. Houle MG, Bourgoin S: **Regulation of phospholipase D by phosphorylationdependent mechanisms**. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular and Cell Biology of Lipids* 1999, **1439**(2):135-150.
- 335. Athenstaedt K, Daum G: **Phosphatidic acid, a key intermediate in lipid metabolism**. *The FEBS Journal* 1999, **266**(1):1-16.
- 336. Fang Y, Vilella-Bach M, Bachmann R, Flanigan A, Chen J: Phosphatidic acidmediated mitogenic activation of mTOR signaling. *Science* 2001, 294(5548):1942-1945.
- 337. Marais R, Light Y, Mason C, Paterson H, Olson MF, Marshall CJ: Requirement of Ras-GTP-Raf complexes for activation of Raf-1 by protein kinase C. Science 1998, 280(5360):109-112.
- 338. McClellan M, Kievit P, Auersperg N, Rodland K: Regulation of proliferation and apoptosis by epidermal growth factor and protein kinase C in human ovarian surface epithelial cells. *Experimental cell research* 1999, **246**(2):471-479.
- 339. Sun L, Carpenter G: Epidermal growth factor activation of NF-κB is mediated through IκBα degradation and intracellular free calcium. *Oncogene* 1998, **16**(16).
- 340. Cantley LC: The phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway. *Science* 2002, **296**(5573):1655-1657.
- 341. Carpenter CL, Auger K, Chanudhuri M, Yoakim M, Schaffhausen B, Shoelson S, Cantley LC: Phosphoinositide 3-kinase is activated by phosphopeptides that bind to the SH2 domains of the 85-kDa subunit. Journal of Biological Chemistry 1993, 268(13):9478-9483.
- 342. Martini M, De Santis MC, Braccini L, Gulluni F, Hirsch E: **PI3K/AKT signaling pathway and cancer: an updated review**. *Annals of medicine* 2014, **46**(6):372-383.
- 343. Sarbassov DD, Guertin DA, Ali SM, Sabatini DM: Phosphorylation and regulation of Akt/PKB by the rictor-mTOR complex. *Science* 2005, **307**(5712):1098-1101.
- 344. Vara JÁF, Casado E, de Castro J, Cejas P, Belda-Iniesta C, González-Barón M: PI3K/Akt signalling pathway and cancer. Cancer treatment reviews 2004, 30(2):193-204.
- 345. Lu Z, Jiang G, Blume-Jensen P, Hunter T: Epidermal growth factor-induced tumor cell invasion and metastasis initiated by dephosphorylation and downregulation of focal adhesion kinase. *Molecular and cellular biology* 2001, **21**(12):4016-4031.
- 346. Wells A: **Tumor invasion: role of growth factor-induced cell motility**. *Advances in cancer research* 1999, **78**:31-101.
- 347. Salomon DS, Brandt R, Ciardiello F, Normanno N: **Epidermal growth factor-related peptides and their receptors in human malignancies**. *Critical reviews in oncology/hematology* 1995, **19**(3):183-232.
- 348. Normanno N, Bianco C, De Luca A, Maiello M, Salomon D: **Target-based agents** against ErbB receptors and their ligands: a novel approach to cancer treatment. *Endocrine-related cancer* 2003, **10**(1):1-21.

- 349. Fan Q-W, Cheng CK, Gustafson WC, Charron E, Zipper P, Wong RA, Chen J, Lau J, Knobbe-Thomsen C, Weller M: EGFR phosphorylates tumor-derived EGFRvIII driving STAT3/5 and progression in glioblastoma. *Cancer cell* 2013, 24(4):438-449.
- 350. Tsai Y-C, Ho P-Y, Tzen K-Y, Tuan T-F, Liu W-L, Cheng A-L, Pu Y-S, Cheng JC-H: Synergistic blockade of EGFR and HER2 by new-generation EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitor enhances radiation effect in bladder cancer cells. *Molecular cancer therapeutics* 2015, 14(3):810-820.
- 351. Larbouret C, Gaborit N, Chardès T, Coelho M, Campigna E, Bascoul-Mollevi C, Mach J-P, Azria D, Robert B, Pèlegrin A: In pancreatic carcinoma, dual EGFR/HER2 targeting with cetuximab/trastuzumab is more effective than treatment with trastuzumab/erlotinib or lapatinib alone: implication of receptors' down-regulation and dimers' disruption. *Neoplasia* 2012, 14(2):121-130.
- 352. Shinojima N, Tada K, Shiraishi S, Kamiryo T, Kochi M, Nakamura H, Makino K, Saya H, Hirano H, Kuratsu J-i: **Prognostic value of epidermal growth factor receptor in patients with glioblastoma multiforme**. *Cancer research* 2003, **63**(20):6962-6970.
- 353. Kuan C, Wikstrand C, Bigner D: EGF mutant receptor vIII as a molecular target in cancer therapy. *ENDOCRINE RELATED CANCER* 2001, **8**(2):83-96.
- 354. Pedersen M, Meltorn M, Damstrup L, Poulsen H: The type III epidermal growth factor receptor mutation biological significance and potential target for anti-cancer therapy. *Annals of Oncology* 2001, **12**(6):745-760.
- 355. Gan HK, Kaye AH, Luwor RB: **The EGFRvIII variant in glioblastoma multiforme**. *Journal of Clinical Neuroscience* 2009, **16**(6):748-754.
- 356. Travis WD, Harris C: **Pathology and genetics of tumours of the lung, pleura, thymus and heart**: Feance: IARC Press, 2004; 2004.
- 357. Paez JG, Jänne PA, Lee JC, Tracy S, Greulich H, Gabriel S, Herman P, Kaye FJ, Lindeman N, Boggon TJ: EGFR mutations in lung cancer: correlation with clinical response to gefitinib therapy. *Science* 2004, **304**(5676):1497-1500.
- 358. Lynch TJ, Bell DW, Sordella R, Gurubhagavatula S, Okimoto RA, Brannigan BW, Harris PL, Haserlat SM, Supko JG, Haluska FG: Activating mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor underlying responsiveness of non-small-cell lung cancer to gefitinib. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2004, **350**(21):2129-2139.
- 359. Pao W, Miller V, Zakowski M, Doherty J, Politi K, Sarkaria I, Singh B, Heelan R, Rusch V, Fulton L: EGF receptor gene mutations are common in lung cancers from "never smokers" and are associated with sensitivity of tumors to gefitinib and erlotinib. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2004, 101(36):13306-13311.
- 360. Shigematsu H, Lin L, Takahashi T, Nomura M, Suzuki M, Wistuba II, Fong KM, Lee H, Toyooka S, Shimizu N: Clinical and biological features associated with epidermal growth factor receptor gene mutations in lung cancers. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 2005, 97(5):339-346.
- 361. Shigematsu H, Gazdar AF: Somatic mutations of epidermal growth factor receptor signaling pathway in lung cancers. *International journal of cancer* 2006, 118(2):257-262.
- Barber TD, Vogelstein B, Kinzler KW, Velculescu VE: Somatic mutations of EGFR in colorectal cancers and glioblastomas. New England Journal of Medicine 2004, 351(27):2883-2883.

- 363. Kwak EL, Jankowski J, Thayer SP, Lauwers GY, Brannigan BW, Harris PL, Okimoto RA, Haserlat SM, Driscoll DR, Ferry D: **Epidermal growth factor receptor kinase domain mutations in esophageal and pancreatic adenocarcinomas**. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2006, **12**(14):4283-4287.
- 364. Dahse R, Driemel O, Schwarz S, Dahse J, Kromeyer-Hauschild K, Berndt A, Kosmehl H: Epidermal growth factor receptor kinase domain mutations are rare in salivary gland carcinomas. *British journal of cancer* 2009, **100**(4):623-625.
- 365. Ullrich A, Coussens L, Hayflick JS, Dull TJ, Gray A, Tam A, Lee J, Yarden Y, Libermann TA, Schlessinger J: Human epidermal growth factor receptor cDNA sequence and aberrant expression of the amplified gene in A431 epidermoid carcinoma cells. 1984.
- 366. Libermann T, Razon N, Bartal A, Yarden Y, Schlessinger J, Soreq H: Expression of epidermal growth factor receptors in human brain tumors. *Cancer research* 1984, 44(2):753-760.
- 367. Libermann TA, Nusbaum HR, Razon N, Kris R, Lax I, Soreq H, Whittle N, Waterfield MD, Ullrich A, Schlessinger J: Amplification, enhanced expression and possible rearrangement of EGF receptor gene in primary human brain tumours of glial origin. 1985.
- 368. Veale D, Ashcroft T, Marsh C, Gibson G, Harris A: **Epidermal growth factor receptors** in non-small cell lung cancer. *British journal of cancer* 1987, **55**(5):513.
- 369. Weichselbaum RR, Dunphy EJ, Beckett MA, Tybor AG, Moran WJ, Goldman ME, Vokes EE, Panje WR: **Epidermal growth factor receptor gene amplification and expression in head and neck cancer cell lines**. *Head & neck* 1989, **11**(5):437-442.
- 370. Gullick WJ, Marsden JJ, Whittle N, Ward B, Bobrow L, Waterfield MD: Expression of epidermal growth factor receptors on human cervical, ovarian, and vulval carcinomas. *Cancer research* 1986, **46**(1):285-292.
- 371. Weinstein IB: Addiction to oncogenes--the Achilles heal of cancer. *Science* 2002, **297**(5578):63-64.
- 372. Sato J, Kawamoto T, Le A, Mendelsohn J, Polikoff J, Sato G: **Biological effects in vitro** of monoclonal antibodies to human epidermal growth factor receptors. *Molecular biology & medicine* 1983, 1(5):511-529.
- 373. Kawamoto T, Sato JD, Le A, Polikoff J, Sato GH, Mendelsohn J: Growth stimulation of A431 cells by epidermal growth factor: identification of high-affinity receptors for epidermal growth factor by an anti-receptor monoclonal antibody. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 1983, **80**(5):1337-1341.
- 374. Chong CR, Jänne PA: The quest to overcome resistance to EGFR-targeted therapies in cancer. *Nature medicine* 2013, **19**(11):1389-1400.
- 375. Rosell R, Carcereny E, Gervais R, Vergnenegre A, Massuti B, Felip E, Palmero R, Garcia-Gomez R, Pallares C, Sanchez JM: Erlotinib versus standard chemotherapy as first-line treatment for European patients with advanced EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (EURTAC): a multicentre, open-label, randomised phase 3 trial. *The lancet oncology* 2012, 13(3):239-246.
- 376. Han J-Y, Park K, Kim S-W, Lee DH, Kim HY, Kim HT, Ahn MJ, Yun T, Ahn JS, Suh C: First-SIGNAL: first-line single-agent iressa versus gemcitabine and cisplatin trial in never-smokers with adenocarcinoma of the lung. *Journal of clinical oncology* 2012, 30(10):1122-1128.

- 377. Zhou C, Wu Y-L, Chen G, Feng J, Liu X-Q, Wang C, Zhang S, Wang J, Zhou S, Ren S: Erlotinib versus chemotherapy as first-line treatment for patients with advanced EGFR mutation-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (OPTIMAL, CTONG-0802): a multicentre, open-label, randomised, phase 3 study. The lancet oncology 2011, 12(8):735-742.
- 378. Mitsudomi T, Morita S, Yatabe Y, Negoro S, Okamoto I, Tsurutani J, Seto T, Satouchi M, Tada H, Hirashima T: Gefitinib versus cisplatin plus docetaxel in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer harbouring mutations of the epidermal growth factor receptor (WJTOG3405): an open label, randomised phase 3 trial. *The lancet oncology* 2010, 11(2):121-128.
- 379. Maemondo M, Inoue A, Kobayashi K, Sugawara S, Oizumi S, Isobe H, Gemma A, Harada M, Yoshizawa H, Kinoshita I: Gefitinib or chemotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer with mutated EGFR. New England Journal of Medicine 2010, 362(25):2380-2388.
- 380. Mok TS, Wu Y-L, Thongprasert S, Yang C-H, Chu D-T, Saijo N, Sunpaweravong P, Han B, Margono B, Ichinose Y: **Gefitinib or carboplatin–paclitaxel in pulmonary adenocarcinoma**. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2009, **361**(10):947-957.
- 381. Yang C-H, Yu C-J, Shih J-Y, Chang Y-C, Hu F-C, Tsai M-C, Chen K-Y, Lin Z-Z, Huang C-J, Shun C-T: Specific EGFR mutations predict treatment outcome of stage IIIB/IV patients with chemotherapy-naive non-small-cell lung cancer receiving first-line gefitinib monotherapy. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2008, **26**(16):2745-2753.
- 382. Yang JC-H, Wu Y-L, Chan V, Kurnianda J, Nakagawa K, Saijo N, Fukuoka M, McWalter G, McCormack R, Mok TS: Epidermal growth factor receptor mutation analysis in previously unanalyzed histology samples and cytology samples from the phase III Iressa Pan-ASia Study (IPASS). *Lung cancer* 2014, 83(2):174-181.
- 383. Liao B-C, Lin C-C, Yang JC-H: First-line management of EGFR-mutated advanced lung adenocarcinoma: recent developments. *Drugs* 2013, **73**(4):357-369.
- 384. Kazandjian D, Blumenthal GM, Yuan W, He K, Keegan P, Pazdur R: **FDA Approval of Gefitinib for the Treatment of Patients with Metastatic EGFR Mutation–Positive Non–Small Cell Lung Cancer**. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2016, **22**(6):1307-1312.
- 385. Khozin S, Blumenthal GM, Jiang X, He K, Boyd K, Murgo A, Justice R, Keegan P, Pazdur R: **US Food and Drug Administration approval summary: erlotinib for the first-line treatment of metastatic non-small cell lung cancer with epidermal growth factor receptor exon 19 deletions or exon 21 (L858R) substitution mutations**. *The oncologist* 2014, **19**(7):774-779.
- 386. Jänne PA, Wang X, Socinski MA, Crawford J, Stinchcombe TE, Gu L, Capelletti M, Edelman MJ, Villalona-Calero MA, Kratzke R: **Randomized phase II trial of erlotinib alone or with carboplatin and paclitaxel in patients who were never or light former smokers with advanced lung adenocarcinoma: CALGB 30406 trial**. *Journal of clinical oncology* 2012, **30**(17):2063-2069.
- 387. Pao W, Miller VA, Politi KA, Riely GJ, Somwar R, Zakowski MF, Kris MG, Varmus H: Acquired resistance of lung adenocarcinomas to gefitinib or erlotinib is associated with a second mutation in the EGFR kinase domain. *PLoS medicine* 2005, **2**(3):e73.
- 388. Kobayashi S, Boggon TJ, Dayaram T, Jänne PA, Kocher O, Meyerson M, Johnson BE, Eck MJ, Tenen DG, Halmos B: **EGFR mutation and resistance of non-small-cell lung cancer to gefitinib**. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2005, **352**(8):786-792.

- 389. Engelman JA, Zejnullahu K, Mitsudomi T, Song Y, Hyland C, Park JO, Lindeman N, Gale C-M, Zhao X, Christensen J: **MET amplification leads to gefitinib resistance in lung cancer by activating ERBB3 signaling**. *science* 2007, **316**(5827):1039-1043.
- 390. Bean J, Brennan C, Shih J-Y, Riely G, Viale A, Wang L, Chitale D, Motoi N, Szoke J, Broderick S: **MET amplification occurs with or without T790M mutations in EGFR mutant lung tumors with acquired resistance to gefitinib or erlotinib**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2007, **104**(52):20932-20937.
- 391. Zakowski MF, Ladanyi M, Kris MG: EGFR mutations in small-cell lung cancers in patients who have never smoked. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2006, 355(2):213-215.
- 392. Takezawa K, Pirazzoli V, Arcila ME, Nebhan CA, Song X, de Stanchina E, Ohashi K, Janjigian YY, Spitzler PJ, Melnick MA: **HER2 amplification: a potential mechanism** of acquired resistance to EGFR inhibition in EGFR-mutant lung cancers that lack the second-site EGFRT790M mutation. *Cancer discovery* 2012, **2**(10):922-933.
- 393. Ohashi K, Sequist LV, Arcila ME, Moran T, Chmielecki J, Lin Y-L, Pan Y, Wang L, de Stanchina E, Shien K: Lung cancers with acquired resistance to EGFR inhibitors occasionally harbor BRAF gene mutations but lack mutations in KRAS, NRAS, or MEK1. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2012, 109(31):E2127-E2133.
- 394. Eser S, Schnieke A, Schneider G, Saur D: Oncogenic KRAS signalling in pancreatic cancer. *British journal of cancer* 2014, 111(5):817-822.
- 395. Bianco R, Shin I, Ritter CA, Yakes FM, Basso A, Rosen N, Tsurutani J, Dennis PA, Mills GB, Arteaga CL: Loss of PTEN/MMAC1/TEP in EGF receptor-expressing tumor cells counteracts the antitumor action of EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Oncogene 2003, 22(18):2812-2822.
- 396. Liao B-C, Lin C-C, Yang JC-H: Second and third-generation epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors in advanced nonsmall cell lung cancer. *Current opinion in oncology* 2015, **27**(2):94-101.
- 397. Singh PK, Singh H, Silakari O: Kinases inhibitors in lung cancer: From benchside to bedside. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Reviews on Cancer 2016, 1866(1):128-140.
- 398. Janjigian YY, Smit EF, Groen HJ, Horn L, Gettinger S, Camidge DR, Riely GJ, Wang B, Fu Y, Chand VK: **Dual inhibition of EGFR with afatinib and cetuximab in kinase inhibitor-resistant EGFR-mutant lung cancer with and without T790M mutations**. *Cancer discovery* 2014, **4**(9):1036-1045.
- 399. Cross DA, Ashton SE, Ghiorghiu S, Eberlein C, Nebhan CA, Spitzler PJ, Orme JP, Finlay MRV, Ward RA, Mellor MJ: AZD9291, an irreversible EGFR TKI, overcomes T790M-mediated resistance to EGFR inhibitors in lung cancer. Cancer discovery 2014, 4(9):1046-1061.
- 400. Walter AO, Sjin RTT, Haringsma HJ, Ohashi K, Sun J, Lee K, Dubrovskiy A, Labenski M, Zhu Z, Wang Z: Discovery of a mutant-selective covalent inhibitor of EGFR that overcomes T790M-mediated resistance in NSCLC. Cancer discovery 2013, 3(12):1404-1415.
- 401. Jänne PA, Yang JC-H, Kim D-W, Planchard D, Ohe Y, Ramalingam SS, Ahn M-J, Kim S-W, Su W-C, Horn L: AZD9291 in EGFR inhibitor-resistant non-small-cell lung cancer. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2015, 372(18):1689-1699.

- 402. Sequist LV, Soria J-C, Goldman JW, Wakelee HA, Gadgeel SM, Varga A, Papadimitrakopoulou V, Solomon BJ, Oxnard GR, Dziadziuszko R: Rociletinib in EGFR-mutated non-small-cell lung cancer. New England Journal of Medicine 2015, 372(18):1700-1709.
- 403. Piotrowska Z, Niederst MJ, Karlovich CA, Wakelee HA, Neal JW, Mino-Kenudson M, Fulton L, Hata AN, Lockerman EL, Kalsy A: **Heterogeneity underlies the emergence** of EGFRT790 wild-type clones following treatment of T790M-positive cancers with a third-generation EGFR inhibitor. *Cancer discovery* 2015, 5(7):713-722.
- 404. Thress KS, Paweletz CP, Felip E, Cho BC, Stetson D, Dougherty B, Lai Z, Markovets A, Vivancos A, Kuang Y: Acquired EGFR C797S mutation mediates resistance to AZD9291 in non-small cell lung cancer harboring EGFR T790M. *Nature medicine* 2015, **21**(6):560-562.
- 405. Niederst MJ, Hu H, Mulvey HE, Lockerman EL, Garcia AR, Piotrowska Z, Sequist LV, Engelman JA: The allelic context of the C797S mutation acquired upon treatment with third-generation EGFR inhibitors impacts sensitivity to subsequent treatment strategies. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2015, 21(17):3924-3933.
- 406. Ercan D, Choi HG, Yun C-H, Capelletti M, Xie T, Eck MJ, Gray NS, Jänne PA: EGFR mutations and resistance to irreversible pyrimidine-based EGFR inhibitors. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2015, 21(17):3913-3923.
- 407. Nowsheen S, Cooper T, Stanley JA, Yang ES: Synthetic lethal interactions between EGFR and PARP inhibition in human triple negative breast cancer cells. *PloS one* 2012, 7(10):e46614.
- 408. Li L, Wang H, Yang ES, Arteaga CL, Xia F: Erlotinib attenuates homologous recombinational repair of chromosomal breaks in human breast cancer cells. *Cancer research* 2008, **68**(22):9141-9146.
- 409. Burga LN, Hu H, Juvekar A, Tung NM, Troyan SL, Hofstatter EW, Wulf GM: Loss of BRCA1 leads to an increase in epidermal growth factor receptor expression in mammary epithelial cells, and epidermal growth factor receptor inhibition prevents estrogen receptor-negative cancers in BRCA1-mutant mice. *Breast Cancer Research* 2011, **13**(2):1.
- 410. Kumaraswamy E, Wendt KL, Augustine LA, Stecklein SR, Sibala EC, Li D, Gunewardena S, Jensen RA: **BRCA1 regulation of epidermal growth factor receptor** (EGFR) expression in human breast cancer cells involves microRNA-146a and is critical for its tumor suppressor function. *Oncogene* 2014.
- 411. Nowsheen S, Cooper T, Bonner JA, LoBuglio AF, Yang ES: HER2 overexpression renders human breast cancers sensitive to PARP inhibition independently of any defect in homologous recombination DNA repair. Cancer research 2012, 72(18):4796-4806.
- 412. Kulke MH, Hornick JL, Frauenhoffer C, Hooshmand S, Ryan DP, Enzinger PC, Meyerhardt JA, Clark JW, Stuart K, Fuchs CS: **O6-methylguanine DNA methyltransferase deficiency and response to temozolomide-based therapy in patients with neuroendocrine tumors**. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2009, **15**(1):338-345.
- 413. Hegi ME, Liu L, Herman JG, Stupp R, Wick W, Weller M, Mehta MP, Gilbert MR: Correlation of O6-methylguanine methyltransferase (MGMT) promoter methylation with clinical outcomes in glioblastoma and clinical strategies to modulate MGMT activity. *Journal of clinical oncology* 2008, 26(25):4189-4199.

- 414. Verbeek B, Southgate TD, Gilham DE, Margison GP: **O6-Methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase inactivation and chemotherapy**. *British medical bulletin* 2008, **85**(1):17-33.
- 415. Sabharwal A, Middleton MR: Exploiting the role of O 6-methylguanine-DNAmethyltransferase (MGMT) in cancer therapy. *Current opinion in pharmacology* 2006, 6(4):355-363.
- 416. Dolan ME, Pegg AE: **O6-benzylguanine and its role in chemotherapy**. *Clinical Cancer Research* 1997, **3**(6):837-847.
- 417. Dolan ME, Moschel RC, Pegg AE: **Depletion of mammalian O6-alkylguanine-DNA alkyltransferase activity by O6-benzylguanine provides a means to evaluate the role of this protein in protection against carcinogenic and therapeutic alkylating agents**. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 1990, **87**(14):5368-5372.
- 418. Wedge S, Porteus J, May B, Newlands E: **Potentiation of temozolomide and BCNU** cytotoxicity by O (6)-benzylguanine: a comparative study in vitro. *British journal of cancer* 1996, 73(4):482.
- 419. Middleton MR, Kelly J, Thatcher N, Donnelly DJ, McElhinney RS, McMurry TBH, McCormick JE, Margison GP: **O6-(4-bromothenyl) guanine improves the therapeutic index of temozolomide against A375M melanoma xenografts**. *International journal of cancer* 2000, **85**(2):248-252.
- 420. Middleton MR, Thatcher N, McMurry TBH, McElhinney RS, Donnelly DJ, Margison GP: Effect of O6-(4-bromothenyl) guanine on different temozolomide schedules in a human melanoma xenograft model. *International journal of cancer* 2002, **100**(5):615-617.
- 421. Ranson M, Hersey P, Thompson D, Beith J, McArthur GA, Haydon A, Davis ID, Kefford RF, Mortimer P, Harris PA: Randomized trial of the combination of lomeguatrib and temozolomide compared with temozolomide alone in chemotherapy naive patients with metastatic cutaneous melanoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2007, 25(18):2540-2545.
- 422. Watson AJ, Middleton MR, McGown G, Thorncroft M, Ranson M, Hersey P, McArthur G, Davis ID, Thomson D, Beith J: **O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase depletion and DNA damage in patients with melanoma treated with temozolomide alone or with lomeguatrib**. *British journal of cancer* 2009, **100**(8):1250-1256.
- 423. Watson AJ, Sabharwal A, Thorncroft M, McGown G, Kerr R, Bojanic S, Soonawalla Z, King A, Miller A, Waller S: **Tumor O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase** inactivation by oral lomeguatrib. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2010, **16**(2):743-749.
- Hansen WK, Kelley MR: Review of mammalian DNA repair and translational implications. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 2000, 295(1):1-9.
- 425. Tentori L, Portarena I, Vernole P, Gold B, Graziani G: Apoptotic and genotoxic effects of a methyl sulfonate ester that selectively generates N3-methyladenine and poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitors in normal peripheral blood lymphocytes. *Cancer chemotherapy and pharmacology* 2002, **49**(3):217-224.
- 426. Tentori L, Leonetti C, Scarsella M, d'Amati G, Portarena I, Zupi G, Bonmassar E, Graziani G: Combined treatment with temozolomide and poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitor enhances survival of mice bearing hematologic malignancy at the central nervous system site. *Blood* 2002, **99**(6):2241-2244.

- 427. Liu X, Shi Y, Guan R, Donawho C, Luo Y, Palma J, Zhu G-d, Johnson EF, Rodriguez LE, Ghoreishi-Haack N: Potentiation of temozolomide cytotoxicity by poly (ADP) ribose polymerase inhibitor ABT-888 requires a conversion of single-stranded DNA damages to double-stranded DNA breaks. *Molecular Cancer Research* 2008, 6(10):1621-1629.
- 428. Pishvaian M, Slack R, Witkiewicz A, He A, Hwang J, Hankin A, Dorsch-Vogel K, Kuda D, McAndrew T, Weiner L: A phase II study of the PARP inhibitor ABT-888 plus temozolomide in patients with heavily pretreated, metastatic colorectal cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2011, **29**(15\_suppl):3502-3502.
- 429. Hopkins AL: Network pharmacology: the next paradigm in drug discovery. *Nature chemical biology* 2008, **4**(11):682-690.
- 430. Garuti L, Roberti M, Bottegoni G: Multi-kinase inhibitors. *Current medicinal chemistry* 2015, **22**(6):695-712.
- 431. Giordano S, Petrelli A: From single-to multi-target drugs in cancer therapy: when aspecificity becomes an advantage. *Current medicinal chemistry* 2008, **15**(5):422-432.
- Carey L, Winer E, Viale G, Cameron D, Gianni L: Triple-negative breast cancer: disease entity or title of convenience? *Nature reviews Clinical oncology* 2010, 7(12):683-692.
- 433. Jones SE, Durie BG, Salmon SE: Combination chemotherapy with adriamycin and cyclophosphamide for advanced breast cancer. *Cancer* 1975, **36**(1):90-97.
- 434. Canellos GP, Anderson JR, Propert KJ, Nissen N, Cooper MR, Henderson ES, Green MR, Gottlieb A, Peterson BA: Chemotherapy of advanced Hodgkin's disease with MOPP, ABVD, or MOPP alternating with ABVD. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1992, **327**(21):1478-1484.
- 435. Canellos GP, Rosenberg SA, Friedberg JW, Lister TA, DeVita VT: **Treatment of Hodgkin lymphoma: a 50-year perspective**. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2014, **32**(3):163-168.
- 436. Fisher RI, Gaynor ER, Dahlberg S, Oken MM, Grogan TM, Mize EM, Glick JH, Coltman Jr CA, Miller TP: **Comparison of a standard regimen (CHOP) with three intensive chemotherapy regimens for advanced non-Hodgkin's lymphoma**. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1993, **328**(14):1002-1006.
- 437. de Wit R, Skoneczna I, Daugaard G, De Santis M, Garin A, Aass N, Witjes AJ, Albers P, White JD, Germa-Lluch JR: **Randomized phase III study comparing paclitaxel**– bleomycin, etoposide, and cisplatin (BEP) to standard BEP in intermediateprognosis germ-cell cancer: intergroup study EORTC 30983. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2012:JCO. 2011.2037. 0171.
- 438. Sumpter K, Harper-Wynne C, Cunningham D, Rao S, Tebbutt N, Norman A, Ward C, Iveson T, Nicolson M, Hickish T: **Report of two protocol planned interim analyses in a randomised multicentre phase III study comparing capecitabine with fluorouracil and oxaliplatin with cisplatin in patients with advanced oesophagogastric cancer receiving ECF**. *British journal of cancer* 2005, **92**(11):1976-1983.
- 439. Rivera F, Vega-Villegas ME, López-Brea MF: Chemotherapy of advanced gastric cancer. *Cancer treatment reviews* 2007, **33**(4):315-324.
- 440. Jacobs BL, Lee CT, Montie JE: Bladder cancer in 2010: how far have we come? *CA: a cancer journal for clinicians* 2010, **60**(4):244-272.

- 441. Pillai RN, Owonikoko TK: **Small cell lung cancer: therapies and targets**. In: *Seminars in oncology: 2014*: Elsevier; 2014: 133-142.
- 442. Grothey A, Sargent D, Goldberg RM, Schmoll H-J: Survival of patients with advanced colorectal cancer improves with the availability of fluorouracil-leucovorin, irinotecan, and oxaliplatin in the course of treatment. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2004, **22**(7):1209-1214.
- 443. Watt H, Rachid Z, Jean-Claude B: Receptor activation and inhibition in cellular response to chemotherapeutic combinational mimicries: the concept of divergent targeting. *Journal of neuro-oncology* 2010, **100**(3):345-361.
- 444. Fang Y, Qiu Q, Domarkas J, Larroque-Lombard AL, Rao S, Rachid Z, Gibbs BF, Gao X, Jean-Claude BJ: **"Combi-targeting" mitozolomide: Conferring novel signaling inhibitory properties to an abandoned DNA alkylating agent in the treatment of advanced prostate cancer**. *The Prostate* 2012, **72**(12):1273-1285.
- 445. Sun G, Fan T, Zhao L, Zhou Y, Zhong R: **The potential of combi-molecules with DNA-damaging function as anticancer agents**. *Future Medicinal Chemistry* 2017, **9**(4):403-435.
- Brahimi F, Matheson SL, Dudouit F, Mcnamee JP, Tari AM, Jean-Claude BJ: Inhibition of epidermal growth factor receptor-mediated signaling by "combi-triazene" BJ2000, a new probe for combi-targeting postulates. Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics 2002, 303(1):238-246.
- Huang Y, Rachid Z, Jean-Claude BJ: MGMT Is a Molecular Determinant for Potency of the DNA-EGFR–Combi-Molecule ZRS1. *Molecular Cancer Research* 2011, 9(3):320-331.
- 448. Ait-Tihyaty M, Rachid Z, Larroque-Lombard A-L, Jean-Claude BJ: **ZRX1**, the first **EGFR inhibitor-capecitabine based combi-molecule, requires carboxylesterasemediated hydrolysis for optimal activity**. *Investigational new drugs* 2013, **31**(6):1409-1423.
- 449. Banerjee R, Rachid Z, Qiu Q, McNamee J, Tari A, Jean-Claude B: Sustained antiproliferative mechanisms by RB24, a targeted precursor of multiple inhibitors of epidermal growth factor receptor and a DNA alkylating agent in the A431 epidermal carcinoma of the vulva cell line. *British journal of cancer* 2004, 91(6):1066-1073.
- 450. Brahimi F, Rachid Z, Qiu Q, McNamee JP, Li YJ, Tari AM, Jean-Claude BJ: Multiple mechanisms of action of ZR2002 in human breast cancer cells: A novel combimolecule designed to block signaling mediated by the ERB family of oncogenes and to damage genomic DNA. *International journal of cancer* 2004, 112(3):484-491.
- 451. Rachid Z, Katsoulas A, Williams C, Larroque A-L, McNamee J, Jean-Claude BJ: Optimization of novel combi-molecules: identification of balanced and mixed bcrabl/DNA targeting properties. *Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters* 2007, 17(15):4248-4253.
- 452. Katsoulas A, Rachid Z, McNamee JP, Williams C, Jean-Claude BJ: **Combi-targeting** concept: an optimized single-molecule dual-targeting model for the treatment of chronic myelogenous leukemia. *Molecular cancer therapeutics* 2008, 7(5):1033-1043.
- Huang Y, Rachid Z, Peyrard L, Senhaji Mouhri Z, Williams C, Jean-Claude BJ:
  Positional Isomerization of A Non-Cleavable Combi-Molecule Dramatically Altered Tumor Cell Response Profile. Chemical biology & drug design 2015, 85(2):153-162.

- 454. Katsoulas A, Rachid Z, Brahimi F, McNamee J, Jean-Claude BJ: Cytokinetics and mechanism of action of AKO4: a novel nitrogen mustard targeted to bcr-abl. *Leukemia research* 2005, **29**(5):565-572.
- 455. Larroque-Lombard AL, Todorova M, Qiyu Q, Jean-Claude B: Synthesis and Studies on Three-Compartment Flavone-Containing Combi-Molecules Designed to Target EGFR, DNA, and MEK. *Chemical biology & drug design* 2011, 77(5):309-318.
- 456. Rao S, Larroque-Lombard A-L, Peyrard L, Thauvin C, Rachid Z, Williams C, Jean-Claude BJ: Target modulation by a kinase inhibitor engineered to induce a tandem blockade of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and c-Src: The concept of type III combi-targeting. *PloS one* 2015, **10**(2):e0117215.
- 457. Denny WA, Rewcastle GW, Bridges AJ, Fry DW, Kraker AJ: **STRUCTURE-ACTIVITY RELATIONSHIPS FOR 4-ANILINOQUINAZOLINES AS POTENT INHIBITORS AT THE ATP BINDING SITE OF THE EPIDERMAL GROWTH FACTOR RECEPTOR IN VITRO**. *Clinical and experimental pharmacology and physiology* 1996, **23**(5):424-427.
- 458. Rewcastle GW, Bridges AJ, Fry DW, Rubin JR, Denny WA: **Tyrosine kinase** inhibitors. 12. Synthesis and structure-activity relationships for 6-substituted 4-(phenylamino) pyrimido [5, 4-d] pyrimidines designed as inhibitors of the epidermal growth factor receptor. *Journal of medicinal chemistry* 1997, 40(12):1820-1826.
- 459. Matheson SL, Brahimi F, Jean-Claude BJ: **The combi-targeting concept: intracellular** fragmentation of the binary epidermal growth factor (EGFR)/DNA targeting "combi-triazene" SMA41. *Biochemical pharmacology* 2004, 67(6):1131-1138.
- 460. Todorova MI, Larroque A-L, Dauphin-Pierre S, Fang Y-Q, Jean-Claude BJ: Subcellular distribution of a fluorescence-labeled combi-molecule designed to block epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase and damage DNA with a green fluorescent species. *Molecular cancer therapeutics* 2010, **9**(4):869-882.
- 461. Golabi N, Brahimi F, Huang Y, Rachid Z, Qiu Q, Larroque-Lombard A-L, Jean-Claude BJ: A bioanalytical investigation on the exquisitely strong in vitro potency of the EGFR–DNA targeting type II combi-molecule ZR2003 and its mitigated in vivo antitumour activity. *Journal of pharmaceutical and biomedical analysis* 2011, 56(3):592-599.
- 462. Barchéchath S, Williams C, Saade K, Lauwagie S, Jean-Claude B: **Rational design of multitargeted tyrosine kinase inhibitors: a novel approach**. *Chemical biology & drug design* 2009, **73**(4):380-387.

# CHAPTER 2: <sup>15</sup>N-, <sup>13</sup>C- AND <sup>1</sup>H-NMR SPECTROSCOPY CHARACTERIZATION AND GROWTH INHIBITORY POTENCY OF A COMBI-MOLECULE SYNTHESIZED BY ACETYLATION OF AN UNSTABLE MONOALKYLTRIAZENE

*Zhor Senhaji Mouhri<sup>a</sup>, Elliot Goodfellow<sup>a</sup>, Steven P. Kelley,<sup>b</sup> Robin Stein<sup>b</sup>, Robin D. Rogers,<sup>b</sup> and Bertrand Jean-Claude<sup>a,\*</sup>* 

<sup>a</sup>Cancer Drug Research Laboratory, Department of Medicine, Division of Medical Oncology, McGill University Health Center/Glen Hospital, 1001 Decarie Blvd, Montreal H4A 3J1, Quebec, Canada

<sup>b</sup>Department of Chemistry, McGill University, 801 Sherbrooke St. W., Montreal H3A 0B8, Quebec, Canada

Keywords:

NMR, <sup>1</sup>H, <sup>13</sup>C, <sup>15</sup>N, Naphthalimides

\*Corresponding author. Tel.: +1-514-934-1934 ext. 35841; fax: +1-514-843-1475; e-mail: <u>bertrandj.jean-claude@mcgill.ca</u>

#### 2.1 Abstract

The compound studied, namely EG22 (8a), is an open-chain 3-alkyl-1,2,3-triazene termed "combimolecule" designed to inhibit poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) and damage DNA. To delay its hydrolysis, acetylation of N3 was required. Being a monoalkyl-1,2,3-triazene, EG22 could assume two tautomers in solution or lose nitrogen during the reaction, thereby leading to several acetylated compounds. Instead, one compound was observed and to unequivocally assign its structure, we introduced isotopically labeled reagents in its preparation, with the purpose of incorporating <sup>15</sup>N at N2 and <sup>13</sup>C in the 3-methyl group. The results showed that the 1,2,3-triazene moiety remained intact, as confirmed by <sup>15</sup>N-NMR, coupling patterns between the <sup>15</sup>N-labeled N2 and the <sup>13</sup>C-labeled methyl group. Furthermore, we undertook heteronuclear multiple quantum coherence (HMQC) and heteronuclear multiple bond coherence (HMBC) experiments that permitted the detection and assignment of all four nitrogens in ZSM02 (9a) whose structure was further confirmed by X-ray crystallography. The structure showed a remarkable coplanarity between the N-acetyltriazene and the naphtalimide moiety. Thus, we unequivocally assigned 9a as the product of the reaction and compared its growth inhibitory activity with that of its precursor, EG22. ZSM02 exhibited identical growth inhibitory profile as EG22, suggesting that it may be a prodrug of EG22.

**Keywords:** <sup>15</sup>N-NMR; 1,2,3-triazene; temozolomide; monoalkyltriazene; 4-Amino-1,8naphthalimide

# **2.2 Introduction**

The alkyltriazenes are amongst the oldest classes of alkylating agents used in the clinic for the treatment of cancer. One such agent, dacarbazine (1, Scheme 1), has been used in the clinical management of malignant melanoma for more than 35 years [1–3]. As depicted in Scheme 1, in vivo, dacarbazine (1) is metabolized into the monoalkyltriazene **4a** that is further hydrolyzed to give the methyl diazonium species that alkylates DNA [4]. It is also known to be the species released from the hydrolysis of Temodal, a potent clinical agent used in the clinical management of glioblastoma [5]. Monoalkyltriazene **4a** is in equilibrium with its corresponding tautomer **4b**, which upon hydrolytic cleavage, generates aminoimidazole carboxamide **5** and a methyldiazonium species **6** [6] that reacts with DNA in the cells to generate many adducted bases, including N3-methyladenine, N7-methylguanine, N7-methyladenine and *O*-6-methylguanine adducts [2,7,8].



Scheme 1. Metabolic pathway for dacarbazine and temozolomide [1–3,8].

The mechanism of hydrolysis of monoalkyltriazenes of type 4a, which leads to an aromatic amine (e.g., 5) and a DNA alkylating agent, has inspired the development by our group of a new tumour targeting approach termed "combi-targeting" [9–11]. This approach seeks to design molecules termed "combi-molecules" to behave as bioactive species on their own and to further be hydrolyzed into other bioactive species. Agents that require hydrolysis to generate bioactive species are termed type I combi-molecules [12] and those that do not require hydrolysis to exert multiple activities, type II [13]. Recently, such a type of molecule 6-(3-Methyltriaz-1-en-1-yl)-1H-benzo[de]isoquinoline-1,3(2H)-dione, EG22 (8a, Scheme 2), was designed to behave as an inhibitor of a DNA repair protein termed "poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase" (PARP) and a DNA alkylating agent. EG22 (8a) was successfully synthesized and shown to possess dual PARP and DNA targeting properties [14]. However, its rate of hydrolysis under physiological conditions was too fast and we believed that this could compromise its activity in vivo. Thus, in order to stabilize the combi-molecule, we investigated means to delay its hydrolysis under physiological conditions. Here we report on the unequivocal characterization of 6-(3-Acetyl-3-methyltriaz-1-en-1-yl)-1H-benzo[de]isoquinoline-1,3(2H)-dione, ZSM02 (9a), the first prototype of a masked form of EG22 (8a), using <sup>1</sup>H-, <sup>15</sup>N- and <sup>13</sup>C-NMR of its isotopically labelled form. We hypothesized that if ZSM02 (9a) is a prodrug of EG22 (8a), its growth inhibitory potency should be the same as EG22 (8a). Therefore, we compared their activity in human breast, colon and brain cancer cell lines.



Scheme 2. Synthesis of ZSM02 (9a) and possible by-products.

# 2.3 Results and Discussion

## 2.3.1 Stability of EG22 in DMSO

The synthesis of non-isotopically labeled EG22 (**8a**) was reported elsewhere [14]. As shown in Figure 1, the first evidence of its instability was obtained by monitoring the appearance of a peak corresponding to the shielded proton *ortho* to the amino group of 4-amino-1,8-naphthalimide (ANI, **7a**) and the disappearance of a deshielded doublet of the aromatic ring of EG22 (**8a**) in wet DMSO- $d_6$  at room temperature. Indeed, after a two-day period, EG22 (**8a**) was almost fully converted to of 4-Amino-1,8-naphthalimide, ANI (7a) and the decomposition  $t_{1/2}$  under these conditions was 12.6 h (Figure 2).



Figure 1. <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectra of EG22 (8a) showing slow conversion to ANI (7a) (0–50 h) in non-dried DMSO- $d_6$ .



**Figure 2.** Formation of 4-Amino-1,8-naphthalimide, ANI (**7a**) in DMSO over time using ANI/(ANI + EG22) percent peak ratio and decay curve for EG22 (**8a**) in DMSO over time using EG22/(ANI + EG22) percent aromatic peak ratio.

The rate determining step of the hydrolysis of monoalkyltriazenes has been shown to be the protolysis of their non-conjugated tautomer [15]. Therefore, we believe that this conversion is catalyzed by trace amount of water in DMSO- $d_6$  and the mechanism of degradation is primarily based on the cleavage of the non-conjugated tautomer **8b** (Scheme 3).



Scheme 3. Deacetylation of ZSM02 (9a) and protolysis of EG22 (8a) to regenerate ANI (7a) and create a methyl diazonium species.

Accordingly, we surmised that the hydrolysis of EG22 (8a) could be delayed by acetylating N3, thereby shifting the overall rate determining step to that of the slow cleavage of the N3–CO bond. The fact that EG22 (8a) can assume the two tautomeric forms outlined in Schemes 2 and 3 in organic solutions and since acetylation of each tautomer would lead to different structures of the same mass or resulting from loss of N<sub>2</sub>, a confusing NMR spectrum was expected for the reaction products. Surprisingly, the synthesis led to one major product, the exact structure of which remained elusive. Thus, we undertook an isotopic labeling study involving <sup>15</sup>N and <sup>13</sup>C labeling of the 3-methyl-1,2,3-triazene moiety.

### 2.3.2 Isotopic labelling and NMR spectroscopy

As outlined in Scheme 2, the incorporation of the isotopes proceeded by substituting two reactants for their isotopically labelled counterparts in the synthesis of EG22 (**8a**): (a) <sup>15</sup>N sodium nitrite to be incorporated in the in situ generated diazonium salt and (b) <sup>13</sup>C methylamine for addition to the latter under basic conditions. Having shown that EG22 (**8a**) can be converted to ANI (**7a**) and considering that it perhaps exists as two tautomers in solution, we expected products resulting from: (i) a direct reaction of the acetyl chloride on the N3 of the triazene moiety, leading to the desired structure **9a**, (ii) an acetylation of the non-conjugated isomer **8b** to produce **9b**, (iii) an acetylation of ANI (**7a**) resulting from the decomposition of EG22 (**8a**) or the loss methyl diazonium from **9b** to give **10b**, or (iv) loss of nitrogen from **9a** and **9b** to give **10a** [16].

<sup>1</sup>H-NMR analysis of the product (Figure 3a) showed an interesting coupling pattern for the 3-methyl group, which appeared as a doublet ( ${}^{1}J_{HC} = 142$  Hz), indicating that it is coupled with  ${}^{13}C$  [17]. Since we expected this coupling to be consistent with the presence of the  ${}^{13}C$  labeled methyl, we further analyzed the product by  ${}^{13}C$ -NMR.



**Figure 3.** (**A**) <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum of <sup>13</sup>C and <sup>15</sup>N labelled ZSM02 (**9a**) in non-dry DMSO*d*<sub>6</sub> displaying the <sup>13</sup>CH<sub>3</sub> doublet (<sup>1</sup>*J*<sub>CH</sub> = 142.2 Hz). (**B**) Proton coupled <sup>13</sup>C-NMR spectrum of <sup>13</sup>C and <sup>15</sup>N labelled ZSM02 (**9a**) (<sup>1</sup>*J*<sub>CH</sub> = 142 Hz and <sup>2</sup>*J*<sub>CN</sub> = 1.8 Hz). (**C**) Proton decoupled <sup>15</sup>N-NMR spectrum of <sup>13</sup>C and <sup>15</sup>N labelled ZSM02 (**9a**) (<sup>2</sup>*J*<sub>CN</sub> = 1.5 Hz).

Interestingly, the results showed that the <sup>13</sup>C methyl peak appeared at 28.6 ppm, as a quartet of doublets ( ${}^{1}J_{CH} = 142 \text{ Hz}$ ,  ${}^{2}J_{CN} = 1.5 \text{ Hz}$ ) (Figure 3b), indicating that it does not only couple with its directly bound hydrogen but also with the central nitrogen N2 of the triazene chain.

In order to further ascertain the presence of the <sup>15</sup>N label of the central nitrogen, a full <sup>15</sup>N-NMR spectrum was acquired in decoupled mode. <sup>15</sup>N-NMR analysis showed a peak at 455.6 ppm (ammonium scale) or 75 ppm (converted to the nitromethane scale) that showed up as a doublet  $(^{2}J_{NC} = 1.8 \text{ Hz})$  as a result of coupling with the isotopically labeled <sup>13</sup>C (Figure 3(c)). The observed shift for N2 is in agreement with previous reports by our group showing that the N2 in 1,2,3-triazene containing molecules is in the +70 ppm range [18,19].

The <sup>15</sup>N-NMR and its corresponding coupling with the <sup>13</sup>C-labeled carbon allowed to rule out structures **10a** and **10b** (Scheme 2). Our data is consistent with the presence of an intact 1,2,3-triazene chain in the structure, as in **9a** and **9b**. The <sup>13</sup>C shift of the <sup>13</sup>C-labeled methyl group in the non-conjugated tautomer is known to be considerably deshielded (e.g., 54 ppm for 3-methyll-*p*-tolyl-triazene) [20]. Our observed shift (28.6 ppm) is significantly more shielded and is consistent with that of a similar *N*-methylacetyltriazene previously synthesized by our group [21]. This allowed to rule out **9b**. As depicted in Scheme 4, in 6-(3-acetyl-3-methyltriazene)-4-(*m*-toluidyl)quinazoline that carries a similar NNN(CH<sub>3</sub>)COCH<sub>3</sub> moiety, the <sup>13</sup>C shift of the methyl group (28.4 ppm) is almost identical to that in ZSM02 (**9a**) (28.6 ppm).



**Scheme 4.** Comparison of ZSM02 (**9a**) to previously synthesized *N*-methylacetyltriazene. The respective N3 methyl shifts are 28.6 ppm and 28.4 ppm.

# 2.3.3 HMBC and HMQC analysis

While the <sup>15</sup>N labeling led to the determination of the presence and chemical shift of the central nitrogen, absence of coupling with the other nitrogens, N1 and N3 in the chain, did not allow us to infer on the presence of the latter two nitrogens. Likewise, the nitrogen of the naphthalimide system could not be detected from the experiment. Therefore, we undertook connectivity studies using heteronuclear multiple bond correlation (HMBC) and heteronuclear single bond coherence (HSQC) to indirectly detect the latter natural abundance nitrogens. Indeed, HSQC experiment showed a sharp peak for the NH of the naphthalimide ring (Figure 4) at 167 ppm (–213 ppm, nitromethane scale). As depicted in Figure 5, HMBC analysis further confirmed the presence of N1, N2, and N3 at 393.4 (13 ppm), 455.8 (75 ppm), and 217.4 ppm (–163 ppm), respectively. Therefore, these experiments allowed us to confirm the complete nitrogen content of the molecule. Our NMR data in toto confirm that structure **9a** (ZSM02), is the product of the reaction.



**Figure 4.** heteronuclear single bond coherence (HSQC) experiment showing a sharp peak for the NH of the naphthalimide ring of compound **9a**.



**Figure 5.** Heteronuclear multiple bond correlation (HMBC) experiment showing peaks corresponding to N1, N2 and N3 of the triazene chain of compound **9a**.

#### 2.3.4 Determination of the 3D structure

In order to determine the three-dimensional structure of the molecule, we sought to crystallize f **9a**, but all attempts via conventional methods failed. A dimethylformamide (DMF)/hexane biphasic approach led however to needles that lent themselves to diffraction. The crystal structure was identified as a DMF hemisolvate with two unique molecules of **9a** and one molecule of DMF in the asymmetric unit (Figure 6). As depicted in Figure 4, the results showed that the complete *N*-acetyl triazene moiety was almost completely coplanar with the naphthalimide rings. The least square planes of the acetyl and napthalimide groups were  $5.8^{\circ}$  and  $9.8^{\circ}$  for molecules A and B, respectively (as labeled in Figure 4). Acetylation of the nitrogen did not lead to a significant elongation of N2–N3 bond (N4A–N3A: 1.36(2) Å; N4B–N3B: 1.34(2) Å), which is consistent with the observed coplanarity and perhaps the electron donating character of the *N*-acetyltriazene moiety. Indeed, NMR analysis showed that the proton attached to C11B (Figure 4) is more shielded than the one at C8B in naphthalimide ring. Reported lengths for non-acetylated open-chain triazenes are in the range of 1.30 Å [22].



**Figure 6.** X-ray crystallographic structure of compound **9a**. Non-hydrogen atoms drawn as ellipsoids at the 50% probability level and hydrogen atoms as circles of arbitrary radii.

#### 2.3.5 Biological activity

Having ascertained the structure of ZSM02 (**9a**), we further analyzed its effect on cell growth in comparison with its precursor, EG22 (**8a**). We surmised that if ZSM02 (**9a**) is converted into EG22 (**8a**) intracellularly, their growth inhibitory profile should be similar. Indeed, as shown in Figure 7, using the Sulforhodamine B (SRB) growth inhibitory assay [23], we confirm that ZSM02 (**9a**) and EG22 (**8a**) exhibit similar growth inhibitory profiles. Further work on the mechanism of action of both molecules is reported elsewhere [14].



Figure 7. Growth inhibition activity of compounds 8a (EG22) and 9a (ZSM02).

## 2.4 Material and Methods

## 2.4.1. General Information

4-Amino-1,8-naphthalimide (ANI) was purchased from Ark Pharm (Arlington Heights, IL). All other chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich.

#### 2.4.2 Chemical Synthesis

# 6-(3-Methyltriaz-1-en-1-yl)-1H-benzo[de]isoquinoline-1,3(2H)-dione (8a):

The methyltriazene compound **8a** was synthesized as described in Scheme 2. Briefly, 4-amino-1,8-naphthalimide (ANI, **7a**) (1 eq., 0.236 mmol) was dissolved in concentrated trifluoroacetic acid and was cooled to -5 °C for 15 min. The <sup>15</sup>N labeled sodium nitrite (2 eq., 0.472 mmol) in a clear solution was then added dropwise. Once diazotized, <sup>13</sup>C labelled methylamine hydrochloride (3 eq., 0.708 mmol) was dissolved in water and added slowly dropwise thereafter. Upon reaction completion, the solution was neutralized with a saturated solution of sodium bicarbonate and left to precipitate for an hour. The mixture was then filtered and the precipitate collected and dried. <sup>1</sup>H-NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  ppm 11.61 (s, 1H, NH), 11.44 (q, 1H, *J* = 3.6 Hz, NHCH<sub>3</sub>), 8.97 (dd, 1H, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 0.9Hz, ArH), 8.46 (dd, 1H, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 1.2 Hz, ArH), 8.39 (d, 1H, *J* = 8.1 Hz, ArH), 7.83 (t, 1H, *J* = 8.0 Hz, ArH), 7.69 (d, 1H, *J* = 8 Hz, ArH), 3.26 (dd, 3H, *J* = 139.3 Hz, 4.2 Hz, NH<sup>13</sup>CH<sub>3</sub>).

#### 6-(3-Acetyl-3-methyltriaz-1-en-1-yl)-1H-benzo[de]isoquinoline-1,3(2H)-dione (9a):

The acetylated compound **9a** was synthesized as described in Scheme 2. Briefly, 3 mL of anhydrous pyridine was flash frozen using liquid nitrogen. Once completely frozen, acetic anhydride (10 eq, 1.97 mmol) was introduced and flash frozen using liquid nitrogen. A total of 50 mg of **8a** (EG22) in Scheme 2 (1 eq, 0.197 mmol) was added as a powder. The reaction was allowed to reach a temperature of  $-5 \,^{\circ}$ C for 30 min and then reach room temperature slowly for 2 h. Once the reaction was complete, the pyridine was azeotroped with toluene. The resulting solid was collected and dried. <sup>1</sup>H-NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  ppm 11.83 (s, 1H, NH), 8.96 (dd, 1H, *J* = 8.4 Hz, 0.8 Hz, ArH), 8.54 (dd, 1H, *J* = 7.2 Hz, 1.2 Hz, ArH), 8.51 (d, 1H, *J* = 8.0 Hz, ArH), 7.96 (t, 1H, *J* = 8.0 Hz, ArH), 7.94 (d, 1H, *J* = 8 Hz, ArH), 3.54 (d, 3H, *J* = 142.2 Hz, N<sup>13</sup>CH<sub>3</sub>), 2.60 (s, 3H, COCH<sub>3</sub>). <sup>13</sup>C-NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  ppm 172.96, 163.71, 148.35, (2C) 130.56, 130.53, 129.78, 129.69,

127.72, 127.57, 122.74, 122.18, 114.33, 28.63 (qd, J = 142 Hz, 1.8 Hz, <sup>15</sup>NN<sup>13</sup>CH<sub>3</sub>) and 22.03. <sup>15</sup>N-NMR (30.4 MHz, DMSO- $d_6$ )  $\delta$  ppm 455.55 (d, J = 1.5Hz, <sup>15</sup>NN<sup>13</sup>C). ESI m/z 297 (MH<sup>-</sup>).

#### 2.4.3 NMR Acquisition

The <sup>1</sup>H- and <sup>13</sup>C-NMR spectra were acquired at ambient temperature on a Mercury 300 spectrometer (Varian/Agilent, city, state abbrev if USA, country) equipped with an ATB probe. Concentration of samples were 1 mg/mL in DMSO- $d_6$ . The relaxation delay was 1 s after a 45 degrees pulse and acquisition time of 1042 s. For the <sup>1</sup>H-NMR spectrum, 256 scans were collected and for the <sup>13</sup>C coupled spectrum 6800 scans were collected. Both spectra were acquired with NOE. The spectral width was 18,832 Hz, 39,248 points were collected and zero filled to 256K points before Fourier transformation for a digital resolution of 0.14 Hz. No apodization was used.

The <sup>15</sup>N-NMR spectrum was obtained at ambient temperature on a Varian/Agilent VNMRS 500 spectrometer equipped with a dual broadband probe. Concentration of the sample was 5 mg/mL in DMSO- $d_6$  and was referenced using <sup>15</sup>N ammonia as an external standard and for conversion to the nitromethane scale the following equation was used:  $\delta$ (nitromethane) =  $\delta$  (ammonia) – 380.3. The relaxation delay was 3 s after a 20-degree pulse and acquisition time of 1.6 s. A total of 1064 scans were collected. The spectrum was acquired with NOE. The spectral width was 25,000 Hz, 80,004 points were collected and zero-filled to 512K points before Fourier transformation for a digital resolution of 0.10 Hz.

All spectra of the non-isotopically labeled compounds were acquired on an AVIIIHD spectrometer (Bruker, city, state abbrev if USA, country) operating at a 1H frequency of 500.3 MHz using a BBFO + SmartProbe (Manufacturer, city, state abbrev if USA, country). Around 2 mg of ZSM02 (**9a**) were dissolved in 1 g DMSO- $d_6$ . The <sup>1</sup>H spectrum was acquired in 72 scans using an acquisition time of 3.7 s and a recycle delay of 1 s. The <sup>13</sup>C spectrum was acquired using

power gated WALTZ decoupling (Manufacturer, city, state abbrev if USA, country) in 6144 scans with a recycle delay of 2 s (total experimental time 5.5 h). The COSY spectrum was acquired in 20 min using a spectral width of 10 ppm in each dimension, 2048 points in the direct dimension, and 256 points in the indirect dimension. Two <sup>13</sup>C-HSQC spectra were acquired, one with a spectral width in the indirect dimension of 165 ppm and 64 points (4 min) and the other centered on 129.5 ppm with a spectral width of 8 ppm and 512 points (30 min). The <sup>13</sup>C HMBC spectrum was acquired using a spectral width in the indirect dimension of 65 ppm centered at 143 ppm using 384 points (one hour). The <sup>15</sup>N-HSQC spectrum was acquired in 1.25 h using optimization for a 90 Hz *J* coupling. The <sup>15</sup>N-HMBC spectrum was acquired in 8.5 h using 16 scans per increment and 512 increments, in 8.5 h, with delay times optimized for a 1.6 Hz *J* coupling.

## 2.4.4 X-ray crystallography

Data collection was performed on a Bruker D8 Venture diffractometer equipped with a Photon 100 area detector (Bruker-AXS, Madison, WI, USA). Yellow, crystalline needles were isolated by inspection under microscope. Although the crystals were well-formed and transparent, they showed signs of polycrystallinity including uneven extinction under polarized light and the ability to bend. Diffraction was unexpectedly weak for crystals of their size, and cooling the crystals to low temperature appeared to result in even weaker diffraction. This behavior suggested the crystals may have been aggregates of much smaller crystallites which remained fairly well aligned at room temperature but lost their alignment under the strain of thermal contraction on cooling. Ultimately, the best data was collected using graphite monochromated Mo-K $\alpha$  radiation from a microfocus source on a crystal measuring  $0.22 \times 0.08 \times 0.01$  mm using shutterless scans at a rate of 120 s/degree. A full hemisphere of unique data was collected out to 0.80 Å resolution using scans about the omega and phi axes. Unit cell determination, data collection, data reduction, and absorption

correction were performed using the Bruker Apex3 software suite (version 2015-R7; Bruker-AXS, Madison, WI, USA) [24].

The structure of **9a** was solved and its space group determined by the iterative dual space approach implemented in the program SHELXT [25]. The absolute configuration of the crystal structure could not be determined from Mo K $\alpha$  data. Non-hydrogen atoms were refined anisotropically by full-matrix least squares refinement against F<sup>2</sup>. Hydrogen atoms were placed in calculated positions, and their coordinates and thermal parameters were constrained to ride on the carrier atom. Least squares refinement was done using SHELX v.2014 [26] implemented in the Bruker SHELXTL software suite [27].

Diffraction from this crystal becomes essentially indistinguishable from noise at resolutions beyond 1 Å, so the precision on bond distances is low (approximately 0.02 Å). The structural features of interest—the 3-D configuration of the molecule and the distinction between single, double, and aromatic bonds by length—can all still be unambiguously detected at this resolution. Additionally, most of the reflections lie in the 1.0–0.8 Å resolution range, so the global values for  $R_{int}$ , wR<sub>2</sub> are high while the ratio of observed to unique reflections is low. Values that are constrained to resolutions containing observed reflections, such as R<sub>1</sub>, are in acceptable ranges. While these deficiencies could be solved by using a larger crystal or a more powerful X-ray source, the refinement presented here represents the limit of what could be achieved with available facilities and is chemically reasonable and fully consistent with other experimental characterization.

Crystal data for **9a**·0.5DMF (ZSM02, **9a**): C<sub>16.5</sub>H<sub>15</sub>N<sub>4.5</sub>O<sub>3.5</sub> (Mw = 332.33 g/mol), monoclinic, space group *Pc*, *a* = 13.856(3) Å, *b* = 4.9842(9) Å, *c* = 23.836(5) Å,  $\beta$  = 100.651(6)°,  $\alpha = \gamma = 90^{\circ}$ , V = 1617.8(5) Å<sup>3</sup>, Z = 4, T = 298(2) K,  $\lambda$ (Mo K $\alpha$ ) = 0.71073 Å, Dcalc = 1.364 mg/m<sup>3</sup>, F(000) =
694, independent reflections 24669/6617 ( $R_{int} = 0.2463$ ), 2.494° < 2 $\theta$  < 26.435°, the final  $R_1$  was 0.1434 (I > 2 $\sigma$ (I)) and w $R_2$  was 0.3900 (all data).

The supplementary crystallographic data for compound **9a** can be obtained in Supplementary Materials and from the Crystallography Open Database (COD no. <u>3000124</u>) free of charge at http://www.crystallography.net/ cod/.

### 2.4.5 Cell Culture

HCT116 colon cancer cell line was kindly provided by Moulay Alaoui-Jamali (Segal Cancer Centre and Lady Davis Institute for Medical Research, Jewish General Hospital, Montreal, QC, Canada). The MDA-MD468 breast cancer cell line was bought from the ATCC (Manassas, VA, USA). MDA-MB453 and MDA-MB231 were a generous gifts of Suhad Ali (the Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, QC, Canada). U138 glioblastoma cell lines were kindly given by Siham Sabri (the Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, QC, Canada). Media preparation was supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 10 mM HEPES, gentamicin sulfate, amphotericin B and ciprofloxacin. All the reagents used in the preparation of the media were purchased from Wisent Inc. (St-Bruno, QC, Canada). The cells were grown in a humidified incubator with a stable temperature of 37 °C and CO2 level of 5%.

# 2.4.6 Growth Inhibition Assay

Cells were plated in 96-well plates (Corning Inc., Corning, NY, USA) at 3000–10,000 cells/well in 100  $\mu$ L medium/well. They were then treated, 24 h later, with a wide range of drug concentrations (0.0031  $\mu$ M to 800  $\mu$ M). The treatment was done in triplicate for 5 days in the incubator. Following the drug treatment, the cells were fixed with 50  $\mu$ L per well of cold TCA (50%) for 2 h at 4 °C, rinsed, dried well and stained with 50  $\mu$ L sulforhodamine B (SRB) (0.4 g/100 mL). Subsequently, the SRB was rinsed with 1% acetic acid, and allowed to air-dry overnight. Finally, the dye was solubilized with Tris base (10 mM, pH 10–10.5). Absorbance readings of the solubilized dye were recorded on a ELx808 microplate reader, BioTek (Winooski, VT, USA) at an optical density of 492 nm. The results were analyzed using GraphPad Prism software (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA) to derive a dose-response curves and the IC50. Each experiment was carried out four times, in triplicate.

# **2.5** Conclusion

We successfully acetylated the 1,2,3-methyl triazene **8a**. Subsequently, we unequivocally assigned the structure of the resulting compound **9a** (ZSM02), using <sup>15</sup>N isotopic labeling, HMBC, HSQC and X-ray crystallography. Finally, a biological assay showed similar growth inhibitory potency for both compounds **8a** (EG22) and its acetylated form, **9a**. These results in toto suggest that **9a** could be a prodrug of **8a**. A detailed study on the hydrolysis of **8a** and **9a** under physiological conditions and on their biological effects as combi-molecules, is reported elsewhere [14].

## **Supplementary Materials:**

**Table S1.** Crystal data and structure refinement for s1\_a.

Acknowledgements: We thank the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) for financial support. We are grateful to the McGill NMR Lab and the McGill University Health Center Drug Discovery platform for NMR access. Zhor Senhaji Mouhri thanks the Fonds Quebecois de Recherche sur la Sante (FQRS) for a Doctoral Research Award.

**Author Contributions:** Elliot Goodfellow synthesized the prototype combi-molecule, EG22, and helped with the preparation of the manuscript. Zhor Senhaji Mouhri synthesized the stable form of this combi-molecule to yield ZSM02 and crystallized it. She also synthesized the labelled compounds and performed the NMRs, and mass spectrometry of the labeled compounds. She interpreted the data with the help of Elliot Goodfellow. She carried out the biological assay and helped with the preparation of the manuscript. Dr. Robin Stein performed the HMBC and HSQC NMR of the non-labelled compound. Dr. Robin Rogers and Dr. Steven P. Kelley performed the crystallography of ZSMR02. Dr. Bertrand Jean-Claude overlooked the proceedings of the experimental work and revised the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest: All authors declare no conflict of interest.

# 2.6 References

- 1. Nashan, D., et al., *Systemic therapy of disseminated malignant melanoma: an evidencebased overview of the state- of- the- art in daily routine.* Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venereology, 2007. **21**(10): p. 1305-1318.
- 2. Middleton, M.R. and G.P. Margison, *Improvement of chemotherapy efficacy by inactivation of a DNA-repair pathway*. The lancet oncology, 2003. **4**(1): p. 37-44.
- 3. Kondo, N., et al., *DNA damage induced by alkylating agents and repair pathways*. Journal of nucleic acids, 2010. **2010**.
- 4. Long, L. and M.E. Dolan, *Role of Cytochrome P450 Isoenzymes in Metabolism of O6-Benzylguanine*. Clinical cancer research, 2001. 7(12): p. 4239-4244.
- 5. Chen, C., et al., *The efficacy of temozolomide for recurrent glioblastoma multiforme*. European journal of neurology, 2013. **20**(2): p. 223-230.
- 6. Friedman, H.S., T. Kerby, and H. Calvert, *Temozolomide and treatment of malignant glioma*. Clinical Cancer Research, 2000. **6**(7): p. 2585-2597.
- 7. Hvizdos, K.M. and K.L. Goa, *Temozolomide*. CNS drugs, 1999. **12**(3): p. 237-243.
- 8. Zhang, J., M. FG Stevens, and T. D Bradshaw, *Temozolomide: mechanisms of action, repair and resistance.* Current molecular pharmacology, 2012. **5**(1): p. 102-114.
- 9. Banerjee, R., et al., *The combi-targeting concept: mechanism of action of the pleiotropic combi-molecule RB24 and discovery of a novel cell signaling-based combination principle.* Cellular signalling, 2011. **23**(4): p. 630-640.
- Rachid, Z., et al., *The combi-targeting concept: chemical dissection of the dual targeting properties of a series of "combi-triazenes"*. Journal of medicinal chemistry, 2003. 46(20): p. 4313-4321.
- 11. Qiu, Q., et al., *The combi-targeting concept: in vitro and in vivo fragmentation of a stable combi-nitrosourea engineered to interact with the epidermal growth factor receptor while remaining DNA reactive.* Clinical cancer research, 2007. **13**(1): p. 331-340.
- 12. Matheson, S.L., F. Brahimi, and B.J. Jean-Claude, *The combi-targeting concept: intracellular fragmentation of the binary epidermal growth factor (EGFR)/DNA targeting "combi-triazene" SMA41*. Biochemical pharmacology, 2004. **67**(6): p. 1131-1138.
- 13. Huang, Y., et al., *Positional Isomerization of A Non- Cleavable Combi- Molecule Dramatically Altered Tumor Cell Response Profile*. Chemical biology & drug design, 2015. **85**(2): p. 153-162.
- 14. Senhaji Mouhri, Z.G., Elliot; Jean-Claude, Bertrand J., *A type I combi-targeting approach for the design of molecules with enhanced potency against BRCA1/2 mutantand O6-methylguanine-dna methyltransferase (mgmt)- expressing tumour cells.* BMC Cancer, 2017.
- 15. Isaacs, N.S. and E. Rannala, *Kinetics and mechanism of the decomposition of 3-alkyl-1-aryltriazenes by carboxylic acids*. Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 2, 1974(8): p. 899-902.
- 16. Rachid, Z., et al., *Synthesis of half-mustard combi-molecules with fluorescence properties: correlation with EGFR status.* Bioorganic & medicinal chemistry letters, 2005. **15**(4): p. 1135-1138.

- 17. Jean- Claude, B.J. and C.I. Williams, *15N NMR study of bi- and tricyclic 1, 2, 3, 5tetrazepin- 4- ones.* Magnetic resonance in chemistry, 1998. **36**(2): p. 87-91.
- 18. Vaughan, K., et al., *A 15N NMR investigation of a series of benzotriazinones and related antitumour heterocycles.* Magnetic Resonance in Chemistry, 2002. **40**(4): p. 300-302.
- 19. Duker, J.M. and A.S. Serianni, (13C) · Substituted sucrose: 13C · 1H and 13C · 13C spin. Carbohydrate research, 1993. 249(2): p. 281-303.
- 20. Iwamura, H., K. Albert, and A. Rieker, *On the tautomerism of 3-alkyl-1-aryltriazenes*. Tetrahedron Letters, 1976. **17**(30): p. 2627-2630.
- 21. Banerjee, R., et al., *Synthesis of a prodrug designed to release multiple inhibitors of the epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase and an alkylating agent: a novel tumor targeting concept.* Journal of medicinal chemistry, 2003. **46**(25): p. 5546-5551.
- 22. Neidle, S. and D. Wilman, *X-ray studies on anti-tumour triazenes. Structures of 1-(4-carbamoylphenyl)-3, 3-dimethyltriazene 1-oxide and 3, 3-dimethyl-1-(4-nitrophenyl) triazene.* Acta Crystallographica Section B: Structural Science, 1992. **48**(2): p. 213-217.
- 23. Apex3, version 2015-R7, Bruker-AXS: Madison, WI, 2015.
- 24. Sheldrick, G.M., *SHELXT–Integrated space-group and crystal-structure determination*. Acta Crystallographica Section A: Foundations and Advances, 2015. **71**(1): p. 3-8.
- 25. Sheldrick, G.M., *Crystal structure refinement with SHELXL*. Acta Crystallographica Section C: Structural Chemistry, 2015. **71**(1): p. 3-8.
- 26. Sheldrick, G., SHELXTL: Structure Determination Software Suite, version 6.10; Bruker AXS: Madison, WI, 2001.
- 27. Larbouret, C., et al., *In pancreatic carcinoma, dual EGFR/HER2 targeting with cetuximab/trastuzumab is more effective than treatment with trastuzumab/erlotinib or lapatinib alone: implication of receptors' down-regulation and dimers' disruption.* Neoplasia, 2012. **14**(2): p. 121-130.

# 2.7 Supplementary Material

# Table S1. Crystal data and structure refinement for 9a (s1\_a).

	Identification code	s1_a
	Empirical formula	C16.50 H15 N4.50 O3.50
	Formula weight	332.33
	Temperature	298(2) K
	Wavelength	0.71073 A
	Crystal system, space group	Monoclinic, Pc
d o o	Unit cell dimensions	a = 13.856(3) A alpha = 90 deg. b = 4.9842(9) A beta = 100.651(6)
aeg.		c = 23.836(5) A gamma = 90 deg.
	Volume	1617.8(5) A^3
	Z, Calculated density	4, 1.364 Mg/m^3
	Absorption coefficient	0.099 mm^-1
	F(000)	694
	Crystal size	0.220 x 0.080 x 0.010 mm
	Theta range for data collection	2.494 to 26.435 deg.
	Limiting indices	-17<=h<=17, -6<=k<=5, -29<=1<=29
	Reflections collected / unique	24669 / 6617 [R(int) = 0.2463]
	Completeness to theta = $25.242$	99.8 %
	Refinement method	Full-matrix least-squares on F^2
	Data / restraints / parameters	6617 / 380 / 448
	Goodness-of-fit on F^2	1.025
	Final R indices [I>2sigma(I)]	R1 = 0.1434, $wR2 = 0.3046$
	R indices (all data)	R1 = 0.2820, wR2 = 0.3900
	Absolute structure parameter	-1.0(10)
	Extinction coefficient	n/a
	Largest diff. peak and hole	0.496 and -0.345 e.A^-3

Table 2. Atomic coordinates ( x  $10^4$ ) and equivalent isotropic displacement parameters (A<sup>2</sup> x  $10^3$ ) for s1\_a. U(eq) is defined as one third of the trace of the orthogonalized Uij tensor.

O(1B) $5468(8)$ $8450(20)$ $3932(5)$ $52(3)$ $O(1A)$ $4950(8)$ $5270(20)$ $5243(4)$ $46(3)$ $O(2B)$ $6562(8)$ $10350(20)$ $5795(4)$ $46(3)$ $O(2A)$ $6144(9)$ $6780(20)$ $7102(5)$ $61(3)$ $O(3B)$ $9638(15)$ $22510(40)$ $2351(8)$ $135(8)$ $C(14A)$ $800(20)$ $-7160(60)$ $5075(13)$ $126(9)$ $N(1A)$ $5499(8)$ $5920(20)$ $6184(5)$ $36(3)$ $N(1B)$ $6040(9)$ $9510(30)$ $4855(5)$ $39(3)$ $N(2A)$ $2365(12)$ $-3250(30)$ $6357(7)$ $62(4)$ $N(2B)$ $8630(10)$ $17750(30)$ $3685(6)$ $55(4)$ $N(3A)$ $1869(11)$ $-4470(30)$ $5927(7)$ $64(4)$ $N(4B)$ $9163(12)$ $20140(30)$ $3043(7)$ $68(4)$ $N(4A)$ $1231(11)$ $-6300(30)$ $6071(8)$ $70(4)$ $C(1B)$ $6598(10)$ $10830(30)$ $5279(7)$ $32(3)$ $C(1A)$ $4922(12)$ $4680(30)$ $5724(7)$ $41(4)$ $C(2B)$ $7239(10)$ $12980(30)$ $5140(6)$ $33(3)$ $C(3B)$ $7265(9)$ $13470(30)$ $4553(6)$ $26(3)$
O(1A)4950(8)5270(20)5243(4)46(3)O(2B)6562(8)10350(20)5795(4)46(3)O(2A)6144(9)6780(20)7102(5)61(3)O(3B)9638(15)22510(40)2351(8)135(8)C(14A)800(20)-7160(60)5075(13)126(9)N(1A)5499(8)5920(20)6184(5)36(3)N(1B)6040(9)9510(30)4855(5)39(3)N(2A)2365(12)-3250(30)6357(7)62(4)N(2B)8630(10)17750(30)3685(6)55(4)N(3A)1869(11)-4470(30)5927(7)64(4)N(4B)9163(12)20140(30)3043(7)68(4)N(4A)1231(11)-6300(30)6071(8)70(4)C(1B)6598(10)10830(30)5279(7)32(3)C(1A)4922(12)4680(30)5724(7)41(4)C(2A)4284(11)2500(30)5900(6)36(3)C(2B)7239(10)12980(30)5140(6)33(3)C(3B)7265(9)13470(30)4553(6)26(3)
O(2B) $6562(8)$ $10350(20)$ $5795(4)$ $46(3)$ $O(2A)$ $6144(9)$ $6780(20)$ $7102(5)$ $61(3)$ $O(3B)$ $9638(15)$ $22510(40)$ $2351(8)$ $135(8)$ $C(14A)$ $800(20)$ $-7160(60)$ $5075(13)$ $126(9)$ $N(1A)$ $5499(8)$ $5920(20)$ $6184(5)$ $36(3)$ $N(1B)$ $6040(9)$ $9510(30)$ $4855(5)$ $39(3)$ $N(2A)$ $2365(12)$ $-3250(30)$ $6357(7)$ $62(4)$ $N(2B)$ $8630(10)$ $17750(30)$ $3685(6)$ $55(4)$ $N(3A)$ $1869(11)$ $-4470(30)$ $5927(7)$ $64(4)$ $N(3B)$ $8518(11)$ $18320(30)$ $3161(6)$ $60(4)$ $N(4B)$ $9163(12)$ $20140(30)$ $3043(7)$ $68(4)$ $N(4A)$ $1231(11)$ $-6300(30)$ $6071(8)$ $70(4)$ $C(1B)$ $6598(10)$ $10830(30)$ $5279(7)$ $32(3)$ $C(1A)$ $4922(12)$ $4680(30)$ $5724(7)$ $41(4)$ $C(2A)$ $4284(11)$ $2500(30)$ $5140(6)$ $33(3)$ $C(2B)$ $7239(10)$ $12980(30)$ $5140(6)$ $33(3)$
O(2A) $G144(9)$ $G780(20)$ $7102(5)$ $G1(3)$ $O(3B)$ $9638(15)$ $22510(40)$ $2351(8)$ $135(8)$ $C(14A)$ $800(20)$ $-7160(60)$ $5075(13)$ $126(9)$ $N(1A)$ $5499(8)$ $5920(20)$ $6184(5)$ $36(3)$ $N(1B)$ $6040(9)$ $9510(30)$ $4855(5)$ $39(3)$ $N(2A)$ $2365(12)$ $-3250(30)$ $6357(7)$ $62(4)$ $N(2B)$ $8630(10)$ $17750(30)$ $3685(6)$ $55(4)$ $N(3A)$ $1869(11)$ $-4470(30)$ $5927(7)$ $64(4)$ $N(3B)$ $8518(11)$ $18320(30)$ $3161(6)$ $60(4)$ $N(4B)$ $9163(12)$ $20140(30)$ $3043(7)$ $68(4)$ $N(4A)$ $1231(11)$ $-6300(30)$ $6071(8)$ $70(4)$ $C(1B)$ $6598(10)$ $10830(30)$ $5279(7)$ $32(3)$ $C(1A)$ $4922(12)$ $4680(30)$ $5724(7)$ $41(4)$ $C(2A)$ $4284(11)$ $2500(30)$ $5900(6)$ $36(3)$ $C(2B)$ $7239(10)$ $12980(30)$ $5140(6)$ $33(3)$ $C(3B)$ $7265(9)$ $13470(30)$ $4553(6)$ $26(3)$
O(3B) $9638(15)$ $22510(40)$ $2351(8)$ $135(8)$ $C(14A)$ $800(20)$ $-7160(60)$ $5075(13)$ $126(9)$ $N(1A)$ $5499(8)$ $5920(20)$ $6184(5)$ $36(3)$ $N(1B)$ $6040(9)$ $9510(30)$ $4855(5)$ $39(3)$ $N(2A)$ $2365(12)$ $-3250(30)$ $6357(7)$ $62(4)$ $N(2B)$ $8630(10)$ $17750(30)$ $3685(6)$ $55(4)$ $N(3A)$ $1869(11)$ $-4470(30)$ $5927(7)$ $64(4)$ $N(3B)$ $8518(11)$ $18320(30)$ $3161(6)$ $60(4)$ $N(4B)$ $9163(12)$ $20140(30)$ $3043(7)$ $68(4)$ $N(4A)$ $1231(11)$ $-6300(30)$ $6071(8)$ $70(4)$ $C(1B)$ $6598(10)$ $10830(30)$ $5279(7)$ $32(3)$ $C(1A)$ $4922(12)$ $4680(30)$ $5724(7)$ $41(4)$ $C(2A)$ $4284(11)$ $2500(30)$ $5900(6)$ $36(3)$ $C(2B)$ $7239(10)$ $12980(30)$ $5140(6)$ $33(3)$ $C(3B)$ $7265(9)$ $13470(30)$ $4553(6)$ $26(3)$
C (14A) $800(20)$ $-7160(60)$ $5075(13)$ $126(9)$ N (1A) $5499(8)$ $5920(20)$ $6184(5)$ $36(3)$ N (1B) $6040(9)$ $9510(30)$ $4855(5)$ $39(3)$ N (2A) $2365(12)$ $-3250(30)$ $6357(7)$ $62(4)$ N (2B) $8630(10)$ $17750(30)$ $3685(6)$ $55(4)$ N (3A) $1869(11)$ $-4470(30)$ $5927(7)$ $64(4)$ N (3B) $8518(11)$ $18320(30)$ $3161(6)$ $60(4)$ N (4B) $9163(12)$ $20140(30)$ $3043(7)$ $68(4)$ N (4A) $1231(11)$ $-6300(30)$ $6071(8)$ $70(4)$ C (1B) $6598(10)$ $10830(30)$ $5279(7)$ $32(3)$ C (1A) $4922(12)$ $4680(30)$ $5724(7)$ $41(4)$ C (2B) $7239(10)$ $12980(30)$ $5140(6)$ $33(3)$ C (3B) $7265(9)$ $13470(30)$ $4553(6)$ $26(3)$
N (1A) $5499(8)$ $5920(20)$ $6184(5)$ $36(3)$ N (1B) $6040(9)$ $9510(30)$ $4855(5)$ $39(3)$ N (2A) $2365(12)$ $-3250(30)$ $6357(7)$ $62(4)$ N (2B) $8630(10)$ $17750(30)$ $3685(6)$ $55(4)$ N (3A) $1869(11)$ $-4470(30)$ $5927(7)$ $64(4)$ N (3B) $8518(11)$ $18320(30)$ $3161(6)$ $60(4)$ N (4B) $9163(12)$ $20140(30)$ $3043(7)$ $68(4)$ N (4A) $1231(11)$ $-6300(30)$ $6071(8)$ $70(4)$ C (1B) $6598(10)$ $10830(30)$ $5279(7)$ $32(3)$ C (1A) $4922(12)$ $4680(30)$ $5724(7)$ $41(4)$ C (2B) $7239(10)$ $12980(30)$ $5140(6)$ $33(3)$ C (3B) $7265(9)$ $13470(30)$ $4553(6)$ $26(3)$
N (1B)6040 (9)9510 (30)4855 (5)39 (3)N (2A)2365 (12)-3250 (30)6357 (7)62 (4)N (2B)8630 (10)17750 (30)3685 (6)55 (4)N (3A)1869 (11)-4470 (30)5927 (7)64 (4)N (3B)8518 (11)18320 (30)3161 (6)60 (4)N (4B)9163 (12)20140 (30)3043 (7)68 (4)N (4A)1231 (11)-6300 (30)6071 (8)70 (4)C (1B)6598 (10)10830 (30)5279 (7)32 (3)C (1A)4922 (12)4680 (30)5724 (7)41 (4)C (2B)7239 (10)12980 (30)5140 (6)33 (3)C (3B)7265 (9)13470 (30)4553 (6)26 (3)
N (2A) $2365(12)$ $-3250(30)$ $6357(7)$ $62(4)$ N (2B) $8630(10)$ $17750(30)$ $3685(6)$ $55(4)$ N (3A) $1869(11)$ $-4470(30)$ $5927(7)$ $64(4)$ N (3B) $8518(11)$ $18320(30)$ $3161(6)$ $60(4)$ N (4B) $9163(12)$ $20140(30)$ $3043(7)$ $68(4)$ N (4A) $1231(11)$ $-6300(30)$ $6071(8)$ $70(4)$ C (1B) $6598(10)$ $10830(30)$ $5279(7)$ $32(3)$ C (1A) $4922(12)$ $4680(30)$ $5724(7)$ $41(4)$ C (2A) $4284(11)$ $2500(30)$ $5900(6)$ $36(3)$ C (2B) $7239(10)$ $12980(30)$ $5140(6)$ $33(3)$ C (3B) $7265(9)$ $13470(30)$ $4553(6)$ $26(3)$
N (2B)8630 (10)17750 (30)3685 (6)55 (4)N (3A)1869 (11)-4470 (30)5927 (7)64 (4)N (3B)8518 (11)18320 (30)3161 (6)60 (4)N (4B)9163 (12)20140 (30)3043 (7)68 (4)N (4A)1231 (11)-6300 (30)6071 (8)70 (4)C (1B)6598 (10)10830 (30)5279 (7)32 (3)C (1A)4922 (12)4680 (30)5724 (7)41 (4)C (2A)4284 (11)2500 (30)5900 (6)36 (3)C (2B)7239 (10)12980 (30)5140 (6)33 (3)C (3B)7265 (9)13470 (30)4553 (6)26 (3)
N (3A)1869(11)-4470(30)5927(7)64(4)N (3B)8518(11)18320(30)3161(6)60(4)N (4B)9163(12)20140(30)3043(7)68(4)N (4A)1231(11)-6300(30)6071(8)70(4)C (1B)6598(10)10830(30)5279(7)32(3)C (1A)4922(12)4680(30)5724(7)41(4)C (2A)4284(11)2500(30)5900(6)36(3)C (2B)7239(10)12980(30)5140(6)33(3)C (3B)7265(9)13470(30)4553(6)26(3)
N (3B)8518 (11)18320 (30)3161 (6)60 (4)N (4B)9163 (12)20140 (30)3043 (7)68 (4)N (4A)1231 (11)-6300 (30)6071 (8)70 (4)C (1B)6598 (10)10830 (30)5279 (7)32 (3)C (1A)4922 (12)4680 (30)5724 (7)41 (4)C (2A)4284 (11)2500 (30)5900 (6)36 (3)C (2B)7239 (10)12980 (30)5140 (6)33 (3)C (3B)7265 (9)13470 (30)4553 (6)26 (3)
N (4B)9163 (12)20140 (30)3043 (7)68 (4)N (4A)1231 (11)-6300 (30)6071 (8)70 (4)C (1B)6598 (10)10830 (30)5279 (7)32 (3)C (1A)4922 (12)4680 (30)5724 (7)41 (4)C (2A)4284 (11)2500 (30)5900 (6)36 (3)C (2B)7239 (10)12980 (30)5140 (6)33 (3)C (3B)7265 (9)13470 (30)4553 (6)26 (3)
N (4A)1231 (11)-6300 (30)6071 (8)70 (4)C (1B)6598 (10)10830 (30)5279 (7)32 (3)C (1A)4922 (12)4680 (30)5724 (7)41 (4)C (2A)4284 (11)2500 (30)5900 (6)36 (3)C (2B)7239 (10)12980 (30)5140 (6)33 (3)C (3B)7265 (9)13470 (30)4553 (6)26 (3)
C (1B)6598 (10)10830 (30)5279 (7)32 (3)C (1A)4922 (12)4680 (30)5724 (7)41 (4)C (2A)4284 (11)2500 (30)5900 (6)36 (3)C (2B)7239 (10)12980 (30)5140 (6)33 (3)C (3B)7265 (9)13470 (30)4553 (6)26 (3)
C (1A)4922 (12)4680 (30)5724 (7)41 (4)C (2A)4284 (11)2500 (30)5900 (6)36 (3)C (2B)7239 (10)12980 (30)5140 (6)33 (3)C (3B)7265 (9)13470 (30)4553 (6)26 (3)
C (2A)4284 (11)2500 (30)5900 (6)36 (3)C (2B)7239 (10)12980 (30)5140 (6)33 (3)C (3B)7265 (9)13470 (30)4553 (6)26 (3)
C (2B)7239(10)12980(30)5140(6)33(3)C (3B)7265(9)13470(30)4553(6)26(3)
C(3B) 7265(9) 13470(30) 4553(6) 26(3)
C(3A) 4261(10) 2050(30) 6477(6) 31(3)
C(4B) 6674(10) 11940(20) 4123(6) 29(3)
C(4A) 4947(11) 3420(30) 6924(6) 36(3)
C(5B) 6021(11) 9890(30) 4284(6) 34(3)
C(5A) 5598(11) 5530(30) 6762(6) 35(3)
C(6B) 7821(11) 14450(30) 5552(7) 43(4)
C(6A) 3670(13) 1200(30) 5477(8) 52(4)
C(7B) 8428(12) 16430(30) 5406(7) 43(4)
C(7A) 3024(12) -730(30) 5625(7) 46(4)
C(8A) 2995(11) -1340(30) 6193(7) 39(3)
C (8B) 8504 (11) 16920 (30) 4851 (7) 39 (3)
C (9B) 7892 (10) 15440 (30) 4401 (7) 32 (3)
C (9A) 3628 (10) 20 (30) 6629 (6) 31 (3)
C (10B) 7930 (11) 15840 (30) 3821 (7) 37 (3)
C(10A) 3651(13) -470(30) 7212(7) 49(4)
C(11A) 4275(13) 930(30) 7634(7) 50(4)
$C(11B) \qquad /321(12) \qquad 14310(30) \qquad 3406(7) \qquad 45(4)$
$C(12B) \qquad 6694(12) \qquad 12370(30) \qquad 3569(7) \qquad 42(4) \\ C(12B) \qquad 6694(12) \qquad 2000(20) \qquad 7401(7) \qquad 46(4)$
C(12A) 4921(12) 2800(30) /481(7) 46(4)
$C(13B) \qquad 9075(16) \qquad 20710(40) \qquad 2451(9) \qquad 75(5) \\ C(13B) \qquad C07(16) \qquad 7600(50) \qquad 5664(10) \qquad 05(6) \\ C(13B) \qquad 05(6) \qquad 05(6) \\ C(13B) \qquad 05(6) \qquad 05(6) \\ C(13B) \ 05(6) \\ C(13B) \$
$\cup (13A)$ $08/(10)$ $-7020(50)$ $5004(12)$ $85(6)$
U(3A) $I39(14)$ $-933U(40)$ $5/2U(9)$ $I35(7)C(14B)$ $9240(20)$ $10510(60)$ $2070(11)$ $120(10)$
C(14D) = 0.4U(2U) = 1.3U(0U) = 2U/U(11) = 1.2U(1U) = 0.070 = 0.000 = 0.00000 = 0.00000 = 0.00000 = 0.00000 = 0.00000 = 0.00000 = 0.00000 = 0.00000 = 0.00000 = 0.00000 = 0.00000 = 0.00000 = 0.00000 = 0.00000 = 0.00000 = 0.00000 = 0.000000 = 0.000000 = 0.000000 = 0.00000000
C(15A) = 140(17) = -0700(40) = 0000(10) = 90(7) $C(15B) = 0011(10) = 21200(50) = 2402(10) = 100(0)$
C(13C) $3311(10)$ $21330(30)$ $3432(10)$ $100(8)C(3C)$ $37/1(10)$ $3800(50)$ $3700(12)$ $110(0)$
N(1S) = 2870(15) = 5630(40) = 3741(9) = 90(5)

O(1S)	2165(18)	8550(50)	4178(10)	160(9)
C(2S)	2850(30)	6850(70)	4190(13)	135(11)
C(1S)	2210(30)	5480(80)	3240(15)	169(14)

O(1D) O(ED)	1 050(17)
O(IB) = C(SB)	1.252(17)
O(1A) - C(1A)	1,190(17)
O(2B) - C(1B)	1.263(17)
O(2A) - C(5A)	1 180(17)
O(2R) = C(3R)	1.100(17)
O(3B) - C(13B)	1.24(2)
(-) $(-)$	
C (14A) -C (13A)	⊥.46(4)
N(1A) = C(1A)	1 378(19)
N(IA) C(IA)	1.570(15)
N(1A)-C(5A)	1.373(18)
(1 ) $(1 )$	1 226(10)
N(IB) = C(IB)	1.326(19)
N(1B) - C(5B)	1,370(18)
	1.070(10)
N (2A) – N (3A)	1.2//(19)
N(2A) = C(8A)	$1 \ 10(2)$
N(2A) C(0A)	1.40(2)
N(2B)-N(3B)	1.263(18)
N(2P) = C(10P)	1 127 (10)
N(ZB) = C(IUB)	1.437(19)
N(3A) - N(4A)	1.36(2)
	1 0 0 (0)
N (3B) - N (4B)	1.34(2)
N(4B) - C(13B)	1 42(2)
	1 10 (0)
N(4B)-C(15B)	1.48(3)
N(4A) - C(13A)	1 29(3)
IV(III) 0(1011)	1.29(9)
N(4A)-C(15A)	1.52(3)
C(1B) = C(2B)	1 17(2)
C(1D) C(2D)	1.4/(2)
C(1A)-C(2A)	1.51(2)
$C(2\Lambda) = C(6\Lambda)$	1 36(2)
C(2A) = C(0A)	1.30(2)
C(2A)-C(3A)	1.40(2)
C(2P) = C(6P)	1 26(2)
C(2D) = C(0D)	1.30(2)
C(2B)-C(3B)	1.427(19)
C(2P) = C(0P)	1 404 (10)
C(SB) = C(SB)	1.404(19)
C(3B)-C(4B)	1.411(18)
	1 42 (2)
C(3A) - C(9A)	1.43(2)
C(3A) - C(4A)	1,460(19)
	1 24 (0)
C(4B) - C(12B)	⊥.34(∠)
C(4B) - C(5B)	1 462 (19)
	1.002(19)
C(4A)-C(12A)	1.37(2)
$C(4\Delta) - C(5\Delta)$	1 48(2)
	1.10(2)
С(6В)-С(7В)	1.38(2)
$C(6\lambda) - C(7\lambda)$	1 1 0 (2)
C(0A) C(7A)	1.40(2)
C(7B)-C(8B)	1.37(2)
$C(7\lambda) C(9\lambda)$	1 20(2)
C(7A) = C(6A)	1.39(2)
C(8A)-C(9A)	1.40(2)
C(0D) = C(0D)	1 4 4 ( ) )
C(8B) = C(9B)	1.44(2)
C(9B)-C(10B)	1,41(2)
$C(0\lambda) = C(10\lambda)$	1 41 (0)
C(9A) - C(1UA)	⊥.4⊥(∠)
C(10B)-C(11B)	1.40(2)
-() $-(++-)$	1 20 (2)
C(IUA) - C(IIA)	1.39(2)
C(11A) - C(12A)	1.39(2)
a(11D) a(10D)	1 40 (0)
C(TTR) - C(TSR)	1.40(2)
C(13B) - C(14B)	1.37(3)
-() $-()$	1 00 (0)
U (I 3A) -U (3A)	⊥.∠∠(2)
C(3S)-N(1S)	1.50(3)
· · · · · · ·	

Table 3. Bond lengths [A] and angles [27] for s1\_a.

N (1S) -C (2S)	1.24(3)
N (1S) -C (1S)	1.36(3)
O (1S) -C (2S)	1.27(3)
N (12) - C (12)  N (13) - C (13)  O (13) - C (23) $C (1A) - N (1A) - C (5A)  C (1B) - N (1B) - C (5B)  N (3A) - N (2A) - C (8A)  N (3B) - N (2B) - C (10B)  N (2A) - N (3A) - N (4A)  N (2B) - N (3B) - N (4B)  N (3B) - N (4B) - C (13B)  N (3B) - N (4B) - C (15B)  C (13B) - N (4B) - C (15B)  C (13A) - N (4A) - C (15A)  N (3A) - N (4A) - C (15A)  O (2B) - C (1B) - N (1B)  O (2B) - C (1B) - C (2B)  N (1B) - C (1B) - C (2B)  N (1B) - C (1A) - C (2A)  N (1A) - C (1A) - C (2A)  C (6A) - C (2A) - C (1A)  C (6A) - C (2A) - C (1A)  C (6B) - C (2B) - C (1B)  C (3B) - C (2B) - C (1B)  C (2B) - C (3B) - C (2B)  C (4B) - C (3A) - C (2A)  C (2A) - C (3A) - C (4A)  C (12B) - C (4B) - C (3B)  C (12B) - C (4B) - C (3B) - C (3B)  C (12B) - C (4B) - C (3B) - C (3B)  C (12B) - C (4B) - C (3B) - C (3B)  C (12B) - C (4B) - C (3B) - C (3B)  C (12B) - C (4B) - C (3B)  C (12B) - C (4$	1.36(3) 1.36(3) 1.27(3) 132.1(13) 126.3(13) 111.7(15) 114.1(15) 113.3(16) 113.3(16) 114.0(18) 122.6(16) 123.4(17) 117.9(19) 120.7(17) 121.4(15) 121.8(13) 119.5(14) 118.6(14) 122.5(15) 124.8(15) 112.7(14) 121.8(14) 117.2(15) 120.7(14) 121.8(14) 117.2(15) 120.7(14) 119.7(13) 120.1(13) 120.7(13) 120.7(13) 120.7(13) 120.7(13) 120.7(13) 120.7(13) 120.9(13)
C (12B) -C (4B) -C (5B)	119.7(13)
C (3B) -C (4B) -C (5B)	119.4(13)
C (12A) -C (4A) -C (3A)	118.0(14)
C (12A) -C (4A) -C (5A)	122.7(14)
C (3A) -C (4A) -C (5A)	119.2(13)
O (1B) -C (5B) -N (1B)	119.0(13)
O (1B) -C (5B) -C (4B)	123.8(14)
N (1B) -C (5B) -C (4B)	117.2(12)
O(2A) - C(5A) - N(1A)	123.2(15)
O(2A) - C(5A) - C(4A)	122.7(15)
N(1A) - C(5A) - C(4A)	114.1(13)
C(2B) - C(6B) - C(7B)	120.6(15)
C(2A) - C(6A) - C(7A)	118.9(16)
C(8B) - C(7B) - C(6B)	121.9(15)
C (8A) -C (7A) -C (6A)	121.8 (16)
C (7A) -C (8A) -C (9A)	119.3 (14)
C (7A) -C (8A) -N (2A)	123.4 (15)
C (9A) -C (8A) -N (2A)	117.3 (15)
C (7B) -C (8B) -C (9B)	119.3 (14)
C (10B) -C (9B) -C (3B)	119.3 (13)
C (10B) -C (9B) -C (8B)	122.4(14)
C (3B) -C (9B) -C (8B)	118.2(14)

C(8A)-C(9A)-C(10A)	123.1(15)
C(8A)-C(9A)-C(3A)	118.9(14)
C(10A)-C(9A)-C(3A)	118.0(14)
C(9B)-C(10B)-C(11B)	119.3(14)
C(9B)-C(10B)-N(2B)	117.7(14)
C(11B)-C(10B)-N(2B)	123.0(14)
C(11A)-C(10A)-C(9A)	121.8(16)
C(12A)-C(11A)-C(10A)	119.6(16)
C(10B)-C(11B)-C(12B)	120.3(16)
C(4B)-C(12B)-C(11B)	120.6(16)
C(11A)-C(12A)-C(4A)	122.8(15)
O(3B)-C(13B)-C(14B)	127(2)
O(3B)-C(13B)-N(4B)	113(2)
C(14B)-C(13B)-N(4B)	118.9(19)
O(3A)-C(13A)-N(4A)	126(3)
O(3A)-C(13A)-C(14A)	113(2)
N(4A)-C(13A)-C(14A)	120(2)
C(2S)-N(1S)-C(1S)	132(3)
C(2S)-N(1S)-C(3S)	112(3)
C(1S)-N(1S)-C(3S)	115(2)
N(1S)-C(2S)-O(1S)	116(3)

Symmetry transformations used to generate equivalent atoms:

Table 4. Anisotropic displacement parameters (A^2 x 10^3) for s1\_a. The anisotropic displacement factor exponent takes the form: -2 pi^2 [ h^2 a\*^2 U11 +  $\dots$  + 2 h k a\* b\* U12 ]

	U11	U22	U33	U23	U13	U12
O(1B)	58(7)	55(7)	38(6)	2(5)	-3(5)	-33(6)
O(1A)	67(7)	41(6)	33(5)	-10(4)	15(5)	-28(5)
O(2B)	70(8)	32(6)	37(5)	0(4)	8(5)	-16(5)
0(2A)	78(8)	56(8)	42(6)	-5(5)	-4(5)	-32(6)
O(3B)	152(15)	152(15)	104(12)	51(10)	34(10)	-60(12)
C(14A)	150(20)	83(18)	141(14)	-12(12)	24(13)	-19(17)
N(1A)	48(7)	23(7)	38(5)	-6(4)	10(5)	-9(5)
N(1B)	42(7)	33(7)	39(5)	7(4)	1(5)	-15(5)
N(2A)	67(8)	42(8)	79(9)	-12(6)	21(7)	-23(6)
N(2B)	55(8)	60(8)	53(7)	10(6)	18(6)	-6(6)
N(3A)	63(8)	41(8)	91(9)	-15(6)	22(7)	-16(6)
N(3B)	72(8)	57(8)	57(7)	14(6)	32(6)	12(6)
N(4B)	73(9)	63(9)	74(8)	23(6)	30(6)	5(7)
N(4A)	60(9)	50(9)	101(10)	-9(7)	17(7)	-22(7)
C(1B)	23(7)	31(7)	40(6)	6(5)	0(5)	0(5)
C(1A)	64(9)	25(7)	36(6)	-14(5)	19(5)	-8(6)
C(2A)	44(7)	25(7)	39(6)	-8(5)	12(5)	-1(5)
C(2B)	39(7)	24(6)	37(6)	-4(4)	8(5)	-3(5)
C(3B)	28(6)	10(6)	38(5)	-1(4)	4(4)	4(4)
C(3A)	36(7)	18(6)	36(5)	0(4)	2(5)	2(5)
C(4B)	38(7)	11(6)	36(6)	-2(4)	7(5)	1(5)
C(4A)	35(7)	34(7)	37(6)	-3(5)	-1(5)	-5(5)

C(5B)	40(7)	27(7)	32(6)	4(5)	-4(5)	-15(6)
C(5A)	43(8)	26(7)	37(6)	-8(5)	6(5)	-2(5)
C(6B)	50(8)	40(8)	37(7)	0(5)	4(6)	-18(6)
C(6A)	67(9)	40(9)	48(8)	-5(6)	7(6)	-17(7)
С(7В)	53(9)	37(8)	35(7)	-2(5)	-1(6)	-18(7)
C(7A)	47(8)	37(8)	56(7)	-11(6)	11(6)	-4(6)
C(8A)	46(8)	20(7)	54(7)	-5(5)	15(5)	-4(5)
C(8B)	48(8)	21(7)	47(6)	1(5)	4(6)	-6(6)
C(9B)	33(7)	17(6)	47(6)	2(4)	6(5)	3(5)
C(9A)	35(7)	18(6)	39(6)	1(4)	9(5)	6(5)
C(10B)	37(7)	25(7)	50(6)	8(5)	10(5)	9(5)
C(10A)	59(10)	47(9)	42(7)	2(5)	13(6)	-12(7)
C(11A)	68(10)	42(9)	40(8)	4(6)	11(7)	-10(7)
C(11B)	52(8)	41(8)	45(8)	8(6)	14(6)	-12(7)
C(12B)	51(9)	36(8)	39(7)	1(5)	7(6)	-5(6)
C(12A)	53(9)	49(9)	36(7)	-5(6)	3(6)	-12(7)
C(13B)	90(12)	76(12)	73(9)	25(7)	53(8)	9(8)
C(13A)	60(11)	56(11)	133(12)	-18(9)	0(9)	-21(8)
0(3A)	122(13)	101(12)	172(16)	-4(10)	5(12)	-63(11)
C(14B)	143(18)	140(20)	83(13)	31(11)	35(11)	-43(16)
C(15A)	88(16)	77(15)	110(12)	-6(9)	31(10)	-42(12)
C(15B)	99(14)	117(18)	87(12)	10(11)	27(10)	-24(13)
C(3S)	109(14)	87(15)	130(20)	-48(13)	10(13)	-18(11)
N(1S)	98(12)	72(12)	103(13)	-29(9)	28(9)	-27(8)
0(1S)	162(18)	153(19)	161(19)	-29(15)	21(15)	42(14)
C(2S)	150(19)	140(20)	107(15)	-43(13)	11(13)	36(17)
C(1S)	140(20)	220(30)	135(17)	-46(18)	-15(15)	0(20)

Table 5. Hydrogen coordinates ( x 10^4) and isotropic displacement parameters (A^2 x 10^3) for s1\_a.

	Х	У	Z	U(eq)
н(14А)	1117	-5470	5047	189
H(14B)	164	-7151	4832	189
H(14C)	1190	-8574	4957	189
H(1AA)	5866	7173	6091	43
H(1BA)	5653	8312	4948	46
H(6BA)	7808	14120	5935	52
Н(6АА)	3679	1574	5096	62
H(7BA)	8795	17461	5694	52
H(7AA)	2603	-1631	5337	56
H(8BA)	8947	18187	4765	47
H(10A)	3235	-1765	7318	59
H(11A)	4260	617	8017	60
H(11B)	7332	14582	3021	54
H(12A)	6289	11367	3291	51
H(12B)	5356	3661	7769	56
H(14D)	7944	18425	2274	180
H(14E)	8618	18397	1813	180
H(14F)	7933	20860	1856	180
H(15A)	1781	-7028	6915	135
H(15B)	743	-8321	6713	135

838	-5226	6827	135
10255	22762	3324	150
10369	20054	3664	150
9594	22181	3778	150
3530	2069	3639	165
4047	3630	4184	165
4204	4537	3577	165
2559	5390	2927	254
1797	7033	3199	254
1818	3895	3242	254
	838 10255 10369 9594 3530 4047 4204 2559 1797 1818	838-522610255227621036920054959422181353020694047363042044537255953901797703318183895	838-5226682710255227623324103692005436649594221813778353020693639404736304184420445373577255953902927179770333199181838953242

# Connecting Text 1

The work described in the previous chapter conclusively showed the feasibility of a molecule containing PARP targeting arm and a triazene based DNA targeted molecule. As described, the monoalkyl triazene moiety despite being a precursor to the DNA alkylating portion was too unstable to warrant further investigation. Therefore, stabilization by acetylation was required. The full characterization of the resulting compound, ZSM02, unequivocally confirmed its structure. Having successfully demonstrated the feasibility of molecules with PARP and DNA targeted arm with EG22 and successfully stabilized it by synthesizing ZSM02, we undertook a comparative study to determine whether the stabilized form recapitulate the effect of EG22. The approach we chose to study was to compare the rate of stability of EG22 with that of ZSM02 in serum containing medium at 37°C. In order to compare their potency, we selected a specific cell panel with containing cell lines with BRCA2 mutation in order to assess their PARP targeting potency, and given that PARP plays a significant role in DNA repair in the BER pathway, we thought of interest to determine whether the new class of compound would be efficacious in MGMT positive cells. As mentioned earlier, classical alkylating agent of the triazene class, such as temozolomide, induce O6-methyl guanine and N<sup>7</sup>-methyl guanine lesion which is a type of lesion that is often repaired by the MGMT and BER mechanism respectively. We surmised that by blocking the repair of the N<sup>7</sup> lesion, resistance mechanism evoked by MGMT could be bypassed. Therefore, cells with MGMT expression are good models for evaluating the biological effects of such compounds.

# CHAPTER 3: A TYPE I COMBI-TARGETING APPROACH FOR THE DESIGN OF MOLECULES WITH ENHANCED POTENCY AGAINST BRCA1/2 MUTANT- AND O6-METHYLGUANINE-DNA METHYLTRANSFERASE (MGMT)- EXPRESSING TUMOUR CELLS

Zhor Senhaji Mouhri<sup>1</sup>, Elliot Goodfellow<sup>1</sup> and Bertrand Jean-Claude<sup>1</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>Cancer Drug Research Laboratory, Department of Medicine, McGill University Health Center/Royal Victoria Hospital, Division of Medical Oncology, Montreal, Quebec, Canada 1001 Decarie boul., Montreal, Quebec, Canada H4A 3J1

#### **3.1 Abstract**

#### Background

Mutations of the DNA repair proteins BRCA1/2 are synthetically lethal with the DNA repair enzyme poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP), which when inhibited, leads to cell death due to the absence of compensatory DNA repair mechanism. The potency of PARP inhibitors has now been clinically proven. However, disappointingly, acquired resistance mediated by the reactivation of wild type BRCA1/2 has been reported. In order to improve their efficacy, trials are ongoing to explore their combinations with temozolomide (TMZ). Here, in order to enhance potency in BRCA1/2-mutant cells, we report on the design of single molecules termed "combi-molecules" capable of not only inhibiting PARP but also damaging DNA like TMZ, which is known to induce a large number of DNA adducts. The majority of these lesions are processed through PARPdependent base-excision repair machinery. Paradoxically, the least abundant lesion, the O6methylguanine adduct is the most cytotoxic. Its repair by the O6-methylguanine DNA methyl transferase (MGMT) confers robust resistance to TMZ. Thus, we surmise that a combi-molecule designed to generate the same DNA adducts as TMZ, with an additional ability to block PARP, could induce BRCA1/2 mutant selective potency and a growth inhibitory profile independent of MGMT status.

# Methods

The hydrolysis of EG22 and its stabilized form ZSM02 was analyzed by HPLC and fluorescence spectroscopy. Growth inhibitory potency was determined by SRB assay. PARP inhibition was determined by an enzyme assay and DNA damage by the comet assay. Subcellular distribution was visualized by confocal microscopy.

# Results

Studies on EG22 showed that: (a) it inflicted anomalously higher levels of DNA damage than TMZ (b) it induced PARP inhibitory potency in the same range as ANI, a known PARP inhibitor  $(IC50 = 0.10 \ \mu\text{M})$  (c) it showed strong potency in both BRCA1/2 wild type and mutated cells with 6-fold selectivity for the mutants and it was 65–303-fold more potent than TMZ and 4–63-fold than ANI alone and 3–47-fold than their corresponding equimolar combinations and (d) its potency was independent of MGMT expression.

# Conclusion

The results in toto suggest that a combi-molecular approach directed at blocking PARP and damaging DNA can lead to single molecules with selective and enhanced potency against BRCA1/2 mutant and with activity independent of MGMT, the major predictive biomarker for resistance to TMZ.

# Keywords

Chemoresistance, Temozolomide, MGMT, BRCA1/2 reactivation, PARP inhibitor, Combitargeting, DNA repair, 1,2,3-methyltriazene

#### 3.2 Background

Over the past decade, a new strategy to target DNA repair deficiency has progressed to clinical trials: synthetic lethality. The concept of synthetic lethality applies to a situation where mutation of gene A or B alone does not affect the viability of a cell. However, mutation of both genes leads to cell death [1, 2, 3, 4]. A typical case of synthetic lethality is that of cells expressing the mutant BRCA1 or 2. Loss of BRCA1/2 functions impair the DNA repair process. On the other hand, the base excision repair protein PARP is critical for compensating for the loss of BRCA1/2 by providing an alternative DNA repair function to the cells. Thus, concomitant loss of function of the BRCA1/2 genes and PARP induces significant genomic instability and this ultimately leads to cell death [1, 2, 4]. This situation is produced by using inhibitors to block PARP function in BRCA1/2 mutant cells. Thus, PARP inhibitors selectively kill tumour cells with disordered expression of BRCA1/2 (mutation or loss) [1, 4]. Olaparib, the first PARP inhibitor approved in the clinic has proven effective in the treatment of ovarian tumours characterized by BRCA1/2 mutations [5, 6, 7] and many other trials are ongoing to demonstrate the potency of other PARP inhibitors in BRCA1/2 tumours [8]. Disappointingly, clinical trials revealed that some patients become resistant to PARP inhibitors and this is believed to be due to genetic reversion that corrects the original BRCA1- or 2-inactivating mutation [9, 10]. Therefore, strategies to augment the potency of the approach in BRCA1/2 mutant cells are urgently needed. Here we surmised that a small molecule capable of not only blocking PARP, but also damaging DNA, would be a more effective agent against BCRA1/2 mutants than a PARP-specific inhibitor. The design of such a type of molecule was based upon a principle developed by our group termed: "the combi-targeting concept", which, as outlined in Fig. 1, postulates that a small molecule AB kept small enough to be bound to its target T and capable of generating, upon hydrolysis, another inhibitor A of the same

target + another bioactive molecule B (e.g a DNA damaging species), should induce greater potency than its single targeted counterpart. Importantly, we surmised that due to its targeted property, such a type of molecule could also be more potent than combinations of the two agents A (inhibitor) + B (DNA damaging species) or their corresponding analogues with identical mechanisms action [11, 12]. As depicted in Fig. 2, the molecules that requires hydrolytic cleavage to exert its activity is termed: "type I combi-molecules" as opposed to type II combi-molecules that do not require hydrolytic cleavage. Here we design a combi-molecule to inhibit PARP and to release a DNA damaging species (methyldiazonium), the same agents known to be responsible for the cytotoxicity of temozolomide (TMZ) [13, 14] (Fig. 2).



**Figure 1.** Schematic representation of type I and type II combi-molecules. Upon entering the cells, type I combi-molecules are able to bind and inhibit their target as intact molecules. In the cells, the molecule is hydrolyzed to release an inhibitor 'A' and a DNA damaging agent 'B'. Type II combi-molecules enter the cells and are able to inhibit their target and damage DNA without hydrolysis. Inhibition of the target can synergize with the effects of the DNA damaging species.



**Figure 2:** top: hydrolysis of temozolomide to generation inactive AIC and methyl diazonium ion; bottom: hydrolysis of EG22 to regenerate PARP-4-ANI, the naked PARP inhibitor, and the same methyl diazonium species as temozolomide.

On the other hand, because of the sensitivity of BRCA1/2 mutant cells to DNA damaging agents, the most studied combinations designed to enhance the potency of PARP inhibitors involve alkylating agents like TMZ, a second generation alkyltriazene that is used in the treatment of glioblastoma and melanoma [15, 16, 17]. The hydrolysis of TMZ under physiological conditions leads to 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide (AIC) and a methyldiazonium ion (Fig. 2) that reacts with DNA to create N3-methyladenine, N7-methylguanine, N7-methyladenine and O6-methylguanine adducts [18]. The clinical potency of TMZ is significantly affected by the expression O6-methylguanine DNA methyl transferase (MGMT) [14, 19], a DNA repair enzyme that removes the methyl group from guanine by transferring it to its own cystein residue [14, 20].

The other types of lesions induced by TMZ (e.g. N7-methylguanine and N3-methyladenine) are processed by the base excision repair machinery, in which PARP plays a central role. It has already been shown that in MGMT-proficient cells, PARP inhibition sensitized cells to TMZ [21, 22, 23] and this was believed to be due to the cytotoxic effects of unrepaired alkylated bases other than O6-methylguanine. Accordingly, given that the mechanism of cell-killing by the designed combi-molecule in BRCA1/2 depends on PARP inhibition, we also sought to determine whether the MGMT status of the cells would influence the potency of these dual PARP-DNA targeting combi-molecules.

To achieve synthetic lethality–directed combi-molecules, we exploited the chemistry of openchain and cyclic 1,2,3-triazenes, which has led to the synthesis of the potent clinical alkylating agent TMZ. The hydrolysis of both open-chain or cyclic triazene ultimately leads to the formation of an aromatic amine and a DNA alkylating species [24]. Thus, we designed EG22 to contain a hydrolabile 1,2,3-triazene link that masks a PARP inhibitor, 4-amino-1,8-naphthalimide (ANI) and a methyldiazonium species (Fig. 2). Here we report on the synthesis and the dual targeting properties of EG22, the first open-chain and dual targeted PARP-DNA combi-molecule ever synthesized. Furthermore, since the hydrolysis of EG22 was rather fast under physiological conditions, we also report herein the synthesis and growth inhibitory profile of its acetylated form designed to delay its hydrolysis, thereby stabilizing it under physiological conditions.

# 3.3 Material and methods

# 3.3.1 Chemicals and reagents

ANI was purchased from AstaTech Inc. All the chemical reagents and solvents were purchased from Sigma Aldrich Canada.

### 3.3.2 Chemistry

# 6-(3-Methyltriaz-1-en-1-yl)-1H-benzo[de]isoquinoline-1,3(2H)-dione (3):

EG22 (**3**) was synthesized as described in Fig. 3. The synthesis of its <sup>15</sup>N and <sup>13</sup>C–labeled form for purpose of characterization was reported elsewhere [25]. Briefly, 4-amino-1,8-naphthalimide (ANI, **4**) (50.0 mg, 1 eq, 0.236 mmol) was dissolved in concentrated trifluoroacetic acid (5 mL) and the resulting solution cooled to -5 °C for 15 min. An aqueous solution (1 mL) of sodium nitrite (32.5 mg, 2 eq, 0.472 mmol) was subsequently added dropwise and the solution kept at -5 °C for 15 min, thereafter, methylamine (40% *v*/v) (0.122 mL, 6 eq, 1.41 mmol) was added dropwise. The solution was subsequently neutralized with a saturated solution of sodium bicarbonate and the precipitate that formed collected and dried overnight in vacuo to give **2** as a brown powder. <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-*d* <sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  ppm 11.59 (s, 1H, NH), 11.42 (q, 1H, J = 4.0 Hz, NHCH<sub>3</sub>), 8.98 (dd, 1H, J = 8.5 Hz, 1.3 Hz, ArH), 8.47 (dd, 1H, J = 7.2 Hz, 1.2 Hz, ArH), 8.40 (d, 1H, J = 8.1 Hz, ArH), 7.84 (t, 1H, J = 7.9 Hz, ArH), 7.69 (d, 1H, J = 8.1 Hz, ArH), 3.26 (d, 3H, J = 3.9 Hz, CH<sub>3</sub>NH). ESI m/z 253.0732 (MH<sup>-</sup>).



**Figure 3:** Synthesis of ZSM02 from the acetylation of EG22 and its hydrolysis under physiological conditions

# 6-(3-Acetyl-3-methyltriaz-1-en-1-yl)-1H-benzo[de]isoquinoline-1,3(2H)-dione (5):

The acetylated compound ZSM02 (**3**) was synthesized as depicted in Fig. 3 and methods for the preparation of its isotopically labeled form for purpose of characterization was reported elsewhere [25]. Briefly, anhydrous pyridine (3 mL) was flash frozen in liquid nitrogen. Acetic anhydride (0.186 mL, 10 eq, 1.97 mmol) was introduced all at once thereafter. The triazene (**2**) in Fig. 3 (50.0 mg, 1 eq, 0.197 mmol) was added as a powder. The reaction was allowed to reach a

temperature of -5 °C for 30 min and then reached room temperature slowly for 2 h. Once the reaction was complete, the pyridine was removed using toluene to create an azeotrope and the resulting solid collected, dried and purified by preparative HPLC (acetonitrile/water: 50/50). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  ppm 11.83 (s, 1H, NH), 8.96 (dd, 1H, J = 8.5 Hz, 1.2 Hz, ArH), 8.54 (dd, 1H, J = 7.3 Hz, 1.2 Hz, ArH), 8.51 (d, 1H, J = 7.9 Hz, ArH), 7.96 (t, 1H, J = 7.9 Hz, ArH), 7.94 (d, 1H, J = 8.0 Hz, ArH), 3.54 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>N), 2.60 (s, 3H, CH<sub>3</sub>CO). <sup>13</sup>C NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-*d*<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  ppm 172.96, 163.71, 148.35, (2C) 130.56, 130.53, 129.78, 129.69, 127.72, 127.57, 122.74, 122.18, 114.33, 28.17 and 22.04. ESI m/z 297 (MH<sup>-</sup>).

# 3.3.3 Cell culture

VC8, VC8-BRCA, and V79 Chinese Hamster Lung cells were generously provided by Dr. Bernd Kaina (Institute of Toxicology, Mainz, Germany). T98 glioblastoma cell lines were kindly given by Dr. Siham Sabri (the Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, Canada). A549 (ATCC® CCL-185<sup>TM</sup>), DU145 (ATCC® HTB-85<sup>TM</sup>), and A427 (ATCC® HTB-53<sup>TM</sup>), was purchased from ATCC. A427-MGMT was obtained by stable transfection of A427 with MGMT viral vector in our lab [26]. All cell lines were maintained in in DMEM media from Wisent Bio Products. Media preparation was supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS), 12 mL HEPES, 5 mL L-glutamine, 500  $\mu$ L of gentamicin sulfate, 250  $\mu$ L of fungisome, and 170  $\mu$ L of ciprofloxacin. All the bio-products used in the preparation of the media were purchased from Wisent Inc. The cells were grown in Thermo Scientific<sup>TM</sup> BioLite Cell Culture Treated Flasks cell cultured treated polystyrene flasks, which are placed in an incubator with a stable temperature of 37 °C and CO<sub>2</sub> level of 5%. The media of each flask was changed when necessary and cell passaging was performed at 85 and 95% confluence.

## 3.3.4 In Vitro Growth Inhibition Assay

Growth inhibitory potency was evaluated using the SRB assay [27]. Briefly, cells were plated in 96-well in triplicate and treated with drugs (0.078  $\mu$ M to 100  $\mu$ M) 24 h after seeding. Following drug treatment, the cells were fixed using 50  $\mu$ l of cold TCA (50%) for 1 h at 4 °C, washed five times with tap water, and stained for 30 min at room temperature with SRB (0.4%) in acetic acid (0.5%). The plates were subsequently rinsed five times with acetic acid (1%) and allowed to air dry. The resulting purple residue was dissolved in Tris base (200  $\mu$ l, 10 mM), and optical densities read on a ELx808 BioTek microplate reader. IC<sub>50</sub> values were determined using the GraphPad Prism software.

#### 3.3.5 In Vitro PARP assay

The Trevigen HT Universal Colorimetric PARP assay kit with histone-coated strip well was used as per protocol provided by the vendor. Briefly, 50  $\mu$ l per well of 1X PARP buffer was added to the strip well to rehydrate the histones and the plate was subsequently incubated at room temperature for 30 min. The solution was aspirated and replaced with a dose range of EG22 or ANI (10<sup>-6</sup> to 100  $\mu$ M) in triplicate. PARP enzyme (0.5 Unit/well) and a PARP cocktail were added to the appropriate wells containing the inhibitor. A negative control was prepared without PARP to determine the background absorbance, and a positive control without the inhibitor for a 100% reference point. After a 60-min incubation time, the strip wells were washed twice with 1X PBS + 0.1% Triton X-100 (200  $\mu$ l/well) followed by 2 washes with 1X PBS. Some diluted Strep-HRP was then added after the washing and incubated for 60 min. Finally, a pre-warmed TACS-Sapphire colorimetric substrate was added to each well, in the dark, for 15 min at room temperature, after which the reactions were stopped by adding 0.2 M HCl. Optical densities at 450 nm were recorded on ELx808 Biotek microplate reader. The results were analyzed using GraphPad Prism software to derive a dose-response curve and the IC<sub>50</sub>values. The PARP assay was performed twice, in triplicate.

# 3.3.6 Alkaline comet assay for DNA damage quantification

Cells were plated in 6-well plates (Corning Inc.) at 200,000 cells/well in 2 mL medium/well. They were allowed to attach for 24 h and then treated with a wide range of drug concentrations (0, 6.25, 12.5, 25, 50. and 100  $\mu$ M). The cells were exposed to the drugs (EG22, TMZ, and ANI + TMZ) for 2 h, harvested with trypsin EDTA, centrifuged and subsequently resuspended twice in PBS. The cell suspensions were mixed in low melting point agarose (0.75% in PBS) at >37 °C in a 1:10 dilution. The gels were cast on GelBond Film (Lonza, Switzerland) using gel casting chambers and allowed to solidify before being placed into a lysis buffer [2.5 M NaCl, 0.1 M tetrasodium EDTA, 10 mM Tris-base, 1% (w/v) N-lauryl sarcosine, 10% (v/v) DMSO, and 1% (v/v) triton X-100, pH 10.0]. They were subsequently kept at 4 °C overnight, rinsed with distilled water and immersed in a second lysis buffer [2.5 M NaCl, 0.1 M tetrasodium EDTA, and 10 mM Tris-base, pH 10.0] for 60 min at 37 °C after which they were gently rinsed with distilled water, incubated in alkaline electrophoresis buffer [0.3 M sodium hydroxide, 0.1 M tetrasodium EDTA, 7 mM 8hydroxyquinoline, 0.2% (v/v) DMSO, pH 13.0] for 30 min at room temperature, and electrophoresed at 20 V, 400 mA for 20 min. Thereafter, they were gently rinsed with distilled water and placed in 10 M ammonium acetate for 30 min. Finally, the gels were soaked in 100% ethanol for 2 h, dried overnight, and stained with SYBR Gold (1:10,000 dilution of stock) (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) for 20 to 60 min. Comets were visualized at 400X magnification and DNA damage was quantified using Comet Assay IV software to calculate tail moments.

# 3.3.7 Live Cell Confocal Microscopy

The V79 cell line was plated at 60–70% confluence in petri dishes, allowed to adhere overnight, and treated with 25 µM EG22, ANI and ZSM02 for 2 h. After treatment, cells were washed with PBS, a drop of DAPI (NucBlue® Live ReadyProbes® Reagent, ThermoFicher Scientific) was added and 3-D images were taken with the appropriate filter. Only the image corresponding to the equatorial plan of the cells was used to visualize cellular distribution.

# 3.3.8 Kinetics of the hydrolysis of EG22 and ZSM02

The rate of hydrolysis of EG22 under physiological conditions was measured using a Spectra Max Gemini plate reader. The compound was dissolved in a minimum volume of DMSO and diluted with DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS. The solution was incubated in a 96-well plate at 37 °C in the ELISA reader and readings were taken over a period of 1 h. The excitation wavelength was 444 nm and emission 538 nm [27, 28]. The half-life was estimated from the formation of ANI using first order kinetics, one-phase exponential decay. (GraphPad software, Inc., San Diego, CA).

The stability of ZSM02 under physiological conditions was studied by HPLC, Agilent technologies. The compound was dissolved in minimum volume of DMSO and diluted with DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS. The solution was incubated at 37 °C and 100uL was collected at various time points: 0 min, 2 h, 4 h, 6 h, 12 h, 24 h, 48 h, 60 h, and 72 h. The drug was extracted from the media with 100  $\mu$ L of methanol, centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 1 min, after which the supernatant was collected and evaporated. The extraction was performed three times and after being dried in vacuo overnight, the resulting extract was reconstituted in 100  $\mu$ L of methanol for HPLC analysis using a 150 mm × 4.6 mm ODS-3 (C18 column, 5  $\mu$ m pore size) (Canadian Life Science). The absorbance was detected at 460 nm and the half-life estimated from the formation of ANI using first order kinetics analysis.

# 3.3.9 Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed with Student's two-tailed t-test or one-way ANOVA, using GraphPad Prism 5.0 software (GraphPad Prism, San Diego, CA). P < 0.05 was defined as statistically significant.

# 3.4 Results

# 3.4.1 Chemistry

The proof-of-principle of the approach was first achieved by the synthesis of EG22, which proceeded according to Fig. 3. Using a known PARP inhibitor containing an aromatic amino group, 4-amino-1,8-naphtalimide (ANI), we designed EG22 to carry a 1,2,3-triazene moiety, which upon hydrolysis would regenerate ANI intact, while concomitantly releasing the DNA alkylating methyl diazonium ion, the latter species being identical to the one released by the clinical drug TMZ [13, 14]. EG22 was synthesized by diazotizing the amino group with sodium nitrite and adding methylamine under basic conditions. It was used as our first prototype to study the dual targeting of PARP and DNA with a single molecule in tumour cells. While EG22 was a useful probe for the combi-targeting of PARP and DNA, it was hydrolyzed too rapidly under physiological conditions (Fig. 4). Thus, we sought to delay its hydrolysis by acetylating its N3 nitrogen in pyridine cooled with liquid nitrogen prior. The unequivocal characterization of the resulting compound (ZSM02) by isotope labeling and heteronuclear NMR (<sup>13</sup>C, <sup>15</sup>N) are reported elsewhere [25]. The structure was also confirmed by mass spectrometry, with a molecular ion at 296, consistent with its molecular weight.



**Figure 4.** Hydrolysis of EG22 and ZSM02 in serum-containing medium. **a** The solution of EG22 was kept at 37 °C in the fluorescence reader and an intensity curve automatically generated at the maximum emission wavelength corresponding to ANI (538 nm) ( $t_{1/2} = 9.76$  min); **b** ZSM02 was dissolved in a minimum volume of DMSO and diluted with DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS. The solution was incubated at 37 °C and 100 µL aliquots were analyzed by HPLC as described in Material and Methods. ZSM02 was slowly converted to ANI with  $t_{1/2}$  greater than 24 h.

# 3.4.2 Dual PARP-DNA targeting properties of EG22

In order to verify whether EG22 could modulate its two targets (i.e. PARP and DNA), a PARP and a comet assay were performed to determine its ability to inhibit the function of PARP and to induce DNA damage, respectively. The known PARP inhibitor ANI could induce PARP inhibition in our assay with an IC<sub>50</sub> of 0.11  $\mu$ M, which is consistent with literature value (IC<sub>50</sub>: 0.16  $\mu$ M) [29]. Our results showed that under the conditions of the assay, EG22 could induce a dosedependent inhibition of PARP with an IC<sub>50</sub> = 0.10  $\mu$ M, which was in the same range as that of ANI (Fig. 5).



**Figure 5.** Enzymatic assay test for PARP inhibition by measuring the incorporation of biotinylated poly(ADP-ribose) onto histone proteins by the PARP enzyme. This allowed the determination of the IC<sub>50</sub> value of our new PARP-DNA combi-molecule, EG22. The Trevigen HT Universal Colorimetric PARP assay kit with histone-coated strip wells was used and dose response curves analyzed with the Graphpad Prism software. The results showed that EG22 was capable of inducing a dose-dependent inhibition of PARP with IC<sub>50</sub> = 0.1  $\mu$ M.

In order to determine whether EG22, a monomethyltriazene that like TMZ ultimately releases the methyl diazonium species, could induce DNA damage in tumour cells, we used the microelectrophoresis comet assay. The results showed that EG22 induced significantly higher levels of DNA damage than TMZ in a Chinese Hamster lung cancer BRCA2-mutant VC8 and proficient tumour cells V79 cells (Fig. 6). Interestingly, the levels of DNA damage induced by EG22 were significantly higher than those generated by the clinical drug TMZ. Since TMZ is the

prodrug of the same alkylating species as EG22, the levels of the induced DNA damage appear anomalously high.



**Figure 6.** Anomalously strong DNA damaging potential of EG22 after a 2 h drug treatment as compared with temozolomide (TMZ) and ANI + TMZ in the Chinese lung cancer cell lines VC8 and V79. The cells were exposed to the drugs (EG22, TMZ, ANI and ANI + TMZ) for 2 h, and subsequently harvested with trypsin EDTA, centrifuged and resuspended twice in PBS. Comet assay was performed as per Materials and Methods. Comets were visualized at 400X magnification and DNA damage measured as tail moments using Comet Assay IV software

# 3.4.3 BRCA1/2 response profile

In order to verify whether the new combi-molecule could target BRCA1/2 mutants, we analyzed the potency of EG22 against the pair of Chinese Hamster lung cancer cell line: with V79, a BRCA1/2-proficient and the other VC8 BRCA1/2-mutant. The results showed that like the naked PARP inhibitor ANI, EG22 selectively killed the mutant forms (Fig. 7). Furthermore, in order to further ascertain the BCRA1/2 mutant selectivity of the approach, growth inhibition studies were performed in an isogenic context with VC8 cells (non-transfected) and VC8-BRCA (transfected with wild type BRCA2 gene). The results showed that EG22 was selectively more potent against the non-transfected VC8 cells (17-fold, p < 0.001) (Fig 7).



**Figure 7.** Dose response curve obtained from growth inhibition with EG22 in a panel of Chinese Hamster Lung cancer cell lines. V79 cells express wild type BRCA2. The VC8 cell line expresses mutant BRCA2, and VC8-BRCA is transfected with the wild type BRCA2 gene. EG22 was significantly more potent against the BCRA2 mutant cell line (p < 0.0001). ZSM02 did not show significant selectivity for VC8 when compared with V79. However, a 3-fold selectivity (p < 0.001) was apparent when compared with its isogenic VC8-BRCA counterpart. \*\*\* p < 0.001, \*\*\*\*p < 0.0001, ns. Not Significant

One of our goals was to verify whether the combi-molecule induced enhanced potency in the BRCA1/2 mutant. To this end, we compared the potency of EG22 with that of ANI, which is deprived of DNA alkylating functions. Importantly, the combi-targeted approach enhanced the potency of ANI in the BRCA2 mutants by 4-fold (p < 0.001, Table 1). It also enhanced ANI's potency by 8-fold in the cells transfected with the wild type BRCA2 gene, which is an important advantage under conditions where resistance is associated with restoration of wild type BRCA1/2 [9, 10].

	VC8	VC8-BRCA	V79
BRCA2 status	-	+	+
EG22	$0.724 \pm 0.146$	$12.3\pm1.40$	$4.77\pm0.232$
ZSM02	$0.799 \pm 0.162$	$2.74\pm0.277$	$1.76\pm0.348$
ANI	$2.99\pm0.567$	>100	>100
TMZ	61.1±12.3	>800	$433.3\pm55.9$
ANI+TMZ	$2.30 \pm 0.552$	$83.5 \pm 7.45$	$60.5\pm10.6$

Table 1. Potency of EG22 on BRCA2-proficient and mutant Chinese lung cancer cell lines (IC  $_{50}$   $\mu M)$ 

# 3.4.4 Relationship with MGMT status

To answer the question as to whether MGMT could affect the potency of EG22, we tested its potency in a panel of cells with known MGMT status, including an isogenic pair of human lung cancer cell line, A427 and A427 MGMT cell lines (Table 2). The results showed that MGMT expression did not affect the potency of EG22, indicating, that perhaps its ability to block PARP may enhance the cytotoxicity of DNA adducts other than O6-methylguanine in the cells. Unlike ANI + TMZ or TMZ alone, growth inhibition assays showed consistently strong potency of EG22 throughout the panel of MGMT positive cell lines. Indeed, EG22 was more than 13 to 47-fold more potent than the ANI + TMZ combination (p < 0.001), and 100- to 303-fold more potent than TMZ in the panel of cell lines. This shows that EG22 is capable of overcoming resistance to TMZ in the presence of MGMT.

Table 2. Potency of EG22 and ZSM02 on MGMT-proficient and deficient human tumour cells  $(IC_{50}\;\mu M)$ 

	A427	A427 MGMT	A549	Т98	DU145
MGMT status	-	+	+	+	+
EG22	$3.8\pm0.12$	2.9 ±0.21	$1.6 \pm 0.16$	$1.7\pm0.16$	$6.0 \pm 0.55$
ZSM02	$2.9\pm0.49$	$3.7\pm0.23$	$2.0\pm0.50$	$4.3 \pm 1.6$	$4.7\pm0.11$
ANI	>100	>100	>100	>100	>100
TMZ	$34 \pm 4.0$	$305 \pm 11$	$337 \pm 28$	$516 \pm 72$	$598 \pm 59$
ANI+TMZ	$5.0\pm0.82$	$41 \pm 1.1$	$47 \pm 11$	$80 \pm 10$	$78 \pm 4.6$

# 3.4.5 Potency of the combi-molecular approach in comparison with 2-drug combinations

Importantly, the growth inhibitory potency of EG22 was 3-fold greater than that of the combination of ANI + TMZ against VC8 (mutant form), 13-fold in V79 (wild type) and 7-fold in VC8-BRCA, leading to an evidence of the ability of the combi-targeting approach to illustrate the principle underlying "the whole being greater than the sum of the part" (Fig. 8). The marked superiority of EG22 when compared with ANI + TMZ was further confirmed in a panel of established prostate, brain, and lung cancer cell lines (Fig. 9).



**Figure 8.** Proposed pathways for the hydrolysis of EG22 and its dual PARP-DNA targeting property. Solid arrows describe hydrolysis and dotted arrows diffusion. EG22 may diffuse in its intact form through the cell membrane to subsequently hydrolyze in the cytoplasm, release ANI and the methyl diazonium species. ANI may then in turn diffuse into the nucleus and either intercalate into the DNA or inhibit PARP. EG22 may also diffuse in its intact form toward the nucleus, intercalate into DNA prior to being converted to ANI and the methyl diazonium species



**Figure 9.** Growth inhibition by EG22 and ZSM02 in a cell panel with varied levels of MGMT. They show similar growth inhibition profile with an increased potency when compared to temozolomide (TMZ), ANI and ANI + TMZ, indicating that their potency is independent of the MGMT status of the cells.

# 3.4.6 Subcellular localization and mechanism of action

As shown earlier, the hydrolysis of EG22 leads to the release of ANI, an agent that fluoresces in the green and is also known to be able to intercalate into DNA [30]. Thus, its subcellular distribution was analyzed by fluorescence microscopy. Interestingly, as shown in Fig. 10, the green fluorescence was primarily localized in the nucleus, which is consistent with the fact that ANI can intercalate into DNA. This allowed us to propose a mechanism whereby, as depicted in Fig. 8, the intact molecule may be primarily localized in the nucleus where it generates ANI and its alkylating

species in the nucleus, an event that may account for its ability to induce anomalously high levels of DNA lesions when compared with TMZ.



**Figure 8.** Subcellular distribution of ANI, EG22 and ZSM02 after a 2 h exposure. Following drug treatment, cells were washed with PBS, a drop of DAPI (NucBlue® Live ReadyProbes® Reagent, ThermoFicher Scientific) was added and 3-D images were taken with the appropriate filter. Nuclear localization of the drugs was confirmed by DAPI counterstaining.

#### 3.4.7 Stabilization of EG22 and growth inhibitory profile of the resulting combi-molecule

Although EG22 has been shown to generate anomalously high levels of DNA damage as compared with TMZ, its rate of hydrolysis was considered to be too rapid under physiological conditions (t<sub>1/2</sub> = 9.76 min) (Fig. 4). Therefore, we sought to stabilize it by acetylating the N3 of the triazene chain. As mentioned earlier, the stable form of EG22, known as ZSM02, has been synthesized and then analyzed by <sup>1</sup>H, <sup>13</sup>C, <sup>15</sup>N NMR and mass spectrometry. Detailed NMR characterization of ZSM02 was reported elsewhere [25]. The potency profile of ZSM02 was studied in comparison with EG22. Although, it did not show selectivity for BRCA1/2 cells when its growth inhibitory potency was compared in the VC8/V79 pair of cell lines, in an isogenic context where VC8 is compared with its BRCA wild type transfectant, ZSM02 showed 3-fold selectivity for the mutant.

Importantly, its potency in a panel of MGMT positive and MGMT negative cell lines paralleled that of EG22 (Fig. 7).

The kinetics of degradation of the stabilized molecule ZSM02 into ANI and methyldiazonium ion was studied and showed a slow release of the active species with a half-life greater than 24 h (Fig. 4) as opposed to the fast decomposition of the prototype molecule EG22. Thus, we have successfully stabilized EG22 by forming ZSM02.

# **3.5 Discussion**

The clinical potency of TMZ is significantly affected by the expression of several DNA repair enzymes, mainly MGMT [19, 31]. Attempts to overcome resistance to TMZ led to several approaches including direct inhibition of MGMT, blockade of abasic sites, PARP inhibition etc. [23, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38]. Alternative targets to sensitize cells to TMZ such as the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) have been investigated by our laboratory [11, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43]. This has led to a novel tumour targeting strategy termed "combi-targeting" according to which molecules designed to block the action of their target and to be hydrolyzed into one inhibitor of the target + another bloactive species should induce strong potency in tumours expressing the target. Combi-molecules designed according to the combi-targeting concept are termed the type I (i.e. they are capable of releasing an inhibitor of EGFR + a DNA damaging species upon hydrolysis) or type II (i.e. they do not require hydrolysis to exhibit their binary EGFR/DNA targeting potency) (Fig. 1) [11, 12, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, 46, 47]. Here, we sought to apply the type I model to the design of molecules capable of inducing a tandem PARP inhibition and DNA damage. Thus, a molecule (EG22) was synthesized that contained a PARP targeting moiety (ANI)
and a methyl triazene tail designed to be hydrolyzed to a methyl diazonium species targeted to DNA (Fig. 2).

EG22 was not only capable of inducing about 7-fold greater potency against VC8 when compared with its V79 counterpart, but also displayed significant selectivity toward BRCA1/2 deficiency in the isogenic VC8/VC8-BRCA pair of cell lines. Importantly, it was generally more potent than TMZ against both BRCA mutants and wild type cells and when tested against VC8 transfected and its non transfected counterpart, indicating that it is synthetic lethality selective. It is to be noted that its superior potency when compared with BRCA1/2 wild-type and mutated cells is an advantage in tumours that express BRCA1/2 heterogeneously.

A PARP assay was performed to determine the PARP inhibitory potency of EG22 and an alkaline comet assay to demonstrate its DNA damaging properties. The strong PARP inhibitory potency of EG22 is consistent with the type I model of combi-molecules (Fig. 1), which are designed to release an intact inhibitor of the target upon hydrolysis. The rapid conversion of EG22 to ANI in cell culture medium suggests that the latter may be a major contributor to the PARP activity of EG22. Through the alkaline comet assay, the second arm of EG22 shows a dose-dependent DNA damage in both VC8 and V79 after 2 h and the levels of damage were significantly higher than those induced by TMZ and ANI + TMZ. We believe that the anomalously high DNA damage observed may be due to the primary intercalation of EG22 as an intact structure in DNA [27], where it releases its DNA damaging species. This may lead to a localized release of the DNA damaging species and enhancement of DNA damage in the cells. As depicted in Fig. 8, we propose that EG22 can degrade in the extracellular compartment, leading to ANI (path 4), which is capable of diffusing into the cells whereas the methyl diazonium is too unstable to penetrate the cells.

EG22 can also enter the cells as an intact structure (paths 1 and 2) and decompose therein into ANI and the methyl diazonium species that are capable of reaching the nucleus. EG22 may intercalate into the DNA and release both ANI and methyl diazonium in situ (path 3). In the nuclear compartment, both intact EG22 and ANI can bind to and inhibit PARP. The proposed paths for the hydrolysis of EG22 and diffusion of the resulting by-products that appear to concentrate the DNA-targeting and damaging species in the nucleus, are consistent with the observed nuclear localization of the green fluorescence associated with ANI and the anomalously strong DNA damaging potential of EG22.

EG22 is designed to induce the same types of DNA adducts as TMZ, which is inactive against tumours expressing MGMT [14, 20], the sole human enzyme capable of repairing the O6methylguanine adduct. It should be noted that despite its significant cytotoxicity, O6methylguanine only accounts for 7% of base adducts induced by TMZ. N7-methylguanine and N3-methyladenine account for 70 and 10% respectively. The latter type of adducts are repaired by the base excision repair machinery [18]. EG22 being designed to induce the same types of lesions as TMZ and able to inflict significantly high levels of DNA damage to the cells while being a potent PARP inhibitor, we sought to determine whether its potency could be superior to that of TMZ in MGMT-expressing cells. Indeed, its 100–300-fold stronger potency in the panel of cells suggests that it is acting by a different mechanism of action when compared with TMZ. Perhaps, tandem blockade of PARP and induction of DNA damage allow to bypass the MGMT-mediated resistance. The levels of potency of EG22 were consistently similar throughout the cell panel whether the cells were BCRA1/2 wild type or mutant and MGMT+ or MGMT-. The ability of a PARP inhibitor to potentiate TMZ in tumour cells has already been reported [23, 35, 36]. However, to our knowledge this is the first report of a small 1,2,3-triazene-containing type I combimolecules (MW = 296) capable of behaving like a PARP inhibitor and a DNA alkylating agent and more importantly with growth inhibitory potency stronger than that of a combination of two agents: a PARP inhibitor and a DNA damaging agent of the same structural class. Further attempt to enhance the druggability of the approach led the stabilization of EG22 by acetylating its N3position to give ZSM02, which slowly released ANI and exhibited strong potency against MGMT cells. It showed less BRCA2 mutant selectivity than EG22, which is perhaps due to its ability to induce sustained release of the DNA damaging species concomitantly with ANI. This mechanism may depress the repair capacity of the wild type cells, thereby reducing the difference in potency when compared with the mutant. Nevertheless, the strong potency of ZSM02 that parallels that of EG22 in the MGMT-expressing cell panel warrants further investigation. Further studies are ongoing to assess its ability to behave as a true masked form of EG22 and to demonstrate its efficacy in vivo.

#### **3.6 Conclusion**

In summary, EG22, our combi-molecule targeting PARP and damaging DNA, is the first prototype combining a PARP inhibitor (i.e. ANI) with an N-methyl-1,2,3-triazene as in TMZ and with a MW < 300. It is the first combi-molecule capable of releasing an aromatic amine preferentially localized in the nucleus, as opposed to the perinuclear localization that is typical of aminoquinazolines derived from the hydrolysis of EGFR-targeted combi-molecules reported by our laboratory [47]. Its ability to penetrate the cells and perhaps the nucleus where it may intercalate into DNA leads to an in situ generation of the DNA damaging species. This may account for its ability to generate anomalously high levels of DNA damage. The current work features a new type of DNA damaging agent with enhanced potency against BRCA1/2 mutants and MGMT-proficient tumour cells. Furthermore, its potency against BRCA1/2 wild type

expressing tumours warrants strong activity against tumors in the advanced stages where BRCA1/2 becomes largely heterogeneous. Also, the strong potency of the approach against MGMT-proficient tumour cells indicates that type I agents like EG22 may be developed as a potential alternative to TMZ in advanced tumours characterized by MGMT expression.

### List of abbreviations

DNA: Deoxyribonucleic acid BRCA1/2: Breast Cancer gene 1 or 2 PARP: Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase TMZ: Temozolomide MGMT: O6-Methylguanine Methyltransferase ANI: 4-amino-1,8-naphthalimide AIC: 5-aminoimidazole-4-carboxamide DMEM: Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium TCA: Trichloroacetic Acid SRB: Sulforhodamine B PBS: Phosphate-Buffered Saline FBS: Fetal Bovine Serum EGFR: Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor

## DECLARATIONS

# Ethics approval and consent to participate

Not applicable.

#### **Consent for publication**

Not applicable.

#### Availability of data and material

All data generated or analyzed during this study are included in this published article.

#### **Competing interests**

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

#### Funding

This study was supported by CIHR (MOP-130363). Z.S.M. doctoral work was supported by the Fonds Quebecois de Recherche sur la Sante (FQRS) Doctoral Research Award.

#### **Authors' contributions**

ZSM participated in the design of the study, carried out the chemical synthesis and purification of ZSM02, molecular and cell studies, and drafted the manuscript. EG carried out the chemical synthesis of EG22 and helped with the references. BJC conceived the study, participated in its design and coordination, and helped draft the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

#### Acknowledgements

We wish to thank the McGill NMR Lab and the McGill University Health Center Drug Discovery platform for NMR access.

# 3.7 References

- 1. Underhill C, Toulmonde M, Bonnefoi H: A review of PARP inhibitors: from bench to bedside. *Annals of Oncology* 2011, 22(2):268-279.
- 2. Ashworth A: A Synthetic Lethal Therapeutic Approach: Poly(ADP) Ribose Polymerase Inhibitors for the Treatment of Cancers Deficient in DNA Double-Strand Break Repair. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 2008, 26(22):3785-3790.
- 3. Sultana R, McNeill DR, Abbotts R, Mohammed MZ, Zdzienicka MZ, Qutob H, Seedhouse C, Laughton CA, Fischer PM, Patel PM *et al*: Synthetic lethal targeting of DNA double-strand break repair deficient cells by human apurinic/apyrimidinic endonuclease inhibitors. *International Journal of Cancer* 2012, 131(10):2433-2444.
- 4. Dedes KJ, Wilkerson PM, Wetterskog D, Weigelt B, Ashworth A, Reis-Filho JS: Synthetic lethality of PARP inhibition in cancers lacking BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutations. *Cell Cycle* 2011, 10(8):1192-1199.
- 5. Audeh MW, Carmichael J, Penson RT, Friedlander M, Powell B, Bell-McGuinn KM, Scott C, Weitzel JN, Oaknin A, Loman N *et al*: Oral poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitor olaparib in patients with BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutations and recurrent ovarian cancer: a proof-of-concept trial. *The Lancet*, 376(9737):245-251.
- 6. Gelmon KA: Olaparib in patients with recurrent high-grade serous or poorly differentiated ovarian carcinoma or triple-negative breast cancer: a phase 2, multicentre, open-label, non-randomised study. *Lancet Oncology, The* 2011, 12(9):852-861.
- 7. Kim G, Ison G, McKee AE, Zhang H, Tang S, Gwise T, Sridhara R, Lee E, Tzou A, Philip R *et al*: FDA Approval Summary: Olaparib Monotherapy in Patients with Deleterious Germline *BRCA*-Mutated Advanced Ovarian Cancer Treated with Three or More Lines of Chemotherapy. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2015, 21(19):4257-4261.
- 8. Yap TA, Sandhu SK, Carden CP, de Bono JS: Poly(ADP-Ribose) polymerase (PARP) inhibitors: Exploiting a synthetic lethal strategy in the clinic. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians* 2011, 61(1):31-49.
- 9. Barber LJ, Sandhu S, Chen L, Campbell J, Kozarewa I, Fenwick K, Assiotis I, Rodrigues DN, Reis-Filho JS, Moreno V *et al*: Secondary mutations in BRCA2 associated with clinical resistance to a PARP inhibitor. *The Journal of Pathology* 2013, 229(3):422-429.
- 10. Bouwman P, Jonkers J: Molecular pathways: how can BRCA-mutated tumors become resistant to PARP inhibitors? *Clinical Cancer Research* 2014, 20(3):540-547.
- 11. Brahimi F, Matheson SL, Dudouit F, Mcnamee JP, Tari AM, Jean-Claude BJ: Inhibition of Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor-Mediated Signaling by "Combi-Triazene" BJ2000, a New Probe for Combi-Targeting Postulates. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 2002, 303(1):238-246.
- 12. Rachid Z, Brahimi F, Katsoulas A, Teoh N, Jean-Claude BJ: The Combi-Targeting Concept: Chemical Dissection of the Dual Targeting Properties of a Series of "Combi-Triazenes". *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry* 2003, 46(20):4313-4321.
- 13. Wheelhouse RT, Stevens MFG: Decomposition of the antitumour drug temozolomide in deuteriated phosphate buffer: methyl group transfer is accompanied by deuterium exchange. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Chemical Communications* 1993(15):1177-1178.
- 14. Zhang J, FG Stevens M, D Bradshaw T: Temozolomide: mechanisms of action, repair and resistance. *Current molecular pharmacology* 2012, 5(1):102-114.

- 15. Mouhri Z, Goodfellow E., Jean-Claude B. J., <sup>15</sup>N-, <sup>13</sup>C- and <sup>1</sup>H-NMR Spectroscopy Characterization and Growth Inhibitory Potency of a Combi-Molecule Synthesized by Acetylation of an Unstable Monoalkyltriazene,. *Molecules*, 2017, 22, 1183; doi:10.3390
- 16. Agarwala SS, Kirkwood JM: Temozolomide, a Novel Alkylating Agent with Activity in the Central Nervous System, May Improve the Treatment of Advanced Metastatic Melanoma. *The Oncologist* 2000, 5(2):144-151.
- 17. Bleehen NM, Newlands ES, Lee SM, Thatcher N, Selby P, Calvert AH, Rustin GJ, Brampton M, Stevens MF: Cancer Research Campaign phase II trial of temozolomide in metastatic melanoma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1995, 13(4):910-913.
- 18. Friedman HS, McLendon RE, Kerby T, Dugan M, Bigner SH, Henry AJ, Ashley DM, Krischer J, Lovell S, Rasheed K *et al*: DNA mismatch repair and O6-alkylguanine-DNA alkyltransferase analysis and response to Temodal in newly diagnosed malignant glioma. *Journal of Clinical Oncology* 1998, 16(12):3851-3857.
- 19. Denny BJ, Wheelhouse RT, Stevens MFG, Tsang LLH, Slack JA: NMR and Molecular Modeling Investigation of the Mechanism of Activation of the Antitumor Drug Temozolomide and Its Interaction with DNA. *Biochemistry* 1994, 33(31):9045-9051.
- 20. Barault L, Amatu A, Bleeker FE, Moutinho C, Falcomatà C, Fiano V, Cassingena A, Siravegna G, Milione M, Cassoni P *et al*: Digital PCR quantification of MGMT methylation refines prediction of clinical benefit from alkylating agents in glioblastoma and metastatic colorectal cancer. *Annals of Oncology* 2015, 26(9):1994-1999.
- 21. Baer JC, Freeman AA, Newlands ES, Watson AJ, Rafferty JA, Margison GP: Depletion of O6-alkylguanine-DNA alkyltransferase correlates with potentiation of temozolomide and CCNU toxicity in human tumour cells. *British Journal of Cancer* 1993, 67(6):1299-1302.
- 22. Liu X, Shi Y, Guan R, Donawho C, Luo Y, Palma J, Zhu G-d, Johnson EF, Rodriguez LE, Ghoreishi-Haack N *et al*: Potentiation of Temozolomide Cytotoxicity by Poly(ADP)Ribose Polymerase Inhibitor ABT-888 Requires a Conversion of Single-Stranded DNA Damages to Double-Stranded DNA Breaks. *Molecular Cancer Research* 2008, 6(10):1621-1629.
- 23. Miknyoczki SJ, Jones-Bolin S, Pritchard S, Hunter K, Zhao H, Wan W, Ator M, Bihovsky R, Hudkins R, Chatterjee S *et al*: Chemopotentiation of Temozolomide, Irinotecan, and Cisplatin Activity by CEP-6800, a Poly(ADP-Ribose) Polymerase Inhibitor. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics* 2003, 2(4):371-382.
- 24. Erice O, Smith MP, White R, Goicoechea I, Barriuso J, Jones C, Margison GP, Acosta JC, Wellbrock C, Arozarena I: MGMT Expression Predicts PARP-Mediated Resistance to Temozolomide. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics* 2015, 14(5):1236-1246.
- 25. Stevens MFG, Hickman JA, Langdon SP, Chubb D, Vickers L, Stone R, Baig G, Goddard C, Gibson NW, Slack JA *et al*: Antitumor Activity and Pharmacokinetics in Mice of 8-Carbamoyl-3-methyl-imidazo[5,1-*d*]-1,2,3,5-tetrazin-4(3*H*)-one (CCRG 81045; M & B 39831), a Novel Drug with Potential as an Alternative to Dacarbazine. *Cancer Research* 1987, 47(22):5846-5852.
- 26. Huang Y, Rachid Z, Jean-Claude BJ: MGMT Is a Molecular Determinant for Potency of the DNA-EGFR–Combi-Molecule ZRS1. *Molecular Cancer Research* 2011, 9(3):320-331.
- 27. Rao S, Larroque-Lombard A-L, Peyrard L, Thauvin C, Rachid Z, Williams C, Jean-Claude BJ: Target modulation by a kinase inhibitor engineered to induce a tandem

blockade of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and c-Src: The concept of type III combi-targeting. *PloS one* 2015, 10(2):e0117215.

- 28. Jin S, Cheng Y, Reid S, Li M, Wang B: Carbohydrate recognition by boronolectins, small molecules, and lectins. *Medicinal Research Reviews* 2010, 30(2):171-257.
- 29. Skehan, P., Storeng, R., Scudiero, D., Monks, A., McMahon, J., Vistica, D., Warren, J. T., Bokesch, H., Kenney, S. and Boyd, M. R. (1990). New colorimetric cytotoxicity assay for anticancer-drug screening. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 82(13): 1107-1112.
- 30. Schlicker A: 4-Amino-1,8-naphthalimide: a novel inhibitor of poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase and radiation sensitizer. *International Journal of Radiation Biology* 1999, 75(1):91-100.
- 31. Banerjee S, Veale EB, Phelan CM, Murphy SA, Tocci GM, Gillespie LJ, Frimannsson DO, Kelly JM, Gunnlaugsson T: Recent advances in the development of 1,8-naphthalimide based DNA targeting binders, anticancer and fluorescent cellular imaging agents. *Chemical Society Reviews* 2013, 42(4):1601-1618.
- 32. Bobola MS, Tseng SH, Blank A, Berger MS, Silber JR: Role of O6-methylguanine-DNA methyltransferase in resistance of human brain tumor cell lines to the clinically relevant methylating agents temozolomide and streptozotocin. *Clinical Cancer Research* 1996, 2(4):735-741.
- 33. Sabharwal A, Middleton MR: Exploiting the role of O6-methylguanine-DNAmethyltransferase (MGMT) in cancer therapy. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology* 2006, 6(4):355-363.
- 34. Dolan ME, Pegg AE: O6-benzylguanine and its role in chemotherapy. *Clinical Cancer Research* 1997, 3(6):837-847.
- 35. Dolan ME, Moschel RC, Pegg AE: Depletion of mammalian O6-alkylguanine-DNA alkyltransferase activity by O6-benzylguanine provides a means to evaluate the role of this protein in protection against carcinogenic and therapeutic alkylating agents. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 1990, 87(14):5368-5372.
- 36. Tentori L, Leonetti C, Scarsella M, d'Amati G, Portarena I, Zupi G, Bonmassar E, Graziani G: Combined treatment with temozolomide and poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase inhibitor enhances survival of mice bearing hematologic malignancy at the central nervous system site. *Blood* 2002, 99(6):2241-2244.
- 37. Palma JP, Wang Y-C, Rodriguez LE, Montgomery D, Ellis PA, Bukofzer G, Niquette A, Liu X, Shi Y, Lasko L *et al*: ABT-888 Confers Broad *In vivo* Activity in Combination with Temozolomide in Diverse Tumors. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2009, 15(23):7277-7290.
- 38. Abbotts R, Madhusudan S: Human AP endonuclease 1 (APE1): from mechanistic insights to druggable target in cancer. *Cancer treatment reviews* 2010, 36(5):425-435.
- 39. Fishel ML, He Y, Smith ML, Kelley MR: Manipulation of Base Excision Repair to Sensitize Ovarian Cancer Cells to Alkylating Agent Temozolomide. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2007, 13(1):260-267.
- 40. Matheson SL, McNamee J, Jean-Claude BJ: Design of a Chimeric 3-Methyl-1,2,3triazene with Mixed Receptor Tyrosine Kinase and DNA Damaging Properties: A Novel Tumor Targeting Strategy. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 2001, 296(3):832-840.
- 41. Banerjee R, Rachid Z, Qiu Q, McNamee JP, Tari AM, Jean-Claude BJ: Sustained antiproliferative mechanisms by RB24, a targeted precursor of multiple inhibitors of

epidermal growth factor receptor and a DNA alkylating agent in the A431 epidermal carcinoma of the vulva cell line. *British Journal of Cancer* 2004, 91(6):1066-1073.

- 42. Matheson SL, McNamee JP, Wang T, Alaoui-Jamali MA, Tari AM, Jean-Claude BJ: The Combi-Targeting Concept: Dissection of the Binary Mechanism of Action of the Combi-Triazene SMA41 in Vitro and Antitumor Activity in Vivo. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 2004, 311(3):1163-1170.
- 43. Brahimi F, Rachid Z, McNamee JP, Alaoui-Jamali MA, Tari AM, Jean-Claude BJ: Mechanism of action of a novel "combi-triazene" engineered to possess a polar functional group on the alkylating moiety: Evidence for enhancement of potency. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 2005, 70(4):511-519.
- 44. Banerjee R, Huang Y, Qiu Q, McNamee JP, Belinsky G, Jean-Claude BJ: The combitargeting concept: Mechanism of action of the pleiotropic combi-molecule RB24 and discovery of a novel cell signaling-based combination principle. *Cellular Signalling* 2011, 23(4):630-640
- 45. Rachid, Z., Brahimi, F., Domarkas, J., Jean-Claude, B.J. Synthesis of half-mustard combi-molecules with fluorescence properties: Correlation with EGFR status *Bioorg Med Lett 2005*, 15 (4): 1135-1138
- 46. Qiu, Q. Dudouit, F., Banerjee, R, McNamee, J. P. Jean-Claude, B.J Inhibition of Cell Signaling by the Combi-Nitrosourea FD137 in the Androgen Independent DU145 Prostate Cancer Cell Line *Prostate* 2004, 59 (1): 13-21
- 47. Todorova MI, Larroque A-L, Dauphin-Pierre S, Fang Y-Q, Jean-Claude BJ: Subcellular Distribution of a Fluorescence-Labeled Combi-Molecule Designed to Block Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Tyrosine Kinase and Damage DNA with a Green Fluorescent Species. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics* 2010, 9(4):869-882.

# **Connecting text 2**

In the previous chapter, we undertook the biological evaluation of compounds with DNA and PARP arm. Such type of molecules, like PARP inhibitors, were designed to be selective in BRCA1/2 mutant tumours. The results presented previously showed that in BRCA1/2 mutants, the DNA damaging function added in the PARP inhibitor, significantly enhanced the cytotoxicity of the PARP inhibitor. However, despite the success of PARP inhibitors in BRCA1/2 mutants only a small subset of patients can potentially benefit from the approach. Furthermore, despite the potency of the dual PARP-DNA targeting agents, their activity was not biomarker specific. Therefore, we sought to develop a strategy to enhance the selectivity of PARP targeting combimolecules. In order to expand the use of PARP inhibitors, their targeting to specific biomarkers appears to be a rational strategy.

The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) is one of the most validated cancer target of modern time. It is deregulated in a wide variety of tumours of epithelial origin including: breast, colon, prostate, brain, ovarian, etc. As outlined in our introduction section, several anti-EGFR strategies have been proven to be effective as targeted therapy in the clinical management of solid tumours. Therefore, we initiated a strategy whereby a PARP inhibitor could be target to EGFR-expressing tumours. The design of our strategy coincide with studies that describe high synergy between an EGFR and a PARP inhibitor. The authors suggest that this effect might be due to contextual synthetic lethality between EGFR and PARP which involves the transport of EGFR and PARP transport in the cell. Having established a strong rational for developing EGFR-PARP targeted molecules, we embarqued on a synthetic campaign to achieve the first ever EGFR-PARP targeted molecules. Herein the next chapter, we descried our approach, which consisted of creating molecules in which the PARP moiety is separated from the EGFR one by basic spacer. The nature of this spacers was based on previous structure activity relationship developed previously in our laboratory. We selected on molecule out of the series which was analyzed for its potency in a wide panel of cell line. Here we described the potency and mechanism of action of the resulting molecules.

# CHAPTER 4: DUAL TARGETING OF EGFR AND PARP: A NOVEL SINGLE MOLECULE STRATEGY TO EXPAND THE SELECTIVE POTENCY OF PARP INHIBITION BEYOND BRCA1/2 MUTATION

Zhor Senhaji Mouhri<sup>1</sup>, Martin Rupp<sup>1</sup>, Elliot Goodfellow<sup>1</sup>, Ursula Stochaj<sup>2</sup>, Junko Murai<sup>3</sup>, Yves Pommier<sup>3</sup>, and Bertrand Jean-Claude<sup>1</sup>.

<sup>1</sup>Cancer Drug Research Laboratory, Department of Medicine, McGill University Health

Center/Royal Victoria Hospital, Division of Medical Oncology, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

1001 Decarie boul., Montreal, Quebec, Canada

H4A 3J1

<sup>2</sup> Department of Physiology, McGill university

McIntyre Medical Sciences building, room 1115

3655 Promenade Sir William Osler, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

H3G 1Y6

<sup>3</sup>Center for Cancer Research, National Cancer Institute

Building 37, Room 5068

Bethesda, MD 20892-4255

#### 4.1 Abstract

Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) inhibitors have emerged as new therapeutic modalities for patients with BRCA1/2 mutations. However, the therapeutic benefit of PARP inhibitors is limited to BRCA1/2 mutations, which accounts for only 5-10% of all hereditary mutations. Despite the remarkable benefit of PARP inhibitors in the clinic, scant strategies exist that seek to expand their benefit beyond the BRCA1/2 mutated tumours. Here we surmised that if PARP inhibitors could be targeted to specific markers in the tumours, their use could be expanded beyond BRCA1/2 mutations. Thus, we engineered olaparib, a clinical PARP inhibitor to target the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), which is overexpressed in a large number of solid tumours. Structural modification of olaparib as a PARP inhibitor warhead and the quinazoline moiety for targeting EGFR led to a series of molecules termed "combi-molecules" with various degrees of dual PARP-EGFR targeting potencies. Studies with the most balanced agent ZSMR06 showed that: (a) it is capable of inducing a dose-dependent inhibition of PARP in isolated enzyme assay and strong DNA PARP trapping potency, (b) it induced a dose-dependent inhibition of EGFR phosphorylation in an isolated kinase and in whole cell assays and this translated into inhibition of downstream signaling of EGFR, (c) in an isogenic cell panel, it was selectively potent against BRCA2 mutant cells and EGFR transfectants, (d) its growth inhibitory potency was stronger than that of olaparib or gefitinib alone and their corresponding equimolar combinations, (e) subcellular distribution analysis showed that it was abundantly localized in the perinuclear region. Studies on the mechanism underlying the strong potency of ZSMR06 revealed that it could also downregulate BRCA1 and BAP1, a ubiquitin hydrolase that binds to BRCA1. It induced yH2AX foci, with the highest levels detected in the exquisitely sensitive breast cancer cell line MDA-MB-468. This strong potency is believed to be associated with its PARP DNA trapping property in

combination with downregulation of key proteins in homologous recombination. Thus, this study represents the first proof-of-concept of a new targeted strategy to efficiently expand the targeting of PARP inhibitors beyond BRCA1/2 mutations.

#### **4.2 Introduction**

Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) is a nuclear protein involved in the maintenance of genomic stability, transcriptional regulation, energy metabolism, DNA methylation, and cell death [1]. When PARP is activated, it catalyzes the formation of a poly-ADP ribose chain of varying lengths and complexity and attaches this chain to itself and other acceptor proteins. This event is one of the first triggered by DNA damage [e.g. single strand breaks (SSBs) and double strand breaks (DSBs)][2]. PARP binds to SSBs and recruit other proteins of the base excision repair machinery to the site of damage. It has been shown that PARP inhibition induces synthetic lethality in BRCA1/2 mutated tumours [3-6]. This arises in tumours with BRCA1/2 mutations in which, PARP-dependent DNA repair is the only alternative to BRCA1/2 deficiency. Thus, blockade of PARP leads to accumulation of DNA damage, and ultimately cell death. Accordingly, over the past decade, PARP inhibition has been actively pursued as a novel approach for the selective therapy of tumours with BRCA1/2 mutations. The therapeutic benefits of PARP inhibitors have now been proven in the clinic against BRCA1/2 mutant breast, ovarian and prostate cancers [7-9]. Disappointingly, resistance to PARP inhibitors has been observed in the clinic. Importantly, the mechanism of resistance is believed to be based on genetic reversion that corrects the original BRCA1- or 2-inactivating mutation [10, 11]. The therapeutic benefit of PARP inhibitors is hitherto limited to BRCA1/2 mutations, which only accounts for 5-10% of all cancers with hereditary mutations in the homologous recombination pathway [12]. Therefore, new strategies are not only required to enhance the potency of PARP inhibitors but also to expand their use beyond BRCA mutant cancers.

Recently, our group utilized a novel strategy developed by our laboratory termed combi-targeting, to design single molecules termed "combi-molecules" capable of simultaneously inducing DNA damage and blocking PARP [13, 14]. The combi-targeting concept postulates that designing "combi-molecules" to block functions or pathways that act cooperatively will lead to agents with superior potency when compared to single agents targeted to each function and their corresponding 2-drug combinations. We have now shown that two types of combi-molecules can be designed with the combi-targeting approach: type I and II. As depicted in figure 1, type I combi-molecules require hydrolysis to induce the combi-targeting properties [15], whereas type II combi-molecules can hit both targets with no requirement for hydrolytic cleavage [16]. Recently, we reported the synthesis of both type I and II PARP-DNA targeting combi-molecules [14]. While these molecules could enhance potency when compared with PARP inhibitors of the same class in BRCA1/2 mutant cells, they also showed significant potency in BRCA1/2 wild type cells and we suggested their potential use at a stage when BRCA1/2 are heterogeneously expressed [13, 14]. The observed potency of the combi-molecules in BRCA1/2 wild type cells is consistent with the fact that PARP inhibitors, have been shown to potentiate the action of the DNA damaging agent in nonsynthetically lethal contexts, indicating that their use could be expanded beyond BRCA mutant cancers [17, 18]. Thus, we surmised that perhaps targeting the PARP inhibitors to other cellular dysfunction could lead to non BRCA-mediated selectivity.



**Figure 1.** Schematic representation of the principle of type I and type II targeting by combimolecules. Upon entering the cells, type I combi-molecules bind and inhibit their target as intact molecules. The molecule further releases an inhibitor 'A' and a DNA damaging agent 'B' upon hydrolysis. Type II combi-molecules enter the cells to inhibit their target and damage DNA without hydrolysis.

While several combination modalities have been reported for PARP inhibitors, the concept of targeted PARP inhibitor has not yet been explored. Here using our novel combi-targeting approach, we report on the design of PARP inhibitors targeted to EGFR, a tyrosine kinase receptor overexpressed in several solid tumours, including lung, breast, brain, colon, ovarian, head and neck etc [19]. Overexpression of EGFR is associated with aggressive proliferation and increased invasiveness, migration and survival [20]. EGFR is a 170-kd receptor tyrosine kinase, which upon binding of its cognate ligands (e.g. EGF, TGF□), and following dimerization and auto-

phosphorylation, triggers a cascade of downstream signaling events that translate into activation of growth through the MAPK pathway and antiapoptotic signaling through the PI3K-AKT pathways [21, 22]. Several EGFR-DNA targeting combi-molecules of the type I and II were designed by our group on the premise that blockade of EGFR leads to downregulation of the antiapoptotic PI3K and DNA repair in EGFR-overexpressing tumour cells [23].

Recently, reports on the relationship between EGFR, PARP, BRCA have begun to emerge. Li et al. [2] reported that PARP inhibition suppressed the growth of EGFR mutant cancer cells by targeting the nuclear localization of pyruvate kinase M2 (PKM2), a Warburg effect-associated enzyme. EGF stimulation is known to induce a translocation of PKM2 to the nucleus where its retention is controlled by PARP-mediated poly-ADP ribosylation. Thus, inhibition of PARP ultimately leads to suppression of its nuclear localization and cell death. Kumaraswamy et al. [24] showed that EGFR expression correlates negatively with that of BRCA1. Likewise, Burga et al. [25] reported that loss of BRCA1 leads to increase in EGFR. Nowsheen et al. [12] observed a synergistic interaction between ABT888, an extremely potent PARP inhibitor and lapatinib, a dual EGFR/HER2 inhibitor. The mechanism underlying such a synergy was believed to be the ability of lapatinib to inhibit the translocation of EGFR and BRCA1 into the nucleus where they play a significant role in homologous recombination repair, thereby leading to accumulation of DNA damage and cell death. Nowsheen et al. [12] referred to this mechanism as "contextual synthetic lethality" between EGFR and PARP. All the above observations lend support to the design of molecules with dual EGFR and PARP targeting potential. To achieve this goal, here we report on the synthesis of novel PARP-EGFR targeting combi-molecules based on structural modifications of olaparib, the first PARP inhibitor approved for clinical use by the FDA [26], and conjugation to an anilinoquinazoline ring system targeted to EGFR via a short linker. The structure of the

EGFR inhibitor moiety straddled that of gefitinib, a clinical inhibitor of EGFR [27]. The design was based on the requirement of the piperazinocarbonyl-fluorobenzomethyl-phthalazinone moiety of olaparib for binding to PARP [28] and the tolerance of the 7-position of the quinazoline class of EGFR inhibitors for bulky substituents [29]. The length of the linker was designed to keep each pharmacophore away from their binding pocket in PARP and EGFR. The analysis of the dual function of the new molecules was performed in a panel of isogenic and established cell lines with varied levels of expression of EGFR. The structure with the strongest EGFR and PARP inhibitory potency, ZSMR06 was selected for further studies in the panel of triple negative breast cancer cells studied by Nowsheen et al. [12]. Molecular analysis for elucidating the mechanism of action of ZRMS06 were focused on the triple negative breast cancer cells, which express wild type BRCA1/2.

#### 4.3 Methods

#### 4.3.1 Chemistry

<sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra were obtained on a Bruker Ascend<sup>TM</sup> NMR 400MHz spectrometer. Chemical shifts are given as δ values in parts per million (ppm) and referenced to the residual solvent proton peak. Mass spectrometry was performed at the Drug Discovery Platform at Glen MUHC facility, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada. Mass spectra were obtained on a Bruker Amazon SL spectrometer using electrospray ionization (ESI). Data are reported as m/z (intensity relative to base peak = 100). All chemicals were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich. ZR2002 and RB10 were synthesized in our lab. N-(3-Chloro-4-fluorophenyl)-6-(3-chloropropoxy)-7-methoxyquinazolin-4-amine and 4-(4-Fluoro-3-(piperazine-1-carbonyl)benzyl)phthalazin-1(2H)-one was purchased from Ark Pharm, Inc. (Arlington Heights, IL, USA). 2-fluoro-5-((4-oxo-3,4-dihydrophthalazin-1-yl)Methyl)benzoic acid was purchased from AstaTech, Inc. (Bristol, PA, USA).

#### ZSMR02

#### Compound MR52

To a solution of RB10 (50mg,  $1.59 \times 10^{-1}$ mM) in dry DMF (1mL) was added 1,1'carbonyldiimidazole (25.7mg,  $1.59 \times 10^{-1}$ mM). The mixture was stirred under argon for 1 h at RT. Thereafter, the solution was added dropwise to a solution of piperazine (137mg, 1.59mM) in dry DMF (2 mL). The mixture was stirred under argon overnight at RT. The reaction mixture was evaporated to give a crude product, which was purified by preparative TLC (silica plate, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>/MeOH 80/20) to give pure compound MR52 (20mg, 40%). ESIMS m/z 427.03 (MH<sup>+</sup>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  ppm 9.80 (s, 1H, NH), 8.84 (s, 1H, NH), 8.54 (s, 1H, ArH), 8.49 (d, 1H, J = 2.1 Hz, ArH), 8.20 (t, 1H, J = 1.9 Hz, ArH), 7.88 (d, 1H, J = 8.0 Hz, ArH), 7.83 (dd, 1H, J = 9.0 Hz, J = 2.2 Hz, ArH), 7.72 (d, 1H, J = 8.9 Hz, ArH), 7.33 (t, 1H, J = 8.0 Hz, ArH), 7.27 (d, 1H, J = 7.9 Hz, ArH), 3.43 (t, 4H, J = 5.1 Hz, 2 X HNCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N), 2.74 (t, 4H, J = 4.9 Hz, 2 X NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>NH).

#### Compound ZSMR02

ZSMR02 was synthesized as described in Scheme 1. To solution of 2-fluoro-5-((4-oxo-3,4dihydrophthalazin-1-yl)Methyl)benzoic acid (7.7mg,  $0.026 \times 10^{-2}$ mM), HOBt (4.2mg,  $3.1 \times 10^{-2}$ mM) and DMAP (0.32mg, 0.002mM) in dry DMF, was added EDCI (4.8mg, 0.03mM). The reaction mixture was stirred for 30 min at RT. Thereafter, a solution of MR52 (11mg, 2.58x10<sup>-2</sup>mM) was added dropwise. The reaction mixture was stirred over night at RT and evaporated to give ZSMR02, as a crude product, which was purified by preparative TLC (silica plate, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>/MeOH 92/08). ZSMR02 was obtained as a pure powder (11mg, 100%). ESIMS m/z 707.04 (MH<sup>+</sup>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) δ ppm 12.62 (s, 1H, NH), 9.82 (s, 1H, NH), 9.01 (s, 1H, NH), 8.55 (s, 1H, ArH), 8.48 (d, 1H, J = 2.0 Hz, ArH), 8.27 (dd, 1H, J = 7.8 Hz, J = 1.2 Hz, ArH), 8.20 (t, 1H, J = 1.9 Hz, ArH), 7.98 (d, 1H, J = 8.0 Hz, ArH), 7.93 – 7.80 (m, 4H, ArH), 7.74 (d, 1H, J = 8.9 Hz, ArH), 7.47 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.39 (dd, 1H, J = 6.4 Hz, J = 2.1 Hz, ArH). 7.34 (t, 1H, J = 8.1 Hz, ArH), 7.26 (m, 2H, ArH), 4.35 (s, 2H, ArCH<sub>2</sub>Ar), 3.70 (s, 2H, NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N), 3.61 (t, 2H, J = 4.3 Hz, NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N), 3.45 (t, 2H, J = 4.3 Hz, NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N), 3.26 (s, 2H, NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N).

#### ZSMR03

#### Compound MR10

To a solution of N-(3-Chloro-4-fluorophenyl)-6-(3-chloropropoxy)-7-methoxyquinazolin-4amine (100mg, 2.52x10<sup>-1</sup>mM) in dry DMF (2mL) was added potassium iodide (2 equivalents). The reaction mixture was stirred for 24 h at RT. Thereafter, the solution was added dropwise to a solution of piperazine (217.4mg, 25.2x10<sup>-1</sup>mM) with triethylamine (1.5 equivalent) in dry DMF (5mL). The reaction mixture was stirred for 3 days at 40°C and evaporated to give MR10, as a crude product, which was purified by preparative TLC (silica plate, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>/MeOH 80/20). MR10 was obtained as a pure white powder (40mg, 40%). ESIMS m/z 446.17 (MH<sup>+</sup>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  ppm 9.57 (s, 1H, NH), 8.50 (s, 1H, ArH), 8.11 (dd, 1H, J = 6.9 Hz, J = 2.7 Hz, ArH), 7.81 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.79 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.46 (t, 1H, J = 9.3 Hz, ArH), 7.22 (s, 1H, ArH), 4.18 (t, 2H, J = 6.3 Hz, OCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>), 3.94 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.06 (t, 4H, J = 4.8 Hz, 2 X HNCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N). 2.56 (m, 6H, 2 X NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>NH & NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>), 2.00 (quint, 2H, J = 6.7 Hz, OCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N). *Compound ZSMR03*  ZSMR03 was synthesized as described in Scheme 2. To solution of 2-fluoro-5-((4-oxo-3,4dihydrophthalazin-1-yl)Methyl)benzoic acid (21mg,  $7.05x10^{-2}$ mM), HOBt (10.9mg,  $8.07x10^{-2}$ mM) and DMAP (0.82mg,  $6.73x10^{-3}$ mM) in dry DMF, was added EDCI (12.6mg,  $8.07x10^{-2}$ mM). The reaction mixture was stirred for 30 min at RT. Thereafter, a solution of MR10 (30mg,  $7.05x10^{-2}$ mM) was added dropwise. The reaction mixture was stirred over night at RT and evaporated to give ZSMR03, as a crude product, which was purified by preparative TLC (silica plate, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>/MeOH 92/08). ZSMR03 was obtained as a pure powder (30mg, 100%). ESIMS m/z 724.35(MH<sup>-</sup>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  ppm 12.61 (s, 1H, NH), 9.58 (s, 1H, NH), 8.50 (s, 1H, ArH), 8.26 (dd, 1H, J = 7.9 Hz, J = 1.0 Hz, ArH), 8.11 (dd, 1H, J = 6.9 Hz, J = 2.6 Hz, ArH), 7.97 (d, 1H, J = 7.9 Hz, ArH), 7.89 (dt, 1H, J = 7.2 Hz, J = 1.2, ArH), 7.85 – 7.76 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.45 (t, 1H, J = 9.1 Hz, ArH), 7.43 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.31 (dd, 1H, J = 6.6 Hz, J = 2.2 Hz, ArH), 7.22 (t, 1H, J = 9.1 Hz, ArH). 7.21 (s, 1H, ArH), 4.32 (s, 2H, ArCH<sub>2</sub>Ar), 4.18 (t, 2H, J = 6.3 Hz, OCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>), 3.94 (s, 3H, OCH<sub>3</sub>), 3.62 (s, 2H, NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N), 3.15 (s, 2H, NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N).

#### ZSMR04

#### Compound ZSM04

To solution of 2-fluoro-5-((4-oxo-3,4-dihydrophthalazin-1-yl)Methyl)benzoic acid, (200mg,  $6.7x10^{-1}$ mM), HOBt (109mg,  $8.0x10^{-1}$ mM) and DMAP (8.2mg,  $6.7x10^{-2}$ mM) in dry DMF (4mL), was added EDCI (142 µL,  $8.0x10^{-1}$ mM). The reaction mixture was stirred for 30 min at RT. Thereafter, a solution of *tert*-butyl piperazine-1-carboxylate (125mg,  $6.7x10^{-1}$ mM) was added dropwise. The reaction mixture was stirred over night at RT and evaporated to give ZSM04, as a crude product, which was purified by preparative TLC (silica plate, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>/MeOH 90/10). ZSM04

was obtained as a pure powder (231mg, 74%). <sup>1H</sup> NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>) δ ppm 12.58 (s, 1H, NH), 8.26 (d, 1H, J = 7.8 Hz, ArH), 7.96 (d, 1H, J = 8.1 Hz, ArH), 7.90 (t, 1H, J = 7.1 Hz, ArH), 7.83 (t, 1H, J = 7.7 Hz, ArH), 7.44 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.37 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.24 (t, 1H, J = 8.9 Hz, ArH), 4.33 (s, 2H, ArCH<sub>2</sub>Ar), 4.03 (d, 2H, J = 26.7 Hz, OCCH<sub>2</sub>N), 3.68 – 3.34 (m, 6H, 3 X NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N), 3.17 (s, 2H, NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N). 2.77 (d, 3H, J = 13.1 Hz, NCH<sub>3</sub>), 1.36 (d, 9H, J = 26.3 Hz, C(CH<sub>3</sub>)<sub>3</sub>).

#### Compound ZSM13

To solution of 4-(4-Fluoro-3-(piperazine-1-carbonyl)benzyl)phthalazin-1(2H)-one, (70mg,  $1.9x10^{-1}$ mM), HOBt (31mg,  $2.3x10^{-1}$ mM) and DMAP (2.3mg,  $1.9x10^{-2}$ mM) in dry DMF (2 mL), was added EDCI (40.6 µL,  $2.3x10^{-1}$ mM). The reaction mixture was stirred for 30 min at RT. Thereafter, a solution of N-(tert-butoxycarbonyl)-N-methylglycine (36.1mg,  $1.9x10^{-1}$ mM) was added dropwise. The reaction mixture was stirred over night at RT and evaporated to give ZSM13, as a crude product, which was purified by preparative TLC (silica plate, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>/MeOH 90/10). ZSM13 was obtained as a pure powder (83mg, 81%). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d6)  $\delta$  ppm 12.58 (s, 1H, NH), 8.26 (d, 1H, J = 7.8 Hz, ArH), 7.96 (d, 1H, J = 8.1 Hz, ArH), 7.90 (t, 1H, J = 7.1 Hz, ArH), 7.83 (t, 1H, J = 7.7 Hz, ArH), 7.44 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.37 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.24 (t, 1H, J = 8.9 Hz, ArH), 4.33 (s, 2H, ArCH2Ar), 4.03 (d, 2H, J = 26.7 Hz, OCCH2N), 3.68 – 3.34 (m, 6H, 3 X NCH2CH2N), 3.17 (s, 2H, NCH2CH2N). 2.77 (d, 3H, J = 13.1 Hz, NCH3), 1.36 (d, 9H, J = 26.3 Hz, C(CH3)3).

#### Compound ZSM14

A solution of ZSM13 (75mg,  $1.4x10^{-1}$ mM) in HCl (5 mL) and ethanol (2.5 mL) was stirred for 3 h at RT. Thereafter, the solution was basified to a pH of 10 using KOH and extracted using DCM (3 x 25 mL). The organic layers were conserved, dried over Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and evaporated. ZSM14 was obtained as a pure powder (61.0mg, 100%). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  ppm 12.58 (s, 1H, NH), 8.26 (dd, 1H, J = 7.9 Hz, J = 1.0 Hz, ArH), 7.96 (d, 1H, J = 8.1 Hz, ArH), 7.90 (t, 1H, J = 7.6 Hz, ArH), 7.83 (dt, 1H, J = 7.6 Hz, J = 1.1 Hz, ArH), 7.44 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.36 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.23 (t, 1H, J = 8.9 Hz, ArH), 4.33 (s, 2H, ArCH<sub>2</sub>Ar), 3.66 – 3.34 (m, 6H, 3 X NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N), 3.17 (s, 2H, NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N). 2.26 (s, 3H, NCH<sub>3</sub>).

#### Compound ZSMR04

ZSMR04 was synthesized as described in Scheme 3. To a solution of ZR2002 (30mg, 7.9x10<sup>-2</sup>mM) in dry DMF (1 mL) was added potassium iodide (2 equivalents). The reaction mixture was stirred for 24 h at RT. Thereafter, the solution was added dropwise to a solution of ZSM14 (34.7mg, 7.9x10<sup>-2</sup>mM) with triethylamine (1.5 equivalent) in dry DMF (1mL). The reaction mixture was stirred for 5 days at 40°C and evaporated to give ZSMR04, as a crude product, which was purified by preparative TLC (silica plate, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>/MeOH 90/10). ZSMR04 was obtained as a pure powder (7.5mg, 25%). ESIMS m/z 776.31 (MH<sup>-</sup>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  ppm 12.59 (s, 1H, NH), 9.35 (s, 1H, NH), 8.37 (s, 1H, ArH), 8.25 (dd, 1H, J = 7.8 Hz, J = 0.9 Hz, ArH), 8.17 (s, 1H, ArH), 7.97 – 7.77 (m, 4H, ArH), 7.57 – 7.38 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.37 – 7.11 (m, 6H, ArH), 6.11 (d, 1H, J = 18.4 Hz, ArNHCH<sub>2</sub>), 4.32 (s, 2H, ArCH<sub>2</sub>Ar), 3.65 – 3.38 (m, 6H, 3 X NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N). 3.12 (s, 2H, NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N), 2.71 (s, 2H, NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>NH), 2.31 (d, 3H, J = 9.0 Hz, NCH<sub>3</sub>).

#### ZSMR06

#### Compound MR65

To a solution of ZR2002 (100mg, 2.65x10<sup>-1</sup>mM) in dry DMF (2 mL) was added potassium iodide (2 equivalents). The reaction mixture was stirred for 24 h at RT. Thereafter, the solution was added dropwise to a solution of piperazine (228mg, 26.5x10<sup>-1</sup>mM) with triethylamine (1.5 equivalent) in dry DMF (5mL). The reaction mixture was stirred for 5 days at 40°C and evaporated to give a crude product MR65, which was purified by preparative TLC (silica plate, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>/MeOH 70/30). MR65 was obtained as a pure yellow powder (80mg, 80%). ESIMS m/z 427.17 (MH<sup>+</sup>).<sup>1H</sup> NMR (300 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  ppm 9.38 (s, 1H, NH), 8.37 (s, 1H, ArH), 8.16 (t, 1H, J = 1.8 Hz, ArH), 7.90 (d, 1H, J = 7.9 Hz, ArH), 7.54 (d, 1H, J = 9.1 Hz, ArH), 7.37 – 7.17 (m, 4H, ArH), 6.04 (t, 1H, J = 5.3 Hz, ArNHCH<sub>2</sub>), 3.02 (t, 4H, J = 4.9 Hz, 2 X HNCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N), 2.65 (t, 2H, J = 6.3 Hz, NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>NHAr), 2.61 (s, 4H, 2 X NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>NH).

#### Compound MR72

A solution of MR65 (30mg,  $7.02 \times 10^{-2}$ mM) in dry pyridine (1 mL) was frozen with liquid nitrogen and 4-nitrophenyl chloroformate (14.2mg,  $7.02 \times 10^{-2}$ mM) was added. The mixture was stirred under argon for 2 h at 0°C and the reaction was further allowed to reach RT. Thereafter, the solvent was evaporated to give a crude product MR72, which was purified by preparative TLC (silica plate, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>/MeOH 90/10) to give pure compound MR72 (27 mg, 90%). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  ppm 9.40 (s, 1H, NH), 8.38 (s, 1H, ArH), 8.28 (d, 2H, J = 9.2 Hz, ArH), 8.18 (t, 1H, J = 2.0 Hz, ArH), 7.92 (qd, 1H, J = 8.0 Hz, J = 1.0 Hz, ArH), 7.55 (d, 1H, J = 9.0 Hz, ArH), 7.44 (d, 2H, J = 9.2 Hz, ArH), 7.34 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.27 (qd, 1H, J = 7.9 Hz, J = 0.9 Hz, ArH), 7.23 (d, 1H, J = 2.2 Hz, ArH), 6.12 (t, 1H, J = 5.1 Hz, ArNHCH<sub>2</sub>), 3.65 (s, 2H, OCNCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N), 3.50 (s, 2H, OCNCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N), 3.41 (q, 2H, J = 5.8 Hz, HNCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N), 2.70 (t, 2H, J = 6.6 Hz, NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>NH), 2.58 (s, 4H, 2 X NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>NCO).

#### Compound MR75

A solution of MR72 (25mg,  $4.22 \times 10^{-2}$ mM) in dry DMF (1 mL) was added dropwise to a piperazine solution (36.4mg,  $42.2 \times 10^{-2}$ mM) in dry DMF (2mL). The mixture was stirred under argon for 5 h at 40°C. The reaction mixture was evaporated to give a crude product, which was purified by preparative TLC (silica plate, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>/MeOH 80/20) to give pure compound MR75 (10mg, 40%). ESIMS m/z 539.15 (MH<sup>+</sup>).

#### Compound ZSMR06

ZSMR06 was synthesized as described in Scheme 4. To solution of 2-fluoro-5-((4-oxo-3,4dihydrophthalazin-1-yl)Methyl)benzoic acid (5.5mg,  $1.85 \times 10^{-2}$ mM), HOBt (3.0mg,  $2.22 \times 10^{-2}$ mM) and DMAP (0.22mg,  $1.85 \times 10^{-3}$ mM) in dry DMF, was added EDCI (3.45mg,  $2.22 \times 10^{-2}$ mM). The reaction mixture was stirred for 30 min at RT. Thereafter, a solution of MR75 (10mg,  $1.85 \times 10^{-2}$ mM) was added dropwise. The reaction mixture was stirred over night at RT and evaporated to give ZSMR06, as a crude product, which was purified by preparative TLC (silica plate, CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>/MeOH 92/08). ZSMR06 was obtained as a pure powder (9mg, 90%). ESIMS m/z 819.27(MH<sup>+</sup>). <sup>1</sup>H NMR (400 MHz, DMSO-d<sub>6</sub>)  $\delta$  ppm 12.61 (s, 1H, NH), 9.40 (s, 1H, NH), 8.37 (s, 1H, ArH), 8.26 (dd, 1H, J = 7.8 Hz, J = 1.0 Hz, ArH), 8.16 (t, 1H, J = 1.7 Hz, ArH), 7.97 (d, 1H, J = 7.9 Hz, ArH), 7.89 (m, 2H, ArH), 7.83 (t, 1H, J = 7.5 Hz, ArH), 7.54 (d, 1H, J = 9.0 Hz, ArH), 7.44 (m, 1H, ArH), 7.34 (m, 3H, ArH), 7.28 – 7.20 (m, 3H, ArH) 6.09 (t, 1H, J = 4.9 Hz, ArNHCH<sub>2</sub>), 4.33 (s, 2H, ArCH<sub>2</sub>Ar), 3.66 (s, 2H, NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N), 3.31 (q, 2H, J = 5.5 Hz, ArNHCH<sub>2</sub>), 4.33 (s, 2H, ArCH<sub>2</sub>Ar), 3.66 (s, 2H, NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N), 3.31 (q, 2H, J = 5.5 Hz, ArNHCH<sub>2</sub>).

# NHCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N), 3.24 – 3.13 (m, 8H, 4 X NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N), 3.05 (s, 2H, NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N), 2.64 (t, 2H, J = 6.6 Hz, NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>NH), 2.47 (s, 4H, 2 X NCH<sub>2</sub>CH<sub>2</sub>N).

#### 4.3.2 Cell culture

VC8 and VC8-BRCA Chinese Hamster Lung cells were generously provided by Dr. Bernd Kaina (Institute of Toxicology, Mainz, Germany). NIH 3T3, NIH 3T3-EGFR mouse fibroblast cell lines and HCT116 colon cancer cell lines were kindly given by Dr. Alaoui-Jamali (Segal Cancer centre and Lady Davis Institute for Medical Research, Jewish General Hospital, Montreal, Canada). MDA-MD468 breast cancer, DU145 prostate cancer, A2058 melanoma and A549 lung cancer cell lines were bought from ATCC. MDA-MB453 and MDA-MB231 were generously given by Dr. Ali (the Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, Canada). T98 glioblastoma cell lines were kindly given by Dr. Sabri (the Research Institute of the McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, Canada). A375 melanoma cell line was kindly provided by Dr. Richard Kremer (Department of Medicine, McGill University Health Centre, McGill University, Montreal, Canada). A549 EGFR-GFP was bought from Sigma Aldrich Canada. All cell lines were maintained in DMEM media from Wisent Bio Products. Media preparation was supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS), 12 mL HEPES, 5 mL L-glutamine, 500 1 of gentamicin sulfate, 250  $\Box$ L of fungisome, and 170  $\Box$ L of ciprofloxacin. All the bio-products used in the preparation of the media were purchased from Wisent Inc. The cells were grown in Corning cell cultured treated polystyrene flasks, which are placed in an incubator with a stable temperature of 37°C and CO<sub>2</sub> level of 5%. The media of each flask was changed when necessary and cell passaging was done between 85 and 95 % confluence.

#### 4.3.3 In Vitro Growth Inhibition Assay

Cells were plated in 96-well plates (Corning Inc.) at 500-10,000 cells/well in 100 µL medium/well. They were allowed to attach for 24 h and then treated with a wide range of drug concentrations (0.003125 µM to 100 µM). The treatment was designed to be in triplicate for 5 days in the incubator. Following the drug treatment, the cells were fixed with 50 µL per well of cold TCA (50%) for 2 hours at 4 °C. Then, using flow of water, the wells were rinsed four times, dried well as much as possible after last rinse and stained with 50 mL sulforhodamine B (SRB) (0.4 g/100 mL) for at least 1 hour at room temperature. Subsequently, the SRB was rinsed with 1% acetic acid, and allowed to air-dry overnight. Finally, the dye was solubilized in 200 mL of Tris base (10 mM, pH10-10.5) for 2-5 minutes on a shaking platform. Absorbance readings of the solubilized dye were recorded on a ELx808 microplate reader at an optical density of 492 nm. The results were analyzed using GraphPad Prism software to derive a dose-response curve and the IC<sub>50</sub>. Each experiment was carried out at least 3 times, in triplicate.

#### 4.3.4 In Vitro PARP enzyme assay

The Trevigen HT Universal Colorimetric PARP assay kit with histone-coated strip well was used as per protocol provided by the vendor. Briefly, 50  $\mu$ l per well of 1X PARP buffer was added to the strip well to rehydrate the histones and the plate was subsequently incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. The solution was aspirated and replaced with a dose range of ZSMR02, ZSMR03, ZSMR04, ZSMR06 and olaparib (10<sup>-6</sup> to 10  $\mu$ M) in duplicate. PARP enzyme (0.5 Unit/well) and a PARP cocktail was then added to the appropriate wells containing inhibitor. A negative control was prepared without PARP to determine the background absorbance, and a positive control without the inhibitor for a 100% reference point. After 60 minutes incubation time, the strip wells were washed twice with 1X PBS + 0.1% Triton X-100 (200  $\mu$ l/well) followed by two washes with 1X PBS. Diluted Strep-HRP was then added after the washing and incubated for 60 minutes. Finally, a pre-warmed TACS-Sapphire colorimetric substrate was added to each well, in the dark, for 15 minutes at room temperature, after which the reactions were stopped by adding 0.2M HCl. Optical densities at 450 nm were recorded on ELx808 microplate reader. The results were analyzed using GraphPad Prism software to derive a dose-response curve and the  $IC_{50}$  values. The PARP assay was performed twice, in triplicate.

#### 4.3.5 PARP trapping

All steps were carried out as published procedures by Murai *et al* [30] using human leukemic lymphoblast CCRF-CEM cells). In short, cells were collected, lysed, mixed and incubated at 4C for 30 minutes after being treated with olaparib or ZSMR06 for 30 minutes. After centrifugation at 15,000 x g at 4C for 10 minutes, the supernatants were collected and nuclear soluble and chromatin-bound fraction were separated. Immunoblotting was then carried out using standard procedures and Densitometric analyses done using Image J software (NIH).

#### 4.3.6 In Vitro EGFR enzyme assay

96-well plates from Nunc Maxisorp were incubated overnight at 37°C with poly(L-glutamic acid-L-tyrosine, 4:1) (PGT) in PBS. The kinase reaction was performed by using 13ng/well EGFR (SignalChem Lifesciences, Corp., Richmond, BC, Canada). Each well was treated with a dose range of ZSMR02, ZSMR03, ZSMR04, and ZSMR06 ( $10^{-4}$  to  $10 \mu$ M) in duplicate. Phosphorylation was then initiated by the addition of ATP. The reaction was terminated by removal of reaction mixture, and detection of the phosphorylated substrate by HRP-conjugated anti-phosphotyrosine antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, USA). The signals were developed by the addition of 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine peroxidase substrate (KPL, Gaithersburg, MD, USA). The colorimetric reaction was stopped by adding equal volume of  $H_2SO_4$  (0.09M) to each well. The plates were read at 450nm using a ELx808 microplate reader. The results were analyzed using GraphPad Prism software to derive a dose-response curve and the  $IC_{50}$  values.

#### 4.3.7 Western blotting

Cells were plated in 6-well plates and allowed to attach overnight. The cells were rinsed twice with PBS 24 h later and starved overnight on addition of serum-free media. Thereafter, they were treated with different doses of ZSMR02, ZSMR03, ZSMR04, and ZSMR06 for 24 h, washed with PBS (twice) and stimulated with 20 ng/ml EGF for 30 min at 37°C. Cells were then washed, detached by scraping in cold RIPA lysis and extraction buffer (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Lysates were kept on ice for 30 min and collected by centrifugation at 13,000 rpm for 15 min at 4°C. The concentration of protein was determined using the Bio-Rad protein assay kit (Bio-Rad laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA). Equal amounts of proteins were loaded, resolved on 10% SDS-PAGE and thereafter transferred to a polyvinylidenedifluoride (PVDF) membrane (Milipore, Bedford, MA, USA). Membranes were blocked with 5% milk in TBST (20 mM Tris-HCl, 137 mM NaCl, 0.1% Tween 20) overnight at 4°C followed by incubation with phosphotyrosine antibodies such as phospho-EGFR Y1068 (Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA) phospho-Erk1/2 (Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA) and phospho-Akt (Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA) in 5% milk, at 4°C overnight. The membranes were washed with TBST and incubated with respective secondary antibodies for 1h and 30 min at RT in 5% blocking solution. After incubation with antibodies against phosphotyrosines, the membranes were stripped using the Re-Blot Plus Strong buffer (EMD Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA) and probed for total EGFR (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, USA), total Erk1/2 (Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA), total Akt (Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA,

USA) and total PAR (Milipore, Bedford, MA, USA) antibodies along with β-actin (Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA) antibody. Immunoblot bands were visualized using ECL kit and enhanced chemiluminescence system (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA).

Western blotting for DNA repair proteins was performed essentially as described [31, 32]. In brief, following incubation with the vehicle DMSO or one of the pharmacological compounds, cells were rinsed twice with PBS and stored at -70°C. Crude extracts were prepared by solubilizing proteins in gel sample buffer, pH 8.0, containing protease inhibitors (Roche), 20 mM  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate, 1 mM NaN<sub>3</sub>, and 2.5 mM NaF. Samples were incubated for 15 min at 95°C and vortexed 3min with glass beads to shear DNA. After centrifugation (5 min, 13,000 rpm, microfuge), proteins were TCA-precipitated and resuspended in 2x final sample buffer pH 8.0 containing the inhibitors listed above. Aliquots were separated on SDS-PA gels, blotted to nitrocellulose and probed with the antibody of interest, BAP-1, BRCA1, BARD1 (all purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, USA), and  $\beta$ -actin (Chemicon, Milipore, Bedford, MA, USA). HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies (Jackson) were raised in donkeys and pre-adsorbed against multiple species. ECL substrates were from LI-COR (Lincoln, NE, USA).

#### 4.3.8 Indirect immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy

All steps were carried out at room temperature following published procedures [33, 34]. Primary antibodies for PARP1 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX, USA),  $\gamma$ H2AX (Milipore, Bedford, MA, USA) were used to evaluate DNA damage and the nuclear stain DAPI (Sigma Aldrich Canada) was used to confirm the localization of the proteins detected by the antibodies. Images were acquired using the multi-track mode with a LSM780 microscope. Appropriate filter settings were chosen to minimize cross-talk between the channels. Images were processed in Photoshop 8.0.

#### 4.3.9 Confocal microscopy imaging

A549 EGFR-GFP cells in which the EGFR gene has been endogenously tagged with Green Fluorescent Protein (GFP) (commercially available from Sigma-Aldrich) was plated at 60-70% confluence in six-well plates, allowed to adhere overnight, and treated with 25  $\mu$ M ZSM06 and RB10 for 2 h. After treatment, cells were washed with PBS and 3-D images were taken with the appropriate filter. Only the images corresponding to the equatorial plan of the cells were used to visualize cellular distribution.

#### 4.3.10 Molecular modelling

Molecular modeling was performed with the MOE software package using PARP and EGFR corresponding inhibitors bound to the corresponding protein structure available at the Protein Database (PDB) as templates.

#### 4.3.11 Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed with Student's two-tailed *t*-test or one-way ANOVA, using GraphPad Prism 5.0 software (GraphPad Prism, San Diego, CA). P < 0.05 was defined as statistically significant.

#### **4.4 RESULTS**

#### 4.4.1 Chemistry

The design and synthesis of the PARP-EGFR combi-molecules were performed according to the type II principle, with a non-hydrolysable linker bridging the two targeted warheads. As depicted in figure 1, type I combi-molecules are designed to be hydrolyzed to release the two targeted species, whereas type II possess two warheads linked by a non-hydrolyzable spacer. The synthesis of the different type II combi-molecules proceeded by forming the amine tagged to the quinazoline moiety and using peptide coupling to link the two moieties. The first molecules synthesized was

ZSMR02, a combi-molecule with no linker, the second without a piperazine carboxamide ZSMR03, and the others ZSMR04, 06 containing like olaparib a carboxamide moiety, which has been shown to accept a hydrogen bond in the binding site of PARP [28]. As depicted in Scheme 1, the synthesis of ZSMR02 started with the coupling of RB10 with piperazine in DMF to give MR52, which was coupled with 2-fluoro-5-(4-oxo-3,4-dihydrophalazin-1-yl)methyl) benzoic acid (FDMB) to give the desired product. In order to enhance EGFR binding potency, the quinazoline moiety was replaced with a moiety whose structure straddle that of gefitinib. Treatment of N-(3-



chloro-4-fluorophenyl)-6-(3-chloropropoxy)-7-methoxyquinazolin-4-amine with piperazine gave MR10, which was coupled with FDMB to give ZSMR03 as in Scheme 2. Extension of linker length was achieved using ZR2002, a chloroethylaminoquinazoline previously published by our laboratory [35] to alkylate ZSM14 obtained as outlined in Scheme 3, through coupling of FDMB with Boc-Sar-OH and deprotection of the BOC-protected ZSM11. The synthesis of ZRMS06 proceeded as depicted in Scheme 4, starting with the mono-alkylation of ZR2002 to give MR65,

which was coupled with 4-nitrophenyl chloroformate to afford MR72. Treatment with piperazine led to the urea MR75, which was coupled with FDMB to give ZSMR06 with an extended spacer.



#### 4.4.2 PARP inhibitory potency

#### (a) In vitro assay

The PARP inhibitory potency of the combi-molecules was examined in a colorimetric PARP assay in histone-coated strip wells. All compounds were capable of inducing a dose-dependent inhibition of PARP with IC<sub>50</sub> values in the 15-45 nM range. ZSM03, 04, 06 showed identical PARP

inhibitory potency, indicating that the presence of the piperazine carboxamido group did not play a significant role in their potency. The most potent agent with the closest  $IC_{50}$  value when compared with olaparib was ZSM02, which contained the carboxamido group but deprived of a liker (Fig 2).



**Figure 2.** Dual EGFR-PARP targeting by the ZSMR series. (A) Inhibition of PARP activity by the ZSMR series using the Trevigen PARP assay kit, as described in Material and Methods, (B) Dose response curves obtained from a modified ELISA using the phosphorylation of polyglutamate-tyrosine by commercially available purified EGFR and detection with an anti-phosphotyrosine antibody.

#### (b) Whole cell PAR assay

A western blot detection of poly-ADP ribose chain was performed in whole cells. While the assay did not permit a clear distinction between the potencies of individual compounds, it confirmed that all the combi-molecules could strongly inhibit the formation of poly-ADP ribose chain in the cells, which is consistent with the strong PARP inhibitory potency observed in the enzyme assay (Fig. 3).








## (c) PARP trapping

PARP trapping assay showed a dose dependent increased in chromatin bound PARP, indicating that ZSMR06 is capable of inducing PARP DNA trapping. As expected, the level of PARP trapping was similar to that of olaparib.



**Figure 4.** Dose dependent formation of PARP-DNA trapping by olaparib and ZSMR06 in human leukemic lymphoblast CCRF-CEM cells.

## *4.4.3 EGFR inhibitory potency*

#### (a) Kinase assay

The ability of each agent to inhibit EGFR tyrosine kinase activity was tested in a modified ELISA. All combi-molecules induced a dose-dependent inhibition of EGFR, with IC<sub>50</sub> values in the 22-860 nM range. ZSM02 that showed the strongest PARP inhibitory activity, was the weakest inhibitor of the series and ZSMR03 or 06 the strongest EGFR inhibitors with IC<sub>50</sub> in the nanomolar range (Fig. 3).

## (b) EGFR phosphorylation and downstream signaling

Inhibition of EGF-induced EGFR phosphorylation was studied in the MDA-MB468 breast cancer cell line. All compounds induced a dose dependent inhibition of EGFR phosphorylation, the most potent being ZSMR04 and 06. Approximately 100% inhibition was seen at 1  $\mu$ M and this translated into inhibition of phospho-Erk1/2 and phospho-AKT (Fig. 3).

## 4.4.4 Growth inhibitory profiles

The combi-molecules being dual EGFR-PARP targeting molecules, we compared their potency with that of olaparib in two isogenic pairs of cell lines: VC8 (BRCA2 mutant) and VC8-BRCA2 wild type transfectant or NIH3T3 wild type and NIH3T3-EGFR (transfected with EGFR). Like olaparib, ZSMR02, 03, 04 and 06 showed selective potency against the EGFR transfectant. Likewise, they selectively killed the VC8 (BRCA2 mutant) cells, which is consistent with their strong PARP inhibitory potency (Fig. 5). Interestingly, olaparib despite being a single PARP targeting agent showed selective potency against the EGFR transfectant although its potency against the latter cells was considerably weaker when compared with the combi-molecules (Table 1).



**Figure 5.** Growth inhibition profile, in isogenic models, comparing the selectivity of individual treatments for two clinical biomarkers: BRCA1/2 and EGFR. **A**, ZSMR02, 03, 04 and 06, similar to gefitinib, the clinical EGFR inhibitor, showed selective potency against the EGFR-transfected cell line, NIH3T3. **B**, ZSMR02, 03, 04 and 06, similar to olaparib, a clinical PARP inhibitor, showed selective potency against the BRCA2 mutant cell line, VC8.

	VC8	VC8- BRCA	Fold selectivity	NIH3T3 WT	NIH3T3 EGFR	Fold selectivity	MDA- MB453	MDA- MB231	MDA- MB468
EGFR status	I	ı		•	+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++		+	‡	+ + + +
ZSMR02	1.37	>100	>50*	>100	$19 \pm 2.2$	>50*	N/A	N/A	N/A
ZSMR03	0.6	70.4	117	>100	$1.2 \pm$	>50*	<b>4.3</b> ±	3.6±	0.14 ±
					0.03		0.31	0.31	0.02
ZSMR04	0.8	27.9	35	$16 \pm 4.9$	$1.8 \pm$	8.8	<b>5.6</b> ±	5.7±	$0.37 \pm$
					0.27		0.56	0.46	0.07
ZSMR06	0.55	14.7	72	>100	$1.2 \pm$	>50*	>100	$3.8\pm$	0.031 ±
					0.28			0.56	0.006
Gefitinib+Olaparib	0.95	7.6	8	$12 \pm 1.1$	$0.28 \pm$	42	<b>5.3</b> ±	15 ±	$1.9\pm$
					0.03		0.89	09.0	0.19
Gefitinib	6.2	10.4	1.7	$21 \pm 2.3$	$0.41 \pm$	51	7.3 ±	21 ±	9.7±
					0.08		0.88	1.2	0.42
Olaparib	<i>L</i> 6.0	28.1	29	>100	$8.3 \pm$	>50*	<b>52</b> ± 10	± 62	$4.0\pm$
					0.57			14.1	0.29

Table 1. Potency of ZSMR combi-molecules on EGFR-proficient and deficient cell lines (IC<sub>50</sub> µM) \*Where  $IC_{50}$  is determined to exceed 100 µM, the fold selectivity number is set to greater than 50

Further analysis in three established triple negative breast cancer cells with moderate sensitivity to gefitinib showed that the combi-molecules were extremely potent with activities superior to that of olaparib or gefitinib alone and their corresponding equimolar combination (i.e. gefitinib + olaparib) in MDA-MB231 and MDA-MB468. ZSMR06 appeared as the most potent agent, with IC<sub>50</sub> against MDA-MB468 in the nanomolar range. Their potency appears to increase with the EGFR levels in these cells (MDA-MB468 > MDA-MB231 > MDA-MB453). ZSMR06 induced its strongest potency against MDA-MB468, which is known to express extremely high levels of EGFR (Fig. 6A and 6B). Similarly, ZSMR06 showed superior potency when compared with the combination of gefitinib + olaparib in a panel lung, prostate, brain, colon, breast cancers and melanoma (Fig. 6C).



**Figure 6. A.** Growth inhibition as shown by IC<sub>50</sub>s, where ZSMR06 shows high potency in growth inhibition when compared to gefitinib, olaparib and gefitinib+olaparib in a panel of EGFR positive cell lines. **B.** Western blot analysis showing EGFR levels of the three triple negative breast cancer cell lines. **C.** Strong inhibitory potency of ZSMR06 in comparison to the combination of gefitinib and olaparib in a panel of solid tumours expressing EGFR.

## 4.4.5 Fluorescence imaging and modulation of nuclear protein expression

## (a) subcellular distribution

ZSMR06 being fluorescent molecule, we compared its subcellular distribution with that of RB10, a small molecular weight and potent inhibitor of EGFR [36]. The results showed that the blue fluorescence associated with ZSMR06 molecule was like for RB10 primarily localized in the perinuclear region (Fig. 7).



ZSMR06



**Figure 7.** Subcellular distribution of ZSMR06 and RB10, an experimental EGFR inhibitor, in the lung cancer cell line, A549, transfected with GFP-labeled EGFR (green). Both drugs colocalize with EGFR in the perinuclear region after 2h of treatment.

## (c) Immunofluorescence of PARP1 and $\gamma$ H2AX

Immunofluorescence staining of PARP1 in the triple negative breast cancer cell line showed that it was well localized within the nucleus regardless of treatment conditions and cell line. Staining with an anti- $\gamma$ H2AX antibody revealed the presence of  $\gamma$ H2AX foci in ZSMR06-treated cells (1  $\mu$ M). Amongst the three cell lines, the levels were most abundant in the MDA-MB-468 cells.

# (d) Modulation of BAP1, BARD1 and BRCA1

BAP1, BARD1 and BRCA1 levels were analyzed 16h following cell exposure to ZSMR06 and gefitinib at both 1  $\mu$ M. ZSMR06 could down-regulate BAP1 (Fig. 9), a ubiquitin hydrolase that binds to BRCA1. It also down-regulated BRCA1 and while concomitantly inducing  $\gamma$ H2AX foci (Fig. 8), indicating that the mechanism of action of this compound may be based on its ability to enhance vulnerabilities in these cells.



**Figure 8.** Immunofluorescence staining of PARP1 and  $\gamma$ H2AX using DAPI as nuclear counterstaining agent. Formation of  $\gamma$ H2AX foci was detetected in the cells treated with ZSMR06.



**Figure 9.** Down-regulation of BAP1 and BRCA1 induced by ZSMR06 in 3 triple-negative breast cancer cells. Complete down-regulation was seen in MDA-MB-468 the most sensitive cell line to ZSMR06 (growth inhibition IC<sub>50</sub>, 31 nM). V, vehicle; G, Gefitinib; Z, ZSMR06

#### 4.5 Discussion

EGFR is one of the most studied cancer targets of the past decade. Its overexpression in many solid tumours including breast, ovarian, prostate, brain, colon, etc. raised the prospect of a broad spectrum of application for anti-EGFR therapy. However, while several EGFR inhibitors and a few anti-EGFR antibodies were approved for clinical use, only a subset of patients with the specific mutations (i.e. L858R) can benefit from treatment with EGFR inhibitors in lung cancer [37, 38] and anti-EGFR antibodies are used in the treatment of a small group of advanced colon cancer patients whose tumours do not carry *ras* mutations [39]. Likewise, given the widespread use of cytotoxic therapy in the clinic, the demonstration that PARP inhibitors could sensitize resistant tumours to DNA damaging agents [18] and also induce selective cytotoxicity against BRCA mutant tumours held great promise [5, 6]. However, olaparib the first PARP inhibitor approved by the FDA, received a limited approval for the treatment of ovarian cancer with germline BRCA1/2 mutations [26], thereby limiting its use to a small percentage of cancer patients. Interestingly, studies establishing a relationship between EGFR, PARP, BRCA have now raised the prospect of expanding the use of PARP inhibitors to a broad spectrum of EGFR-expressing tumours [12, 24,

25]. Indeed, Nowsheen *et al.* [12, 40], reported that the combination of EGFR inhibition, either using the small molecules inhibitor lapatinib or the antibody cetuximab, and the PARP inhibitor ABT888, showed an increase in cytotoxicity. This is associated with the ability of EGFR inhibition to downregulate DNA double strand repair, while PARP inhibition was further enhancing DNA repair deficiency. Here we successfully optimized dual EGFR-PARP targeting molecules, giving rise to ZSMR06, the first single molecule with balanced EGFR-PARP targeting ever reported. Importantly, the combi-molecule consistently showed superior potency when compared with combinations of single molecules in many cell lines.

The ZSMR series of combi-molecules were designed according to a type II approach, indicating that they do not require hydrolysis to release their bioactive species [16]. Thus, optimization for balanced targeting of the intact structure was required. ZSMR02, the first molecule synthesized, showed strong PARP inhibitory potency but little effect on EGFR phosphorylation. Inserting a basic linker between the PARP and EGFR targeting warheads led to agents (e.g. ZSMR03-06) with more balanced targeting properties, perhaps due to the ability of the linker to shift each targeting moiety away from its cognate binding pocket. Indeed, as depicted in figure 10, molecular modelling showed that the olaparib moiety is pointed away from the ATP binding site of EGFR and a similar orientation is observed for the quinazoline moiety when the olaparib warhead is bound to PARP. ZSMR06 was able to achieve nanomolar potency against PARP and nanomolar IC<sub>50</sub> value against EGFR in *in vitro* assays and in whole cells. Despite its size (MW>500), ZSMR06 and analogues could penetrate the cells and block EGFR autophosphorylation and PAR formation. The ability of ZSMR06 to down-regulate signaling downstream of EGFR signaling (e.g. phospho-Erk1/2, phospho-AKT) and to block PAR formation in the cells are strong evidence of its dual EGFR-PARP targeting properties.

Importantly, isogenic cell selectivity study was required to verify whether the observed target modulation could lead to selective growth inhibition. Indeed, the combi-molecules showed significant selectivity for the NIH3T3-EGFR transfectant and for the VC8 (BRCA2 mutant) cells in an isogenic context. It is also important to note that olaparib, a single targeted agent deprived of EGFR targeting property, showed selectivity for the NIH3T3-EGFR transfectant. This can be due to the reported negative correlation between EGFR and BRCA1 levels [24, 25]. It is to be noted that the potency of the combi-molecules was significantly superior to that of olaparib in the EGFR transfectant and also increased with the EGFR content of the established cell lines. MDA-MB-453, the only cell line found resistant to ZSMR06 is known to exhibit low expression of EGFR [41, 42]. In an extended panel of cell lines including lung, melanoma and colon cancer cell types, the growth inhibitory potency of ZSMR06 was significantly superior to that of the combination of olaparib+gefitinib, indicating an exquisitely strong potency of the single molecule. Although the exact implication of the perinuclear distribution of the combi-molecule in its potency remains to be elucidated, its superior activity may be functionally associated, as previously proposed by Nowsheen et al. [12], with interplays between EGFR, BRCA1 and PARP in these cells. To verify this hypothesis, we focused our molecular analyses on the balanced EGFR-PARP targeting combimolecule ZSMR06 in the panel of triple negative breast cancer cells. Indeed, in addition to being able to down-regulate EGFR downstream signaling, it could induce nuclear yH2AX foci and down-regulation of BRCA1 in these cells.



Binding to PARP-1

Binding to EGFR

**Figure 10.** Mode of binding of ZSMR06 to the ATP site of EGFR and to the NAD binding site of PARP1.

Interestingly, while the levels of BARD1 [43], a BRCA1-associated protein in the cells remained constant, ZSMR06 down-regulated BAP1, which is a ubiquitin hydrolase responsible for deubiquitination of BRCA1 [44]. This may favour sustained ubiquitination and subsequent degradation of BRCA1 [45], while ZSMR06, perhaps due to its strong PARP-DNA trapping potency, is inducing DNA damage in the cells as evidenced by the formation of  $\gamma$ H2AX foci [46]. This vulnerability may be further exacerbated by the proven ability of EGFR inhibition to down-regulate HR and NHEJ [47, 48] in these cell lines. Although the significance of the perinuclear distribution of the combi-molecule remains to be elucidated, strong inhibition of EGFR phosphorylation may prevent its intranuclear translocation where it is known to play a role in NHEJ [48, 49]. Therefore, the combi-molecule may induce an array of events including down-regulations of the MAPK and AKT pathways through blockade of EGFR, inhibition or down-regulation of DNA repair proteins and induction of DNA damage. This array of events may synergize to promote growth inhibition and death in cells overexpressing EGFR.

#### Conclusion

In summary, we described herein the design and synthesis of the first PARP inhibitors targeted to EGFR, confirmed their dual targeting potency in enzyme assays and demonstrated their ability to modulate their intracellular targets. Studies with the most balanced combi-molecule ZSMR06, demonstrated its ability to induce selective growth inhibition in both BRCA2 and EGFR-expressing isogenic cells and to inhibit or downregulate DNA repair proteins. To our knowledge, ZSMR06 is the first pharmacological modulator of BRCA1 through the downregulation of BAP1. This unique mechanism of action would allow the possible use of this PARP inhibitor, ZSMR06, beyond BRCA1/2 mutations. It is to be noted that while PARP inhibitors are primarily studied in the context of sensitizing tumours to DNA damage, the optimized combi-molecule herein exert exquisitely strong growth inhibitory potency alone, without a cytotoxic functionality. Further studies are required to demonstrate whether they can sensitize cells to DNA damaging agents in an EGFR-dependent fashion.

## 4.6 References

- 1. Krietsch, J., et al., *Poly (ADP) Ribose Polymerase at the Interface of DNA Damage Signaling and DNA Repair*, in *Advances in DNA Repair in Cancer Therapy*. 2013, Springer. p. 167-186.
- 2. Li, N., et al., *PARP inhibition suppresses growth of EGFR-mutant cancers by targeting nuclear PKM2*. Cell reports, 2016. **15**(4): p. 843-856.
- 3. Rouleau, M., et al., *PARP inhibition: PARP1 and beyond*. Nature Reviews Cancer, 2010. **10**(4): p. 293-301.
- 4. Chalmers, A., *Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 and ionizing radiation: sensor, signaller and therapeutic target.* Clinical oncology, 2004. **16**(1): p. 29-39.
- 5. Farmer, H., et al., *Targeting the DNA repair defect in BRCA mutant cells as a therapeutic strategy*. Nature, 2005. **434**(7035): p. 917-921.
- 6. Bryant, H.E., et al., *Specific killing of BRCA2-deficient tumours with inhibitors of poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase.* Nature, 2005. **434**(7035): p. 913-917.
- 7. Wang, Y.-Q., et al., An update on poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 (PARP-1) inhibitors: opportunities and challenges in cancer therapy. Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, 2016. **59**(21): p. 9575-9598.
- 8. Kaufman, B., et al., *Olaparib monotherapy in patients with advanced cancer and a germline BRCA1/2 mutation.* Journal of clinical oncology, 2014. **33**(3): p. 244-250.
- 9. Underhill, C., M. Toulmonde, and H. Bonnefoi, *A review of PARP inhibitors: from bench to bedside*. Annals of Oncology, 2011. **22**(2): p. 268-279.
- 10. Barber, L.J., et al., *Secondary mutations in BRCA2 associated with clinical resistance to a PARP inhibitor.* The Journal of pathology, 2013. **229**(3): p. 422-429.
- 11. Bouwman, P. and J. Jonkers, *Molecular pathways: how can BRCA-mutated tumors become resistant to PARP inhibitors?* Clinical Cancer Research, 2014. **20**(3): p. 540-547.
- 12. Nowsheen, S., et al., *Synthetic lethal interactions between EGFR and PARP inhibition in human triple negative breast cancer cells.* PloS one, 2012. 7(10): p. e46614.
- 13. Senhaji Mouhri, Z.G., Elliot; Jean-Claude, Bertrand J., *A type I combi-targeting* approach for the design of molecules with enhanced potency against BRCA1/2 mutantand O6-methylguanine-dna methyltransferase (mgmt)- expressing tumour cells. BMC Cancer, 2017.
- 14. Goodfellow, E., et al., *Design, synthesis and biological activity of novel molecules designed to target PARP and DNA*. Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters, 2016.
- Matheson, S.L., J. McNamee, and B.J. Jean-Claude, *Design of a chimeric 3-methyl-1, 2, 3-triazene with mixed receptor tyrosine kinase and DNA damaging properties: a novel tumor targeting strategy.* Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, 2001. 296(3): p. 832-840.
- Qiu, Q., et al., *Type II combi-molecules: design and binary targeting properties of the novel triazolinium-containing molecules JDD36 and JDE05*. Anti-cancer drugs, 2007. 18(2): p. 171-177.
- 17. Sugimura, T. and S. Shall, *History of the Discovery of Poly (ADP-ribose)*, in *PARP Inhibitors for Cancer Therapy*. 2015, Springer. p. 3-13.
- 18. Tentori, L. and G. Graziani, *Chemopotentiation by PARP inhibitors in cancer therapy*. Pharmacological research, 2005. **52**(1): p. 25-33.

- 19. Yarden, Y. and M.X. Sliwkowski, *Untangling the ErbB signalling network*. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology, 2001. **2**(2): p. 127-137.
- 20. Nicholson, R., J. Gee, and M. Harper, *EGFR and cancer prognosis*. European journal of cancer, 2001. **37**: p. 9-15.
- 21. Seshacharyulu, P., et al., *Targeting the EGFR signaling pathway in cancer therapy*. Expert opinion on therapeutic targets, 2012. **16**(1): p. 15-31.
- 22. Gschwind, A., O.M. Fischer, and A. Ullrich, *The discovery of receptor tyrosine kinases: targets for cancer therapy.* Nature Reviews Cancer, 2004. **4**(5): p. 361-370.
- Huang, Y., Z. Rachid, and B.J. Jean-Claude, *MGMT Is a Molecular Determinant for Potency of the DNA-EGFR–Combi-Molecule ZRS1*. Molecular Cancer Research, 2011. 9(3): p. 320-331.
- 24. Kumaraswamy, E., et al., *BRCA1 regulation of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR)* expression in human breast cancer cells involves microRNA-146a and is critical for its tumor suppressor function. Oncogene, 2014.
- 25. Burga, L.N., et al., Loss of BRCA1 leads to an increase in epidermal growth factor receptor expression in mammary epithelial cells, and epidermal growth factor receptor inhibition prevents estrogen receptor-negative cancers in BRCA1-mutant mice. Breast Cancer Research, 2011. **13**(2): p. 1.
- 26. Kim, G., et al., *FDA approval summary: olaparib monotherapy in patients with deleterious germline BRCA-mutated advanced ovarian cancer treated with three or more lines of chemotherapy.* Clinical Cancer Research, 2015. **21**(19): p. 4257-4261.
- 27. Cohen, M.H., et al., *FDA drug approval summary: gefitinib (ZD1839)(Iressa*®) tablets. The oncologist, 2003. **8**(4): p. 303-306.
- 28. Thorsell, A.-G., et al., *Structural basis for potency and promiscuity in poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) and tankyrase inhibitors.* Journal of Medicinal Chemistry, 2016.
- 29. Rewcastle, G.W., et al., *Tyrosine kinase inhibitors. 12. Synthesis and structure-activity relationships for 6-substituted 4-(phenylamino) pyrimido [5, 4-d] pyrimidines designed as inhibitors of the epidermal growth factor receptor.* Journal of medicinal chemistry, 1997. **40**(12): p. 1820-1826.
- 30. Murai, J., et al., *Trapping of PARP1 and PARP2 by clinical PARP inhibitors*. Cancer research, 2012. **72**(21): p. 5588-5599.
- 31. Kodiha, M., et al., *Localization of AMP kinase is regulated by stress, cell density, and signaling through the MEK-->ERK1/2 pathway.* American Journal of Physiology Cell Physiology, 2007. **293**(5): p. C1427-36.
- 32. Kodiha, M., et al., *Dissecting the signaling events that impact classical nuclear import and target nuclear transport factors*. PLoS ONE, 2009. **4**(12): p. e8420.
- 33. Kodiha, M., C.M. Brown, and U. Stochaj, *Analysis of signaling events by combining high-throughput screening technology with computer-based image analysis.* Science Signaling, 2008. **1**(37): p. pl2.
- 34. Mahboubi, H., et al., *Identification of Novel Stress Granule Components That Are Involved in Nuclear Transport.* PLoS One, 2013. **8**(6): p. e68356.
- 35. Brahimi, F., et al., *Multiple mechanisms of action of ZR2002 in human breast cancer cells: A novel combi-molecule designed to block signaling mediated by the ERB family of oncogenes and to damage genomic DNA*. International journal of cancer, 2004. **112**(3): p. 484-491.

- 36. Banerjee, R., et al., Sustained antiproliferative mechanisms by RB24, a targeted precursor of multiple inhibitors of epidermal growth factor receptor and a DNA alkylating agent in the A431 epidermal carcinoma of the vulva cell line. British journal of cancer, 2004. **91**(6): p. 1066-1073.
- 37. Lynch, T.J., et al., *Activating mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor underlying responsiveness of non–small-cell lung cancer to gefitinib.* New England Journal of Medicine, 2004. **350**(21): p. 2129-2139.
- 38. Paez, J.G., et al., *EGFR mutations in lung cancer: correlation with clinical response to gefitinib therapy*. Science, 2004. **304**(5676): p. 1497-1500.
- 39. Linardou, H., et al., Assessment of somatic k-RAS mutations as a mechanism associated with resistance to EGFR-targeted agents: a systematic review and meta-analysis of studies in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer and metastatic colorectal cancer. The lancet oncology, 2008. **9**(10): p. 962-972.
- 40. Nowsheen, S., et al., *Cetuximab augments cytotoxicity with poly (adp-ribose) polymerase inhibition in head and neck cancer.* PloS one, 2011. **6**(8): p. e24148.
- 41. Jeong, H., et al., *Neuregulin-1 induces cancer stem cell characteristics in breast cancer cell lines*. Oncology reports, 2014. **32**(3): p. 1218-1224.
- 42. Subik, K., et al., *The expression patterns of ER, PR, HER2, CK5/6, EGFR, Ki-67 and AR by immunohistochemical analysis in breast cancer cell lines.* Breast cancer: basic and clinical research, 2010. **4**: p. 35.
- 43. Wu, L.C., et al., *Identification of a RING protein that can interact in vivo with the BRCA1 gene product*. Nature genetics, 1996. **14**(4): p. 430-440.
- 44. Nishikawa, H., et al., *BRCA1-associated protein 1 interferes with BRCA1/BARD1 RING heterodimer activity*. Cancer research, 2009. **69**(1): p. 111-119.
- 45. Dkhissi, F., et al., *The downregulation of BAP1 expression by BCR-ABL reduces the stability of BRCA1 in chronic myeloid leukemia.* Experimental hematology, 2015. **43**(9): p. 775-780.
- 46. Pommier, Y., M.J. O'Connor, and J. de Bono, *Laying a trap to kill cancer cells: PARP inhibitors and their mechanisms of action*. Science translational medicine, 2016. **8**(362): p. 362ps17-362ps17.
- 47. Meyn, R.E., et al., *Receptor signaling as a regulatory mechanism of DNA repair*. Radiotherapy and Oncology, 2009. **92**(3): p. 316-322.
- 48. Lu, J., et al., *Role of epidermal growth factor receptor in DNA damage repair*. Chinese Science Bulletin, 2011. **56**(30): p. 3132-3137.
- 49. Mukherjee, B., et al. *Targeting nonhomologous end-joining through epidermal growth factor receptor inhibition: rationale and strategies for radiosensitization.* in *Seminars in radiation oncology.* 2010. Elsevier.

# 4.7 Supplementary material





Figure S4. 1H NMR spectrum of ZSMR06

# CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONTRIBUTIONS TO KNOWLEDGE

In the advanced stages, many cancers are characterized by the overexpression of receptor, redundant or compensatory signaling pathways [1], resistance to apoptosis and expression of DNA repair enzymes that confer resistance to chemotherapy [2, 3]. The multiplicity of targets in the tumours in the advanced stages represents a tremendous challenge to anticancer drug design. For the past decades, the traditional approach to drug design has been centered on a "one-drug-onetarget approach". According to this approach, drugs were designed to be selective for the target believed to be involved in the etiology of the disease. The high attrition rates in single targeted compounds have triggered a paradigm shift in cancer drug design, leading to a novel approach termed ''polypharmacology'' according to which molecules designed to target multiple pathways are more effective anticancer agents than single targeted ones [4]. Despite the success of multitargeted molecules, the rational design of an agent to block two or more targets remain a daunting challenge. This is due to the intolerance of the structure-activity relationship for substituent alterations. Minor structural changes in one targeting moiety can lead to a loss of binding potency of one or the other. Furthermore, dual targeting sometimes requires modifications that can increase the degree of bulkiness of the molecule, thereby affecting its cellular penetration [5]. Accordingly, the challenge of this thesis was to demonstrate the feasibility of molecules with targets as divergent as PARP and DNA or PARP and EGFR, that can synergistically kill tumour cells through simultaneous blockade or damage of the two targets. Additionally, we also sought to achieve this goal by maintaining these molecules in a range that does not affect their cellular penetration.

DNA repair is a major mechanism of resistance to genotoxic chemotherapy. PARP is one such DNA repair protein that is involved in the repair of damage induced by the clinical drug temozolomide. PARP activity in the BER process is directed at the repair of N7-alkylguanine and

237

N3-methyladenine, two types of lesions that are efficiently repaired by this pathway [6]. Thus, we surmised that a dual targeted molecule design to block PARP and to damage DNA would be a highly effective agent. Here we demonstrated the feasibility of such a type of molecule, with all the desired characteristics:

1) ability to damage DNA,

2) ability to inhibit PARP,

3) ability to localize into the nucleus.

The first attempt to make the proof of concept of a PARP-DNA targeted molecule led to the design of the first prototype termed "EG22" contained a naphthalimide moiety and a triazene tail. Unfortunately, this particular molecule was a short-lived species [7]. Despite the ability of this molecule to damage DNA and block PARP, its suitability as a probe was compromised by its short life. Thus, methods for stabilizing this species were urgently needed. This has become one of the first challenges presented to this thesis. In addition to its instability, EG22 also presented the disadvantage of containing an N3 methyl group that is poorly reactive. Therefore, functionalization of N3 was a risky endeavour. Previous work in the literature showed that the 1,2,3 triazene moiety was an extremely unstable linkage highly temperature- and acid-sensitive that could only be stabilized by reducing electron density on the N3 nitrogen [8, 9]. Thus, we attempted to acetylate the N3 of EG22 in order to reduce electron density at N3, thereby stabilizing the 1,2,3 triazene linkage.

A significant body of evidence has accumulated to suggest that in solution, triazenes exist as two tautomeric forms: one termed conjugated and the other non-conjugated. The conjugated form is known to be more stable than its non-conjugated counterpart [10]. However, we expected that due to the reactivity of the acetyl chloride, both of them could be trapped, although in a different ratio,

thereby leading to two different products. Interestingly, the reaction led to one major product and due to the possibilities described earlier, an unequivocal characterization of this molecule was required. Since we also expected products resulting from nitrogen loss, we thought that the most relevant strategy would be <sup>15</sup>N labeling of the central nitrogen N2. This would be achieved through substitution of sodium nitrite in the reaction for its commercially available <sup>15</sup>N-labeled form [11]. We discovered that despite the instability of the open chain triazene substrate (EG22) and warming the reaction to room temperature, the resulting product did incorporate <sup>15</sup>N. The chemical shift of the latter was in the range of previously reported values for such type of compounds. The structure identification was further investigated by modern NMR sequences such as: HSQC and HMBC, that presented the advantage of leading to the detection of all four nitrogens in the structure with chemical shift values matching those of the literature [12]. Furthermore, the 3D configuration of the molecule was solved by x-ray crystallography. It should be noted herein that crystallization of ZSM02 was a daunting challenge. Optimization of the conditions led to a biphasic method using DMF and hexane, which led to small needles. X-ray crystallography showed co-crystallization with one DMF molecule and hydrogen bonding between the two structures at the amidic NH of the two structures. The N3 acetyl 1,2,3-triazene moiety was coplanar with the naphthalimide backbone indicating a partial double bond character of the N2 and N3 despite the cross-conjugation with the carbonyl acetyl group. Overall the study conclusively demonstrated that despite the instability of EG22, we have discovered a reaction condition to successfully acetylate its poorly reactive N3, leading to a structure unequivocally confirmed to be ZSM02.

Importantly, ZSM02 has proven to be extremely potent in cells expressing MGMT, a clinical biomarker of resistance to temozolomide. ZSM02 was significantly more potent than the single molecules, and its corresponding two-drug combinations (ANI+temozolomide). This is the first

time such levels of differential potency were observed when a single dual targeted molecule was compared to its two-drug counterpart in the field of combi-molecules. Confocal microscopy allowed not only to confirm that the molecule was able to diffuse into the cells but also to be localized into the nucleus. This observation allowed us to propose a mechanism for the strong superiority of the combi-molecule over the two-drug combination, which is depicted in figure 1. The nuclear localization of ZSM02 is in agreement with studies by Banerjee et al [13] who showed the ability of PARP-4-ANI to intercalate into the DNA. Indeed, the model below (Figure 1), illustrates the mechanism underlying the superior potency of the molecule when compared to the combination of the two individual drugs. The mechanism is primarily based on the fact that the localization of the molecule into the nucleus can lead to a "bystander like effect" whereby the nucleus-localized combi-molecule releases the methyldiazonium species in situ, thereby concentrating the damage into the nucleus. Indeed, anomalously high levels of DNA damage were observed when cells were exposed to the combi-molecule. This has led to the discovery of perhaps a novel strategy to overcome the intrinsic resistance of tumour cells to DNA methylating drugs. The principle should be that: for a combi-molecule to show significantly higher activity than its two-drug combination counterpart, it must aid in localizing the action of its two arms into cellular compartments where the primary targets can be reached. Indeed, our result is in agreement with previous work published on the principle of combi-targeting led to the conclusion that perinuclear localization of combi-molecules, where they can bind to their EGFR target and subsequently diffuse to the nucleus, was the basis of their mechanism of action, especially when compared with their single drug counterpart [14, 15]. Here, the fact that the PARP targeting element of the molecule was fluorescent, allowed us to clearly map its nuclear localization, where both its DNA damaging and PARP inhibitory components exerts their biological activity.



**Figure 1. The proposed mechanism of action of ZSM02.** ZSM02, the prodrug of EG22, is a combi-molecule with a PARP inhibitory warhead and DNA damaging species. In its intact form, it diffuses through the membrane to subsequently hydrolyze in the cytoplasm and the nucleus, to give EG22, and the PARP inhibitor (PARP-I) and the DNA-damaging agent (Tz). PARP-I may then in turn diffuse into the nucleus and either intercalate into the DNA or inhibit PARP. ZSM02 may also diffuse in its intact form toward the nucleus, intercalate into DNA prior to being converted to EG22, PARP-I, and Tz.

While dual-targeting of PARP and DNA has proven highly effective in vitro, concerns about the toxicity of this approach was a major deterrent in its further development. Indeed, in light of clinical trials demonstrating the toxicities of combinations of PARP inhibitors and DNA damaging agents [16-20], we thought of conferring a targeting element to the approach. Thus, we decided to expand our strategy to the targeting of PARP inhibitors to EGFR, a receptor that is overexpressed in wide range of tumour types including, breast, ovarian, lung, prostate, etc [21]. Work under this strategy led to the discovery of an optimized structure with balanced PARP-EGFR targeting potency, ZSMR06. Both in vitro assay and molecular modeling confirmed the ability of the two moieties of the combi-molecule to bind to their individual targets (i.e. EGFR ATP pocket and PARP NAD+ binding pocket) suggesting that the molecule was optimized to achieve a type of linker between the two moieties that did not hinder their individual potency. The optimized dual potency translated into unique biological properties: a) the first single molecule capable of inducing tandem PARP and EGFR inhibition, leading to superior potency compared to the combination of clinical inhibitors, b) the first single molecule to induce selective targeting of BRCA2 mutation and EGFR overexpression in an isogenic context, c) the first single molecule observed to significantly downregulate BRCA1, and simultaneously inhibiting PARP. Studies on our optimized combi-molecule ZSMR06 are consistent with a possible synthetic lethality between EGFR and PARP inhibition. Indeed, we believe that the mechanism underlying the strong potency of ZSMR06 is its ability to block PARP, EGFR and modulate BRCA1 levels through the downregulation of BAP1, a ubiquitin hydrolase that binds to BRCA1. ZSRM06 induced highly significant levels of downregulation of BRCA1, indicating that the combi-molecule on its own is capable of modulating two DNA repair proteins (e.g. PARP and BRCA1), in addition to robustly block EGFR mediated signaling. We believe that this pleiotropic effect culminated into significant

growth inhibition potency in tumour cells with not only BRCA2 mutation, but also in BRCA1/2 WT, and distorted expression of EGFR. Therefore, this is the first evidence of a novel strategy that can expand the use of PARP inhibitor beyond BRCA1/2 mutation.

Overall, this thesis has contributed to the demonstration of the feasibility of combi-molecules targeted to DNA and PARP, with selective potency for BRCA2 mutant cells. These novel PARP targeted molecules overcame resistance to temozolomide in MGMT expressing cells. The latter molecules showed superior activity when compared to classical combinations, and this is believed to be due to their ability to localize into the nucleus and release their DNA damaging species *in situ*. Importantly, we demonstrated the feasibility of the first class of molecules capable of targeting a PARP inhibitor to EGFR expressing cells. Work with the latter molecules is consistent with a possible synthetic lethality between EGFR and PARP inhibition.



**Figure 2.** The proposed mechanism of action of ZSMR06. ZSMR06 is a combi-molecule with a PARP inhibitory warhead and EGFR targeting arm. As a stable molecule, ZSMR06 is able to act on both biological targets without the need for being hydrolyzed. It diffuses through the membrane to the cytoplasm, where it can inhibit EGFR through its EGFR inhibitory arm (EGFR-I). The molecule may then further diffuse into the nucleus and inhibit PARP through its PARP inhibitory warhead (PARP-I). ZSMR06 is also able to induce downregulation of the ubiquitin hydrolase, BAP1, which prevents the deubiquitination of BRCA1 and its subsequent degradation. The downregulation of BRCA1 is believed to induce a contextual synthetic lethality with the PARP inhibition of the molecule.

## References

- 1. Rao, S., et al., *Target modulation by a kinase inhibitor engineered to induce a tandem blockade of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and c-Src: The concept of type III combi-targeting.* PloS one, 2015. **10**(2): p. e0117215.
- 2. Farmer, H., et al., *Targeting the DNA repair defect in BRCA mutant cells as a therapeutic strategy*. Nature, 2005. **434**(7035): p. 917-921.
- 3. Helleday, T., et al., *DNA repair pathways as targets for cancer therapy*. Nature Reviews Cancer, 2008. **8**(3): p. 193-204.
- 4. Hopkins, A.L., *Network pharmacology: the next paradigm in drug discovery*. Nature chemical biology, 2008. **4**(11): p. 682-690.
- 5. Minchinton, A.I. and I.F. Tannock, *Drug penetration in solid tumours*. Nature Reviews Cancer, 2006. **6**(8): p. 583-592.
- 6. Roos, W.P. and B. Kaina, *DNA damage-induced cell death: from specific DNA lesions to the DNA damage response and apoptosis.* Cancer letters, 2013. **332**(2): p. 237-248.
- 7. Senhaji Mouhri, Z.G., Elliot; Jean-Claude, Bertrand J., *A type I combi-targeting approach for the design of molecules with enhanced potency against BRCA1/2 mutantand O6-methylguanine-dna methyltransferase (mgmt)- expressing tumour cells.* BMC Cancer, 2017.
- 8. de Jesus Perry, M., et al., *Towards an efficient prodrug of the alkylating metabolite monomethyltriazene: Synthesis and stability of N-acylamino acid derivatives of triazenes.* European journal of medicinal chemistry, 2009. **44**(3): p. 1049-1056.
- 9. Banerjee, R., et al., *Synthesis of a prodrug designed to release multiple inhibitors of the epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase and an alkylating agent: a novel tumor targeting concept.* Journal of medicinal chemistry, 2003. **46**(25): p. 5546-5551.
- Kelly, M.A., M. Murray, and M.L. Sinnott, Substituent effects on tautomerisation constants of alkylaryltriazenes. Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 2, 1982(12): p. 1649-1654.
- 11. Senhaji Mouhri, Z.G., Elliot; Stein, Robin, Kelley, Steven, Rogers, Robin D., Jean-Claude, Bertrand J., *Characterization and growth inhibitory potency of a combimolecules synthesized from the acetylation of an unstable monoalkyltriazene using 15N, 13C and 1H NMR spectroscopy.* Molecules, 2017.
- 12. Wilman, D.E., *Tumour inhibitory triazenes*. 5—15N NMR study of 1-aryl-3, 3dialkyltriazenes. Magnetic Resonance in Chemistry, 1990. **28**(8): p. 729-731.
- 13. Banerjee, S., et al., *Recent advances in the development of 1, 8-naphthalimide based DNA targeting binders, anticancer and fluorescent cellular imaging agents.* Chemical Society Reviews, 2013. **42**(4): p. 1601-1618.
- 14. Todorova, M.I., et al., *Subcellular distribution of a fluorescence-labeled combi-molecule designed to block epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase and damage DNA with a green fluorescent species*. Molecular cancer therapeutics, 2010. **9**(4): p. 869-882.
- 15. Matheson, S.L., F. Brahimi, and B.J. Jean-Claude, *The combi-targeting concept: intracellular fragmentation of the binary epidermal growth factor (EGFR)/DNA targeting "combi-triazene" SMA41*. Biochemical pharmacology, 2004. **67**(6): p. 1131-1138.

- Bedikian, A.Y., et al., A phase IB trial of intravenous INO-1001 plus oral temozolomide in subjects with unresectable stage-III or IV melanoma. Cancer investigation, 2009. 27(7): p. 756-763.
- 17. Isakoff, S., et al., *A phase II trial of the PARP inhibitor veliparib (ABT888) and temozolomide for metastatic breast cancer*. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 2010.
  28(15 suppl): p. 1019-1019.
- 18. Khan, O., et al., *A phase I study of the safety and tolerability of olaparib (AZD2281, KU0059436) and dacarbazine in patients with advanced solid tumours.* British journal of cancer, 2011. **104**(5): p. 750-755.
- 19. Rajan, A., et al., *A phase I combination study of olaparib with cisplatin and gemcitabine in adults with solid tumors.* Clinical cancer research, 2012. **18**(8): p. 2344-2351.
- 20. Plummer, R., et al., *A phase II study of the potent PARP inhibitor, Rucaparib (PF-01367338, AG014699), with temozolomide in patients with metastatic melanoma demonstrating evidence of chemopotentiation.* Cancer chemotherapy and pharmacology, 2013. **71**(5): p. 1191-1199.
- 21. Yarden, Y. and M.X. Sliwkowski, *Untangling the ErbB signalling network*. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology, 2001. **2**(2): p. 127-137.